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viii PREFACE 

and to show how the relations of those great powers were deter­
mined by their ambitions in America, especially in the great 
diplomatic crises of 1739-41 and 1761-2, upon which I have 
spent what the reader may at first sight think a disproportionate 
tl~. . 

He may also be surprised at finding so large a book written 
about the West Indies. I answer, :first that it is by no means 
all about the West Indies, and secondly that in the age of which 
I have written, nearly everybody still considered the West 
Indies to be the most important and valuable part of our em­
pire. The scale of things has changed, and it is difficult now to 
conceive how those neglected and unprosperous islands, many 
of them hardly bigger than the Isle of Wight, could ever have 
loomed so large in the eyes of governments and peoples. Yet so 
it was; therefore to ignore the West Indies is to get a lop-sided 
and unhistorical view of the mercantilist empire of the eigh­
teenth century. 

Further, the reader may think it strange that a book about 
war should contain so few accounts of battles or even campaigns. 
Here again the answer is simple. There were very few battles 
or expeditions in colonial waters during the two wars which I 
have described. TheFe was, on the other hand, a very interest­
ing and important routine of blockade and trade defence, and 
it played a far more serious part in the war than battles or 
expeditions. Naval war in those days was a branch of business, 
not only for the colonists who claimed the protection of the 
navy, but for the strategists who planned the operations and 
most of all for the sailors who carried them out. However, I 
must acknowledge that even where there were conquests or 
engagements to describe, I have very seldom given a narrative 
of them. That is because I have been more interested in war 
as a social institution, as a system for satisfying certain ambi­
tions or securing certain rights, than as a fine art. The reader 
who is interested in campaigns and encounters will do better 
to consult Admiral Richmomd's excellent History of the Navy in 
the War of z739-48, and Sir Julian Corbett's somewhat less 
valuable England in the Seven Years' War. 

This book has other faults for which I offer an unqualified 
apology. It is impossible to give a satisfactory account of war 
or diplomacy between two nations, without consulting the 
reco1ds of bot~ general staffs and both foreign offices. I have 
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tried to do this for England and France, but my courage failed 
before the vast archives of Spain. Of the making of books there 
must be somewhere an end. One day a more conscientious 
historian will have to rewrite some of these chapters from the 
records of Simancas and SeviUe. I can only plead, and it is a 
bad excuse, that this book, imperfect though long, is a by­
product or excrescence from an original project of a history of 
the British West Indies. 

I have many debts of gratitude to pay. First of all, I owe my 
thanks to the Warden and Fellows of my College, who have 
enabled me to write this book, by electing me to a Research 
Fellowship, and have more lately, with an excess of generosity, 
helped me to bear the cost of publishing it. After them, 
to the officials of the Public Record Office and the British 
Museum for their patience. Next, to the librarians of many 
historical societies and other learned institutions in the 
United States. I should like especially to thank those of the 
Library of Congress, the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 
the New York :Public Library, the John Carter Brown Library, 
and the Essex Institute at Salem; I name these not so much 
because their kindness exceeded that of others, but because I 
have made most frequent use of it. I am also very grateful to 
several private owners of manuscripts; most of all to Lord 
Chewton, who allowed me to use some papers of the first Earl 
Waldegrave, and to Messrs. Wilkinson & GaviUer, who let me 
spend several months in their office over the papers of their 
firm. This unique series of merchants' letter-books is the 
richest and best single source of information for the history of 
business that I have ever seen, and I cannot enough thank the 
owners for such generosity as I wish were commoner in the 
business world. I must also thank Miss Jean Garlick for per­
mission to use these papers, of which she hopes· to publish a 
selection shortly. 

Last and most of all, I wish to thank two friends who have 
helped me most generously with their advice. I cannot 
express how much I have profited by the kindness, patience, 
learning, and wisdom of Professor G. N. Clark and Professor 
L. B. Namier. The only recompense I can offer them is, that 
if they ever read this book again they wi:H s·ee how much it 
owes to them. R~ P. 

OXFORD, June 1936. 
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I 

'THE ORIGINS OF THE WAR OF 1739 

§ i. The Beginnings of the Struggle for Spanish America 

SPAIN was the sick man of America at the end of the seven­
teenth century. Critics have sometimes been tempted to 

ascribe the decrepitude of the Spanish Empire to some moral 
or social blemish of the Spaniards themselves, or the revenge of 
God and Nature for the wholesale destruction of the aboriginal 
Indians. This is to do less than justice to the Spaniards both 
of Europe and America. The greatest fault of Spanish imperial- / 
ism was attempting too much. Its claims vastly exceeded its 
performance. Her enemies never gave Spain a fair chance to 
show how she could have settled and organized the whole con­
tinent of America; but had they left her alone, she was too 
constantly· preoccupied with Eu~opean wars to give herself a 
fair chance. 

There were hundreds of miles of coastline and millions of 
acres inland, where Spanish occupation was a mere pretence. 
Perhaps the most striking example is to be found by the side 
of the most important highway of Central America. The whole 
treasure of the South Seas was supposed to pass every year from 
Panama to Portobello; yet within a few miles of the road the 
Darien Indians were still unsubdued and even hostile to the 
Spanish power after two centuries of empire. The Lesser 
Antilles, the first seats of English and French colonization in 
the West Indies, were nothing more than a row of Spanish 
na1nes upon the map, although the outward-bound galleons 
had to sail through them and take in wood and water there. 
The coast of North America between St. Augustine and the 
Bay ofFundy was not even complimented with a row of Spanish 
names. 

This pre-emption of a continent defeated its own purpose in 
a violent manner. The other nations of Europe could do 
nothing lawful in America; they therefore did very much that 
was lawless. They did not merely want to jump the Spaniards' 
claim to land. Instead of building up colonies of their own, 
they · fastened at first like parasites upon the Spanish Empire 
and bled it white. For peoples whose resources in men and 
especially in money were small, it. was easier, no doubt, to fit 

4274 B 



2 ORIGINS OF 

out a plundering expedition against the galleons than to find 
the capital for beginning a plantation. There was also a politi­
cal motive for attacking Spain in this way. Charles V and 
Philip II used the treasure of the Indies to pay their troops in 
Italy, and to pursue their ambition of dominating Europe. 
Their enemies naturally believed that the best way to defend 
Europe was to attack the West Indies. This doctrine was per­
haps ·less true than it looked; but it suited large and active 
classes of people, and it died hard. Above all, it was not land 
but money that the English, French, and Dutch first came to 
the West Indies to take. They might have pardoned Spain for 
the fictitious pre-emption of a continent in which they had very 
little interest; but they could not pardon her the real occupa­
tion, which almost amounted to a monopoly, of the mines of 
gold and silver. 

Whatever the reasons and justifications of this nearly uni­
versal obsession with gold and silver, for the Spaniards and 
their rivals in America it was the prime motive of imperialism. 
The rich plantations of tobacco, sugar, and indigo were only 
a second best. Not until the Dutch had proved by their example 
that a nation could live and prosper without any command of 
the precious metals at first hand, did some economists come to 
their senses on this subject. Even they preceded public opinion 
by nearly a hundred years. The cramped and hard-living sea­
pol'ts of western Europe were haunted by dreams of gold to be 
had for the taking. There soon grew up a legend that the 
Spanish Empire was made of gold and silver. In the still 
mysterious back-country between Brazil and British Guiana, 
Sir Walter Ralegh believed that there lived a Golden Man. 
This invincible belief in the abundance of precious metals must 
have cost many a Spanish colonist his life or his limbs in the 
clays of the buccaneers, who tortured their prisoners in order to 
make them reveal hoards which for the most part never existed. 

Gradually it became clear that there were more ways than 
one to get possession of the wealth of America. The crude 
method of plunder could not succeed for ever. Though their 
system of trade defence was always unwieldy, the Spaniards got 
the habit of protecting the chief thoroughfares of their com­
merce, and the galleons were not often taken entire after the 
reorganization of Pelio Menendez. Yet the slipshod Spanish 
Empire-more slipshod after every exhausting effort in Europe 
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and America-offered to the outsider opportunities of making 
money in other ways. Illicit trade with the colonists was very 
likely more profitable than privateering. For this illicit trade 
the Spanish Government itself was much to blame. 

Before the reign of Philip II, Spain had possessed some in­
dustries which might have been developed. If she could have 
supplied her own colonies with manufactures, the competition 
of England, France, and Holland for the Spanish-American 
market would have been less necessary. This development, 
however, had been checked. The Spanish economists of the 
eighteenth century hardly recognized any other reason for this 
but excessive taxation. The foreign ambitions of Charles V and 
Philip II did indeed call for vast revenues, which were raised 
in such a way as to do the most possible harm to Spanish 
industry; but the economists did not take enough account of 
other things, such as the effect of American gold and silver upon 
the level of prices in Spain. Whatever the cause, Spain was 
only the channel through which the manufactures of the rest 
of Europe passed to her colonies. The Spanish Government 
made even this almost impossible by contracting the volume 
of trade. 

The commerce of the Indies was confined to a few thousand 
tons of shipping which was meant to sail, from Seville or Cadiz, 
at regular intervals. One small fleet known as the 'galleons' 
was convoyed to Cartagena, and another known as the flota 
to Vera Cruz in Mexico. The supercargoes did their business 
at the fairs of Portobello and Jalapa; the two convoys then 
assembled at Havana with their cargoes of bullion, cochineal, 
ap.d cocoa, and came home to Spain together. Single register­
ships (so called from their registered cargoes) sail<ed to the 
smaller markets which could not be supplied from the fairs; 
there were also azogues, which carried out quicksilver for the 
silver-refineries of Mexico and brought home valuable cargoes. 
All this shipping together made up a very few thousand tons; 
the regulations of the fairs further hampered the trade, for the 
merchants of the colonies were forbidden to ship goods for their 
own account on the galleons and flotas, and the supercargoes 
from Spain were equally restrained from warehousing their 
goods in the colonies and selling them at leisure. Both the ships 
and goods in this trade were to be the property of Spanish 
subjects. 



4 ORIGINS OF 

It was partly for the sake of the revenue that the trade of the 
Indies was regimented. The Crown expected a great deal of 
the duties, which it often increased in spite of its promises. The 
attacks of foreign privateers also made some sort of convoy 
necessary, and restricted the frequency of sailings. These limita­
tions were less serious than they might have been, because most 
of the exports were luxuries whose bulk was small in proportion 
to their value, and the chief imports were gold and silver. That, 
however, may be an effect rather than a palliation of the system. 
The Spanish minister Campillo attributed it to the method of 
laying the duties according to the measurement of the goods, 
which made it most profitable to ship merchandise whose value 
bore the highest possible proportion to the space taken up. 1 

Whether the Spanish Government shared the wish of the mer­
chants that prices should be high in America, is not so obvious. 
At any rate, whatever its motives, by damming up the trade 
between America and Europe it created an excellent fishpond 
for the foreign interlopers. As Campillo wrote: 'With such high 
duties and such restrictive freights, and other notable hin­
drances, it may be said that we have shut the door of the Indies 
upon the manufactures of Spain, and invited all the other 
nations to supply those goods to the Spanish dominions, since 
every port in fourteen thousand leagues of coast is open to them, 
and those provinces must be supplied from somewhere. '2 The 
smugglers had all the advantage, for they escaped the crushing 
duties; and the interruption of the galleons left the market for 
longer and longer intervals without goods, which only the 
smugglers could supply. This interruption is said to have begun 
in the War of the Spanish Succession; the colonists then ac­
quired a taste for smuggled goods which injured the success of 
the galleons after the war. 

Cause and eff eet moved in a vicious circle. The fewer gal­
leons sailed and the seldomer, the greater were the interlopers' 
opportunities and profits. Perhaps the wholesale merchants of 
Lima and Mexico would as soon have dealt with the regular 
:fleets as with the smugglers; but they could not wait, and if 
some of them began to supply themselves from the smugglers 
the rest had to foUow suit for fear of being undersold. The more 

1 Joseph Campilfo y Cosio, Nuevo Sistema de Gobierno Econ6mico para la America 
(Madrid, il 789), p. I g. lt is not quite certain that Campillo was really the author of 
this ibook. 2 Campillo y Cosio, op. cit., p. 20. 
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the markets were stocked with smuggled goods, the less induce­
ment there was to ship on the gaHeons; they became smaller 
and rarer, in spite of the repeated edicts which enjoined regu­
larity. There was an interval of seven years in the 173o's, and 
when the galleons sailed at last in 1737 the tonnage was less 
than ever before. Yet when they appeared at Cartagena, they 
found the market glutted; the merchants of Peru were so accus­
tomed to buy smuggled goods, that they had neither indination 
to buy of the galleons nor money to pay for their purchases. 1 

A little more freedom of trade would have taken most of the 
profit out of smuggling, for the excess of demand over supply 
was largely artificial. The Creole nobles were luxurious, but 
they were only a small part of the population; it does not 
appear, from the relations of travellers, that the poor devils of 
Indians can have had much purchasing-power. The interlope:rs 
themselves often found that the trade was overdone, and even 
when the French made their ,vay into the fresh markets of the 
Pacific, in the War of the Spanish Succession, they quickly 
learnt that a very little competition among themselves lowered 
their profits, although they were helped by some years' virtual 
suspension of lawful traffic between Cadiz and America. 2 

The Spanish West Indies had for the trader as well as the 
pirate all the charm of the remote and fabulous. The legend 
of the great American market superseded the legend of the 
Golden Man, or rather grew up by its side. There was some 
conflict between these legends, or between the people who be­
lieved in them. It was not impossible to combine plundering 
the Spaniards and trading with them; but it was not very easy. 

1 Geronimo de Uztaritz, tr. J. Kippax, The Theory and Practice of Commerce and 
Maritime Affairs (London, 1751), i. 156, 209-13; Bernardo Ulloa, Restablecimiento de 
las Fdbricas y Comercio Espanol (Madrid, 1740), ii. 98-168. Ulloa was the father of 
the traveller and sailor, Antonio Ulloa, who may have informed him of the state 
of affairs in South America; but Antonio had not returned to Europe when his 
father's book was published. See also Campillo y Cosio, op. cit., p. 159 bis. 

2 E.W. Dahlgren, Les Relations commerciales et maritimes entre la France et les cotes 
de /'Ocean Pacifique, i. 384-6. In 1715 the thirty French ships then in the South Seas 
had so glutted the markets that the St. Malo merchants themselves suggested that 
no more permissions to sail should be issued (Dahlgren, 1,,' Expedition de Martinet et 
la.fin du commerce fran9ais dans la Mer du Sud, p. 30). (See also Frezier, A Voyage to the 
South-Sea, English translation, 1717, p. 201.) The writer ofan anonymous pap~r of 
1715 (A.E. Mem. et Doc. France, 2008, f. 68) says that Brittany cloth, which used 
to be 8 or g reals the varre, is now reduced to 2½ or 3. Fifteen ships, he says, would 
do more good in the South Sea trade and bring home more money than forty do at 
present. 
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At first sight it looks as if the combination was frequent, but 
the truth is that trade disguised itself as plunder, or at least 
pretended to use force, for the better justification of the Spanish 
Governors who did not want to prevent it. Perhaps real violence 
was sometimes used or threatened, in order to overcome the 
scruples of the authorities; the inhabitants very seldom had any, 
for they could not ask for a better opportunity to satisfy their 
wants and to dispose of produce that had not paid duties or 
silver that had not :received the royal stamp. As the Governors 
commonly excused themselves by the necessity of averting 
violence, it is difficult to distinguish the instances where it was 
really intended, from those in which the threat was at most a 
piece of expiatory ritual. 1 

Sometimes trade and plunder were alternatives, for each of 
which an expedition was equally ready. This happened especi­
ally in places where the disposition of the colonists to trade 
was unknown; the English, Dutch, or French adventurer might 
resolve to deal with the inhabitants if they would trade, and 
plunder them if they would not. Perhaps the early voyages of 
John Hawkins were made with this indefinite purpose. 2 A 
hundred years later, when the South Seas were almost as little 
known in England and France as the Caribbean had been in 
Hawkins's time, some of the earliest schemes of French voyages 
round Cape Horn showed the same uncertainty. 3 

Nevertheless, in spite of some exceptions, the antagonism 
between piracy and trading was obvious and insurmountable. 
It is seen very clearly in the polities of Jamaica; two factions 
grew up there in the 167o's, the buccaneering party of Morgan 
and the party led by Lynch, which preferred to promote the 
trade with the Spaniards. 4 They represented two conflicting 

1 The Spanish Ambassador St. Gil complained of th@ piracies of the people of 
Cura~ao upon the coasts of his master's coloni@s; th@ States-G@neral replied in their 
resolution of Oct. 14, 1139, that what was described as piracy was only trade in 
disguise. 'They went on to argy@ that just as smuggling can disguise itself as rob­
bery, so on the other hand robbery can b@ committed on pretence of smuggling: 
and they accused the Spanish colonists of tempting the people of Cura~ao to come 
and trade with them, in the d@liberate intention of having them robbed by the 
Guarda-Costas. 

2 Dr. Williamson has ascrib@d to Hawkins a more definite and elaborate design_. 
His argument is most ingenious: lout possibly he has made more sense of Hawkins's 
voyage than Hawk.ins could hav~ made ofit for himself when he s@t out (J. A. Wil­
liamson, .Sir John Hawkins (Oxford, 192;), pp. 92 et seqq., 166 et seqq.). 

3 Dahlgren, Les Relations commerciales et maritimes, & c., pp. 1 1 3-I 4. 
4 I use th~ term buccaneering because it is the commonest one in English, though 
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tendencies in the pqlicy of the English Government, which 
hesitated at that time between bringing Spain to heel by means 
of the ·buccaneers, and trying to procure, with the consent of 
the Spanish Court if possible, a greater freedom of trade 
with the Spanish colonies. At one time Morgan's party had the 
upper hand, both at home and inJ amaica; but the Government 
tried afterwards to call off the buccaneers. 1 The tradition of 
plunder died hard, and the same conflict reappeared in the War 
of the Spanish Succession. Once more the Government sup­
ported the traders, whom it considered more profitable to the 
nation than the privateers. 

French policy experienced the same hesitations and changes 
as our own. For France, however, and consequently for the 
rest of Europe, the Spanish question took a new turn at the end 
of the seventeenth century, and the stakes became higher than 
ever. It was a question of nothing less than the partition of the 
Spanish Empire or its appropriation by France alone. This was 
the dispute over the Spanish Succession, about which so many 
treaties were made and broken, so many battles were fought. 
The policy of Louis XIV was entirely changed. He had lately 
been the enemy, waiting to tear away provinces and conquer 
privileges by force; he now represented the heir, and became 
eager to keep the estate together and set it on its feet by a pro­
gramme of reform and efficiency. Yet he was not disinte11ested. 
France meant to turn the tutelage of Spain to good account. 
Lolll.is XIV pressed various schemes upon his grandson Philip V 
of Spain. Some were only reorganizations of the commerce 
between Cadiz and the colonies; France would only profit by 
them indirectly as the principal foreign trader to Cadiz. Others 
suggested a more active part for French efficiency: the galleons 
were to be convoyed by French ships, and the squadrons 
stationed in the colonies were to be put under French control. 
This would ostensibly have checked the illicit trade of the 
English and Dutch, but it would also have favoured that of 
the French. Other proposals again would have given an open 
monopoly of the colonial trade to a Franco-Spanish company­
a leonine partnership in which the direction, the capital, and 

M. Vignols was quite right to insist that we misapply the term to what ought to be 
called .filibustering. 

1 An elaborate account of these politics is to be found in an u~published thesis of 
Miss Margaret Hunter on the career of Sir Henry Morgan. 
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the profit would be predominantly French. Whatever bene­
fits the French might derive from- these reorg,anizations, they 
meant to keep to themselves. Michel-] ean Amelot, going Am­
bassador to Madrid in 1705, was instructed not to sign a 
treaty of commerce, as that would create public advan­
tages which F1mnce might have to shaFe after the peace with 
England and Holland. At the same time he was to discou­
rage Frenchmen, so far as he could, from participating in 
the manufactures of Spain, as their development would inter­
fere with the sale of French merchandise in the Spanish 
market. 1 

Besides trying to get special privileges from the Spanish 
Government, France took the law into her own hands. Since 
I 682 she had permitted and encouraged a smuggling trade from 
her colonies in America to those of Spain. She now connived 
at a bolder novelty-the voyages of French adventurers round 
Cape Horn to the markets of Chile and :Peru. There is no 
need to describe the shiftings and cross-currents of French 
policy w Sometimes the interests o:f Nantes and St. Malo were 
sacrificed., or kept in the background, in order to please the 
Spanish Government or stifle the outcry against foreigners 
in Spain; but more often the merchants' influence and 
the needs of the treasury overcame the political scruples 
of Fontchartrain, and the trade was winked at or openly 
allowed. At any rate, eighty-eight ships left France for the 
South Seas during the War of the Spanish Succession; the 
affair made a great noise in Spain and among the enemies of 
France.2 

The a]teration in the policy of Louis XIV had required a 
reaction in that of his rivals. As long as France had been the 
enemy of Spain, England could pose as a friend. France now 
aimed at the control of Spain, though it was destined to be 
much slighter, in matters of commerce, than the enemies of 
both countries chose to think. There were three courses which 
England and Holland cou1d take. They could persuade France 
to a partition of the Spanish Empin~, in ·which they should 
reserve £or themselves, or for some candidate of their own, the 
American eolonies in which they were interested. Louis XIV 
consefl.tecl to make such treaties, but br@ke them in 1 700 by 

1 Dahlgren, Les Relations commerciales et maritimes,. &c., pp. 33er1. 
2 This subj€ct is discuss€d at gFeat length by Dahlgren, op. cit., vol. i. 
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accepting for his grandson the whole inheritance of Carlos II. 
His enemies must then resist him by force, and oppose the 
Austrian I(ing of Spain to the French King. This was their 
policy in Europe and America during the War of the Spanish 
Succession; they sent armies to Spain, and tried to provoke a 
sympathetic revolution in the Spanish colonies by playing upon 
the jealousy which the Creoles were supposed to feel against the 
French. 1 They could obtain for themselves, from their own 
candidate, such a special position as France would have liked to 
get from Philip V. In fact England secretly stipulated in the 
Treaty of Barcelona ( I 707) for very great privileges in trade, 
at the expense not only of the French but of her own allies the 
Dutch. 

When it became clear that Philip V could not be turned @ut 
of Spain and Louis XIV could not be made to expel him, Eng­
land decided to make the best of a bad business. She would 
accept the French King of Spain but nullify the effects of French 
influence upon the trade of Spanish America. It was no longer 
possible to insist upon the absoJute exclusion of France from 
all direct or indirect trade with the Spanish colonies ( the 
Dutch had been inclined to demand this in the peace negotia­
tions of I 709). France could, however, be induced to fo:rgo all 
special privileges in Spain. Intelligent negotiators like Mes­
nager had long seen that this would be a necessary condition of 
peace. At first a mere paper renunciation was not held to be 
enough guarantee against collusion between the French and 
Spanish Bourbons. French 'perfidy' was then as much an article 
of faith in England as English perfidy has ever been in France. 
England and Holland held out for a 'real security' for their 
commerce-we shaU meet the phrase again. They meant by 
'security' the possession of some towns in Spanish America. No 
doubt this would have injured the Spanish Empire. These 
towns would have been, at the least, advanced posts for illicit 
trade. England already had such posts in Jamaica and Bar­
bados, Holland in Cura<_;ao and St. Eustatius; but strongholds 
suitably placed on the mainland would have made smuggling 
easier still. In case of war they might be still more useful as 
starting-points for expeditions of conquest. France and Spain 
naturally resisted such a concession; and though Philip V 
unwillingly consented to make it, Mesnager was able to 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1706-8, nos. 33, 554, 735, 793· 
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divert the English from it by offering favours of another 

kind.1 

Several Governments had long coveted the privilege of 
supplying the Spanish colonies with slaves. The Spaniards 
were forced to depend on foreigners, becaus·e they had no slave­
trading settlements of their own. Spain had directed her efforts 
towards America and turned her back on tropical Africa. 
Portugal was the first great power on the West African coast, 
and in the years when the Portuguese Empire was incorporated 
in that of Spain, the Spanish Government commanded its own 
sources of supply. After the Portuguese had recovered their 
independence but lost their pre-eminence on the Slave Coasts., 
both the authorized and the illicit trade in negroes to the 
Spanish dominions were keenly competed for. Adventurers of 
several nations obtained Assientos, or contracts for furnishing the 
Spanish colonies with slaves; but it is doubtful if many of them 
made a profit. They were burdened with heavy duties and ham­
pered by the high standards of quality which their contracts 
stipulated. Meanwhile, interlopers smuggled in cheap and in­
ferior negroes, such as the colonists could afford not only to buy 
but to pay for. Yet the Assiento trade was an attractive prize, 
for it gave an opportunity of selling merchandise as well as 
negroes, and it was for this purpose that the nations competed 
to obtain it.2 

One of the first effects of the accession of Philip V was the 
transference of the Assiento from the Portuguese to the French. 
England extorted from the Archduke Charles a promise of a 
contract which closely imitated the French Assiento. The Tory 
Ministry, which must have some advantages in trade to show 
for the fruit of its negotiation, now claimed the same concession 
from Philip V; and when Mesnager made difficulties over the 
'real securities', Secretary St. John proposed to drop that 
demand if Spain would grant, by way of compensation, an 
Assiento for thirty years instead of ten. This was agreed to, and 
England was thus the only party to the war which obtained 
by it any special privilege in Spanish American trade beyond 
what was common to all nations. She afterwards got it increased 
in a very significant way. France had agreed in the provisional 

1 Th@se subj@cts are treated in great detail by Legrelle, La Diplomatie Jranfaise et 
la Succession d'Espagne, vol. iv (Ghent, 1892). 

2 G. Scelle, La Traite nigriere aux Indes de Castille (Paris, 1906), ii. 107,118. 
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negotiations of 171 1 that England alone should have a :reduction 
of 15 per cent. in the duties upon manufactures imported in.to 
Cadiz. It soon became obvious that England could not decendy 
keep this privilege to herself at the peace treaty; she must at 
least impart it to her ally Holland. She therefoire c@mmuted it 
for another advantage which should b@ peculiar to herself-the 
right of sending a ship of 500 tons every year to the fair at 
Portobello. 1 

Everybody could see that the Assiento and th@ Annual Ship 
would lead to smuggling. Some clauses of the treaty wer~ 
almost useless except as a pretext for it. The tonnage of the 
Annual Ship could be exceeded, and the hold filled up again 
and again by tenders which brought it 'refreshments'. 2 The 
Assientists might also send small vessels from time to time with 
'necessa:ries' of various kinds f 01: their fact01rs and negroes in the 
Spanish ports. They had the right to hold land on the River Plate 
for the purpose of disembarking and refreshing their negroes .; 
since Buenos Aires was in itself an unimportant market for 
slaves, this provision was meant to enable them to smuggle goods 
overland into Chile and Peru. Other privileges we:re copied 
from former Assientos, but these three were now invented for 
the first time, probably by Manuel Manasses Gilligan. 

This adventurer had been deeply concerned, as a naturalized 
Dane, in smuggling to the Spanish colonies during the War of 
the Succession; his ship had been condemned as prize, and h~ 
had narrowly escaped prosecution for high treason by the Law 
Officers of Barbados. Carrying his case to London, he got t~e 
Vice-Admiralty sentence reversed., and returned to Barbados 
with strong support from the Government to organize a trade in 
slaves with the Spanish coasts. He turned up once more in I 712 

as our chief commercial negotiator at the Court of Madrid, 
where the important finishing touches were being put to the 
Assiento treaty. This was the man who possibly conceiv<ed and 
at any rate procured the privilege of the Annual Ship; and if 
there were any doubt of the tendtmcy of the treaty to encouirage 
smuggling, it would be removed by the antec8dents of its 
negotiator. 3 

1 Scdle, op. oit., ii. 485-581. 
2 Juan and Ulloa, Relacion Historica del Viage a la America Meridivnal (Madrid, 

1768), i. 142. ' 
3 C.S.P. Col. r702-3, nos. 572, 661, rn65, &c.; r704-5, n@s. rn8, 2@3, &.c.;-r7@6=8, 

n<:>s. 53, 777; r70~, nos. 126 (i), 134, 18@ (iv); SceHe, op,. cit., ii. 5,2~9, 553-00. 
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As if this were not ·enough, the South Sea Company (to whom 
Queen Anne had assigned the Assiento) tried to obtain by a 
treaty in I 7 I 6 a further facility for clandestine introduction of 
goods into the Spanish colonies. It argued with some justifica­
tion that one could not calculate exactly how much merchan­
dise would be needed to buy a cargo of slaves on the coast of 
Africa, and that for this -and other reasons the slave-ships might 
have to cross the Atlantic with some unsold goods. It therefore 
asked permission to bring these goods into the Spanish ports. It 
offered to warehouse them, but, Spanish officials being what 
they were, that was not a very real restriction on their sale. 
The King of Spain therefore refused to allow it except in 
Buenos Aires; he insisted that the Company's ships bound to 
the Caribbean ports should stop on their way in the English 
colonies and unload this superfluous merchandise. 

Excepting these special advantages, the Treaties which Eng­
land made with France and Spain at Utrecht professed to 
establish equality for all nations in the Spanish trade and to 
restore the state of affairs which had existed in the reign 
of Carlos II. Louis XIV promised in his treaty with England 
'that he would not, for the interest of his subjects, hereafter 
endeavour to obtain, or accept of any other usage of navigation 
and trade to Spain and the Spanish Indies, than what was 
practised there in the reign of the late King Charles II of Spain, 
or than what should likewise be fully given and granted at the 
same time to other nations and people concerned in the trade'. 
England did not enter into the same undertaking with France. 
Philip V likewise promised 'that no licence, nor any permission 
at all, should at any time be given either to the French, or to 
any nation whatever, in any name or under any pretence, 
directly or indirectly, to sail to, traffic in, or introduce goods, 
merchandises,or anythings whatsoever, into the dominions sub­
ject to the Crown of Spain in America'-except the Assiento 
for introducing negroes, which was at present granted to Eng­
land, but might be transferred to another nation after the 
expiry of the contract. The King of Spain also promised that 
he would never alienate any part of his American dominions 
to France or any other nation; in return for this, Queen Anne 
guaranteed to him all the Spanish dominions in the West 
Indies as they had stood in the reign of Carlos II. 

France consented to prohibit direct trade from her ports to 
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the South Seas. This prohibition was not always whole­
heartedly enforced and still less loyally observed. Dahlgren 
gives the names of sixty-two French ships which departed for 
the South Seas between I 713 and 1724. 1 It was not until Spain 
sent out an expedition-officered by Frenchmen-that the 
back of the trade was broken. The French Government had 
perhaps some excuse for connivance, for nothing whatever was 
done to stop the smuggling trade of the English and Dutch 
colonies.2 

Thus the settlement of Utrecht was supposed to have esta­
blished an equilibrium or 'balance of power' in America. It 
confirmed the doctrine that the much-agitated question of 
Spanish colonial trade was best resolved by leaving the King 
of Spain in possession of his empire. The trade was not thrown 
open to foreigners in principle; eertainly they might not sail 
directly to Spanish America, and even the projects of reform 
were dropped, by which the galleons and flotas were to he 
abolished or the subjects of foreign nations to be allowed to 
ship their goods in their own names. Everything had still to 
pass under Spanish names-no great grievance, because the 
Spanish merchants who lent them had the reputation of com­
plete honesty. This trade was nominally equal for all nations, 
but its security depended much on administrative connivance 
and Court influence. France might, therefore, expect to have 
the largest share of it, because a French king governed Spain. 
It might be foreseen that France would become the champion 
of the Cadiz trade while England would turn the patronage of 
smuggling into an important article of national policy. 

This did not happen at once in the complicated and chaotic 
diplomacy which followed the Peace of Utrecht. Common­
place prophecies were falsified by the growth of an entente 
between England and France; Spain was ruled by an Italian 
queen, not a French king. But Europe began in the later 173o's 
to recover from the age of adventurers, ofunneeessary hostilities 
and wild or improvised alliances, and to settle down once mor,e 
to colonial rivalries. Then the American equilibrium of Utrecht 
was once more appealed to and called in question. . 

1 Dahlgren, Voyages frat1fais a destination de la Mer, du Sud, 1695-1749 (Paris, 1907). 
2 C.S.P. Col. 17I4-15, nos. 76 (i), 129 (ii). 
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§ ii. The Guarda-Costas, _the 8_outh Sea Company, and the 
Private Smugglers 

The treaties of Utrecht were hardly signed when complaints 
of Spanish 'depredations' began to come .in from the West 
Indies. The first is dated from Bermuda, in January 17 I 4; a 
Spanish coast-guard ship, or Guarda-Costa, had seized some 
English vessels for carrying goods reputed to be the produce of 
the Spanish colonies. 1 Examples were soon multiplied, and the 
volume of controversy and protest grew very quickly.2 Lord 
Archibald Hamilton, Governor of Jamaica, was induced, 
chiefly, it seems, by his private advantage, to allow reprisals. 
This gave colour to the Spanish counter-complaints of English 
piracies; in the interest therefore of the friendship of the two 
nations (and because he was suspected of Jacobitism) he was 
recalled in 1716. 3 Even the critics of his policy of retaliation 
continued to complain of the Spanish captures, which soon 
began to poison the relations of England and Spain. It would 
be wearisome to follow this disagreeable subject through 
twenty years of agitations in the English press, strong resolutions 
passed or frustrated in the House of Commons, stiff diplomatic 
dispatches and references to commissaries. It can hardly be 
said that this petty plundering of colonial shipping was a prin­
cipal cause of the two ruptures of diplomatic relations between 
England and Spain, in 1718 and 1727; but it produced in the 
West Indies a situation which subjected trade to some of the 
nuisances and expenses of war, and sometimes came near to 
causing more serious hostilities. English warships had to cruise 
in the Windward Passage for the protection of trade, and even 
to convoy the merchant fleets clear of the islands, just as in 
time of war.4 The Spaniards went so far, on one or two occa­
sions, as to descend upon shipping at anchor in the harbours of 
Jamaica, and often molested the coasting trade of the island. 5 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1712=14, no. 544-· 
2 'See this list of 4-'7 seizures giv<m for the years 1 71 3-2 1, in The State of the Is land 

of Jamaica, Chiefl,y in Relation to its Commerce (London, 1 '725), p. 49. 
3 C.S.P. Col. 1716-17, :nos. 158, 203; 1717-18, no. 350. 
4 Commodore St. Lo to Secretary Burch€tt, June 24-, 1728, Adm. 1 /230; 

p€tition of the Kingston m€rchants to Rear-Admiral Stewart, May 28, 1130, Adm. 
i /231; Commodore Dent to Burchett, Dec. 10, 1735,June 27, 1737, Adm. 1/1695; 
Commodore Brown to Burchett, May 8 and July 8, 1738, Adm. 1 /232. 

5 St. Lo to Burchett, Aug. 25, 1728, Adm. 1 /230. C.S.P. Col. 1717-18, no. 65 
(i-iii); 172rr1, no. 213. 
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Neither the naval commanders on the Jamaica station nor 
the Lords of the Admiralty could put up with this without trying 
to stop it; the former often solicited, and the latter sometimes 
gave, orders to supplement the defence of trade by active 
measures agaiast the pirates. Such orders were given, for 
example, in I 723, I 728, I 730, and I 736. They hardly agreed 
with the more peaceful instructions which the Secretary of 
State sent to the colonial governors. 1 

On one occasion the English navy came near taking a step 
further. Some privateers of Porto Rico having seized the Mary, 
of Liverpool, in a particularly scandalous manner, the Admi­
ralty instructed Rear-Admiral Stewart in I 730 to make reprisals 
on Spanish merchant shipping if he could not get her restored 
any other way. He tried in vain to get satisfaction from the 
Governor of Porto Rico, and was, therefore, preparing to 
execute this part of his orders, when he received a petition from 
the South Sea Company's agents, imploring him to do nothing 
of the kind. They pointed out that the Company's Annual Ship 
was then at Portobello for the fair, and would certainly be 
seized as soon as it was known that Stewart had laid violent 
hands on any Spanish traders. Besides this, the Governors of 
the Spanish colonies might all proceed to sequestrate the Com­
pany's property and embargo its trade whereve:r it had any. 
This would amount to an interruption of the Assiento and 
injure the English slave-traders. They added that the Spaniards 
would almost certainly issue similar orders against English 
shipping. Experience, they justly said, had taught them how 
hard it was to recover anything that the Spanish authorities had 
once seized. They therefore asked Stewart to confine himself 
to authorizing his ships to cruise against the Spanish Guarda­
Costas. Stewart very prudently took the hint, and was approved 
by the Government; but he involved himself in one of those con­
troversies with the merchants which ha:rdly any Admiral on the 
Jamaica station succeeded in avoiding. It snowed petitions 
and counter-petitions, of which the purport matters very little. 
The adversaries of the Company declared that the situation of 
English shipping in those waters could not be worse than it was, 
for any orders that the Spanish governors might give in con­
sequence of Stewart's action. But their chief motive was pro-

1 ·For example, Newcastle's circular of Jan. 22, 1729/30, C.O. 324/,36, pp. 171-

192. 
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bably hatred of the South Sea Company, a feeling which was 
very prevalent among merchants at J amaica. 1 

This time, then, the interest of the South Sea Company had 
·saved the situation in the West Indies from developing into 
what would have amounted to a war. Meanwhile the depreda­
tions in general had been referred to English and Spanish com­
missaries appointed under the Treaty of Seville. These sat a 
long time, settled some cases, and left many others unsettled for 
want of such proofs and papers as would satisfy the Spaniards. 
But for a debate in the House of Commons, and an occasional 
article in the Opposition newspapers, the question dropped into 
oblivion. 2 The seizures still continued; according to figures 
given in the Gentleman's Magazine, 3 there were ten in 1731, one 
in 1732, six in 1733, one in 1734, nine in 1735, none at all in 
1736; then, in 1737, there were eleven, and the whole contro­
versy burst suddenly into flame. 

Before considering the causes of this sharp renewal of the 
crisis, or the principles of the diplomatic argument which fol­
lowed, it would be well to ask, who made these depredations, 
and on whom? 

For more than a century before the Peace of Utrecht, the 
Spanish Empire had been victimized by marauders of three 
different nations, who had destroyed a great deal of its legiti­
mate coasting trade. That trade must once have been consider­
able, because of the economic diversity of the Spanish lands in 
America; perhaps it was increased by the restrictions on trans­
atlantic shipping which caused the colonies to become, except 
for luxuries and a few Spanish products, a self-sufficing system. 
When lawful trade is annihilated, it is not surprising if the sea­
faring population takes to piracy-an argument which the 
English used in their turn when they attributed the develop­
ment of pi~acy among their own sailors to the Spanish depreda­
tions. 4 Robbers and adventurers create their own kind among 
the populations they attack. Therefore it is likely that the out-

1 Pratb~r and Rigby to Stewart, March 4, 1730/1, Adm. 1/231; Stewart to 
Bmch€tt, March 8, 1730/1; the merchants to St€wart, Sept. 24 and 27, 1731, ibid. 
The Admiralty's instruction is printed by R. G. Marsd<m, Law and Custom of the Sea, 
ii. 273. 

2 C.J., Feb. 16 and 26, March 4 an.d 16, 1730/1, voL xxi, pp. 631, 648-9, 660, 
675. 

3 March 1738, vol. viii, p. 163. 
· 4 The State of the Island of Jamaica, Chiefly in Relation to its, Commerce (London, 1 725), 
p. 8; Charles Johnson, A General History of the Pirates, Introduction. 
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rages of the Guarda-Costas resulted partly from those of the b1:1c ... 
caneers. Indeed, Governor Trelawny of Jamaica maintained 
that their commissions were still, in 1751, based on an order 
which the Queen Regent of Spain had issued in 1674, expressly 
for the suppression of the buccaneers; he sent home a copy of 
such a commission, to prove his point. 1 

If this was true, it goes some way to explain the violences 
which the Guarda-Costas permitted themselves; and even if it was 
not true, they could hardly be expected to abandon the habits 
and livelihood of fifty or a hundred years, the first instant 
after peace was concluded. The buccaneers themselves, after 
all, were no more able than the Guarda-Costas to convert them­
selves into law-abiding citizens at the word of order from Rys­
wick or Utrecht. It is generally admitted that unemployment 
among privateers caused the almost world-wide outbreaks of 
piracy after King William's War and the War of the Spanish 
Succession. Moreover, after the Peace of Utrecht the seamen 
of England and Spain in America were asked to forget, not 
merely the tradition of two long wars, but that of a century of 
skirmishing and marauding. Indeed, the remarkable thing is, 
not that they should have continued for a time the hostilities 
and pillage to which they had been accustomed, but that they 
should finally have been put down at all. 

The English and French Governments contrived to suppress 
their own pirates. It was perhaps the first time in the history 
of the modern world that such a thing had happened, and is to 
be attributed to the exceptional length of the peace and the · 
unusual whole-heartedness of the governments, who no longer 
wished to foresee any possible use for buccaneers. The Spanish 
Government was less able or less willing to restrain the Guarda­
Costas. Less able, for the revival of Spain was slow under Philip 
V, and the effective control of colonial GovernoLs was, if pos­
sible, even slighter in the Spanish Empire than in any other. 
There may have been some truth in the .charge which the 
English made against these Governors-that they had some­
times an interest in the Guarda-Costas and shared their takings; 
also that the Guarda-Costas, being unpaid and private individuals, 
had to rely upon their prizes for their subsistence and profits, 
and were forced to seize unjustly where they could not find 

1 Trelawny to Holdernesse, Dec. 1, 1751, C.O. 131/59. Marsdtm pripts the 
commission of a Guarda-Costa, op. cit. ii. 270. 

4274 C 
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anything to seize rightfully. 1 Certainly, as the Spanish Govern­
ment afterwards admitted, there . were son1.e Governors who 
were not fit to be trusted with' the power of issuing such com­
m.issions. 2 

Moreover, the Court of Spain had no desire to suppress the 
Guarda-Co.stas ahogether, for it had work for them to do. Since 
the Treaty of Utrecht was meant to restore the old system of 
trade to Spanish America, interlopers must be put down, and 
a system of supervision was as necessary and legitimate as ever. 
:fn spite of the prohibition, the smuggling did not stop. England 
and Holland, whose illicit traders were old-established, con­
tinued tQ be the worst off enders. 

Perhaps the South Sea Company was the greatest smuggler of 
all, carrying on an unlawful trade under cover of the lawful. 
The directors and agents soon got a bad reputation, but I do 
not know exactly why; for the declared profits of the Annual 
Ship were seldom large, and sometimes there were none ·at all. 
However, the declared profits of the Company might have very 
little to do with the private profits of the directors. The Com­
pany sometimes dismissed its agents for illicit trade; but that 
may have been as much a matter of self-defence as a proof of its 
sincerity to the Crown of Spain. 3 

The Guarda-Costas could do little against the Company, for 
it was able to penetrate, under lawful colours, inside the lines 
of the prohibitive system. They could do more against the 
private traders. Neither the Treaty of Utrecht nor the South 
Sea Company had succeeded in putting clown this trade. The 
Assiento Treaty, which established a monopoly of the introduc­
tion of slaves, contained provisions for inducing the Assientists 
to defend it against the interlopers; they were to profit by the 
forfeitures of negroes introduced by such unauthorized traders. 
These clauses, and the obvious intention of the Company to 
supersede the private traders, caused very bad feeling between 
it and them, which developed into a political controversy; the 
Whig writers backed the private traders of Jamaica against the 

1751, quot~d above. 
z .P. 94/14-4-. 
3 an's Magazine, i. 539, ii. 773, iii. 213; 

Ad ecret History of the Late Directors 
of the Sout' but not v@ry convincing piece 
of w@rk. The · ~ the EnfJuiry into Mr. Benjamin 
Wool9' s Conduct (Lom . · · · 
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Company, to which the Tories had handed over the Assiento as 
a monopoly. 1 

The private traders were said to have made a large profit to 
the nation, while the Company made nothing by the Assrento 
and little by the Annual Ship. The Company was thought 
to have convicted itself of losing by the Assiento, for it had 
obtained the Annual Ship from the King of Spain as a com­
pensation for the unprofitableness of the contract for slaves.2 

Besides, it was argued that the Company, which was obliged to 
pay heavy duties to the King of Spain, could not make such a 
profit as the private traders., who took care to pay none, though 
they were liable to lose something by seizures and had often to 
purchase the connivance of the Spanish officers. The unprofit­
ableness of the Company's commercial enterprises is shown 
by the fact that in I 734 the _Spanish Ambassador persuaded 
it to ask the King for permission to commute its trading privi­
leges.3 It was also argued that the Company, having expen­
sive establishments and large stocks in the Spanish colonies, 
had given hostages to the King of Spain which precluded the 
Government, or at least caused it to shrink, from taking proper 
measures to protect English shipping against depredations. 4 

I have quoted an instance in which this happened; there were 
others in which it did not, and the Company had a long contro­
versy with the King of Spain over the restitution of its effects 
which had been seized in I 7 I 8 and I 72 7 by way of reprisal for 
English hostilities. 

The sugar-planters of Jamaica also disliked the Company. 
They thought it raised the price of slaves upon them by export­
ing so many to the Spaniards. Certainly the prices continued 
to rise in this period, but it would be wrong to attribute that to 
the Assiento contract. While the Assiento had been in Genoese 
and Portuguese hands, Jamaica had already supplied many of 
the slaves. Besides, the private traders were pardy responsible 
for the rise, as the Jamaica Assembly recognized when it tried 
to burden with duties all re-expoFt of slaves from the island.5 

1 The British Merchant, nos. 95, 98. 
2 The Assiento Contract Considered (London, 1714), pp. 6, 38; Some Observations on 

the Assiento Trade (London, 1 728), passim. 
3 Petition of the Company to George II, J lilly 4, 1 734, Add. MSS. 25561, ff. 22-3, 

Gentleman's Magazine, ii. 824, v. 162, ·273-4; Add. MSS. 25544, ff. 105-1 IO; 25545, 
ff. 36, 41-2. 

4 Newcastle to Sandwich, April 11, 1747, Add. MSS. 32808, f. 62. 
5 C.S.P. Col. 1716-17, nos. 67 (i), 83, 85; 1717-18,passim. 
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The colonists had another grievance against the Company 
whieih was perhaps better justified. They complained that it 
exported all the best slaves and left them only the refuse. The 
Company was in fact obliged by its contract to furnish negroes 
of a certain standard; this was a very great handicap, for the 
private traders continued. to export the cheap inferior negroes 
ancl spoilt the market for the better and higher-priced article. 1 

Three classes of negroes were said to be imported into Jamaica: 
the best sort, which the Company re-exported; the second, 
kept for the planters; and the worst, re-exported with very little 
profit by the private traders. 

There were other arguments against the Company. It was 
alleged that the Annual Ship caused a net decrease of English 
manufactures exported, and therefore a net loss to the nation, 
however profitable it might be to the directors or even to the 
Company itself. The Cadiz merchants, uncertain what English 
goods the Company would export to America, were afraid of 
ordering so much of them as they would have done if they had 
had the trade to themselves and could have regulated the 
supply. The Annual Ships were also said to spoil the markets 
for such English merchandise as the Cadiz traders still sent to 
America; for as the smuggled goods came cheaper, they could 
be sold at a price which the supercargoes of the galleons could 
not afford to take. The decline of our trade to Cadiz was said 
to be greater than the whole turnover of the Company, to which 
it was attributed.2 This was not fair to the Company. In fact 
qur exports to Spain did not diminish; and if tlu~y had, the 
iPrivate traders of Jamaica would have been at least as much 
responsible for the decrease as the Company. In later days, 
when the Company was out of the question, this issue was 
joined. 

The Company was also accused of shipping luxuries of 
foreign manufacture rather than English merchandise which 
w~s-bulkier and less pro:fitable; so that as much as two-fifths of 
its -annual cargo co_nsisted of:re-exports. In fact, when the King 
of Spain took it into his head to confine the loading of the 

1 S(i)uth S€a , IDec. 12, 1723, in Miss 's 
Documents ill · · he Slave Trad(} to America ( , ii. 
3o7- ; .6, 1736,pp. 45g=60. 

· 
2 al Dictionary of Commer:ee, s.v. South Sea Com-

pany . nish West Indies considered, Add. MSS. 32819, ff. 188=-
99; A. · . tilffl, et Doe. ~g1ettllLTe, 41, £. 191. 
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Annual Ship to English manufactures, the Company was 
extremely disconcerted. 1 Lastly, the enemies of the Company 
pointed out that it had never justified its title by a single 
voyage of trade or settlement to the South Seas. 'It was, for 
many years, like the dog in the manger, it neither traded itself 
nor would suffer those who would have done so in the like 
branch.'2 This also was unjust. A Company founded in a war 
against Spain, to trade to her Pacific colonies without the con­
seat of her Government, could neither expect nor be expected 
to combine such a trade with a monopoly conferred by that 
Government. 

Although the private traders of Jamaica co~plained that the 
Company had destroyed them, they continued to exist. In fact 
they made their bargain with the Company. It soon discovered 
that there was little profit in the slave trade-at least with some 
of the smaller markets3-and licensed the traders to supply 
them in its stead, as the Treaty empowered it to do. 4 This can­
not have been very advantageous to the traders, who had to 
pay the Company's profit as well as the King of Spain's duties. 
Probably ·most of them preferred to trade without a licence and 
take their chance of seizure. 

The slave trade was only one article, and not the most 
in1portant. English goods in general appear to have been 
smuggled briskly from Jamaica to all parts of the Caribbean. 5 

No doubt the Company had an advantage in competition with 
the private traders; smuggling in port was probably safer than 
hovering on the coasts. The private traders, however, were not 
ruined by this handicap. They often received the protection 

1 Gentleman's Magazine, v. 273,497; Add. MSS. 25545, ff. 42-3, 44-6. 
2 The British Merchant, no. 98, quoted by Postlethwayt, loc. cit. 
3 An article of the Treaty obliged the Assientists to supply the windward coasts 

of Caracas and Santa Marta with slaves at a maximum price of 300 pieces of eight. 
4 Some controversies in the Company about the licensing are report@d in the 

Gentleman's Magazine, vi. 422; Add. MSS. 25545, ff. 35, 38, 39; 25506, f. 75, &c. 
5 Descriptions of this trade are not very common. The most celebrated is that @f 

Captain Nathaniel Uring. The trader, accompanied by an interpreter who was 
usually something of a secret agent, appeared at some harbour just outside Carta­
gena or Portobello and sent in letters to the Spanish merchants. They came off to 
him iri canoes and did business on board. The merchants of Panama came to 
Portobello disguised as poor peasants, with their money hidden in jars of meal, and 
returned through the woods with little packs of merchandise on their backs. ( The 
Voyages and Travels of Captain Nathaniel Uring (reprint of 1928), p. 114. This de­
scription was abridged by Postlethwayt, s.v. Antilles, and lifted entire without 
acknowledgements by the author of An Account of the European Settlements in A'merica.) 
See also Add. MSS. 32964, f. 65. 
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of the English men-of-war, who convoyed the interlopers upon 
their business, and were not always above taking a hand in the 
slave trade for themselves. 1 Indeed the navy had a special 
opportunity for it, since the Admiralty often sent out warships 
to the West Indies by way of the west coast of Africa, where the 
officers took in slaves on their own account. George II pro­
mised in 1732 that he would put an end to this improper 
behaviour, but it does not seem to have stopped.2 The French 
Government was equally aggrieved, and entertained a con­
troversy upon this subject with the English Ministry, about the 
time that the Anglo-Spanish crisis was at its height. 3 

§ iii. The Depredations and their Redress 

These were the people with whom the Guarda-Costas had 
to deal. It would have been impossible to keep up a purely 
preventive system of defence against smuggling along the whole 
shore of the Caribbean Sea. The centres of population were 
too far apart for that. There were some spots where smugglers 
were sure to be found at almost any time of the year; such as 
Baru, near Cartagena, and the Garote off Portobello. In 
general, however, the Guarda-Costas would have attempted the 
impossible if they had confined themselves to looking into all 
the places along the coasts where they might find interlopers. 
Moreover, they would have annoyed their fellow countrymen 
too rnl!lch if they had intercepted the much-wanted European 
goods on the way to market. They did no such immediate and 
direct harm by confiscating the payment after it had been made. 
For these reasons, their method was punishment rather than 
prevention. They ranged at large, often at some distance from 
the coasts, and examined every English ship they met. If she 
wa~ carrying anything which they chose to regard as Spanish 
produce, they concluded at once that she had been trading 
unlawfully, and carried her off for condemnation. Whether 
this procedure was conformable to the treaties, or founded upon 
a fair criterion of the English trader's guilt, was one of the 
points that most envenomed the diplomatic controversy, and 
proved hardest to settle. 

_ 
1 C.S.P. Col. 1717-18, nos. 566, 681 (iii). 
2 Add. MSS. 38373, ff. 130-1. A copy of Keene's and Patiiio's declaration of 

I 732 is prin.t@d by Marscl.en, Law and Custom, ii. 21!h. 
3 P. Vauch~r, in Melanges ojferts a M. Bemont (1913), pp.611 et seqq. 
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If the Guarda-Costas had contented themselves with the repres­
sion of smuggling, no matter by what means, the War of 1739 
might never have happened. They preyed, however, upon the 
lawful as well as the illicit commerce of the English colonies, 
especially upon that of Jamaica. 

The prevailing trade-wind in the Antilles is easterly. The 
commonest course of ships bound from England to Jamaica was 
to get into the right latitude before they reached any of the 
West India islands, and then run down with the wind; this 
course took them near-but not very near-the southern coasts 
of Porto Rico and Spanish S. Domingo. 1 There they might 
possibly be snapped up by the Porto Rico privateers, and 
accused of hovering on the coast for illicit purposes. This, how­
ever, was not sp great a risk as that which must be run on the 
way home. Ships from Kingston had two choices-they could 
go through the Windward Passage between Cuba and French 
St. Domingue, or take the 'Gulf Passage' round the west end of 
Cuba, past Havana, and through the Gulf of Florida. Either 
way they must pass very near some Spanish coast; for the Wind­
ward Passage is not very wide, and in order to avoid getting 
into the Bight of Leogane, between the two western prongs of 
St. Domingue, they had to keep on the Cuban side of the strait­
besides, the land winds were said to be more useful there. Doing 
this, they must pass the privateering port of Santiago de Cuba. 
If they went through the Gulf, they had to coast along three­
quarters of Cuba, keeping particularly close to the western 
point of it at Cape Antonio in order to avoid a contrary current 
which often runs from the Gulf of Mexico into the Caribbean. 

It might seem that the Gulf course was the less natural, and 
that nobody would take it except for the excuse to smuggle neat 
Havana. In fact, however, it was very often the most convenient 
if not the only possible one. The winds and currents on the 
south side of Jamaica were sometimes so strong that the home­
ward ships were a week or more rounding the eastern point of 
the island; after that, they had still to make against head winds 
through the Windward Passage, which lies nearer east than 
north from Jamaica. If they took the Gulf route, the winds 
favoured them until they had rounded the west end of Cuba, 
and then, although there were often calms off Havana, they 

. • In future the French colony in the western. half of Hispaniola will be re.ferrea 
to as St. Domingue, the Spanish colony to the east of it as S. Domingo. 
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got another favourable wind and current to carry them east­
ward through the Florida Channel. This route was therefore 
proper and nahiral, but they might nevertheless meet a Guarda­
Costa off Havana, 'who would very likely interrupt their navi­
gation upon the pretext that they were about some illicit trade. 
It was in this course that several of the-ships were taken in 1737, 
whose seizures renewed the agitation and disputes on this sub­
ject, and led to the war. 

The trade of the other sugar colonies was not in so much 
danger, but even their ships went home through the islands for 
some distance, and mjght meet a Porto Rico privateer. Perhaps 
the shipping of North Ameri_ca ran more risk than any other, 
for it both came and went through the Windward Passage to 
Jamaica, or past Porto Rico to the other islands. 

The Guarda-Costas judged these lawful traders by the same 
standards they used for the smugglers: that is, the places where 
they were found and the nature of their cargoes. By these tests 
the former were hardly more likely to be acquitted than the 
latter, because they often carried home the articles which the 
Spaniards chose to regard as proofs of illicit trade-cocoa, log­
wood, and money. 

It was generally the lawful traders who complained loudest 
of these seizures; thou·gh a smuggler, who had a fair chance of 
concealing his real profession, might induce the Government 
to take up his case. At least one of these interlopers who had 
been selling slaves on the coast of Cuba posed as a lawful 
trader on his way from Jamaica to London through the Gulf 
of Floricla. 1 Keene, our Minister at Madrid, admitted that the 
English Government sometimes intervened in favour of very 
dubious claims, 2 and Montijo, who had been Ambassador in 
London and was President of the Council of the Indies during 
the crisis, asserted that the English Government was often 
deceived by the clamour of disguised smugglers. 3 

Diplomatic representations were made, from time to time, to 
the Court of Madrid on such cases as seemed to deserve them. 
The Spanish Ministers generally answered that the Governors 
had not yet sent home copies of the legal proceedings: and 
however peremptory Keene might be in demanding immediate 

· 
1 Geraldino to St. Gil, Jan. 20, 1739, S.P. rn7 /23. 
2 Keene to Newcastle (private and cen.fidential), Dec. 13, 1737, S.P. 94/128. 
3 Keene to Newcastlt:, Nov. 18, 1737, S.P. 94-/128. 
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justice, they would reply, with some reason, that they could not 
be expected to decide the case without hearing both sides. 1 In 
his heart Keene admitted this; the more so as the English com­
plaints were only too often ill founded. When N ewcasde sent 
him a gveat batch of petitions and protests in the autumn· of 
1737, Keene complained to a friend: 
'Then my God what proofs! At most they can only be regarded as 
foundations for complaints, but not for decisions for restitution, 
must there not be an audi et alteram partem? Are the oaths of fellows 
that forswear themselves at every custom-house in every port they 
come to, to be taken withol!lt any further enquiry or examination, 
what should we say to a bawling Spaniard who had made a derelict 
of his ship atJamaica, & afterwards swore blood and murder against 
the English before the Mayor ofBilbao? Should we give him his ship 
without knowing what the Govr of Jamaica has to say for !his pro­
ceedings? Yet this is the case. I know not how Mr Sharpe could give 
such papers, I mean some of them, to the Council, I blush I am sure 
when I give them to this Court, yet it is in virtue of such perfor­
mances that I am to get justice.'2 

Sometimes the Spanish Ministers would point out that the 
English captain had not appealed, and must, therefore, be con­
sidered as acquiescing in the justice of the sentence; Keene had 
then to prove, if he could, that this was no fault of the captain's, 
who had been hindered by want of money or an abuse of the 
Governor's authority. But in fact the captains too often gave up 
all attempts to defend their vessels in the Spanish courts. They 
despaired of a favourable result, wanted to save the expense, 
and chose to rely on the good offices of the British Government, 
which would generally believe their story even if it was false, 
rather than on the justice of the Spanish courts, which would 
not believe it even if it was true. 3 ,,. 

But supposing the captain had appealed-or supposing the 
English Government succeeded, as it sometimes did, in shoving 
in an appeal from above by its influence at Madrid-even then 
there were great difficulties. Keene reported that the Council 
of the Indies made it a rule never to allow new facts to be 
brought in evidence upon the appeal; anything therefore that 
was suppressed in the· record of the inferior court would Femain 
suppressed for ever. 'fhis was serious, because the Spanish 

1 Keene to Newcastle,Jan. 27, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
z Keen@ to Waldegrave, Dec. 13, 1737, Waldegrave MSS. 
3 Keene to Newcastle (private and cor.rfidcmtial), Dec. 13, 1737, S.P. 94,/128. 
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Governors were interested in obtaining a conviction by their 
share of the forfeitures. Profiting by the real reluctance of the 
English captains to defend their ships at law, or by their igno­
rance of what was going on, or at a last resort by their involun­
tary confinement, the Governors used to appoint a lawyer to 
make a sham defence for the Englishmen. (Indeed, there were 
other lawyers who were too much afraid of the Governor's 
wrath to undertake a real and wholehearted defence of their 
clients' interests. 1 ) They cooked up a trial in which no evidence 
was admitted which would clear the ships or their cargoes. 2 

Keene had no proof of this but the affidavits of the Englishmen 
concerned; and in any case the Spanish Ministers denied his 
major premiss, that the Council of the Indies refused to admit 
new evidence at appeals.3 Indeed, when he put enough pressure 
on them, they procured reversals of sentences which seem to 
prove the truth of what they said. 

The trouble did not stop there; indeed it only began. The 
Council of the Indies might order the ship and cargo to be 
restored, and give the claimants a cedula, or royal letter, for that 
purpose. The restitution could only be made at the place of 
condemnation; to which, therefore, the claimants had to make 
an expensive voyage. They often paid themselves very well for 
this; such a golden opportunity of going on lawful business to 
the Spanish ports did not happen every day, and the ship which 
carried out the injuFed claimant often took a valuable assort­
ment of trade goods. The Spanish Ministers asserted that the 
claimants of the Woolball returned three times on such an 
errand to Campeachy, after they had been told, on their first 
visit, that the proper place to apply was Mexico.4 When the 
claimant appeared, in good or bad faith, with the royal cedula, 
at the place of condemnation, he might find other compensa­
tions, but if his real object was the recovery of his property, he 
was often disappointed. 

Sometimes the Governor would say the cedula had been 
obtained (as it often may have been) on false pretences, and 

1 Edward Manning to Drake and Long, Feb. 21, 1753, S.P. 94/145. 
2 Draft letter of Keen@ to La Q.uadra, sent by Newcastle to Ketme, March 17 /28, 

1737/8, S.P. 94/132. For the interest of th@ Governors in the forfaiturns, see 
Carvajal's note to Keene, Dec. 2, 1753, S.:P. 94/144. 

3 La Quadra to K @~n.@, May 26, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
4 Ihid. Th@ men-of-war were concerned in this, for they carried the claimants 

on these repeated journeys to Campeachy. 
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write home a protest, pending the answer to which nothing was 
done. 1 

The original ship and cargo had nearly always been sold; 
in view of the time it took to send the proceedings home, have 
them reconsidered by the Council of the Indies, and bring the 
cedula out, that was the best thing that could happen, especially 
if the cargo was at all perishable. The sale very seldom pro­
duced anything near what the English claimed as the first value 
of the cargo. A Spanish provincial capital was often a poor 
place where money was far from abounding; and while the 
cargoes of outward-bound ships might meet with a good sale 
because they consisted of goods which were badly wanted, 
those of the homeward-bound, which were more often taken, 
fetched much less than they would have done if they had 
reached their real destination. Besides, if the capture was un­
just and the condemnation irregular-which may be assumed 
in the cases where the Spanish Court ordered restoration-the 
sale might well be collusive, at artificially low prices; and so no 
doubt it often was. For this reason many claimants refused to 
accept cedulas to colonial Governors, and pref erred to resort once 
more to their own Government for a better and more immediate 
satisfaction. 2 

Even if the sales should be in every other respect satisfactory, 
there remained a further difficulty in recovering. The proceeds 
had been distributed, generally without any security to restore 
them in case the sentence should be reversed; for indeed the 
appeal was by no means always entered on the spot. They could 
not be recovered without prosecuting the captors or their 
securities individually. If the courts lent themselves to obstruct 
such prosecutions, the proceedings were interminable; and even 
if the courts expedited the business, the result was often useless, 
for the Guarda-Costas and their securities alike proved insolvent. 3 

These shameful disappointments only admit of one extenuation 
-which is, that the conditions were nearly as bad in the Eng­
lish colonies; this the neutrals found to their cost in wartime. 

The claimants insisted, with the support of their Govern­
ment, that as the Guarda-Costas were, after all, doing the King 

1 La Quadra to Keene, Feb. 21, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
2 Jenkins to King Charles U, Oct. 8, 1675, Wynne's Life of Sir Leoline Jenkins, 

ii. 779; Newcastle to Keene and Castres, May 8, 1739, S.P. 94/134. 
3 Ibid.; Wager to Keene, Sept. 30, 1730, Private Correspondence ef Sir Benjamin 

Keene (ed. Lodge), p. 4. 
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of ~pain's business though not in his pay, he ought to make 
himself responsible for restoring what they had unjustly taken. 
Philip V did in I 732 make a declaration which England be­
liev€d, and Spain denied, to have this effect, 1 but it remained 
:to all intents and p1!1rposes uriexecuted. Even in the more pro­
pitious reign of Ferdinand VI, when England and Spain were 
trying hard to be on good terms, this promise, though better 
observed, had little effect. The King of Spain did not choose to 
pay at home; the treasures of the offending colony were drawn 
upon for the purpose. That colony would often have, or appear 
to have, no money in its chests; or else the fiscal of the exchequer 
on the spot would show his zeal for the royal revenue by the 
invention of chicaning difficuhies. 2 For many reasons, there­
fore, the claimants and the English Government came to be­
lieve that the only acceptable form of restitution was payment 
out of the royal exchequer at Madrid; which, in a number of 
instances, they finally succeeded in getting. This was the origin 
of the famous sum of £95,000 which Spain was to pay to 
England according to the Convention of El Pardo; whose non­
payment was the proximate cause of the war. 

This, then, was the situation in which the Anglo-Spanish 
crisis arose. The Spanish Government had hoped to stop the 
mouth of England with some lawful share of her colonial trade. 
She had not succeeded, and the smuggling continued, the 
authorized traders taking part in it with the others. She could 
only stop it by the Guarda-Costas, who got out of hand and 
molested the traffic of England with her own colonies. This 
was the foundation of the diplomatic dispute which must now 
be examined. 3 

1 Marsden, Law and Custom, ii. 280; La Quaclra to Keene, May 26, 1138, S.P. 
94/i3o. 

2 Pedro cle Estrada to Drake and Long, April 18, 1755, S.P. 94/148. 
3 1i'his controversy has alreacl.y been treated by Paul Vaucher, Robert Walpole et 

la politique de Fleury (Paris, I 924) ; A. Baudrillart, Philippe Vet la Gour de France, v0l. iv; 
H. W. Temperley, in Transactions of the Royal Historical Society, m. iii. Professor 
Vaucher's account of the matter is especially t0 be rncommended. 



II 

THE OUTBREAK OF THE WAR 

§ i. The legal argument; the Treaties of 1667 and 1670 

IN the autumn of 1737 the West India merchants complained 
to George II of the revival of Spanish depredation~. The Duke 

of Newcastle, Secretary of State for the Southern Department, 
ordered Benjamin Keene to make strong protests at Madrid, 
and to ground his demand for restitution on the treaties existing 
between England and Spain. 1 

There were two treaties which might be held to .apply to this 
· matter-those of 1667 and 1670. The former seems to have 
been drawn up with a view to sparing the feelings of both 
Governments about the concessions which obviously must be 
made in America. The least that England could openly accept, 
Spain could not openly grant. The question of trade between 
the two countries was dealt with very gingerly. The subjects of 
each state might trade 'where they were accustomed to trade'­
that meant, in the European but not in the American domi­
nions of the contracting parties. The only article which express­
ly mentioned the Indies was the eighth; it put England on the 
same footing on which the Dutch stood by the Treaty of 
Munster. That is to say, Spain was not to interrupt the trade 
between England and he:r colonies, and vice versa. The Eng­
lish were only to enjoy this privilege on condition of under­
taking, like the Dutch, to prevent their subjects from trading 
to the Spanish colo~ies. 

The Treaty of 1667 was meant to serve also as a treaty of 
commerce, and for that reason included a number of provisions, 
in the mode of those times, for defining neutral rights. The 
manner of search was prescribed; nothing but the ship's papers 
were to be examined, and that without any show of force. A 
list of contraband was drawn up. It is reasonably certain that 
the Spanish Government did not mean these articles about 
search and contraband to apply to the English trade except in 
so far as the English might be neutrals when Spain was engaged 
in war. In fact it is doubtful if any article of the Treaty of 1667 
applied to America, except the eighth. Seventy years after-

1 Newcastle to Keene, Nov. 4, 1737, S.P. 94/129 (two letters, with numbers of 
papers enclosed). 
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wards, it was the 'right of search' which wa the chief subject of 
discussion, and both sides frequently applied the term 'contra­
band' to the goods which English smugglers exported from the 
Spanish colonies contrary to the laws of Spain. This was an 
entirely unsuitable use of the · term, but it sufficed to lead the 
Duke of Newcastle into a very silly mistake. 

The Treaty of I 670 was known as the 'American Treaty' 
and there was no doubt of its applicability; but in at least one 
article it was drawn up with a face-saving vagueness which was 
perhaps necessary in order that it should be signed at all, but 
left a door open for future trouble. It confirmed the 1667 
treaty in so far as it did not supersede it. It forbade English 
subjects to trade with the Spanish colonies (and vice versa), 
unless such trade was authorized by somebody with a proper 
warrant from the King of Spain for doing so; but it allowed 
certain help and refreshments to be given to the ships of either 
nation driven by storm or pursuit of enemies into the ports of 
the other nation's colonies. Nothing whatever was said of the 
legitimacy of the methods by which Spain repressed the English 
trade to her colonies. This omission was serious enough, but it 
was made worse by article I 5, which tried to combine two in­
compatible pretensions by leaving them entirely vague. The 
first part of this article says that 'This present treaty shall in no 
way derogate from any pre-eminence, right or seigniory which 
either the one or the other allies have in the seas, straits, and 
fresh waters of America, and they shall have and retain the 
same in as full and ample a manner, as of right they ought to 
belong to them'. This is an allusion to the daim of Spain that 
all America, land and sea, belonged of right to her except in so 
far as she should allow privileges to other nations by way of 
exception; but at the same time there was nothing in the 
article to show that England admitted that claim. The latter 
part of the article makes the same compromise the other way 
round: 'it is always to be understood that the freedom of 
navigation ought by no manner of means to be interrupted, 
when there is nothing committed contrary to the true sense and 
meaning of these articles'. That is t© say, Spain showed she 
knew that England claimed some unspecified right of naviga­
tion in some unspecified part of the American seas, without 
committing herself to recognizing its validity. Keene later said 
very justly of this treaty that 'it consists of reciprocal proposi-
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tions made between an English and a Spanish Minister, correc­
tive or each other, without bringing the point to so precise a 
conclusion as might effectually, and at all times, and in ·all 
dispositions of the two Crowns towards one another, prevent 
the evil it was intended to remove'. 1 

The immediate success of this treaty was the result of its other 
clauses; Spain profited by the suppression of the buccaneers, 
so far as England could · suppress them, and recognized in 
return the English occupation of Jamaica. It was a long time 
before the rest of the treaty did any harm. The Government 
of Carlos II was dependent on England for help against 
France, particularly for the preservation of its sovereignty in 
Flanders. As for the Indies trade, it was in such a chaos that 
the smuggling from Jamaica was not much noticed or resented 
at first. Philip V had no special motive of goodwill to England. 
He no longer possessed Flanders; he was anxious, and increas­
ingly able, to put the colonial system of Spain in order. Then 
it was that the tliscussions arising out of the Treaty of 1670 
showed how much trouble the judicious ambiguity of one 
generation can bring upon the next. 

The West India merchants who were heard before the Coun­
cil in I 737 demanded that the behaviour of the Guarda-Costas 
should be governed by the Treaty of 1667. 2 This would have 
prevented them from making many real discoveries, because it 
only allowed them to inspect the ship's papers, and gave them 
no right to look into the contents of the cargo. It would not have 
protected the smugglers altogether, for it appears from the 
Jamaica shipping registers that many of them were foolish 
enough to clear openly for the Spanish colonies, which must 
presumably have been expressed in the papers they carried. 
But it would have conferred even upon smugglers a further 
advantage. If the Guarda-Costas' attitude to the question of 
'contraband' were to be governed by the provisions of this 
treaty, they would only confiscate the contraband goods them­
selves, leaving the ship and the rest of the cargo to go free; 
whereas their actual practice was to confiscate everything, if 
they found any one contraband aFtide oll board. In fact 
several English claimants complained that their vessels and 

1 Keene to Holdernesse, June 30, 1753, S.P. 94/143. 
2 'Short state of the several seizures, &c.' transmitt~d by Newcastle to Keene, 

Nov. 4, 1737, S.P. 94/129. 
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cargoes had been entirely lost for the sake of one piece of log­
wood or braziletto found in the hold-a story suspect by its 
repetition and improbable in itself, for what master of a ship 
would be such a fool as to carry about with him a single in­
criminating article? 1 

The merchants' insistence on the Treaty of 1667 was pro­
bably what misled Newcastle ( who never really understood 
a legal or a commercial question in his life) to insist on it in 
his turn. Keene replied at once that the Treaty of 1667 had 
nothing to do with the West Indies; the clauses about contra­
band and search were meant to enable Spain to stop certain 
kinds of trade with her enemies, while the object of the Guarda­
Costas was to stop all kinds of trade with her subjects. The two 
things had nothing in common, and it would not be to our ad­
vantage to confuse them, for while the Treaty of 1670 forbade 
the trade of British subjects with the Spanish West Indies, it did 
not establish any kind of search; whereas if we admitted the 
right to examine the papers according to the Treaty of 1667, 
we were allowing the Spaniards something which they could 
not claim by that of 1670. The latter treaty, if it justified any 
search at all, could only cover that which the Guarda-Costas 
exercised by Spanish laws wit~in what were indisputably 
Spanish waters. 2 

This might be true, but Keene was too logical. There was no 
persuading the Court of Madrid to accept his reasoning against 
any kind of search; and we should certainly have been the 
gainers if we had induced Spain to accept, in lieu of anything 
worse, the almost harmless inspection provided for in 1667. 3 

When we came to grips with the subject, we were forced to 
make larger concessions than this; and Keene himself later 
proposed a scheme somewhat like that of 1667, but that it gave 
the Guarda-Costas much greater rights in certain cases. Mean­
while Newcastle's blunder-for a blunder it was-gave the 
Spanish Minister, La Quadra, an opportunity to elude for a time 
a real discussion of the subject, and to score a logical victory, 
by proving that the Treaty of 1667 was beside the point.4 New­
castle, forewarned by Keene's objections, was reluctant to own 

1 e.g. Capt. Way of the Loyal Charles, Capt. Vaughan of the Sarah. 
2 Keene to Newcastle (private and confii.dential), Dec. 13, 1737, S.P. 94/128. 
3 Stone's observations on Kecme's letter of Dec. 13, 1137, S.P. 94/128. 
!I- La Quadra to Keene, Feb. 21 and May 26, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
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the mistake. Sir Robert Walpole and his brother were appa­
rently anxious to do so, and to make a fresh start on the ground 
of the Treaty of 1670; hut Newcastle, supported by Hardwicke, 
insisted at least on building a bridge from the old position to the 
new, in a passage of transitio:nal nonsense. 1 

The original argument of the Spanish Governme:nt assumed 
that foreigners could have no lawful trade to the Spanish West 
Indies. Such trade was forbidden by the Treaty of Munster, 
whose provisions, in this respect, were applied to England by the 
Treaty of I 667. It was for bidden again in that of 1670; and in 
the settlement at Utrecht the powers of Europe had agreed that 
the trade of Spanish America should be restored to the footing 
of the reign of Carlos II, when foreigners did not ordinarily 
receive any general legal permission to engage in it. Admittedly 
the treaties did not prescribe how Spain was to put down un­
lawful trade-for the Spanish Ministers denied the relevance of 
the Treaty of 1667; but though that of 1670 had only con­
demned navigation and trading in Spanish ports, it was reason­
ably to be interpreted as including the conatus proximus, the 
sailing to and from Spanish ports on such unlawful business. 2 

Even if there had been some omission in the treaties, it remained 
true that smuggling was forbidden. It was to be assumed that 
the smugglers were to be suppressed by the laws of Spain; and 
the only question was, what were the places to which Spanish 
jurisdiction extended? 

The Spanish Ministers were quite clear in their own minds 
that it covered all the seas of the West Indies. The claim of 
Spain to be the rightful mistress of all America had never 
been explicitly abandoned, and La Quadra meant to revive 
and enforce it as far as he could. Keene described him and his 
colleagues as 
'three or four mean stubborn people of little minds and limited 
understandings, but full of the romantic ideas they have found in 
old memorials and speculative authors who have treated of th€ im­
mense grandeur of the Spanish monarchy, people who have vanity 
enough to think themselves reserved by Providence to rectify and 
reform the abuses of past ~inisters and ages'. 3 

1 Horace Walpole to Trevor, March 7 /18 and. 14/25, I 737 /8, H.M.C. XIVth 
Report, App. IX, pp. 13, 14; Newcastle to Keene, March 17, o.s. 1737/8, enclosing 
letter to be written by Keene to La Quadra, S.P. 94/1~2. Stone's observations 
quoted above. 2 Keene to Newcastle, May 7, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 

3 Keene to Newcastle (most private), April 24, 1739, S.P. 94/133. 
4274 D 
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They could not deny that Spain had been forced to yield terri­
torial and other rights in America to England, France, and 
Hoiland: for instance, she had undertaken to respect the prin­
ciple of freedom of navigation in America, by the Treaty of 
I 670. But these privileges were only conveyed by grants from 
Spain; they were only exceptional derogations from her sove­
reignty in the Indies. Whatever she had not expressly yielded, 
was still hers by right; and even the concessions she had made, 
were to be judged in the light of her own laws. 1 

La Quadra kept this immense claim in the background as 
long as he could; no doubt he rightly feared that it would offend 
other nations besides those with which he was immediately in 
controversy. It had to come out sooner or later, for Spain 
could hardly give any other reason why she should exercise a 
right of stopping and searching foreign ships all over the West 
Indies without the express warrant of treaties for doing so. 
She had promised the English freedom of navigation in America, 
and meant to observe that promise; but they could not claim 
anything beyond the true sense of her promise, of which she 
was to be the judge. If the claim which they founded on that 
promise should come into conflict with her prior and indefeas­
ible right to protect her colonial monopoly against smugglers, 
it must give way. Spain did not claim to interrupt the trade of 
English ships sailing between England and the colonies; this, 
she held, was the true sense of that 'liberty of navigation' which 
she had granted in 1670. There were recognized routes for such 
voyages, though they had never been defined in any treaty 
between the two nations. Traders who deviated from them 
without any necessity were held to have convicted themselves 
of meaning to traffic unlawfully in the Spanish dominions. 
This was presumably the point of the expression 'suspected 
latitudes', and of the exception which La Quadra made against 
vessels which 'voluntarily forsook their course'. 2 Spain was to 
judge what the latitudes were, in which English ships were 
justly open to suspicion; she was also to judge what was the 
'course' from which they had deviated. The English Govern-
ment resisted these definitions of guilt. It was thought neither 
safe nor honourable to let Spain mark out our sailing-routes for 
us in the open seas; and while the conception of 'suspected lati-

1 Keene to Newcastle, May 1, 1138; La Quadra to Keene, May 26, 173~, S.P. 
94/130. · . 2 La Quaclra to Keene, Feb. 21, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
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tudes' made possible an agreement which would establish a 
right to pass by certain Spanish coasts, all English shipping in 
America was in danger from it, so long as no such agreement 
existed. 

As to the way in which this fundamental right was to be 
exercised, Spain was more accommodating. The Government 
had lately upheld seizures of foreign ships in 'suspected lati­
tudes', and ships which contained any goods which could only 
have come from the Spanish dominions. What those 'suspected 
latitudes' were, I do not know that it ever defined; but it 
ordered the restitution of one or two vessels, such as the Woolball, 
which were proved to h£:tve been seized elsewhere. No general 
rule was laid down as to the ships which, though taken where 
they ought not to have been searched, we1.1e afterwards found to 
contain 'contraband' goods. Were they to be condemned as 
having been guilty of illicit trade, or restored as unlawfully 
arrested? Here again the example of the Woolball seemed to 
show that they would be restored. 1 The question of ships in this 
case was one about which the English Ministers themselves were 
uncertain; even Newcastle doubted if he should be justified 
in claiming them. 2 

Early in the summer of I 738, Keene thought he saw indica­
tions that the Spanish Ministers would abandon their positions 
and take up another which would bring them much nealier. to 
that of Walpole. They never gave it him in writing, but he 
believed he might say that they would adopt a new method of 
search and a new criterion of guilt. The Guarda-Costas should 
examine the papers of English ships, which were to express 
their ports of departure and destination. If their presence in 
the place where they were stopped was compatible with their 
pursuing, in good faith, the voyage described in their papers, 
they should be released without further examination; if not, 
they should be searched, as before, for 'contraband' goods, and 
condemned if they carried any. 3 

Keene was disappointed in the expectation that La Quadra 
would propose this; but he continued to believe that it was what 
Montijo, the President of the Council of the Indies, really 
desired, and that Montijo's opinion in such a matter was of more 

1 Report of the Fiscal of the Council of the Indies, forwarded by Keene to New-
castle, May 7, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 2 Parl.Hist.x.770. · 

3 Keene to Newcastle, May 7, 1738, S.P. 94/130. 
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weight than La Quadra's. 1 The execution even of this project 
would have needed a great deal of goodwill and adjustment. 
It would still have left much to the discretion of the Spanish 
Governors and Guarda-Costas. It would have left even more­
too much, in fact-to the honesty of English customs officials; 
and it would probably have been incomplete without some 
definition of the 'suspected latitudes'. Further, it must have 
been supplemented by some strong action on the part of the 
English Government against the smugglers and the com­
manders of warships who favoured and protected their trade. 
But the project had this great advantage, that the lawful 
traders would be subject to an inspection of papers only, so long 
as they kept in their recognized courses; and so the original 
demand of the West India merchants would have been satisfied. 
At any rate it was something on which to build projects of 
accommodating the dispute; and this is what Keene and his 
masters proceeded to do. 

Soon after this suggestion was made, the controversy took 
another turn, and little more was heard of the Spanish attitude 
to the question of search and free navigation until the meet­
ings of the plenipotentiaries in the summer of 1739. Bythat time 
the hope of averting war had been lost or thrown away, and the 
exasperated stubbornness of the Spanish Ministers expressed 
itself in an open revival of the old claim to universal sovereignty 
in America. They explained the Treaty of r 670 in such a way 
'that the navigation which the British nation can pretend to in the 
American seas, is to be such as shall not diminish or lessen the pre­
eminences, rights, and dominions, which in those parts belong to 
his Majesty .... Neither the pre-eminences, rights, and dominions 
above mentioned, can remain whole and entire to his Majesty, as 
long as the ships or privateers authorized by him, shall not be per­
mitted to detain, examine, and search the vessels that navigate in the 
American seas, and without such formalities as these, it can never 
be verified whether in those seas anything be done or committed 
against the genuine sense of the said article. ' 2 

1 Keene to Newcastle (most private), Aug. 2, 1138, $.P. 94/131. It do@s not 
app@ar why th@ Spanish Ministers did not give Keene th@s€ proposals in writing, 
which it seems they om:e m@ant to do. Lord Waldegrave, the English Ambassador 
in Paris, suggested that it was 'fFom an opinion that they may get off upon easier 
terms than they at first expect@d', which might or might not be due-to hopes of 
support from the Court of Franc@. (Waldegrave to Keen@, June 10, N.s., 1738, 
Wa:Idegrave MSS.). . 

2 Keen@ and Casttes to Newcastl@, July 13, 1739, S.P. 94/133. The claim was 
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They condemned as a derogation from these principles the 
English claim to be exempted from search. This language 
would not have been used if Spain had still hoped for a settle­
ment of the dispute; but it may, for all that, express the real 
thoughts and wishes of the Spanish Court. 

The dispute between England and Spain was about a rule 
and an exception. Spain asserted that the Spanish sovereignty 
of the Indies was the rule and the English right of navigation 
was the exception; England retorted that the natural freedom 
of navigation was the rule, and the Spanish right to prevent 
smugglers was a derogation from it, which could only be law­
ful within the ordinary territorial 1imits of the Spanish domi­
nions-[ or we allowed Spain no extraordinary sovereignty in 
America or anywhere else. The English Government never 
claimed or desired any right of smuggling in the Spanish Em­
pire; even the Opposition, in their saner moods, acquiesced in the 
condemnation of real smugglers and were always careful to put 
the hardships of the lawful Jamaica traders in the forefront of 
the agitation. Where, however, the rule and the exception con­
flicted, they argued that the rule was to prevail. It was unfor­
tunate, they said, that the King of Spain should find it so 
difficult to put down smuggling within his own territories. But 
he was not entitled, for that, to step outside his own sovereignty 
and exercise preventive measures in the open seas which were 
common to alI; still less was he to molest our fair traders. 1 A 
right of search on the high seas could only come into being by 
virtue of treaties; nothing of the sort was known to the funda~ 
mental law of nations. If we started from the Spanish principle 
that smuggling must be prevented, and carried it to all its 
necessary conclusions, nothing would be left of the lawful trade 
of England with her colonies. When the Opposition orators 
were heated, they went farther, and even hinted a criticism of 
the Treaty of I 670, for giving up our right to trade to the 
Spanish dominions. 2 

This was not the opinion of responsible people. Still less was 
it the opinion of the Ministers, who may have known that smug-

repeated, even more imprudently, before an international publk, in the King 
of Spain's Raisons justi.fioatives (Rousset, Recueil, XIII. i,i. 1 79). 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 683 (Pulteney), 748 (Cairteret): A Review of all that hath pass'd 
between the Courts of Great Britain and Spain (London, 1 739), pp. 36-8. 

2 Part. Hist. x. I 222 (Bathurst): A View of the Political Transactions of Grieat IJri1ain 
since the Convention was approved of by Parliament (London, 1 739), pp. 25-8. 
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gling must continue with impunity if their demands were satis­
fied, but never were so silly as to say so. Indeed, both Walpole 
and Newcastle saw the necessity of giving Spain at least a pro­
mise to repress it by all means that were constitutionally in the 
Government's power. 1 Newcastle once went so far as to say that 
we were morally obliged to do so by the Treaty of 1670.2 It is 
doubtful if such a prohibition would have been effective. The 
Ministers would hardly have dared to ask Parliament for an 
Act; the most they seem to have offered, in their projects of 
treaties, is a proclamation, and a promise to cashier any com­
manders of warships who should protect the traders or engage 
for themselves in the trade. 3 They made it perfectly clear, 
however, that they would never agree to any measure which 
would infringe the absolute liberty of the fair traders.4 

Therefore they could not acquiesce in the Spanish doctrine 
about 'suspected latitudes' and voluntary alterations of course. 
They were not so unreasonable as to deny that there were some 
places where English traders could have no lawful business, if 
Spain would in her turn concede that there were some places 
in which English ships were not necessarily suspect of smuggling. 
There were several ways of setttling this question. One was to 
establish a distance all round the Spanish coasts, outside which 
no search might be made. Something of the kind seems to have 
been nominally observed by the Guarda-Costas under an order 
of I 732 ;5 but it was too rigid, and would have to be qualified by 
a declaration that it was not to be applied on the lawful routes 
of English trade. Another expedient was to except by name the 
Windward Passage and the Gulf of Florida from the places 
where English shipping was to be suspected and examined. 6 

This scheme, which was approved by a well-informed French 
writer,7 would have raised difficulties. It would have involved 
the abandonment of the whole island of Cuba to English smug­
gling, and would not really have protected the Spanish mono­
poly in the mainland, because Cuba would have been a door 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 1292, 1312. 
2 Newcastle to Hardwicke, 'Fryday nocm', Add. MSS. 35406, f. 53. 
3 Article 3 of the first draft trnaty, article 2 of the secgnd. 
4 Newcastle to Kee.ne and Castres, Ne>v. 13, 1138, S.P. 94/132. 
5 Report of the Fiscal of the Indies, quoted above, p. 35. 

· 
6 Draft instnictions to Keen€ and Castres, Nov. 13, 1738, S.P. 94/132. 
7 Silh.ouette to Amelot, Dec. 24, 1 ;39, A.E. Angleterre, vol. 405, f. 360; March 

12; 1740, vol. 407•, f. 181; A.E. Mem. et Doc. Angleterre, vol. 9, f. 111; vol. 41, 
f. 200. . 
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through which English goods would have reached the whole . 
empire. 

Yet another expedient was the proposal of Montijo. 1 The 
English Ministry did not dislike it, but could not accept it alone. 
For Newcastle, the chief point was No Search on the High Seas, 
because it made most noise. The investigation of the ship's 
papers, to see if she was really on her declared voyage, might be 
quite harmless to the innocent if it were properly conducted; 
still it was a search, and the Spaniards apparently proposed 
to practise it on the high seas. That would not satisfy the bel­
lowing patriots in the House of Commons. Newcastle therefore 
combined all the schemes together, in order to make assurance 
treble sure: Montijo's scheme, the exception by name of the 
Windward Passage and the Gulf of Florida, and his own 
favourite project of establishing a reasonable distance round the 
Spanish coasts, within which English shipping should not go. 
Outside this distance, there was to be no search at all; within it, 
the papers only were to be searched for evidence as to the 
voyage, as Montijo had suggested. 2 Even if some discrepancy 
appeared between the 1eclared and the actual voyage, that was 
not to suffice alone to condemn the ship and cargo. Legal proof 
of smuggling or intention to smuggle must be produced; and 
even so, only that part of the cargo which was brought for or 
from the Spanish dominions should be confiscated. The English 
plenipotentiaries did not criticize this; it does not signify what 
La Quadra would have said to it, because the great question of 
search and free navigation had hardly been discussed between 
the plenipotentiaries before the war broke out. 

The English Ministers objected not only to the practice of 
search, but also to the Spanish doctrine of 'contraband'. That 
doctrine touched the national honour. Spain claimed, amongst 
other things, a right to interrupt the trade between 011e part of 
the British dominions and another. The Guarda-Costas not only 
searched, on the high seas, vessels that were actually coming 
away from the Spanish colonies; they extended their inquisi­
tions to 'contraband' goods which had been safely landed at 
Jamaica and reshipped for England or North America. Once 
a Spanish product, always a Spanish product; there was a 
vitium reale, a taint in the thing itself, which r€nderee it liable 

1 Vide supra, p. 35. 
2 Draft instructions to Keene and Castres, Nov. 13, 1738, S.:P. 94/132. " 
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to confiscation, no matter where it was found, after how many 
voyages and changes of ownership. [ There was no knowin · 
how far this w · entirely in the 
the Spaniards. · · · the 
sage to-day, they mig seize 1 1n e annel · 
they seized cocoa on the grou · . · as grown in the 
Spanish colonies, one day th · r 
reason. Of course these feait's b a1n was 
nevertheless asserting a 
had in fact discovered, ot1g no 1n : e sp ere o :neu ra 
rights, the doctrine of continuous voyage; and mutatis mutandis, 
some of the English aTguments of 1739 became the Dutch 
arguments of 1759.2 

The 'contraband' goods miiht have corn into the possession 
of Englishmen in many lawful ways. : ps throuih the 
Assiento. It was all very well in 1670 to seize oods of Spanish 
origin as evidences of illicit trade; bu · 
Assiento Treaty and -the Annual Ship. 
pany had its ag;ents at Jamaica· mos - . s came s ra1 
home without touching the t all do 
some of them may have 1sem r e oo s 1n he island. Cer­
tainly this tap 1 
than it ought, 
Spanish products 1n amau:a wou e e · 1 1ma e 
of them had entered into circulation t 
Pe:rhaps the Government mi ht have a o e a su es 10n o · 

's, that p1io 
any should actors. 

e certificates e to all and 
sundry, but the Question would at least hav a nominal 
solution. Besides the lawful exports of the om · an , there was 
some Sp · · ·sh colonies 
could be accounte o 1n · n w . e n1s Governors, 
<n1 pretexts of scand somet ed their 
subjects to s t · o u necessarl s, 
and to expor mer an 1se o ay or e ty 
of this practice~ ift ,ere wa . · y at the o o e pan1ards 

1 he Rise and 'Progress of our Disputes with Spain (L@ndon, 1 i39), pp. 5-G. 
2 x. 
3 € 'F©b. 3, . 
4 ewcas e (privat€ , D0c;. 13, 1137, S.P. 94/128. 
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themselves; and it was hard if the Spanish authorities should 
pursue with their vengeance the Englishmen at Jamaica who 
bought the goods so exported. 

There was another ~eason why the criterion of 'contraband:' 
goods could not be admitted. Some of them were said to be 
produced in the English as well as the Spanish colonies. Cocoa 
had once been grown in Jamaica, but the trees had died for 
want of expert care; yet a little was still grown here and there in 
the English dominions. This too was a very small tap which 
would let out a great deal. 

More serious, because of its implications, was the question 
of dyewoods. Captain Kinslagh of the Prince William was con­
victed of illicit trade in I 737 on account of some braziletto 
wood in his cargo. 1 He said it was the growth of New Provi­
dence, in the Bahamas; but Spain had never admitted the 
English right to settle the Bahamas, and regarded them as 
Spanish possessions. Logwood created a yet more important 
difficulty. Some logwood grew, and still grows, in Jamaica; it 
was sometimes exploited commercially, especially oy those who 
were clearing new plantations. Most, however, of what was 
imported into England came from the Spanish provinces of 
Honduras and Campeachy. The use of logwood in dyeing 
dark colours made it an article of great necessity to the woollen­
manufacturers of Europe. It was a tree which grew in swampy 
ground near the creeks on both sides of Cape Catoche. The 
Spaniards of S. Francisco de Campeche cut and sold it in 
the seventeenth century. The English seem to have come to the 
trade from buccaneering: first they plundered the logwood 
ships, then they seized upon the piles of wood which lay ready 
cut near the creeks. Finally they settled down to cut it for 
themselves, especially after the serious attempts of the English 
Government to suppress buccaneering forced them to change 
their career. It was a life of hard work, up to the knees in. 
swamp half the time, and heavy burdens to carry; but it was 
beguiled by drinking-bouts and native women, and recom .. 
mended itself to those who had been accustomed to live outside 
the pale of law and order. 2 

Exactly when the logwood-raiding turned into logwood 
settlements cannot easily be ascertained. The Board of Trade 

1 Newcastle to Keene, Nov. 4, 1737, S.P. 94/129, with enclosures. 
2 William Da:mpier, Vcryages (ed. 1699), vol. ii, part ii,passim. 
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afterwards made the most of the evidence that the process had 
taken place before 1667, or at any rate before 1670.1 This 
point was held to be important, for the Treaty of 1670 recog­
nized the status quo of the dominions of each party. Certainly 
the Spanish Governmerit never meant to legitimate the log­
wood-cutting settlements; could it be held to have done so by 
mistake? They had no established government of any kind and 
were in no sense regular dominions of the Crown of England. 
Besides, it was doubtful if their sites could be regarded as having 
been left vacant by the Spaniards. Sir William Godolphin, 
Ambassador c:lt Madrid, had been applied to for his advice in 
1672; he answered that the province of Cam peachy was as 
much occupied by the Spaniards as most of their other American 
possessions, and that the Spaniards 'may as justly pretend to 
make use of our rivers, mountains, and other commons, for not 
being inhabited or owned by individual proprietors, as we can 
to enjoy the benefit of these woods'. 2 

After this, the Spanish authorities continued to eject the log­
wood-cutters as best they could, and the English Government 
to protest from time to time. The English claim was further 
strengthened by the Anglo-Spanish Treaty of Commerce in 
1713, which confirmed the Treaty of 1670 'without any pre-
judice however to any liberty or power which the subjects of 
Great Britain enjoyed before, either through right, sufferance 
or indulgence'. The Spaniards denied that there ever had been 
such indulgence and sufferance, and pointed to the number of 
times they had turned the logwood-cutters out, without any 
complaint made by the English Government. A demand of the 
Spanish Ambassador for the withdrawal of the English settlers 
from the Laguna de Terminos produced in 1717 a long and 
celebrated report on the subject by the Board of Trade.3 Its 
reasoning is far from conclusive, though it was accepted as 
Gospel truth by most Englishmen.4 Besides, whatever title it 
might establish for the logwood-cutters of Campeachy, it was 
open in 1739 to one insurmountable objection: since it had been 
written, the logwood-cutters had been finally ejected from 
Campeachy, and those who still pursued that calling lived at a 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1717-18, no. 104 (i). 2 H.M.C. Xth Report, App. I, pp. 200-1. 
3 C.S.P. Col. 1717-18, no. rn4 (i). 
4 Keene did not acc€pt it (Ke@ne to Under-Secretary Couraud, June 9, 1739, 

S.P. 94/133). See also Fuentes to Pitt, Sept. g, 1760, G.D. 8/93; Bristol to Pitt 
(most secret), Nov. 6, 1760, S.P. 94/162. 
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much more recent settlement, hundreds of miles away, on the 
bay of Honduras. It was not even, as Wager supposed, 'in 
the same province of Yucatan', and the right to it could not be 
defended on the same grounds. 1 

This was a dangerous subject to touch upon; because it 
revived a controversy that had only been quieted in 1670 after 
nearly a hundred years of war-the question of effective 
occupation. Apart from the sophistry of claiming a right under 
the Treaty of 1670, the only solid justification the English had 
to offer for their logwood settlements was that they occupied 
the country and the Spaniards did not. Spain had allowed th@ 
doctrine of effective occupation to be applied once, when she 
recognized Charles II's title to his American dominions in 1670; 
but she had not assented to it in general. She still believed that 
no settlement in AmeFica was lawful which sl1e had not ex­
pressly licensed; therefore to claim the cargoes of logwood in 
English ships as the produce of English dominions was to 
advance from questioning her rights at sea to questioning her 
rights on land. It was for this reason that Wall afterwa:rds said 
of those cases that the j,ustification was woifse than the offence. 
When the depredations, the South Sea Company, and an other 
sources of irritation had died away, logwood still remained to 
play a considerable part among the causes of the Anglo-Spanish 
war of 1762. 

§ ii. Newcastle and the Oppo£iiion; the Reprisals of z738 

The argument between England and Spain was interrupted 
almost as soon as it was begun. The question of search and free 
navigation was complicated by disputes upon several other sub­
jects; and even if the English Ministers had been able to keep 
the Spanish Court to the main point, they were not masters in 
their own house. 

The two nations were drifting towards war in :the spring of 
1738. The agitation of the West India merchants made a great 
noise. Moreover, a new element was in:troduced into the 
situation. The English Opposition had seen a chance of making 
party capital out of the dispute, and wais pressing the Govern­
ment for strong measures which would lead to war. 

The Earl of Marchmont lamented, at the end o:fr the Padia-

1 Wager's observations on the draft treaty, N@v. 8, 1738, Library of Congr@ss, 
Vernon-Wager MSS. 
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mentary session of 1737-8, that he had not succeeded in per­
suading the Opposition leaders to take up this question early 
enough in the · answered, that must arise from 
the em at last it did arise, 
but too ere ·ore encountered little trouble 
in Parliament until the session was some way advanc@d. Per­
haps Pulteney and Wyndham wanted to be sure 
something in the agit - ore they associate emse ves 
with it openly. Th dy b te 
the press; and one of them had, int or not, taken a 
step which perhaps did more o bring on a war than anything 
that any of them ublic. 

Newcastle hear 1n c o er I 737 that 'a certain Fer ' 
presumably somebody in Opposition-had talked of making a 
particular attack on him for the conduct of the Government 
about the Spanish depredations. 2 C r ainl Newcastle must 
have felt that the record of past a · · eld was 
not imposing. Complaints had be 
been answered civilly. Commissaries a een a 01n on 

· both sides to adjust these cases; but t 
of English claims unsatisfied, and s - e 
abuses would cease in future. It was all very well for Hard­
wicke -to reassure Newcastle that if the truth were known he 
would be as well able to justify himself as anybody; he must 
have been thrown into great agitation at this prospect of being 
personally singled out for criticism. 

Newcastle was ah ard. He was terrified 
of public opinion-- - . v - -y have been in the 
eighteenth century. .Anything that could alk bi and call itself 
a tribune of th . e could make him with anxiety. 
His fear of Pitt ed; for who afraid of that 
great actor ?-but he even stooped to be afraid o 

, o was never more than Pitt's Sancho . . 
' n -ualified a robation, and one dis-

s€n le _ - gh peace of mind. Yet 
with his colleagues, who ha no popu ar influence to terrify him, 
he was very far from corn lian - ite of the nervous agita:­
tion into which th@ leas , u y rew him, he had a bound­
less appetite f<or business; he loved the merit of arranging 

1 Marthmont Papers (London, 1 fa331), ii. rno. 
2 :Hardwick@ to Neweastle, Oct. 12, 1737, Add. M$8. 32690, f. 394. 
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everything, and the praise of arranging it well. Though he 
seldom knew exactly what he wanted, he wanted it so strongly 
as to go almost any lengths to obtain it. It was not conscious 
treachery or desire for power that made him part with so many 
political allies and edge so many colleagues out of the nest; it 
was a firm conviction that his own policy, however nebulous, 
was right and necessary. Walpole, Carteret, Chesterfield, Bed­
ford-it is an imposing list. Several of them were discarded for 
trying to do exactly what Newcastle himself did soon after their 
extrusion. 

It was for this kind of reason that he was universally suspected 
of dishonesty. Admittedly he broke promises-that was be­
cause, in the fullness of his heart or as a line of least resistance, 
he had had the misfortune to promise the same thing to too 
many people. It is true that few men succeeded in remaining 
his friends and allies for long; but he was not, like Pitt, de­
liberately and artificially dishonest. His was the spontaneous 
dishonesty of weakness. He was a mercurial, always at the top 
or at the bottom of his spirits; he lived entirely in the present. 
He saw life neither steadily nor whole; but whatever he did see, 
struck him with an overwhelming force of conviction. While 
he believed a thing, he believed it strongly; and perhaps it was 
hardly his fault that he could not foresee the difficulties which 
would cause him to rebound so lightly from one doctrine or 
friendship to another. Besides, he was easily flurried and lost 
his head. He was then more determined than anybody that 
something must be done, and knew less than most what it ought 
to be. He would then recommend with equal earnestness 
almost all the possible expedients, and later events would enable 
him to proclaim with perfect sincerity that he had always been 
in favour of the course which finally seemed the most eligible. 
He never understood more than the politics of any subject, and 
was fascinated by the personal side even of politics. He has 
been charged with having no interest in life but jobbery; but 
that is not quite fair to him. True enough, his name is not 
associated with any great acts of legislation. He passed no 
Reform Acts, relieved no distress by wise laws; but domestic 
legislation was not then thought to be the chief business of 
Government. Ministers were generally preoccupied in the con­
duct of war and foreign affairs, and Newcastle was no exception. 
He lived for foreign politics, as the enormous correspondence 
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testifies which he so futilely devoted to them. With long ex­
perience, he never formed anything like a general principle; the 
only two prepossessions in his mind which approached. such a 
thing were a horror of Tories and a partiality for the Hous@ of 
Austria, in spite of everything that her intractable monarchs 
could do. He had picked these up in the heat of his youth and 
always looked upon them as the 'good old system'; but even 
from them he was brought to allow deviations, though with a 
wry face. Nothing but inexhaustible vitality could have enabled 
him to live forty years of so tormenting and haphazard a politi­
cal career, and to prevail with such surprising and continued 
success against men of better capacity. 

With such a light-weight, so sensitive to popular disapproval, 
in charge of the negotiations with Spain, the Opposition's policy 
became at least as important as that of the Government. Even 
before the Opposition had declared itself, Newcastle had 
already quarrelled with Walpole for his tameness to Spain; but 
the subject of that disagreement seems to have been something 
else. 1 It wou.ld be a trivial pedantry to ascribe all Newcastle's 
ill-judged zeal in the affair of the depredations to his appre­
hensions of the 'certain person', though Hardwicke's letter was 
followed remarkably soon by Newcastle's first sharp dispatch to 
Keene. Certainly he had other and more public motives, such 
as the petition of the West India merchants; but I think it 
remains true that his impatient bellicosity was very greatly due 
to his fear of criticism, not to say impeachment, and his desire 
to play a part worthy of a strong Foreign Minister. 

The Ministry took a violent step towards war at the beginning 
of March I 738. The King offered to issue letters of reprisal for 
the English merchants to do themselves justice against Spain. 
This was a form of private war which had almost passed out 
of use. It was designed to satisfy the grievances of an individual 
against a foreign power, without incurring an open inter­
national conflict. If an English merchant was wronged, for 
example, by the King of Spain or his subjects, and could not 
get justice from the Spanish courts, he was entitled to apply for 
the interposition of his own sovereign. The King of England 
would then make a formal complaint to the Court of Spain, and 
demand a review of the sentence, or whatever form of satis­
faction was most appropriate. If justice was still denied,. the 

1 Hardwicke to N€wcastle,June 16, 1737, Add. MSS. 32690, f. 299. 
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King of England might, after a due period, grant the iajured 
parties letters of reprisal. This would entitle them to fit 011t 

a private vessel of war and take the property of Spanish subjects 
on the high seas, until they had :recovered their loss, which they 
were generally obliged to prove beforehand in the English 
courts. It was a chaotic and dangerous way of doing business, 
though perhaps it was no worse than the modern trade em­
bargo. It had been very common in former times, and the 
conditions of its use were often defined by treaty, as by those 
of r 630 and r 667 between England and Spain. 1 

Newcastle justified the letters of reprisal by the treaties ;2· but 
the practice had always been inconvenient and was becoming 
obsolete. Even though the sovereign who resorted to it usually 
took care to make his subjects prove their loss in his courts, he 
could not always make sure of the facts before he thus cut short 
the controversy and refused to hear the other party's version. 
He might claim to be as good a judge of the facts as any other; 
but if this claim was admitted and acted upon, there would be 
two courts of justice for every dispute where the parties were of 
different nations. 3 Besides, in those days reprisals could hardly 
fail to bring on a war, which they had once been designed 
to avoid. Diplomacy was assuming more and more of the 
r~sponsibility for private international relations; the English 
Government in particular, which was more amenable than 
others to a sort of public opinion, would find it hard to distin-

1 There was a case very much in point a few years after the second of these 
treaties was made; a certain Captain Cook was wronged at Havana, but got a sen­
tence in his favour from the Court of Spain. He was to have it executed at Havana, 
which he looked upon as a hardship, for he believed that satisfaction would be 
delayed or eluded there. He seems to have petitioned Charles II for letters of 
reprisal, in order to save himself a fool's errand to the West Indies. Sir Leoline 
Jenkins advised the King that reprisals could not properly be granted without a 
denial of justice, which could not be presumed until Captain Cook had obeyed the 
Queen of Spain's cedula. (Wynne's Life of Jenkins, ii. 778.) Marsden prints many 
letters of reprisal in his Law and Custom. The earliest is dated in 1295 (i. 39). 

2 Newcastle to Geraldino, April 28, I 738, Law and Custom, ii. 284. 
3 The author of Britain's Mistakes in the Commencement and Conduct of the Present 

War (London, 1740) admits that Spain has the right to confiscate smugglers but 
denies that she is the sole judge of the facts: 'it is behaving like a little pettifogging 
Norfolk attorney, to allow the Court of Sp)ain, or any Court in the World, to con­
test the fact with us'. This aphorism, which represents the opinion of the whole 
Opposition, illust11ates the impracticability of the whole system of Feprisals. How 
could peace be preserved if everybody acted upon this principle? The question 
asked itself again in the controversy between England and Prussia over the Silesia: 
Loan. 
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guish for long between reprisals and war. Lastly, reprisals -were 
probably imp:raeticable in the eighteenth century. They had 
been common when the :royal warships were few and small, but 
a privateer could no longer affront the navy of even a second­
rate maritime power, · unless Jae was sure that his own navy 
suppo:rted him. Privateering was therefore common enough in 
war, hut too dangerous in peace. 

Moreover, Newcastle's reprisals were not true reprisals at all, 
for they were offered n@t only to the merchants whose griev-
ances were unredressed in Spa· all who to take 
them. This was war without a e · . , · w u a Royal 
Navy. ere preeeden s : e 1ne divided 
reprisals rom privateering pure and simple had become ob­
scure in the seventeenth century. Reprisals had been allowed 
without proof of loss in 1628. - · 
been issued against Holland a1ns ranee 1n 
I 689; they differ i r m · corn er-
theless, the letters of reprisal we I 3 . 

The Government was trying to shirk it : res onsibility; per­
haps this was due to a difference and a c within the 
Ministry, but more likely it is to be attribu e o e coward.ice 
of N @wcastle and his faction, for his coll a - an enemy 
Horace Walp · it as 'that leaving 
the people of England. and the Queen of S ain to worry one 
another'. 2 The merchants would not let ent leave 
them to fight their own battles like that; e uired it to do 
the work for them with the Kinfs ship no 
doubt, as Carteret did the next year, tha o · · av1 s are 
kept by the merchants, and must protect the merchan s' 3 No-
body took out letteFs r risa · it great 
:risk unless the G ar. e Op-

osition tried to i , Bill, 
coprn r m h Prize et o r 70 · , or r1v1ng en ire property 

· _ the captors, and gt1aranteein to adventurers, 
fit out ·tions t the Spanish 

t · · the p y might take. 
Sir . ert Wa po e resis 1- ma 1c1oas roposal~ which 

I • •• 0 o . . , 407; 11. 46, 123,400. 
, @.s., 1738, N.M.C. XlVth Report, App. IX, p. 24. 

· , iFI. · . the next two, the Ambassador 
Sir n@t the letter-writer and art-

n. 3 Parl. Hist. x. I 409. 
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would have destroyed his chance of settling the dispute with 
Spain. He pointed out that in r708, when such an Act was 
first passed, we were already at war with France and Spain; 
we were now at peace with both, but should not long remain 
so if we took such a measure. 1 The Bill was defeated and the 
letters of reprisal remained unapplied for; the peace was for 
the moment saved. 2 

Newcastle must have been getting ready for war at the begin­
:ning of June I 738, for he had the English merchants in Spain 
warned to withdraw their effects from the country. A few days 
afterwards a sudden light broke; and though the negotiations 
which now began led to war in the end, their first appearance 
was very favourable to peace. At this time the Court of Spain 
must have sincerely desired a settlement or at least a delay. If 
it had been really warlike it would never have stomached the 
proclamation of reprisals, which La Quadra treated with sur­
prising equanimity. 

The Spanish Government yielded nothing on paper; but it 
was about this time that Montijo suggested a more tolerable 

. 1 Parl. Hist. x. 831-2. 
2 The Government repeated the letters of reprisal as a prelude to war in 1 739, 

and that time the merchants, with greater confidence in its intentions, applied for 
them. The Seven Years War began in much the same way, but the institution of 
reprisals was still further distorted from its original form. The injury for which the 
reprisals were granted was in no sense a private wrong; it was the French aggression 
in North America. This was not quite without precedent, for the Law Officers, of 
whom Hardwicke was one, had reported in 1727 that in attacking Gibraltar the 
King of Spain had committed acts of war which would justify George II in com­
mitting any kind of reprisals or hostilities without a declaration (Marsden, Law and 
Custom, ii. 265). Yet there was another irregularity in the rnprisals of 1755; they 
were only exercised by the Royal navy. (See the debates on this subject, Parl. 
Hist. xv. 544-615.) Choiseul tried to persuade Pitt in 1761 to allow compensation 
for the French ships taken in this way before the declaration of war; but Pitt would 
not agree to it. He argued that they were taken by way of reprisals for the en­
croachments in Canada. Choiseul replied :reasonably emough, that if France had 
committed unlawful hostilities in time of peace, the right remedy for that was the 
war itself. Pitt stµck to his point that it was the aggression and not the war which 
gave the right to reprisals. Choiseul admitted this, but tried a new line of argument: 
it was not always easy to determine who was the aggressor, and the peace treaties 
protected private people from the bad consequences of this uncertainty by exempt­
ing enemy ships from seizures in port at the outbreak of a war. A fortiori ships 
should be allowed to pass free on the high seas. It would not do. Pitt insisted, and 
Choiseul gave Hp-the point. (Instructions to Bussy, May 23, 1761, A.E. Angleterre, 
443; Bussy to Choiseul, June 19, ibid.; French memorial of July 13, translated in 
Thacke:ray's History of William Pitt, ii. 550; English answe:r of July 25, ii. 559; 
French ultimatum of Aug. 5, ii. 568; Choiseul to Solar, May 1762, A.B. Angletei:-re, 
446.) 
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method of exercising the right of search. This outline of a pro­
ject does not seem to have satisfied the English Ministry. Keene 
and his friend W aldegrave were very disappointed; but the 
negotiations went on. 1 Geraldino, the Spanish Minister in Lon­
don, had already got into conversations with an agent of Wal­
pole about a plan for satisfying with a payment of money all 
just claims on account of depredations. It is not very clear why 
the Spanish Government allowed him to propose this. It 
seems to have thought that the English Ministers were more con­
cerned to stop the mouths of the injured merchants than to 
settle the controversy for the future. 2 This was certainly not 
true of Walpole, who must have foreseen a clamour against the 
sale of our national rights for a sum of money. 3 However, the 
two objects were not really incompatible. 

The draft convention which resulted from these conversa­
tions provided that Spain should pay the sum of £95,000 as a 
compensation for the depredations, and that the two Govern­
ments should appoint plenipotentiaries to discuss and settle 
within a few months the questions at issue in America. The 
terms of reference caused some difficulty. Walpole insisted on 
mentioning expressly the free navigation in the West Indies. La 
Quadra imagined that this would prejudice the question before­
hand by establishing the existence of such a right; therefore he 
wanted some gene:ral phrase which should promise the settle­
ment of all the pretensions between the two Crowns. This 
would have started interminable disputes, and would probably 
have brought up the Spanish claims to Gibraltar, the New­
foundland fishery, &c.4 A form of words was found, which 
made it reasonably clear that only the respective pretensions of 
the two Crowns arising out of their treaties with each other 
were to be the subject of discussion. 

These pretensions were of various kinds. England was most 
anxious to discuss the right of search, but it was not uppermost 
in the mind of Spain. Besides the controversy over the naviga­
tion, we had a question of boundaries to settle. Since I 670, 
when the two nations recognized the territorial status quo, the 
colony of Georgia had arisen on the undefined frontiers of 

1 Waldegrave to Keene, June IO and 17, N.s., 1138, Waldegrave MSS. For 
Montijo's project, vide supra, pp. 35, 39. 

2 Stert to Horace Walpole,June 5, 1738, S.P. 94/131. 
3 Newcastle to Har.dwicke, Aug. 25, I 138, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 39. 
4 Keen(! to Newcastle, Oct. 13, 1138, S.P. ~4/131. 
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Carolina and Florida. It had caused a great deal of trouble; 
Newcastle and Geraldine had long been disputing whether, 
and in what sense, if the limits of these colonies were to be 
referred to commissioners, the English shol!lld evacuate Georgia 
during their sittings. 1 Newcastle did not know what the rights 
and wrongs of the question were; but he knew the politics of 
it-the Government could not afford to surrender Georgia. 2 

The question was complicated by the annual grants of money 
which Parliament made for the support of the colony. The 
Treasury might be held to incur a responsibility towards the 
Spaniards. 

Walpole seems to have been in two minds whether to give 
up Georgia to Spain-reports conflicted and varied from day to 
day on this head. His strongest desire was to have the affair 
kept out of politics, in order to avoid swelling the complaints 
and agitation, and to enable his own supporters among the 
colony's Trustees, of whom many were members of Parliament, 
to vote with the Government. The Trustees were equally 
anxious to escape from an unpleasant choice: if they allowed 
political capital to be made out of Georgia, they got no money 
from the Ministry, and if they did not, they offended the Oppo­
sition, which might come into power at any moment. With a 
little adroitness on both sides, this difficulty was overcome; the 
Trustees got their money and made little trouble. 3 Newcastle 
made Geraldino waive the demand for preliminary evacuation, 
but Spain got this matter included in the plenipotentiaries' 
terms of reference. The Convention was signed at last in 
January I 739, at the palace of El Pardo. 

The English Ministers would not have been so eager to make 
a special reference to the liberty of navigation in this prelimi­
nary agreement, if they could have foreseen how it would he 
taken by the Opposition. When the Convention was pub­
lished, everybody cried out that by consenting to discuss our 
rights we had sacrificed them. Great play was made with the 
word 'regulate' which was found in the text. If the plenipo­
tentiaries 'regulated' the right of search, they must end by 
establishing it in some form or other; if they 'regulated' the 

1 Keene to Newcastle, March 17, 1738, S.P. 94/130; Newcastle to Keene, April 
12, 1738, S.P. 94/132; Geraldino to Newcastle, March 27, 1738, S.F. 100/59. · 

2 Newcastle to Hardwicke, Sept. 25, I 738, Add. 1'.1:SS. 35406, f. 49. 
3 H.M.C. Egmont MSS., Diary, iii. 2-51, passim; Colonial Records of Georgia, ed. 

Candler, i. 336, 340-4. 
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freedom of navigation they could only diminish it. 1 Our Minis­
try should have asserted our rights without allowing any debate 
upon what, in the opinion of the Opposition, admitted ofnone.2 

The Government replied. quite truly that no orders had been 
given for sacrificing anything of our lawful claims. In fact 
Newcastle's instructions were only too likely to embarrass the 
plenipotentiaries by their peremptory insistence on the aban­
donment of the right of search. He believed, or at least he 
said, that England really had the right to insist on her own 
interpretation of the freedom of navigation, by the terms of the 
Convention itself. 3 Horace Walpole pointed to the payment of 
compensation and argued that it implied a recognition that 
wrong had been clone in the past, which amounted to a tacit 
undertaking not to repeat the offence in the future. This was 
unconvincing logic, for, as Pitt said, Spain only admitted. in 
this way the existence of excesses in the past-nothing as to the 
legal rights of the case. 4 Moreover, this small mess of pot­
tage for which we had sold our birthright, when would it be 
paid? 

§ iii. The South Sea Company and the Convention of El Pardo 

The famous £95,000 was never paid at all; the negotiations 
broke down, and war became unavoidable. How did this come 
about? At first sight the explanation is to be found in the 
method by which the money was to be paid; but there were 
deeper causes, arising from the propaganda of a factious Opposi­
tion, the temper and ambitions of the commercial classes, and 
a fundamental incompatibility between the economic policies 
of England and Spain: 

The figure of £95,000 resulted from a compromise. The 
English negotiator originally proposed a much larger sum, but 
the Spanish Government took advantage of some inconsis­
tencies ancl indiscreet concessions to have it reduced. Perhaps 
the King of Spain would never have promised so much ifhe had 
thought he should have to pay it in cash; but s©mebody in 
London had suggested a method for making that unnecessary~ 

Since the beginning of its Assiento, the South Sea Company 
1 Part. Hist. x. 1263 (Sanderson): A Review of all that hath pass'd between the Courts 

of Great Britain and Spain (London, 1739), p. 36. 
2 Cambis to Amel0t, March 12, 1739, A.E. Angleterre: 404, f. 164. 
3 Newcastl@ to Keene and Castres, March 20, 1138/g, S.P. 94/134. 
4 Part. Hist. x. I 253, 1282. 
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had had various financial relations with the King of Spain. It 
had lent him a sum at the outset. He had become a partner 
with a quarter interest in its trading operations; and as he did 
not choose to subscribe his share, the Company advanced it for 
him and charged him interest. A quarter of the pro:fit on the 
Assiento trade and Annual Ships was due to him. Not much 
appeared to be payable on this head, for there seldom were any 
profits. The only Annual Ship whose accounts were examined 
on his behalf was proved to have made a very large profit. The 
Company would not let him inspect the accounts of any others, 
perhaps because it wished to defraud him of his share, by dress­
ing_ up a gain as a loss. 

The Company was also to pay him duties on the negroes it 
imported. Besides these, there were claims of an unforeseen 
nature. In 1726 the valuation of the dollar was altered, and 
a sum became due, or was at least claimed by the Spanish 
Court, on that account. Against this, the Company had some 
very large demands on the King of Spain. It argued that, as 
he was to have shared in the profits if there had been any, so he 
ought to bear his part of the loss. In the negro trade the de­
clared loss amounted to £222,000 besides much larger deficits 
on the Annual Ship. It also charged him, rightly or wrongly, 
with a quarter of what it declared to be its running expenses; 
and on all these debts, which remained unpaid for many years, 
it demanded a very high rate of interest. In 1718 and r 72 7, 
when hostilities broke out between England and Spain, the 
effects of the Company in the Spanish dominions were seized 
by way of reprisals. Philip V had afterwards agreed to com­
pensate the Company, but the accounts had never been settled 
to the entire satisfaction of both parties; still less had they been 
paid. 1 It had been agreed that if the :reprisals were not paid for 
in any other way-and it was very unlikely that they would 
be-the King of Spain might allow the Company to recover the 
sum out of the negro duties which should be payable to him iq 
future years. The Assiento had only been granted for thirty 
years from 1 7 13-later altered to 1 714-and was the ref ore 
likely to expire iri 1744. The negro duties would not suffice ·to 
pay the Company's exaggerated demands within that time, 
especially as they had also been appropriated to the repayment 
of other debts due to it from the King of Spain. 

I Add. MSS. 33032, ff. 256-7. 
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There was another dispute over the period of the contract's 
validity. The As£iento had been granted for thirty years; but 
there had been several interruptions in the exercise of the trade, 
and in particular there had only been seven Annual Ships, 
instead of twenty-four or twenty-five. The difficulties which 
had prevented the sailing of the rest had partly been charge­
able to the Con1pany itself; but that the directors overlooked. 
They started the doctrine that thirty years meant thirty 
trading years. They also claimed that as the negro duties would 
not have paid off their debt by I 7 44, the contract should 
be prolonged until the payment by this method should be 
complete. They refused to accept the settlement offered by the 
King of Spain except on these terms. 1 This enthusiasm for 
continuing-the trade was surprising so soon after the Company 
had very nearly surrendered its trading privileges altogether. 2 

Nor was it likely to be rewarded with success. Newcastle might 
think the claim 'plausible'; but the King of Spain did not wish 
to renew the contract. As for the huge demands of the Com­
pany, he meant to see the accounts produced in proper form. 
He particularly suspected the Company of grossly overrating 
its trading capital in order to increase the quarter share due 
from him, and concealing the real proceeds of the Annual Ships 
in order to charge him with a loss. 3 

All this while the neiro duties, for which the Company was 
to be accountable every five years, were piling up. The direc­
tors were induced to admit that the Company had in its hands 
£68,ooo which was due to the King of Spain in one way or 
another. 4 It was this sum which Geraldino proposed to have 
transferred to the English Government in order to pay part of 
the £95,000. The Ministry consented, but the Company at once 
made difficulties. The shareholders thought it unreasonable 
that they should pay what they owed to the King of Spain 
without receiving what he owed them. He ought at least to 
give good security for it by agreeing to extend. the Assiento. 5 

However, he refll:sed to do any of this until the Company 

1 Add. MSS. 25561, fif. 75-6. 2 Vide supra, p. 19. 
3 Ada. MSS. 32819, ff. 147- 51. This is a d@cument of 1749, but it is probably 

a repetition of earlier ones. 
4 Burrell to Newcastle, Aug. g, 1738, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 43. 
5 South Se~ Company, Minutes of the General Court, Add. MSS. 25545, f. 81; 

Newcastle to Keene, Aug. 21, 1738, S.P. 94/132; March 20, 1738/9, S.P. 94/134 
(this last letter was not sent). 
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accepted his terms, and produced accounts in a regular 
form. 1 

He might still, according to the Convention, pay the £95,000 
in cash; but he was so angry with the Company that, if he had 
to do so, he meant to suspend the Assiento altogether. At :fhst 
he insisted on annexing this condition to the signature of the 
Convention itself. The English Ministry would not have that; 
but Keene could not prevent him from declaring this purpose 
at the same time as he signed the Convention. Keene took a 
great risk by accepting a Convention accompanied with such 
an encumbrance. N ewcasde had warned him against doing so, 
but he a:rgued that the Assiento was to all intents and purposes 
suspended already by the dispute between the Crown of Spain 
and the Company; he had always foreseen that he should never 
get the cedulas for the Annual Ships of 1738 and 1739 until that 
dispute was accommodated. Though the Government approved 
of his action, it was a long time before the public forgave the 
too Spanish 'Don Benjamin'. 

This was sure to be a serious matter, for the Assiento affairs 
were no mere private dealings between the King of Spain and 
some English merchants; they were founded on a public treaty 
signed between King Philip and Queen Anne. All that the 
Ministry could do was to suppress the declaration as long as 
possible, and hope the Court of Spain would change its mind. 

The last chance of this vanished in April 1739. Nearly a 
year before, the Government had sent out Reat:-Adrniral Had­
dock to reinforce the Mediterranean squadron. Keene, who 
knew the Spanish Court, had seen no harm in this, and had 
even thought a show of force would do good. It does not seem, 
however, to have done much to placate or impose upon the 
Queen of Spain. 2 When the likelihood of peace improved, the 
Government decided! to :reduce Haddock's squadron; but on 
March 21, 1739, Newcastle sent him counter-orders to keep all 
his ships with him. The English Ministers gave out to their 
friends that this was only a gesture to please the mob ;3 but 
when he heard it La Quadra looked very grave. He would not 
accept the vague and unsubstantial comfort which Newcastle 
ordered Keene to administer, and told Keene that he was no . 

1 Keene to Newcastle, Sept.Band 29, S.P. 94/131. 
2 Keene to Newcastle, Feb. 23, I 738, S.P. 94/13o;June 23, Aug. 29, S.P. 94/131. 
3 Cambis to Amelot, April 2, 1739, A.E. Angleterre, 404, f. 215. 
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longer sure of his ability to keep the peace between the two 
Crowns. 1 Soon afterwards the Spanish plenipotentiaries de­
clared by order that as long as Haddock remained off the coasts 
of Spain they should grant no 'graces or facilities' 2-in other 
words, that there was no hope of accommodating th~ disputes 
over Georgia and the right of search. In June the meaning of 
this threat was further particularized. Spain did not even 
carry out her design of paying the £95,000 and suspending the 
Assiento; she would not pay at all. · 

§ iv. The Responsibility for the War 
Ministers are only responsible for the proximate causes of 

wars; they can seldom control anything more. What was the 
proximate cause of this war? Much has been made of New­
castle's counter-orders to Haddock. Certainly La Quadra's 
temper changed for the worse and the Spanish plenipotentiaries 
became more obstinate, soon after this measure was known in 
Spain. The English Ministers were wrong when they ascribed 
this change to the hope of support from France.3 Spain was 
fortified by the marriage of Don Philip with Louis XV's 
daughter, but she had been refused the political alliance which 
she desired. 4 Yet supposing the counter-orders to Haddock had 
all the effect which Professor Temperley has ascribed to them, 
Philip V's declaration of January had already raised an ob­
struction to the iood relations of England and Spain, which 
must have caused a war ve_ry soon unless Philip V himself had 
removed it. 

One of the most remarkable things in the whole affair; which 
shows the majority of the English Ministers to have been really 
anxious for a settlement, is their readiness to accept the Con­
vention in spite of La Quadra's declaration. Newcastle and 
Hardwicke may have· expected and _even hoped that the 
Spanish threat would be carried out, nor was there any love 
lost between the Government and the Company, which would 
be the chief loser in such a case; but that does not take away all 
the merit of an attitude which shows a real disposition to peace. 

1 Villarias (La Quadra) to Keene, April 20, Io/39, S.P. 94/133; Keene to New-
castle (apart), April 24-, ibid. 

2 Keene and Castr@s to Newcastle, May 12, 1739, S.P. 94/133. 
3 Hardwick:e to Newcastle, April 26, 1739, Add. MSS. 32692, f. 52. 
4 A. Baudrillart, Philippe Vet la Gour de France, iv. 525. 
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As for the dispute over the right of search itself, the proposals 
of England we:ve not, for the most . part, unFeasonable. With 
good will, a real settlement could have been achieved along the 
lines of Newcastle's draft treaty. It would have been clogged, 
however, by other articles less acceptable. Newcastle instructed 
the plenipotentiaries on no account to give up the right to cut 
logwood; 1 this prohibition was certain to prejudice the main 
question of the right of navigation, because he insisted . that 
logwood in the cargo was not to be a grcound of condemning any 
English ship. Furthermore, the Spaniards would probably have 
attached a strong demand upon Georgia to any concession they 
might have made about the right of search. 

There were then at least three questions-the Assiento, the 
logwood-cutters, and Georgia-on which no compromise was 
in sight when the war broke out. Newcastle wrote that Keene, 
after his return to England, · had 
'fortified Sir R. in his opinion, that Spain would have performed the 
Convention, had they not seen they must break afterwards in the 
fu-ture treaty; that Spain wished peace. Whoever doubted it, if they 
could have it on their own terms? and if we were to break on the 
future treaty, it is better to break now, for their non-performance of 
the Convention.'2 

Disputes can always be compromised if they are yielded; 
no doubt the English could have had peace if they had been 
ready to giv~ up every point. Walpole indeed was credited with 
the wish to do so, and certainly he was very disappointed when 
the war broke out in spite of all he had done. Yet he always pro­
claimed his dissent from the Spanish doctrine of search, and 
on1y differed from the Opposition in hoping to get the right re­
nounced tacitly, instead of wishing to use force for its own sake. 3 

It is not certain what he would have yielded in the last Fesort 
His opinion about the logwood is not known; on Georgia, 
if the tittle-tattle picked up by Egmont is to be relied lllpon, he 
made up his mind to be firm. When Spain refused to pay the 

1 Silhouette, a competent observer, believed that the logwood question would 
be the hardest to settle. (Silhouette to Amelot, March 12, N.s., 1740, A.E. Angl@­
terre, 407, f. 186.) ' 

z Newcasd~ to Hardwicke, Sept. 20, lo/39, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 137. Keen~ 
h.hn~df expressed very much the same opinion in a letter of Augblst 17, N .s., 't@ Lord 
Waldegrave (Waldegrave MSS.). He did not think any good would come of re._ 
optming the conferences, even if the money were paid. 

3 Part. Hist. x. 662. 
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•£95,000, even he admitted that it would have been even more 
embarrassing if she had. paid it and suspended the Assiento 
Contract. 1 

Newcastle was for war nearly all the time. There was always 
too much of what Walpole called invita Minerva in his dispatches 
-a sharpness of tone which did not accord with the reasonable 
attitudes he was sometimes obliged to take. Yet he had his 
variations. He declined at first to draw up the Convention, and 
Horace Walpole ( who was perhaps o;ver-sensitive on this subject) 
afterwards accused him of trying to discredit it by a malicious 

- phrase in the declaration of war. 2 Nevertheless he set his hand 
to the draft treaty, which made important concessions. In the 
same breath as he declared that he could not concede the right 
of search, he proposed almost accidentally an expedient which 
would have settled the controversy by doing so. 3 Yet he 
thought we had a title to cut logwood, and told Hardwicke 
that 'however the right may be, it will now be pretty difficult 
to give up Georgia'. He was often impatient to press our 
demands or unwilling to moderate them; by February or 
March 1739 he seems to have been convinced that even the 
supporters of the Ministry would hardly vote for a policy of 
peace, and that 'we must yield to the times, so far as is consis­
tent at least with our own point'. 4 When the war became un­
avoidable, he expressed his eagerness and relief; he did not wait 
for La Quadra's open refusal to pay the £95,000, but acted at 
once upon his omission to do it. 

Very few of their contemporaries accused the Ministers of 
wanting war; indeed their crime was rather that they did not 
want it, but brought it upon themselves by their too obvious 
desire to avoid it. Not only the Opposition but some French 
critics thought that the fault lay at -the door of an inept diplo­
macy. It was the want of dignity and firmness, not the want 
of goodwill, which was held responsible for the :final crisis. When 
George It first offered the general letters of reprisal in March 
I 738, Spain immediately appealed to France for help; yet some 
critics argued, like Admiral Warren, that if the Government had 
always been prompt to grant particl!llar letters of reprisals to 

1 Hardwick@ to Newcastle, June 2, 1739, Add. MSS. 32692, f. 64. 
2 Hardwicke to N@wcastle, Aug. 1'7, 1738, Add. l\1SS. 32691, f. 301; Horace 

Walpole to Hardwick@, Oct. 14, 1739, vol. 35586, f. 202. 
3 Newcastle to Hardwicke, Sept. 25, 1738, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 50. 
4 Newcastle to Hardwicke, 'Saturday morning', Add. MSS. 35406, f. 111. 
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the sufferers from cl · · eed never have proceeded 
to the general meas · have been inti-
midated into a rea] hat was possibly 
true, but the Dutch d in stopping the 
seizures by this kin · · · n hardly be accused 
of eringing to La castle to Geratclino. Keene in 
fact recommende : · o _ rce, and the hinf was taken. 
With what n~sult? The to leave Hacldo<eik's ships at 
Gibraltar uadoubtedly exasperated the Court of Spain. Per-­
haps this firmness cam.e too late. Keene himself thought it in 
timed. 
'You wiU see', he wrote to Waldegrave, 'what a fine clisp · · · 
Court · · of @ur flctet's sta · ·n the Med· 
I see with respect me affairs, but with 
regard to pain mus ow1i1, that w vex, not intimidate. 
We have gone too great lengths towaFcls peace, to pretend we ha¥~ 
still a mind to make war.'2 
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the insuff eirable Queen of Spain to submission without cl.riving 
her to frenzy. 
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into p · · , · 
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t 
the h. s 
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. . . 
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1 Par/. Hist. xiv. 617 ( ol. 9, f. rn5. 
2 K@@n@ to Wafol@gra 
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Spain. Th@ success of the En lish interlopers in Spanish 
America was acc@unted for b eadiness to take smaller 
profits than the · -g they could we11 afford 
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and the inaction of a Government e 
these unlawf.ul exports and had n 1p oma 1c 
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provided each party adhered t · · ith only a 1ttle 
of that righteous obstinacy wh of war inspires 
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Why had this agitation s 

over a practice which had continued for man ears an 
affected smugglers rather than fair tra 
chants of England recklessly expose the . _ 
foreign trade to remedy the misdoings of a fe al ri a eer 
off the coasts of Cuba? There w 
nature of the propaganda for the 
tained that the Opposition and 
sib1e for it; Argyll replied that it 
movement supported by the me -
pute was carried in o the Cit alway 
faction an em from t , ose of Alder-
man Wood. The supporters · o urn . h 
tables on the West India 
by proving that they wer 
with the W €St Indies; bu accor 1ng ·o 
papers this was only achieved by - • - - -
wholesale to chant a 
importer of · dyma_ had 
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~lection for the 
c ut, until 
· truggle between the Alcler-

oune1. 
- stirred by the legend of Jenkins' 

· ar . ,i:rt. • 
3 Gentleman's , ix. 158. 

ith too much 
great h@ight 

tte to Am@l0t, 
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Ear, why were they so?1 Many of them would have profited by 
the suppression of the smugglers, and could only lose their 
trade by a war. Walpole tried to point this moral by stirring up 
the merchants who traded to Spain, to send in a counter-peti­
tion. He did not succeed; and he would have made very little 
impression if he had. Many years afterwards an anonymous 
writer remarked that 'this branch of trade by Old Spain to 
A1nerica, has ever been neglected by our ministers and ever 
will, as it lies among a set of people who can't be clamorous, 
vizt Roman Catholics and Jews'. 2 In general, our American 
trade was thought to be the most valuable trade we had; the 
statistics may not warrant the belief, but it was overwhelmingly 
strong. However that might be, the Opposition was quite right 
to argue that abandoning our American shipping to interrup­
tions and insults was not the best way to procure security for 
our shipping in other quarters of the world. 

However highly this branch of commerce might be rated, 
does it account for the behaviour of the merchants in general? 
Perhaps, as Professor Vaucher suggests, they were feeling the 
pinch of a trade depression, which heightened their desire for 
new markets. 3 The statistics of exports, for what they are 
worth, hardly seem to suggest this: the quantity was as great in 
the years I 735-8 as it had ever been. It is more difficult to be 
sure of the prices and profits, because the valuations which are 
given, for example, in Sir Charles Whitwo:rth's tables, were 
founded on calculations which had not changed since I 722. 

Moreover, though the quantity had not diminished, it was 
increasing very little; it had been almost stationary for more 
than ten years. Complaints abounded that English commerce 
and industry were declining, or not advancing fast enough. 
Particulady they were not advancing so fast as the French. 
Economists and politicians were more obsessed than ever by th@ 
fear of French competition. France was thought to have re-

. 1 Jenkins was a captain who declared that the Guarda-Costas had boarded his 
ship and cut off his ear; the Opposition took up his case very strongly. Perhaps if 
they had looked under his wig they would have found both his celebrated ears on 
his head; Alderman Beckford said so, and he might very well know. The War of 
1739 is sometimes called the War of Jenkins' Ear. 

2 Add. MSS. 38373, f. 131. 
3 P. Vaucher, Robert Walpole et la politique de Fleury, pp. 296-3m?. Professor 

Vaucher apparently founds his opinion upon a graph in Mantoux's Industrial 
Revolution in the Eighteenth Century (English translation, 1928, p. 104). Mantoux's 
references do not really justify his graph, for they are to incomplete statistics. 
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covered faster than England from the wars of Louis XIV, and 
the pacific policy of Cardinal Fleury was known to be aimed at 
extending French commerce and manufactures. The competi~ 
tion of French merchandise in the Spanish market was thought 
particularly grievous. In a frenzy of apprehension and.jealousy, 
the English pamphleteers excited their countrymen to strike a 
blow which would kiU this bugbear stone-dead, and vestove 
their own trade to an unshakable pre-eminence. 

Some curious opinions were held as to the policy of waging 
. war for the sake of trade. 'A rising trade may be ruined by 

a war; a sinking trade has a chance to revive by it.' That was 
the doctrine of Common Sense, 1 and more respectable. writers 
endorsed it. Since the trade of our greatest rival had risen and 
ours had sunk, the moral hardly needed pointing. A silly and 
badly written pamphlet of I 745 expresses this doctrine of econo­
mic Chauvinism better than anything else. After a descrip­
tion of the various trades which we were in danger of losing to 
the French ( of which the Spanish trade is one), the author comes 
to this conclusion: 

'Since this, we say, is the real case between us, at present, however 
odd this position may sound in the ears of inconsiderate persons, we 
will venture to affirm, it is more the true interest of these Kingdoms 
in general, and even the merchants themselves ( those who traded to 
Spain and the South-Seas excepted), that we should continue in a 
state of war with them (France and Spain), so that war is carried on 
only by sea, than in a state of peace. Nay, we will go yet further, and 
make no scruple to assert, whilst the Crowns of France, Spain and 
the two Sicilies continue united, as they are at present; our com­
merce, in general, will flourish more under a vigorous and well­
managed naval war, than under any peace, which should allow an 
open intercourse with those two nations.' 

He goes on to give his reasons, of which the most important is, 
that 

'by such a war, we should not only distress our natural enemy to the 
last degree, but by ruining their commerce, and destroying their 
colonies, which they could hardly prevent, whilst we are so much 
their superiors by sea, we should in a gFeat measure retFieve our own, 
ancl make them flourish again as formerly'. 2 

The measures he recommends for this purpose are mostly 

1 Common Sense, April 22, 1 '738. 
2 The Present Ruinous Land-War proved to be a H--r War (1.ondon, 1745),pp.21-3. 
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destructive, such as a descent upon the French sugar-colonies 
for demolishing their plantations and carrying off their slaves. 

Even those who passed for economists in those days made the 
same cynical calculations, prophesying that 
'what trade they lose, we shall get, for by harassing their coasts, 
their merchantmen could not, without great risk, get out or in; the 
Turkey, East-India, fishing and sugar-trades would be rendered 
impracticable to them, and the bulk of them would fall into our 
hands again'. 1 

In fact the Yorkshire manufacturers preferred war to peace 
because they made a better living. The Archbishop of York 
told N ewcasde in r 7 48 that the clothiers of Wakefield did not 
share the general joy for the peace, because their trade improved 
by war; Lord Kinnoull reported in 1759 that the trade of York­
shire was so brisk that he feared the manufacturers would be 
disposed to carp at the peace. Contemporaries attributed this 
fact, perhaps wrongly, to the land campaigns of the French army, 
which withdrew men from the industries ofFrance. 2 If this was 
true, war stimulated English trade as long as it lasted, but it 
could not last for ever. 

Postlethwayt, a hack writer on commercial subjects, wished 
to discover so thorough a method of ruining our enemies that 
no national or political advantages would enable them to 
recover their ground at a peace. He wished 
'so to distress the commerce and navigation of our ever restless 
enemy, as to disable them in future times from maintaining that 
lucrative competition with us in trade, they have too long done .... 
As the affairs of our trade and finances are at present circumstanced, 
a peace is far more dangerous than a war, for upon the continuance 
of a peace our trade must be ruined and undone, if that continues to 
be loaded with our tax-incumbrances, which we have seen ... put it 
out of our power to support that commercial competition against 
France and others, that alone can save the nation.' 3 

Before Postlethwayt's eyes wars and taxes moved in a vicious 
circle; wars called for taxes and taxes necessitated more wars. 

1 (? W. Richardson), An Essay on the Causes of the Decline of the Foreign Trade (in 
Lord Overstone's Select Collection of tracts), p. 281. 

2 Archbishop Hutton to Newcastle, May 28, 1748, Add. MSS. 32715, f. 126; 
Kinnoull to Newcastle, July 28, I 7 59, -vol. 32893, f. 331 ; Part. Hist. xiii. I 28 ( Caw­
teret), 316 (Bathurst); xiv. 582 (Egmont); Silhouette to Amelot, Nov. 26, 1739, 
A.E. Angleterre, 405, f. 287. 

3 Great Britain's True System (London, 1757), p. 270. 
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It .remained for Dean Tucker, that most rati@nal economist, to 
put his finger on the fallacy. 1 

The markets of Spamish America had long been eagerly com­
peted for, and France was our strongest rival there. Many good 
patriots looked forward to the day when we should once again 
extend our trade in that part of the world, at the expense of 
the French, by a return to the policy of force which had been 
outlawed since I 7 I 3. This accounts for the curious fact that the 
probability of a war with France as well as Spain inspired 

.. enthusiasm rather than doubt or fear; from the language of 
some pamphleteers and orators, one might almost think it was 
France, not Spain, that was the real enemy from the beginning. 

The eagerness of the merchants for new markets will appear 
better from the schemes which were freely put forward after 
the _outbreak ·of war, for increasing our trade by conquests in 
America. In that moment of excitement and liberation, per­
haps the veil was to1:n from ambitions which prudence had 
hitherto kept in the dark; perhaps the plans of campaign will 
show the real motives of the war. 

1 The Case of Going to War for the Sake of Procuring, Enlarging or Securing of Trade 
(London, 1 763). 
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THE STRATEGY OF THE SPANISH WAR 

§ i. English Imperialism and the Liberation of 
Spanish America 

T HE war with Spain was to be fought in the West Indies. 
The only person in England who seriously doubted or dis­

puted it was the Prime Minister; and as he was an unwilling 
prisoner in the hands of his colleagues, poor Walpole's opinion 
was not to have much weight in the plan or conduct of the war. 
He was usually obliged to content himself with irritated acquies­
cence and protests which he was driven to withdraw, in order 
that something at least might he done, even on principles which 
he condemned. 1 

There were many reasons for this popular insistence on the 
American war. A wish, perhaps, to make the punishment fit the 
crime-Hardwicke more pompously called it 'vindictive justice'. 
It was in the West Indies that the Guarda-Costas had committed 
the offences which had provoked the war; in the West Indies, 
therefore, Spain should receive the punishment of :her injurious 
obstinacy. There, too, Spain was most vulnerable. A long 
experience had sho,vn that little was to he expected from attacks 
upon her coasts and seaports in Europe, and that, on the other 
hand, even her greatest strongholds in America could be 
reduced by quite small expeditions. Drake had taken St. 
Domingo city, the first capital of Spanish America. Pointis had 
taken Cartagena, and Henry Morgan, with a horde of bucca­
neers, had marched overland and sacked Panama. These 
exploits had been done in other days. The Spain of Philip V 
was not the Spain of Carlos II; but the English politicians and 
journalists do not seem to have understood that, and most of 
them believed that the Spanish Empire was still an effete, 
chaotic, defenceless affair that would collapse at a touch. 

An American war with Spain was therefore just and easy; it 
was in fact the only kind of war that could be waged against 
her, the only kind that would bring her to her knees quickly. 
It may have been begun for the suppression of the right of 

1 There are descriptions of painful scenes in Council, in Hervey's minutes of 
April 28, May 6 and 22, 1740 (Memoirs, ed. Sedgwick, iii. 927-39), and in New­
castle's letter to Hardwicke, Oct. 1, 1740, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 237. 
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search; but no sooner had it broken ()Ut than the loud-mouthed 
patriots made up their minds that a mere confirmation of the 
rights which_ we had gone to war to defend, would not be 
enough. Artfu1 Pulteney was even afraid that we might suc­
ceed too quickly and too easily in reducing Spain to submission; 
for that reason he disliked the Government's plan to send a 
powerful fleet against Ferrol. 'To ravage the coasts of Spain 
(supposing we could do it) seems to be with a desire only of 
forcing the Spaniards into a peace, before we have secured such 
advantages as we may reasonably hope for in another place.' 
)"'hat other place was of course the West Indies; and even there, 
he would rather conquer a colony which we could keep, than 
a strong place whose loss would merely disorganize the Spanish 
system of defences. 'Should it be to Carthagena first, even that 
action (~Teat as it might be) would be a disappointment of our 
hopes; it might be a very sensible mischief to Spain, but what 
we immediately want is, advantage to ourselv~s.' 1 Carteret, 
intemperate drinker and still more intemperate talker, said to 
the Swedish Minister one night after dinner,. 'What is the good 
9f taking ships? We shall take from Spain some countries in 
America, and we shall keep them in spite of the whole world.'2 

The Opposition leaders were suspected of saying this kind of 
thing in public in order to arouse extravagant hopes which they 
knew the Government could not satisfy. They were capable of 
such strategy, and had indeed employed it over the Conven­
#on. But if there is any truth in wine, Carteret meant what he 
said to Wasep.berg, so far as he ever meant what he said at all; 
and besides, there is excellent reason for thinking him sincere in 
this. He was angling for a place-- the chief place, for prefer­
ence-in a 'National Goyernment'. For some time he had been 
in some sort of collusion with Newcastle ;3 and now he disgusted 
his companions in Opposition by preaching the duty to avoid 
all factious obstruction which would disable the nation from 
carrying on the war efliciently.4 

1 Pulteney to Vernon, Aug. 17, r 740, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor (London, 
1 74'7), pp. 23-4. 
· 

2 Wasenberg to Gyllenborg, Nov. 13, 1139, S.P. rn7 /34. See also Cart,m~t's 
speeches inParl.Hist. xi. 17, '723,835, and Cambis's letter to Amelot, Nov. 26, I 739, 
A.E. Angleterre, 405, f. 274. 

3 Hardwicke to Newcastle, April 14, 1738, Add. MSS. 32691, f.117. It is pro­
·bable,. but not certain, that the 'n.0ble L011d' rtiferred to .in this letter is Carteret. 

4 Carternt to Mairchmcmt, Aug. 15, 1739, Marchmont Papers, ii. 135"""6. 
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· While .some of them ostentatiously rewarded the Govern­
ment for doing their own will, others contrived to tie its hands 
and render peace impossible. At Wyndham's instigation, both 
Houses of Parliament addressed the King, asking him not to 
make peace until Spain would :renounce the right o:f searching 
English ships in their voyages to and from the Engfish domi­
nions. 1 Pulteney revived, this time with success, the clause in 
the Act of r 708, which guaranteed to the :fitters-out of €xped.i­
tions the possession of whatever teiJiritories they mi~ht take 
from the enemy. In vain had Walpole protested that if any 
€onquests were made, this proviso might make peace unattain­
able, and Bladen argued that it was contrary to th€ Treaty of 
Utrecht; in vain the South Sea Company trumped up its 
Charter of Queen Anne which gave it a monopoJy of aU 
Spanish America from the Orinoco to the :Behring Strait. 2 

Nobody now minded the Company; and one of the greatest 
grievances against it had always been, that it never made any 
effort to take advantage of its privi[eges. The dause passed, and 
aroused the greatest expectations. 3 It :remained without sequel, 
a mere piece of bravado. Several pnojects of private expeditions, 
especially in the Pacific, were much talked off or a time; a silly 
scheme for the discove.ry of a non-existeat passage to the South 
Seas was renewed, which had been rejected by the Admiralty 
some years before, and taken up in Russia of all places, until 
the war offered a new hope of its acceptance in England. It 
came to nothing, and the last heard of it is a strenuous effort. of 
its promoter to foist it on the French.4 I have f0111nd only two 
positive applications to the Government for commissions under 
this clause. Fotherby, Trahern, and Cole demanded one in 
June 1741; but there is no evidence to show where they designed 
their voyage or what became of it. The Royal African Com-

1 Parl. Hist. xi. 213-45. Wyndham nrst wanted to make this renunciation ~ pre­
l_iminary to any negotiation, but altered his proposal whem. Walpole den@Yilced !it 
for putting the cart befrme the horse (Silhouette to Amelot, ID@c. 7, N.s., Ii39, A.E. 
Angleterre, ,i:o 5, f. 32 I). 'George II assented, bu.t in the eve11t the wromiise was 
neither performed by the King nor claimecd by the Parliament. 

2 C. J., Dec. rn, I 739, xxiii. 402; South Sea Company, Minutes of th~ Court of 
Directors, Dec. 7, 1739, Acld. MSS. 25510, f. 59. 

3 Part. Hist. xi. 603 (address ofSpeaiker Onslow t© the King, April 29, 1740), xii. 
310 (Pulteney). Pulteney had tried to get th.is clause, with the whole of the Act of 
1 708, 11e-enacted in 1 738; see Chap. IJi, p. 48. 

4 Bussy to Amdot, March 31, 1741, A.E. Angleterre, 411, E. 286; June 2, 1741, 
vol. 412, f. 126. There are further ref~rences to it in v:ol. ~1,17, ff. 197,216, and 304. 
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pany also asked for such a power, which was refused, because 
the proposed undertaking would contravene the Act against 
stock-jobbing. 1 

In all this, the Opposition leaders only obeyed the public 
voice. The press was full of pamphlets, leading articles, and 
anonymous letters, which all echoed, in one form or another, 
the cry of 'Take and Hold'. It was a sudden and noisy explosion 
of imperialism, a good example of the greedy turbulence which 
foreign observers attributed to the English nation. 2 Some 

_ writers tried to justify our ambitions of new markets and . 
territories, by connecting them with our rights of free naviga­
tion. They revived the argument of Q,ueen Anne's reign, when 
England had demanded the 'cautionary towns' in Spanish 
America. There could be no guarantee, they said, for our free­
dom from the right of search, unless we had in our hands 
securities for the good conduct of the Guarda-Costas. Hence the 
cry of 'Real Security', which had a great popularity as a com­
plement, or justification, of 'Take and Hold'. When the news 
of Portobello had arrived to inflame the national cupidity 
afresh, the French Charge wrote to his Court: 'The phrase "real 
security" has become a sort of national cry; it is on everybody's 
lips, from the Peer of the Realm to the cobbler; and everybody 
understands by it, taking and keeping some Spanish colony.' 3 

Very fi~w people, outside the circle of those who were re­
sponsible for directing expeditions, doubted our ability to 
execute any fantastic scheme we pleased to conceive. Some, 
however--most of them· supporters of the Ministry-doubted 
whether all things possible were things expedient. They had 
to reckon with foreign governments, who might dislike to see the 
'equilibrium' of Utrecht upset by the substitution of England 
for Spain as the ruler of Central America. This fear of foreign 
jealousies . had some slight influence on the choice of objec­
tives. 

The settlement of Utrecht, which left_ the Spanish dominions 
in America undivided in the hands of Spain, had once been 
considered equally fair to all the trading nations. 4 In spite 
of the precautions against a collusive French monopoly within 

1 C.O. 5/5, p. 169; A.P.C. Col. iii. 098, 723-4. 
2 See the chapt@r on this agitation in G. B. Hertz, British Imperialism in the XVIIIth 

Century (Manchester, 1908). 
3 De Vismes to Amelot, April 1, 1740, -S.P. 107/41; s€e also Norris's diary, 

MaFch 17, 1739/40, Add. MSS. 28132, f. 159. • See Chap. I, p. 13. 
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the Spanish Empire, many Englishmen had come to believe, 
perhaps very unreasonably, that as long as Spanish America 
remained, on whatever terms, under the dominion of the House 
of Bourbon, France would have an unfair advantage. On the 
other hand, some of them recognized that impartial foreigners 
would dislike a conquest of those countries by the English even 
more than a virtual French domination under the Spanish 
flag. What remedy was there then? To acquiesce in Spanish 
rule was to hand over the richest part of the continent to French 
trade; to claim the Spanish colonies for ourselves was perhaps 
to incur the hostility of all Europe. There was only one course 
left-to promote an American Revolution within the Spanish 
Empire. This was much more likdy to buy off diplomatic 
difficulties than the scheme of 'cautionary towns', for however 
strong might be the arguments for regarding such towns only 
in the light of securities, there can be no doubt that they would 
have been considered as something more. The plan had other 
advantages. Nobody could well conceive how we should hold 
down Spanish America by force. England could not spare the 
men; and though the conquered country itself might find 
the money, it would be a pity to seize Mexico or Peru for the 
pleasure of spending a great part of their revenue ( as the King 
of Spain himself did) upon garrisons.1 

The difficulties of this policy were underrated. Scraps of 
travellers' hearsay were collected and retailed, to prove the 
existence of discontent, especially in the Pacific colonies. There 
were three things, on one or other of which every projector of 
revolution relied. All the Spaniards o:f America, except the 
officials, were supposed to groan under misgovernment, arbi­
trary taxation, and the crippling system of trade monopoly. In 
particular, the English naturally flattered themselv~s that the 
French origin of the King of Spain rendered him unpopular .. 
Of the Spaniards, the parties of Creoles and Chapetones2 were 
supposed to dislike each other, and the Creoles, who were the 

1 Unsigned paper datedjune 6, 1741, Library ofCongr€ss, Vernon-Wager MSS. 
2 Creoles were the Spaniards born in the colonies, Chapetones those who had 

emigrated there from Spain. The term Creol'e does not indicate any sort of racial-­
mixture; on the contrary, a Creole was by strict definition a pure whit@ Spaniard 
who was not born in Europe. The English extended this term to negroes, animals, 
and plants: a Creole negro was one born in the colonies as opposed to an Afrjcan 
negro, one imported from Africa; Creole rice was a kind of rice suppos€d to b~ 
found growing wild in the colonies. 
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g:reat majority, to be ready to discard their Spanish allegiance 
in order to satisfy this passion. Writers generally gave, as 
reasons for this state of affairs, the dislike of the colonist for the 
official (many of the n were officials), and the com-
petition of the native co_ chant with the more efficient 
trader who came out fro - Euro e to get rich quick. 1 

Lastly, t!lie English the ha· n~ of he Indians for 
the Spaniards in general. , Chile 
w re ID lievecl to be indep ays at 

.. w war, s. 2 Less was 
expected of the Indians xico, but in the imper-
fectly subdued lan n ra men · there wer · · 
had the reput - · 
rule. Such w 
the Moskito 
other Indian . 
liberally bestowe y ama eur s rategist 
the unoccupied spa€es of the map. The 
posed to be impatiently awaiting their 
at the hands of the other powers of 
giver of unasked advice wrote f the anen n 1ans, m1 ions 
of miserable people would · erers, and their 
hearts and their mines would -e o -en o us . 

The advantages which S anish colonies 
would gain by accepting -r a overn-
ment c@uld be put before em 1n a roe - · . - o 
be offered? Upon certai 
The civil liberties, 
be safeguarded. A. . 

0 

t e author of 
na tun~ was not 
gested that baif:1e o era 10 · ould 

~ h Sea, English t 50. 
2 

, Vo_yage Round t 928), pp. 63-4-; 
Marris, ltinerantium Bibliotheca 

a Add. MSS. 32 94, f. Bl3. S@@ also C.S.P. C . , 327. 
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be won over by promises of preferment. 1 The dearest orders 
were always given on this point of toleFation, and were obeyed 
with naive tact. Anson with ostentatious decency exempted 
only the two churches from the fire of Payta, and Knowles 
left the garrison chapel standing among the ruins of the demo­
lished fortress of St. Louis.2 

The liberties and properties of the colonists were to be n@t 
only preserved but enhanced in value. Political liberties they 
had none, but these were now to be offered by the generous 
hand of England. In what form, was the question. 

Some writers thought that the Spanish Americans could · ask 
nothing better than to share the rights of Englishmen. 3 They 
did not intend to promote an American Revolution but wished, 
if possible, to annex the Spanish coloni€s with the consent of 
their inhabitants. It was enough, they thought, to offer all the 
privileges of English subjects. This, however, would not have 
answered the purpose of diverting foreign j eal@usy; others 
therefore took the more imaginative course of suggesting that 
the colonies, if they could be induced to revolt, should set up 
governments of their own. What form of government, was a 
question on which little could be said with certainty. The 
Creoles were ambitious. There were nobles, descendants of 
well-beloved Viceroys. Some indeed were said to aspirie to 
crowns. There was no counting on this, and the wisest course 
was to leave the colonists to make their own institutions, offer­
ing them a defensive alliance and an army and :Beet sufficient 
for their protection. This was especially easy to promise in the 
Pacific colonies, for the Spanish fleets had hardly ever dared to 
pass Cape Horn, before Pizarro followed Anson in r74r; and 
the difficulty of transporting an effective army from Spain to 
Peru, or from one part of the Spanish dominions to another, 
over seas dominated by English squadrons, wou1d have dis­
mayed the Spanish Government. 

If a considerable force of English ships and troops should 
succeed in reaching the sho]}es of the Pacific, the invitation could 
as easily be coupled with a threat; for it would be plain that 

1 'Project for attacking La Vera Cruz and Mexico, I 740, no. I', Library of Con­
gress, Vernon-Wager MSS. 

2 R. Walter, A Voyage Round the World (4th ed.), p. 277; Chastenoye to Maurepas, 
April, 8, 1748, A.N. Colonies C9 A 72. 

3 One projector even proposed the establishment of a Mayor and Aklerrnen at 
Portobello (J. Morris to Wager, May 1742, Vernon-Wager MSS.). 
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even if the colonists desired to continue their allegiance to the 
King of Spain, he could do nothing to help them. This perhaps 
would be the clinching argument; were they so blind as to 
reject a peaceable offer, the Creoles might yet be bombarded 
into liberty. If this fear would not avail with them, there was 
another menace in store. They were not the only people who 
could be appealed to, and if they did not take the chance of 
freeing themselves from the Spaniards their slaves, or at any 
rate their Indian enemies, might be tempted to rise against them. 
Even the Indians could offer a market for English manufactures 

.. which was worth gaining, and valuable returns too, especially 
if they had concealed many of their best mines from the 
Spaniards, as some English writers believed. Thus most of the 
schemes for liberation in Spanish America coupled vaguely 
as alternatives, or even as different parts of the same policy, 
incitement of the Creoles against the Government, and of the 
Indians, mestizos, and negroes against the Creoles. 1 As long as 
they were clearly conceived as alternatives, there was no harm 
in this; but they were obviously incompatible, and the muddled 
instructions to combine them, which the Government finally 
gave, could only have created confusion if they had been 
executed at all. 

The future of trade with the revolted colonies was a more 
important and more difficult question, the suggestions more 
various. To the smugglers of Jamaica, or the English merchants 
in general, the independence of the Spanish colonies would be 
most valuable if we, and nobody else, should trade with the 
states we had set up. There might be objections to this :from 
third parties, and from interested classes in Spanish America 
itself. The prospect that the grateful and dependent govern­
ments of the new world would barter with their protectors trade 
privileges for recognition and defence, might have alarmed 
the rest of the world as much in ] 7 40 as it did in I 82 3 ; and 
the powers of Europe might have been driven to advocating 
a very diffe~ent Monroe Doctrine before the birth of President 
Monroe. Some writers assumed that we could risk that; but 
at least one believed that though it might seem a 'romantic' 
thing to conquer and free the Spanish colonies in order that the 
whole world might be at liberty to trade with them, we should 

1 Wager to Vernon, Aug. 20 and Oct. 29, 1741, Original Letters to an Honest 
Sailor, pp. 51, 57. 
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be doing ourselves no harm by doing so. Our natural and 
acquired advantages, the situation of our colonies as bases for 
trade, and the cheapness of our manufactures, would give us a 
sufficient advantage against other nations in a commerce that 
was open to aU. This anonymous projector of expeditions thus 
recognized that the policy of the Open Door is useful, or at 
least not injurious, to the nation which has most to send through 
the door. 1 Other writers assumed that we should make with the 
new states treaties of commerce which would be very much 
to our advantage; and this was the hope of the English Govern­
ment. 

Apparently the n1eFchants of the Spanish colonies were also 
to be conciliated. Several anonymous advisers of the Govern­
ment-especially those who thought of the Spanish colonies as 
put under some sort of English protectorate or dominion­
recommended that we should keep up the galleons and flotas, 
and strictly prevent the unlicensed trade of Jamaica-a curious 
consequence, seeing how the war had been begun. These 
trading fleets would presumably sail from England and with 
English manufactures. So far, this is only another form of the 
claim for an exclusive trade; but it was plainly meant as a con­
cession also to somebody in Spanish America. Presumably it 
would appeal to the great merchants, who bought regularly 
from the galleons and disliked the peddling, hand-to-mouth 
methods by which the interlopers supplied the small merchants 
and consumers without the help of a wholesale middleman. 
The galleon system must be reformed of its abuses; the irregu­
larity, delays, vexations, and above all the high and arbitrary 
duties must be abolished. From this kind of improvement 
buyers and sellers would benefit alike (as the French thought, 
when they in the season of their power tried to make the . 
Government of Philip V take up such reforms). It was impor~ 
tant, however, that no change should be made in the system 
itself without the consent of the parties concerned in it, and 
England must promise to prevent illicit importations in the 
future. One writer made an interesting suggestion. The 
Spaniards forbade the growth of wine and oil in the colonies, 
in order to favour the agriculture of Spain. This prohibition 
could easily be removed by an English or free Anglophile 
Government. England would lose nothing, since she was not 

1 Paper of June 6, 1741, already quoted, Vernon-Wager MSS. 
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with us; tho' we should have, as we ought, I think, the greatest 
benefit by possessing the most advantageous places for commerce as 
Pana1na.' 1 

The Ministry itself was impressed by the arguments for 
encouraging Spanish-American separatism-in what degFee, 
may be seen by the instructions of Cathcart, Anson, and 
Knowles. Cathcart was to command the main expedition to the 
West Indies in I 7 40; he had a powerful force, and he was to 
satisfy a strong expectation of conquest. The place~ against 
which he was to make his attempts were within easy reach of 
English colonies, therefore if they were taken they could pro­
bably be held. For all these reasons it was not to be expected 
that he should confer political independence upon the con­
quered peoples. The proclamation which he was to distribute, 
offered to all inhabitants of the Spanish colonies who should 
without committing any hostilities place themselves under 
His Majesty's protection: 

'that they shall be received, protected, and maintained in their lands, 
houses, possessions and other properties . . . in the same manner as 
if they were His own natural subjects. They shall possess and enjoy 
the full and free exercise of their religion in the same manner and 
form which they do at present. They shall be freed from the in­
creased imposts, alcavalas, duties, prohibitions and other oppressions, 
under which they at present suffer, from the nature and form of the 
government established in the Spanish Indies; and, in particular, 
the Indians shall be exempted from those Foyal tributes and services 
to which they have been subject. They shall have the privilege and 
right of trading directly to Great Britain and to all the British 
colonies in America, and finally, in all cases and in all respects they 
shall be attended to, assisted, favoured, and treated as the natural 
born subjects of Great Britain.'2 

The policy of this proclamation ( which was inexplicably 
divulged and made an embarrassing noise in the neutral press) 
was plainly not liberation but annexation by consent. 

Anson's expedition to the Pacific was a more doubtful adven~ 
ture. He had a much smaller force, and was going to a country 
about which hardly anybody in England knew anything cer­
tain. Therefore his instructions had to allow a great deaf of 
latitude, and to be calculated on the assumption that his own 

1 TrelawnytoNewcastle,Jan. 15, 1740/1, C.O. 137/57. 
2 C.O. 5/12, no. 71. 
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strength would hardly suffice for gFeat conquests without some 
co-operation with the natives. 

'As it has been re 'they ran, 'that th 
native Indians on , greatly exce 
Spaniards, and that to believe, that 
may not be averse t th em · the Sp · 
to recover their free our to od 
understanding with illin , ist 
you in any attempt, t 
Spaniards, that are est 
reason to believe, fro 
the Kingdom of Peru 
Lima, have long had an 1nc 1na 10 
( on account of the reat o ressio 
Spanish Viceroys . ) 
person amongst the 
any foundation for t 
and assist such a des 
case of an , or re 
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a fo · · e were o a a 'reasonable 
contribution' a that 

'We will su:pp1y you with all rchandise as you shall 
requint from time to time with@u subject to impositions, 

1 5.P. 42/88. 
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fateagues and dangers in going to celebrate the Fairs of Panama, 
Portobello and Cartaxena.' 1 

Finally, the Government showed, by its instruetio:n.s for 
Knowles's expedition to La Guayra in 1743, that it had not 
entirely renounced the hope of encouraging separatism. It 
thought it had a special reason to expect a response from the 
people of Caracas; the Guipuzcoa Company monopolized their 
trade, and its extortionate profits were believed to have excited 
great discontent. Knowles was therefore to inform himself of the 
disposition of the Creoles, and, if he found encouragement, 
to publish a declaration 
'setting forth, that it is not the design of the English nation to make 
a conquest of their country, or to meddle with their prop€rty, 
religion, and liberty, but only to free them from the tyranny and 
oppression of the Guypuscoa Company, and to open a free and 
equal trade with them of their mutual commodities, without any 
exorbitant duties, charge, or imposition whatsoever'. 

If this succeeded, he was to conclude a 'provisional agreement' 
-presumably, like that which Anson was ordered to make, of 
a commercial nature. z As Knowles's expedition was, like 
Anson's, a small one to an out-of-the-way destination, it was 
naturally prepared upon the same assumptions and with the 
same purpose. 

§ ii. The Sugar Interest and the Policy of Conquests 

This premature attempt at an American Revolution was not 
the main policy of the Ministers for their great expedition. 
There it was only conquests that would please. Over-estimating 
their chances of success, they imagined that almost everything 
was in their power; but the wide choice was only likely to em­
barrass a Government so constituted that it was certain to dis­
agree wherever any choice was possible. The Ministers gibbered 
with indecision, and changed their minds over and over again, 
even before the Spanish fleets made a motion or the possibility 
of a French intervention set them a really difficult problem. 3 

There were three purposes for which new acquisitions of 
1 Add. MSS. 19030, f. 470. This proclamation is obviously founded on the 

'Proposal' in the Vernon-Wager MSS., quoted on p. 74. 
2 Adm. 2/59, pp. 62-3. 
3 See Newcastle's letter to Wager,July 29, 1739, Vernon-Wager MSS.-a good 

example of his habit of suggesting everything and deciding nothing. 
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territory might be desired: trade, colonization, and protection. 
The last had very little importance; hardly any conquests of a 
purely strategic value were suggested. The nearest thing, per­
haps, was the proposal to take Porto Rico because it could be 
used for intercepting the Spanish trade outward bound. 1 The 
people of Jamaica would also have been glad of the capture 
of Santiago de Cuba, as a place which commanded their home­
ward trade through the Windward Passage. 2 Both these places 
were notorious nests of Guarda-Costas, which was an additional 
reason for at least destroying them. 

Even these proposals had another side; and the main issue 
was between trade and colonization. Of course they were not 
incompatible. For example, the conquest of Cuba with Havana 
would eminently serve both purposes. Yet there was a real 
conflict or at least a distinction between those who wanted more 
lands for plantation and settlement, and those who wanted 
outposts for carrying on trade with the Spanish dominions-out­
posts which they generally wished to strengthen and maintain 
with a colony of some kind. 3 

The ablest spokesman of the former class was William Wood, 
who held a post in the Customs Office;. though connected with 
Jamaica, he does not appear to have been a sugar-planter, but 
had often represented before the Government the interests of 
the London and Bristol merchants trading to the West Indies. 
The arguments against a new sugar colony, and for a new 
smuggling settlement, are best put by Martin Bladen and James 
Knight. Both were connected with sugar-planting. Bladen 
received, for some reason, an annuity from the legislature of 
Nevis, and took an important part in promoting the interests 
of the West Indies.4 He was c:i man of some influence, being 
a member of Parliament and of the. Board of Trade; he was 

1 John Hart to Lord Townshend, May ·s, 1729, copy in Add. MSS. 32694, 
ff. 37=8. 

2 Tr€lawny to Wager, Aug. 8, 1739, V€rnon-Wager MSS. 
3 Some people hoped we should acquire some gold- and silv€r-min@s in Am€rica: 

Others doubted wh@th@r such poss@ssions would not have the same effect upon our 
national economy that they were thought to have had upon that of Spain. Gold­
mines w€rn beli€vecl to have destroyed the industry of Spain and conv@rt€d its 
trad€ from an active into a passive one; non@ of the pamphleteers was economist 
enough to @xplain how (French Influence upon English Counsels Demonstrated (London, 
1740), p. 13; Britain's Mistakes in the Commencement and Conduct of the Present War 
(It.ondon, 1 740), sl.1p:Jrl€ment; s@e also Ulloa, op. oit., vol. i, introduction). 

4 See th€ Revenue Acts of N.evis, C.O. 185/4. 
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among the first and oftenest consulted by the Ministers and their 
committees, in the preparation of their plans foF war, and he 
helped to draw up the instructions foF CathcaFt's expedition. 
Knight had been among the hotheads for reprisals against 
Spain in the time of Admiral Stewart, and was later one of the 
chief managers of the evidence against the 'depredations' at 
the bar of the House of Commons. 1 

Any new colonies of settlement or exploitation which we were 
likely to acquire in the West Indies would almost_ certainly 
become sugar colonies sooner or later. This would affect the 
prosperity of the sugar-planting interest, which had a certain 
influence in Parliament and with the Ministers. The attitude 
of this interest to the war is worth examining. 

The English sugar colonies had suffered a depression since 
the Peace of Utrecht. In their early years they had prospered 
admirably, reduced the price of sugar to the English consumer, 
furnished the nation with an important article of re-export, and 
brought in large profits to the planters. The world's demand 
for their produce had been so great that the Government had to 
invent an elaborate system of precautions to stop it from being 
smuggled out of the Empire and finding its way straight to 
foreign markets. That prosperity was gone. The extension of 
sugar cultivation in the colonies of other powers had lowered 
the European price, and the English planters could not produce 
their sugar so cheaply as the French and Dutch. 2 Moreover, 
the increased consumption of sugar in Great Britain had begun 
to outstrip the somewhat slower increase of production in the 
British West Indies-not for want of land, for there was room in 
Jamaica alone for many more plantations. 

F o·r both these reasons the re-export trade had fallen off, ancl 
very few people seriously hoped to recover it. Few even · of 
those who did, meant to achieve it by cutting costs of produc­
tion-always excepting taxes, which they declared to be much 
higher in England than elsewhere. In the last ten years the 
West Indians had attended chiefly to maintaining a high price 
in the closed home market. For this purpose they had lately 

1 Report of proceedings in Parliament, March 1/12, 1 738 /g, A.E. Angleterl'e, 
404, f. 161. 

2 It would take a long time to diseuss the causes, and they are not :necessary to 
this argument. I hope, therefore, that I may ta,ke it for granted here, and Feserve it 
for a full examination in the book which I mean to write on the history of the 
English sugar colonies. 
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taken some very astute measures. In the first place, the Molasses 
Act of I 733 was meant to compel the North Americans to buy 
more rum and molasses from the English sugar colonies. Now 
rum and molasses are by-products of sugar, and by the methods 
used in the eighteenth century their quantity could be some­
what increased by making less sugar. If more rum and molasses 
were to be sold, without a corresponding extension of sugar cul­
tivation, the quantity of sugar in the English market must be 
reduced, and probably the price must rise. This was said, and 
perhaps with some reason, to be one of the purposes of the 
Molasses Act. 1 It was much more certainly and avowedly the 
object of the Act of Parliament obtained by the West India 
interest in 1 739, which permitted the direct export of sugar 
from the West Indies to certain markets in southern Europe. 2 

There were some sugar-planters like Alderman Beckford who 
undoubtedly looked upon this liberty as a means, to be held in 
reserve, of browbeating the sugar-buyers at home into giving 
a high price. Had the Act not been encumbered by restrictions 
which made it almost useless, it might have been more used 
for this purpose.3 Even without it, the downward tendency of 

1 A True State of the Case between the British Northern Colonies and the Sugar Islands in 
America (London, 1732), pp. 31-2; The Consequences efthe Bill now depending infavour 
of the Sugar Colonies (n.d. ?1732). This imputation is denied without very much 
logic, by the author of Proposals o.fferedfor the Sugar Planter's Redress, andfor the Revival 
of the British Sugar Commerce (London, 1 733) ; but whcm the controversy had died 
down, an apparently knowledgeable contributor to the Barbados Gazette gave away 
the case by warning the p1ant@rs against overseers who made more rum at the 
expense of making foss sugar (Caribbeana, 1141, ii. 242-5). Yet it was possible, up to 
a point,, to make more rum without reducing the output of suga,r, by the method 
of distilling it weaker. This seems to have been done in Barbados after the Molasses 
Act (Paterson to Wo@d,July 5, 1151, Bodleian Library, North MSS. a 6, f. 174). 
The Boston Week{y Rehearsal of Sept. 18, 1132, reported from London, by way of 
Barbados, that the price of sugar was lower than ever; this was attributed to th@ 
failure of the Molasses Bill in that year, 'for w@ are assurnd the sugar merchants had 
housed vast quantiti€s of sugars, which they expected would fetch a great price, 
upop. Urn passing said bill'. That may be propaganda or uninformed com1rnmt. 

2 The Sugar Trade with the lncumbrances thereon laid open by a Barbados Planter (by 
John Ashley), MS. copy in C.O. 28/40; Ashl€y's s€cond memorial, 1737, C.O. 
28/25, Aa 62; William Perrirn., The Present State of the British and French Sugar Colonies, 
and our own .Northern Colonies, Considered (London, 1740), p. 1 7. Sine€ Ashley was the 
chief agitator for th@ direct exp@rtation, and Perrin on€ of the secretaries of the 
Planters' Club in London, th€ir admissions am important. 

3 Beokford to Knight, June 18, 1743, Add. MSS. 12431, f. 125; Parl. Hist. xiv. 
193-4 (Beckford). Henry Lasc€lles did not think very highly of the direct exporta­
tion, and reported wi,th some pleas1J1re that those who tried it did not find their 
account in it (Henry LasceUes to 'fhomas Applewhait@, Sept. 4, 1741, W. & G., 
vol. i; Lascelles and Maxwell to Samuel Husbands, Sept. 14, 1744, W.·& G., vol. ii). 
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sugar prices in the English market was, for whatever reason, 
checked permanently in 1739. 1 

It would be impossible to keep up the price in the home 
market if the number of producers and the area of production 
were to be vastly increased. There was another thing to be con­
sidered. It was already becoming clear that the equilibrium of 
the northern and tropical colonies within the Empire was upset. 
As long as the West India islands could consume all the pro­
visions and lumber of the Northern Colonies, the economic 
ambitions of the latter were more or less satisfied., and the inter­
nal balance of the Empire was maintained. After the Treaty 
of Utrecht, when the productive power of the Northern Colo­
nies began to outgrow the consuming capacity of the English 
sugar islands, there were only two ways of preserving that 
balance-either to countenance the export of North American 
provisions to the foreign West Indies, or to acquire new West 
India territories. 

The West Indian interest opposed both these remedies. It 
wished to confine the produce of North America to the markets 
of our own islands; thus it would assure itself of a €heap because 
over-abundant supply of fish, lumber, and provisions, and pre­
vent its rivals in the French West Indies (who could not get 
enough provisions from their own northern colonies, and had 
to rely on the more expensive and infrequent supplies from 
France) from produ.cing sugar to the same advantage, by raising 

Lascelles disliked Ashley and was a sugar-factor; the promoters of the direct 
exportation had always reckoned with the hostility of the factors, who would los€ 
their commissions on the s1:1gars which went straight abroad. 

1 See the petition of the London sugar-refineries, March 20, 1753, which accuses 
the planters of artificially holding up the price by restricting production, because 
they gain more by a small crop than by a large one. The planters tried to repel the 
charge by pointing out the difficulty of getting the islands to co-operate for this 
purpose-as if the Planters' Club or the later West Indian Committee had never 
existed. They would have done better to den.y the charge directly, for there is no 
evidence of a deliberate stint of sugar-production-the planters were far too greedy 
and individualist for that. Many of them had patented far more lands, especially 
in Jamaica, than they could possibly use; but we need not suppos€ this was cal­
culated to keep down production. The refiners demanded some measures for 
extending cultivation in Jamaica, but according to Almon their real intention was 
to get permission to import foreign sugars (C.J. xxvi. 703; Almon's Debates and Pro­
ceedings of the British House of Commons, 1751-60 (Lom;lon, I 770), p. 55; Lascelles an.cl. 
Maxwell to Jonathan Blenman, March 14, 1753, W. & G. vi.; to Gedney Clarke, 
March 16). Lascelles and Maxwell were really afraid that J a:maica would produce 
too much for the English market (see their letter to John Frere, Sept. 4, 1756, 
W. & G. viii). 

G 
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the price of their necessaries of life. This had been the ostensible, 
and to a gn~at extent the real, purpose of the Molasses Act. It 
was designed, by levying very high duties on goods imported 
from the foreign sugar colonies, to make it impossible to export 
any provisions or lumber to them-for the French planters 
would not wish, and their own government would not allow 
them, to pay for foreign produce in cash. 

·. The West India interest was now, at the outbreak of the war 
with Spain, trying to prevent the other solution of the difficulty, 

. by discountenancing the acquisition of new West India terri­
tories, which might restore for a time the balance of the tropical 
and temperate colonies. If neither of these remedies could be 
used, the Northern Colonies must either manufacture much 
more for themselves than they had yet done, or send their corn 
to the markets of Europe, and compete with English agriculture. 
Wood pointed this out, speaking of the conquest of Cuba which 
was then being attempted by our forces. 

'A very large additional employment will be given not only to the 
traders and manufacturers of this Kingdom but to the inhabitants 
of the British Northern Colonies, particularly to the inhabitants of 
New England~ New York and Pensilvania, and prevent them from 
hurting their Mother-Country in many branches of traffic so soon 
as they will otherwise be able to do by a century at least.' 1 

He might well feel that he had scored a point here, for manu­
factures in the colonies were one of the greatest bugbears of 
English economists. 

Some people in the Northern Colonies themselves shared hi~ 
opinion. George Clarke, Lieutenant-Governor of New York.., 
twice used this argument with the Assembly for giving a liberal 
encouragement to the volunteers wh~ went on the West Indian 
expedition. 'By such acquisitions', he said, 'a door will be 
opened for a large consumption of provisions ( the staple of this 
province) whereby the farmer, as well as the merchant, may be 
greatly enriched', and pe later spoke of the possibility of obtain_­
ing such a territory in Cuba 'as may give large and numerous 
settlements to such a colony of people as may, in time, take off 
more of the provisions of these northern provinces than all the 
other islands in the West Indies'. 2 

West India conquests were expected to appeal to the North 
1 Woo.cl to Newcastle, Sept. 10, 1741, Add. MSS. 32698, f. 26. 
2 Speeches ofJum~ 30, 1140, and Sept. 17, 1141, C.O. 5/1094. 
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Americans, not only as a market for provisions, but also as a 
field for emigration. The West India planters dreaded the very 
name of emigration from their own islands, for it was likely to 
deprive them of the :few remnants of small planters and working­
class white men who were believed to be their chief military 
security against the French and the negroes. Since losses by 
emigration could not be repaired, the planters were all the more 
.anxious to prevent it. As James Knight puts it, the advantages 
attending the conquest of Havana 

'will not compensate the damages our Sugar Islands will sustain 
thereby, as they will in such case be deserted and become an easy 
prey to the negroes, if not to the French and Spaniards, for if the 
midling and inferior sort of people remove, as undoubtedly they will 
even from Jamaica, the rich planters who are not many in number 
will not be able of themselves to maintain the possession'. 1 

It is curious that the great planters should have raised this com­
plaint at a time when some of them were emigrating with their 
negroes to the Dutch settlements of Essequibo; but there was 
all the difference in the world between extending the area of 
sugar cultivation inside the Empire and participating in _the 
profits of a sugar colony outside it. 2 

These considerations help to. explain the traditional hos:tility 
of the English sugar-planters to colonial expansion _in th© 
.tropics. They feared that sugar cultivation would b_e extended, 
the military population dispersed, and_ the prices of their neces­
saries of life raised by an increased demand. This attitude, 
_which can be traced even in the late seventeenth century, is 
perfectly visible in the advice given to the Government by 
~nig~_t and · Bladen. Knight, for the reaso"ns quoted above, 
·recommended that Havana should be destroyed, rather than 
retained; Bladen, giving his argume:t:1ts against attempting to 
·conquer Porto Rico, said, 'We have more land already than we 
can people, ·more sugar and tobacco than we can dispose of to 

1 Knight to Newcastle, Dec. 3, I 739, Add! MSS. 22671, f. 32. Knight used 
every possible argument against the permanent acquisition of Havana. The 
French and Dutch would resent it; the situation was less central for 'intercep,tion' 
of Spanish trade and .. enterprises against Spanish colonies than that of Jamaica, 
which he assumed would be ruined by the competition of the new colony. 

2 Robinson to Townsend, Sept. 14, 1745, C.O. 28/4_7, ff. 47- 8; Storm van's Grave­
sande, i. 204, 211-13 (Hakluyt Society, 191 i). Governor Grenville spoke of th~ 
practice as uncommon a few years later (Gnmvill(! to Board of Trade, Oct. 20, 

I 752, C.0. 28/30). 
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advantage.' 1 Knight thought it necessary that in the settle­
ment he proposed to make at Darien, the colonists should be 
restraine · · r, tobacco, ginger, and coffee, 'to 
p e or discouragement to our other 
C - - -. - .2 

Wood tried to answer such re~trictive views. 
'It is eoneeived', he said, 'G r have too many 

settleme · · ro -ee com-
rnoclitie 
and manu -
employmtm or our na 
Britain an opportunity no on 
but also of becoming rivals at al 
_West I · clitys, whieh is o 
cheape French, and t 
eff ecte rease of such c 
plantat erica.'3 

This aggressive policy involved cheap production and low 
prices, which did not commend themselves to the conservative 
British planters. 

The sugar interest did not put a sim le veto on all plans of 
conquest in the West In i s. It ence in favour of 
schemes which were :not t · · · -n of a 
new plantation colony. t 1 suppor 

osals f attacks upon paces hose ossession 
for British trade in 

menca. 4 This was natural, or Jamaica, t e chief sugar 1s an , 
was also the head-quarters of the illicit tr-ade.5 Whatever com-

1 1Uacl:€n · . 32694-, f. 2 I. 
2 Knight . 226'77, f. 25. Vide infra, pp. 

193- 4-, 199"'- • 
3 

ssessions 
b · - ar, May 
2 

· ggling mere 
ed by th@Sp 

_ _ t for the sak 
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petition the Jamaica smugglers had had to endure from the 
South Sea Company and the London merchants trading 
through Cadiz, was de-stroyed by the war which suspended the 
operations of the two last; and the interest of the Jamaica 
traders became, for the time being, the only national interest, 
where trade with Spanish America was concerned. 

§ iii. The Plans of the English Government: Havana, Cartagena, 
Santiago, Panama 

There are other things, besides the advice of interested 
parties, to be taken into account in planning a naval expedition. 
Ministers are called upon to determine, not only what is to be 
desired, but what can be done; and in this light, the advice of 
Admirals is at least as valuable as that of planters and mer­
chants. 

The first question to be resolved was the size of the expedition 
and the importance of the object. Until the available strength 
was determined, there was no saying whether success in a given 
attempt was possible. Upon this subject there were two 
opinions, or at least two tendencies of opinion. Newcastle and 
his friends were for complying with the popular cry, which 
demanded a great expedition in the West Indies with as many 
ships and soldiers as possible. They waged the war as politi­
cians; the success they most desired was in Parliament. Wal­
pole on the other hand was much more interested in defending 
the security of Great Britain and Ireland, and much more 
afraid of attempts upon it. He was, therefore, on the side of 
caution, and Newcastle on that of extravagance, in the allot­
ment of our strength to the West Indies; and whenever there was 
a question of the forces to be sent there on any new emergency, 
Newcastle was nearly always for more, Walpole for less. 1 

- New­
casde in :fact was for the biggest possible expedition, and the 
biggest possible success. 
'AH His Grace's politics', said Hervey, 'were founded on short 
maxims of policy, gleaned in private conferences in the House of 

illicit trade, and turned their resentment against the Spaniards, not against the 
interlopers who were as much the cause ofit. The r<tsident merchants seem to have 
been a much stronger and moFe influential class than those @f ot:her islands; in 
fact, Jamaica was still almost as much a trading colony as a plantation. 

1 There were times when Walpole seemed to be converted, but he soon returned 
to his attitude of reluctance (Newcastle to Hardwicke,June 19 and Aug. 15, 1741, 
Add. MSS. 35407, ff. 31, 68). 
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Vernon in fact was for a purely naval war; perhaps for the 
reasons he gave, perhaps because such a war would be con­
ducted by an Admiral alone (for he was one of the vainest of 
men and the most ambitious of glory). 

Vernon's advice was litde echoed or attended to; other 
admirals had their doubts, but none of them approached such 
a radical scepticis1n. Such arguments were, with Newcastle, 
beside the point. There must be an expedition, for political 
reasons, therefore an expedition must be practicable. 1 Besides, 
long before Vernon's advice came to hand, the Ministry had 
been thinking in terms of expeditions. The first plans to be 
made, after sending Vernon out to reinfo:rce the West India 
station, were for small expeditions to Manila and the Pacific. 
Sir Charles Wager, the First Lord of the Admiralty, appears to 
have been interested in a small scheme for starting a revolt in 
Guatemala. This kind of thing might be .good strategy or com­
mon sense, but it was not grand enough . . Politics demanded . 
something larger, and the Admirals had to priocluce it. 2 At the 
end of r 739 it was decided that the small expeditions .would 
take away too much from the strength of the great ones. The 
squadron destined for Manila was therefore suppressed, and 
only Anson's expedition to Peru and Panama was left. For the 
same reason Wager's project against Guatemala was laid on the­
shelf, and he could not get the Ministry to recommend it to 
Vernon, even after the greater enterprise had come to grief at · 
Cartagena. 3 

There was, then, to be a great expedition to the West Indies 
under Lord Cathcart; but what was to be its objective?4 The 
obvious point for a great attack was Havana. It was reputed 
the strongest place in the Spanish West Indies; it was the rendez­
vous of the .fiotas and galleons, and commanded their home­
ward route. If we possessed it, we could intercept or delay 
the return of the treasure to Spain, and thereby put such pres- · 
sure on the Court of Madrid that the war must be brought to a 

1 When Cathcart changed his mind about the practicability of Havana, N~w­
castle was furious and had him sharply silenced by the Lords Justices (Newcastle to . 
Hardwicke, Aug. 28, 1740, Add. MS'S. 35406, f. 229~. 

2 Norris's diary, Oct. ·16 and 23, Dec. 5, 1:739, Add. MSS. 2813:2, ff. 52, 59, 87. · 
3 Wager to Vernon, June 21, Aug .. 20, Oct. 29, 1741, Original Letters to an Honest . 

Sailor~ pp. 45, 51, 5 7 · 
4 See the full and excellent account of these discussions in Admiral Sir H. W .. 

Richmond's The Navy in the War of 1739-48 (Cambridge, 1920), vol. i, chap. ii. 
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sudden and striking end. This was a simple calculation, and it 
was probably a wrong one, for Spain was much better able 
than anybody expected, to bear the very considerable delay and 
diminution of the homeward treasure which we were able to 
effect without the conquest of Havana; in fact, Philip V had 
already given proof of this in the War of the Spanish Succession. 1 

Be that as it might, Newcastle always preferred an attack on 
Havana to anything else that could be suggested. 

The objections to it were two. Wager was persuaded by one 
Tassell, who had lately lived there as the South Sea Company's 
agent, that it was very strongly fortified and defended, and 
could not be taken by less than 10,000 soldiers.2 This was more 
than could be spared, and the Ministry therefore decided in 
October to be content with something less ambitious. In 
November Newcastle brought up Havana again in a new form: 
why not make up the number of men with recruits from North 
America? Our Northern Colonies abounded with men who, 
properly used, were a great asset in any American war we 
might wage; for some people were already beginning to suspect, 
what proved true in the Canadian campaigns of the next war, 
that colonists made the best soldiers for colonial fighting. They 
could be attracted to the expedition by hopes of plunder and 
land. From soldiers they would turn settlers, and thus solve the 
problem how to people our new acquisitions without draining 
our older sugar colonies of men. 3 At first this proposal was 
thought to make no difference to the practicability of the 
scheme, but the Ministers later decided to raise troops in North 
America; indeed, Norris told Walpcole that if they did not, the 
Opposition would make a cry of it. They even formed exag­
gerated expectations of the number of men that could be got 
from this source. Bladen had to explain 'that most or all the 
people in those parts had their employments to live and very 
few that wanted. business', 4 and that 3,000 troops was the largest 
number that could be raised. In the event, the enthusiasm for 

1 The miserable end of Admiral Hosier at the Bastimientos in 1727 was a warning 
against merely trying to delay the saiJing of the gall€ons ( The Grand Question, 
whether War or no War with Spain, Impartially Considered (London, 1739), p. 18). 

2 'Fassell to Wager, Oct. 24, 1139, V€rnon-Wager MSS.; Tassell to Newcastle, 
Oct. 29, 1739, Add. MSS. 32694-, f. 49; Wag€r's note on the same, f. 51; Norris's 
diary, Sept. 29 and Oct. 16, 1739, Add. MSS. 28132, ff. 47, 53-4-. 

3 Norris's diary, Oct. 29, N0v. 22, ID€c. 5 ancll 17, 1739, Add. MSS. 28132, ff. 68, 
82, 87, 105. 

4 Norris's diary, Dec. 17 and 31, 1739, Add. MSS. 28132, ff. 105,112. 
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the expedition was so great that tbe Government a£terwards 
believed it could ha~e raised more. 'There is a vast spirit by all 
accounts', Trelawny wrote, 'in these of the Northern Colonies 
who in their imagination have swallowed up all Cuba; 'tis true, 
they are undisciplined, hut they will be supported by double 
the number of disciplined troops that Ld Cathcart brings.: 1 

The second objection to Havana was its situation. It was 
a long way to leewa1d of the chief English and French colonies; 
and the easterly trade wind was so strong in those seas that no 
naval commander liked getting to leeward if he thought he 
should have any occasion to come up to windward again. This 
would make little difference, if there were too few Spanish 
warships in the West Indies to take advantage of the Jamaica 
squadron's absence. As more ships went out from Spain to 
join those already in the Caribbean, and as the arrival of a 
French fleet in the West Indies became more and more likely, 
disquiet for the safety of Jamaica had more influence in dete;r­
mining the movements of our West India expedition. If there 
were French or Spanish fleets to windward of it when it started 
from Jamaica, a long leeward journey into the Gulf of Mexico 
would leave the island at their mercy. This made an impr~ssion 
not only on the Governor and people of Jamaica, but on Wager, 
who knew the facts because he had commanded a West India 
squadron in the War of the Spanish Succession. It strengthen~cl 
his dislike of the Havana scheme, and his preference for the 
less serious undertaking-as it then seemed-of an attack on 
Cartagena.2 Another thing to consider was, that Havana was 
difficult of aocess from December to March-the best part of 
the campaigning season-because of the strong north winds 
which made it hard for ships to ride off the coasts. 

Vernon shared Wager's preference; he was already stationed 
at Jamaica and must have heard what the island politicians had 
to say. PeFhaps he had another ilieason. The voyage of the last 
galleons which started hef ore the war had been unusually slow; 

1 T:relawny to Wager, Aug. 29, 1740, Vernon-Wager MS$.; Newcastle to Ver­
non, Sept. 12, 1740, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 51. Wager thought that the Americans 
would be especially suitable for snch an irregular cmmpaign as the e:x.cursion into 
Guatemala. It appears, though not dearly, that this was because he thought them 
less likely than regular soldiers to alienate the Indians by violating their women 
(Wager to Vernon,June 21, 1741, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor, p. 46). 

z Trelawny to Wager, Aug. 29, 1740, Vernon-Wager MSS.; Beckford to Kmght, 
Oct.11, 1740, Add. MSS. 12431, f. u6; Norris's diary, Oct. 29, 1739, Add. MSS. 
28132, f. 68; Wager to Newcastle,June 3, 1740, C.O. 5/41. 
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though they had sailed in 1737, they were still in Cartagena 
harbour and had not yet held the fair at Portobello. However, 
they had done some business, acc('.)rding to the custom, in 
Cartagena, and had already received some money in return. 
They were, theFefore, with this money and the remainder of 
their unsold cargoes, the richest prize that could be made in the 
West Indies. Whatever his faults of judgement, Vernon had a 
reputation for disinterestedness, but he would hardly have been­
hriman if these facts had no influence over his opinion. Besides, 
it was an importc;tnt and honourable feat to catch the galleons, 
and it was an essential service to the trade of Jamaica. If their 
cargoes were destroyed, the smugglers would be left without 
competition; delaying the galleons in the harbour by a blockade 
until the goods rotted was very useful, but destroying them 
would be better still. It was to the smugglers' interest that some 
accident should happen to the galleons at Cartagena, before 
their cargoes came to market, rather than at Havana, when they 
were only carrying the returns, and had already spoilt the trade. 1 

Vernon's preference for Cartagena can have had nothing to do­
with the presence ofTorres and his ships of war in that harbour; 
for he had already conceived it before Torres came out to the 
West Indies at all, and he knew, before he finally sailed to 
attack Cartagena, that Torres had gone to Havana, _where the 
French .fleets might have joined him. In fact, if he had aimed 
at the destruction of the Spanish warships, he would presu­
mably have made for Mavana, not for Cartagena. 

Newcastle put Havana back on the map by a characteristic 
compromise: the Government was to make no determination, 
but to leave it to the Council ofWat on the spot to say what was 
practicable. Having gained this point, he then tried, by a still 
more characteristic piece of dishonesty, to prejudge the deci­
sion of the Council of War, by causing it to be delayed until 
the expedition should arrive off Havana-from which place it 
was impossible to do anything except attack Havana or Vera 
Cruz. Wager detected and denounced this; it was given up, but 
the irrepressible Newcastle contrived to have the last word by 
sending Cathcart a private letter with his instructions, earnestly 
recommending him to try Havana ifit was at all possible.2 The 

1 Trelawny to Wager, Aug-. 29, 1740, V€rnon-Wager MSS.; Vernon to New­
castle,June 4, 1740, S.P. 43/93. 

2 Wager to Newcastle,June 3, 1140, C.O. 5/41; Newcastle to Cathcart, Aug. 14, 
1740, Add. MSS. 32694-, i'. 472. 
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Opposition gave the same ofders to VeFnon; Pulteney told him 
that nothing but the conquest of Cuba would satisfy the appetite 
of the public. 1 Even after the first failure of 1741, Newcastle 
believed that a reinforcement of 3,000 men might enable 
Vernon to attack Havana or at least make another attempt on 
Cartagena.2 

When the. great expedition arrived · in the West Indies -and 
joined Admiral Vernon, the commanders made up their minds 
to attack Cartagena. This enterprise failed entirely. 

There is no need here to describe the calamity or to distribute 
the blame between Vernon and . Wentworth. 3 Admiral Rich­
mond has done aH that very weH. 4 It may no doubt be true 
that Vernon was 'a silly, noisy Admiral', and that Wentworth 
lacked moral courage; but probably their faults and dissensions 
did not affect the ,result so much as has been thought. If it 
c.ornes . to that, there was equal discord behind the ·walls of 
Cartagena between the. Viceroy Eslava and the General of the 
galleons. 5 Too much attention has been paid to the quarrel of 
Vernon and Wentworth. -There are two reasons for this: in the 
first place, it has been too readily assumed that Cartagena was so 
weak that on[y some fault of our commanders could account for 
our bad success. In fact the place had been strongly fortified 
since Pointis took it in 1697, and it was a much harder nut to 
crack than the English supposed. 6 The second reason why the 
controversy was so envenomed ( and why Wentworth always 
had the worst of it), was the unpopularity of the army. Old­
fashioned Whigs and Todes had always railed against a 
'standing army', and the Opposition could not forbear exploit­
ing the cry. They affected to believe that the army existed, not 
to fight (for Walpole always avoided wars if he could), but to 
create comfortable places for the . Minister's creatures. The 
s.oldiers were therefore under a doud, and the fashionable rant 
was the wooden walls of old England, long before \Yentworth's• 
incompetence confirmed the legend. Lastly, it was si~kness that 
put the finishing touch to failure at Cartagena, and that was 
no more Wentworth's fault than Vernon's. Vernon had been 

1 Pulteney to Vernon, Aug. I 7, 1740, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor, pp. 23-4. 
2 Memorandum of June 22, 1741, Add. MSS. 32993, f. 154. 
3 Cathcart died on the voyage out, and was succeeded by Wentworth. 
4Q · 1· h . p. c1t., VO . 1, C ap. VI. 
5 Larnage to Maurepas, March 21, 1741, A.N. Cdlonies C9 A 55. 
6 Larnage to 1Jaurepas, Dec. 5, 1740, A.N. Colonies C9 A. 53. 
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in the West Indies before, and knew that the most important 
maxim of West India strategy was to begin operations at once, 
before the soldiers could fall victims to the climate and the 
rum. 1 It was to avoid delay and 'Captain Punch' that he had 
proposed at first to meet his reinforcement under Ogle and 
Cathcart at Cape Donna Maria instead of letting it come into 
harbour at Jamaica. 2 The miscarriage of a letter brought this 
scheme to nothing, and once in Port Royal, Ogle's fleet could 
not be got out in a hurry. Then Vernon spent time in looking 
for the French fleet instead of sailing straight to Cartagena; the 
decision was justifiable, but it gave the climate plenty of time to 
work upon the troops. 3 It is true, however, that if Wentworth 
had taken Cartagena at a rush, the soldiers would have had the 
satisfaction Qf dying of fever after victory, as they did at Havana 
in I 76!2, instead of dying frustrated outside the walls. 

Vernon's and Wentworth's second choice after Cartagena 
was Santiago de Cuba. The south and east of Cuba were so . 
little populated, and so far from Havana, that they might have 
made a permanent establishment there; it was no more than 
the French had done on the west encl of Mispaniola. The people 
of Jamaica, especially those of the north side, would be glad to 
have the pirates of Santiago suppressed, so that their ships 
might pass safely through the Windward Passage. The planters 
would not be equally pleased to see a rival sugar colony growing 
up next door; but the planters were not always attended to, and 
if the east end of Cuba was not conquered and colonized by 
the English, it was because the commanders mismanaged the 
attempt, not because the sugar interest was holding the Govern­
ment by the coat-tails. Newcastle expressly ordered Vernon to 
have it garrisoned and settled ifhe could take it.4 

The North Americans were to have been glad of this con­
quest, for they were to have settled it. They were disappointed 
of their hopes; they should have remembered the two com-

1 After the failure at Cartagena, Ogte was ofth@ same opinion (Ogle to Knight, 
June 18, 1741, and Feb. 13, 1741 /2, Add. MSS. 12431, ff.112, 114). 

2 Cathcart to Vernon,June 22, 1740; Vernon to Cathcart, Dec. 26, 1741, S.P. 
42/90, f. 12; Wag@r to V@rnon,Jyne 10, 1740, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor, p. 13. 

3 Already on Jan. 20 Wentworth reported that at least 1,400 of the soldiers W€re 
sick, of whom 500 seriously so (see his lettier to Newcastle, C.O. 5/42). 

4 Newcastl@ to Vernon, Oct. 15 and 31, 1741, Add. MSS. 32698, ff. 138, 240. 
Knowles tri@d to capture Santiago in the spring of 1742. If he had taken it, ht:l 
would have kept it, but only 'in hopes it may produce some good terms upon the 
conclusion ofa p@ace' (Klilowles to Newcastle, March 13, 1747/8, C.O. 137/58), 
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panies of Massachusetts volunteers, who arrived at Jamaica in 
I 703 to find no quarters or allowances, and to be enrolled, in 
spite of their express wish and the entreaties of their Governor, 
into the crews of Admiral Whetstone's ships. 1 The volunteers 
of 1740 were not much better treated; Newcastle heard many 
complaints that they had been drafted into the ships in exactly 
the same way. 2 They might well be furious, for nobody dis­
liked the service of the King's ships more, or went farther out of 
the way to avoid the press-gang, than the North Americans. 
They got no plunder, for there was none; no land, for none was 
conquered, and if any had been, Wentworth strangely ob­
structed the prodamation which was to have offered it to them. 
He alleged that most of them were unsuitable for colonization 
and had not the necessary means; and if Vernon is to be 
trusted (which perhaps he is not), the officers of the regular 
army grumbled at having to fight battles in order to conquer 
land for North Americans. 3 The unbounded expectations of 
the use of North Americans in West Indian warfare were dis­
appointed, and the idea of such a service was unpopular for 
some years in the Northern Colonies ;4 yet volunteers were 
found in I 762 for a very similar enterprise against Havana. 

When both Cartagena and Santiago had resisted them, Ver­
non and Wentworth condescended to take some advice from 
the people of Jamaica, and to reduce their pride to one of the 
smaller but more practicable enterprises in which that island 
was interested. 

There was one expedition which was always more popular 
in Jamaica than any other that could be proposed. 5 This was 
an overland attack upon Panama, to be followed by a settle­
ment upon the isthmus. Such a settlement was designed as an 
advanced post for illicit trade into the Pacific, and for the 
acquisition of gold-mines, oit at least gold, in the neighbouring 
province of Veragua. 6 In fact it was the first proposal which the 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1702, no. 1131; 1702-3, nos. 30, 319, 322, 694, 764. 
2 Newcastle to Vernon, Aug. 28, 1741, Add. MSS. 32697, f. 482; Oct. 15, vol. 

32698, f. I 38. 
3 Wentworth to Newcastle, Dec. 20, 1741, C.O. 5/42; Vernon to Newcastl€, 

Nov. 11, 1741, Original Papers relating to the Expedition to the Island of Cuba (London, 
1744). 4 Vaudreuil to Maurepas, Feb. 22, 1748, A.N. Colonies C9 A. 74. 

s Not only in Jamaica; Bussy reported that a large company was projected for 
this purpose in London (Bussy to Amelot, June 2, N .s., 1741, A.E. Angleterre, 41 2, f. 
I I 2), 

6 Bladen to Harrington, June 12 and 18, 1739, Add. MSS. 32694, ff. 21, 2frj 
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Government · in this war. Bladen had urged it very 
strongly, and · favoured it.; but ·Wa -er and 
Norris reported that it would need at least 2 ,ooo sol = nd 
a larie squadron. At first it was a project for attackini anama 
from both · e isthmus, -but then the Admir 
their minds settlement could be made on · e ac1 c 
shore. The march overland from the Atlantic, which Wager 
and Norris t · practicable, was soon forgotten for 
greater enterprises. 1 
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.Pacific colonies had passed to S ain for turies. 
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land for a .small c for the sake .of.the colonists-' 
protection agains 

It is very eiuestiona ie- · ow ar these assum tions w r justi-
fied. Vernon thought them out of date. n the 
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1140, . ; te> Newcastl@, Jan.. 15, 1 

1741, C d t 1741/2, Ad 
1 Ne, an et. 
2 
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· Darien project was unnecessary, for it would procure· no advan­
tages in trade that we did not possess already by our command of 

· the sea. He thought it impossible too. Since the failure of the 
Scotch colony, the Spanish authorities had perceived the folly 
of estranging tribes placed in so important a situation, and had 

, conciliated them. 1 This pacification of the Indians probably 
. had something to do with the bad behaviour of the English 
'marooners'-the dregs of the pirates, who abused the Indian 
women. Unscrupulous sailors enticed Indians on board ship, 
under pretence of trade, and then carried them <E>ff and sold 
them as slaves inJamaica. This came to the ears of Wager, who 
remembered a project of a settlement at Darien from the days 
when he was Commodore at Jamaica. He was very upset, and 
wrote to Vernon and Trelawny to have these practices stopped 
and punished. The warning was not needed, for nobody set a 
higher value on Indian friendship than Trelawny, who had 
already persuaded the Jamaica Assembly to make a law against 
the enslavement of Indians. 2 He was the warmest partisan of 
the Darien scheme, but he had to admit that the Indians had 
made their peace with the Spaniards; however, this only made 
·him insist with the more vehemence on the necessity of taking 
Panama in order to encourage them to join our side again. 3 But 
taking Panama in order to make an impression upon the Indians 
was a very different calculation from taking it with their help; 

No doubt the Panama scheme · was conceived with a vague 
and free imagination, helped out by confusions between the 
Indian tribes and anachronisms as to their attitude; but some­
thing had been done on the Isthmus more than once before, 
and Vernon might at least have given it a fair trial. Most of the 
witnesses, agree that he did not. It was important to arrive 
quickly and safely at Portobello, and, before making any open 
appearance there, to have landed a force behind the town and 
seized the pass which led to Panama. Instead, he beat farther 
to windward than he need, so that the rainy season had time 
to set in and the soldiers to fall sick. He then sailed into the 
harbour 'with all the pageantry of a Spithead expedition\ 

1 Vernon to Newcastle,Jan. 23, 1739/40, S.P. 42{85, f. 122. 
2 Wager to Vernon, June 10 and July 9, il 740, Original Letters to an Hone,st Sailor, 

pp. 13, 16; Journals of the Assembly of Jamaica (Kingston, l 797), iii. 563; Act of May 
8, 1741, c.o. 139/15. 

3 Trelawny to Wager, Sept. 12, 1740, Vernon-Wager MSS.; Tassell to Walpole, 
Sept. 11, 1739, Add. MSS. 32694, f. 41. · 



96 STRATEGY OF 

sent the Governor a pompous message, and gave him time to 
remove all the valuables from the town, to occupy the pass, and 
to send the news to Panama. 1 The scheme was ruined. Went­
worth, who never cared much for it, declined to proceed any 
farther, saying that his force was reduced too low by sickness; 
and Vernon can have hardly felt all the surprise he affected, 
when Governor Trelawny, the chief promoter of the expedition, 
insisted in a huff on going home to Jamaica to do other business. 2 

There was little more that Vernon could do; soon afterwards, 
he retired to England, with 'his laurels handsomely tipped 
with gold'. He spent the rest of his life quarrelling with the 
Admiralty, publishing pamphlets, presiding at meetings of the 
Order of the Anti-Gallicans, and making ranting speeches in 
the House of Commons. The great offensive against the West 
Indies had come to an end for a time, and Ogle was left with 
orders 'to protect the trade of the King's subjects in those parts, 
to hinder the return of the Spanish Treasure to Europe, and to 
prevent the Spaniards from opening or carrying on any trade 
at Cartagena, or Portobello' .3 In the very fag-end of the war 
Knowles revived some semblance of activity by his destruction 
of Port Louis and his attempt on Santiago, and conceived a 
further scheme of attacking Vera Cruz; until then, the annals of 
the Jamaica station are free from expeditions. There was an 
attempt upon La Guayra and Porto Cabello, two ports of 
Venezuela, under Knowles in 1743. This expedition was sent 
out from England and strengthened with ships of the Leeward 
Islands station; for Venezuela is so far to windward as to be 
quite out of the way of the Jamaica squadron. For that reason 

1 Cemncil of War, Jan. 20 and 22, 1741 /2, C.O. 5/42; Trnlawny to Newcastle, 
Jan. 31, C.O. 137/57; Beckford. t0Knight,April30, 1742,Add. MSS. 12431,f. 124; 
J. Morris to Wager, May 1742, Vernon-Wager MSS.; Col. Burrard's diary, March 
30, 1742, Add. MSS. 34097, f. 67. V@rnon's best excuse was that h@ tried to kill 
two birds with one stone, and that he delayed so long off Cartagena because he 
hoped to intercept succours coming out from Spain (see the minute of the Council 
of War, March 4, 1741/2, S.1?. 42/92, f. 71). Trelawny had want@d Vernon to 
undertake this expedition in 1741, but Vern.on refuseGI., and Wager approved his 
refusal because the rainy season had been coming oil. For that matter, Wager 
appears to have vindicated Vernon in 1742, for the same mason and because if 
500 men had li>een landed behind Portobello there would not have been enough to 
land before it (Wager to Vernon, Aug. 18, 1741, and Aug. 1742, Original Letters to an 
Honest Sailor, pp. 49, 62). 

2 Vernon to Newcastle, Feb. 11 and 25, March 5 and 15, 1741 /2, March 31 and 
April 27, 1742, with enclosures, S.P. 42/92, ff. 1-149passim. 

3 Newcastle to Ogle, Aug. 5, 1742, Add. M$S. 32699, f. 360. 
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its valuable trade was hard to intercept, and the best way of 
attacking it was to seize the terminal points and deprive the 
shipping of any fefuge on the coast. 1 Knowles made a mess ofit, 
and the attempt produced no benefit whatever. 

§ iv. Tr,elawny' s Interference on the Moskito Shore 

After so many pompous failures, there is some satisfaction 
in dealing with an effort which, however small, met with any 
success at all. This was the interesting attempt of Trelawny 
to extend English influence and trade among the Spaniards 
of Central America, and to consolidate the logwood-cutting 
colony in Honduras. 

Trelawny believed in the possibility of breaking up the 
Spanish Empire from within, by encouraging the Creoles and 
Indians to revolt. Like many other Governors of Jamaica, he 
took a special interest in the tribe of Moskito Indians. They 
dwelt on the east coast of Nicaragua, which was then known to 
the English as the 'Moskito shore'. They had long had friendly 
relations with the English; indeed, in a later controversy with 
Spain, we claimed that they had made us a cession of their 
territory in the reign of Charles I, which, if it really took place 
and was valid, would have given us a tide to it under the 
American Treaty of 1670. Needless to say, Spain disputed 
both the fact and the lawfulness of this surrender. Be that as it 
might, the Indians' friendship to the English nation had con­
tinued intermittently. 

Nearly all the witnesses, from Dampier downwards, described 
them as a very small tribe; some writers attributed to them no 
more than five hundred fighting men. The younger Hodgson, 
writing in 175 7, said they had once numbered ten or eleven 
thousand people, but were much reduced after I 730 by the 
small-pox, which they caught in a successful expedition against 
the Spaniards; in his day they were eight thousand souls, with 
fifteen hundred fighting men. He distinguished among them 

1 'A Proposal for the taking of La Guaira and Porto Cavallo', Vernon-Wager 
MSS.; paper of Daniel Campbell,July 22, 1741, ibid. The Spaniards, according 
to Admiral Richmond, had two months' notice of this attempt. Lord Hardwicke 
believed that Knowles himself had been talking about it before he left London 
(Hardwicke to Newcastle, May 27, 1743, Add. MSS. 32700, f. 148), but the French 
Minister, who usually got wind of projects almost before they were out of the 
authors' mouths, only learnt about this one after some months, and desc:ribed the 
secret as perfectly kept (Bussy to Amelot, March 15, N.s., 1743, A.E. Angleterr-e, 
416, f. 352). 

4274 H 
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three separate bodies of people. There were the pure Moskito 
Indians in the south, under a 'Governor'; in the centre, round 
Black River, they were ruled by a 'King', and consisted chiefly 
of Samboes, descended from the conquest of Indian wives by 
two shipwrecked cargoes of negroes; 1 in the north there was 
a mixture of h:1.dians and Samboes under a 'General'. The 
King, Governor, and General were more or less coequal, but 
the English of Jamaica had accorded a pre-eminence to the 
first, on account of his tide; he thus belonged to the class of 
native rulers who owe their state to the convenience or the 
defective imagination of the English authorities. The chiefs had 
litde power, and the :real decisions were taken by assemblies of 
elders-such worthies of fame in war and weight in council as 
'Admiral Dilly', 'Colonel Morgan', and the like. They enter­
tained a lasting hatred of the Spaniards, which U ring accounted 
for by supposing that they had. been expelled by the Spanish 
authorities from the land of their fathers, a good. land, into the 
disagreeable swamps in which they lived when the English 
knew them. 2 There is no telling whether that was the truth, 
or a prejl!ldice instilled into them by the English and th@n 
repeated as their own opinion; but certainly one of the ways of 
attracting them to an alliance was to promise them the land. 
of their forefathers. Their manner of life seems to have been a 
not extraordinary mixture of laziness with violent activity in 
fishing and hunting, punctuated by almost interminable drink­
ing-bouts which usually ended in a 'general rape'. They had 
always been valued by the privateers as expert if temperamental 
fishermen, and gallant fighters so long as they were encouraged 
by proper example. 3 

To them Trelawny sent in I 740 a 'romantic' character or 
'Don Quixote' named Robert Hodgson. He really seems to 
have been a fit man for th~. post; he felt some sympathy for 
the Indians, but tried to restrain the vices which he could not 
strongly condemn because he considered them to be chiefly due 
to contact with the English. He_ believed (what was probably 

ll 'Fhis was not an u11commcm accidcmt, the Black Caribs of St. Vincent had a 
lik€ ©rigin. 2 Uring, Voyages anil Travels (1928 rnprint), p. 159. 

3 The best connected acc0umts 0f this tribe are to be found in bampier, A New 
Voyage Round the World (109!9), i. 7- t 1; lJrm.g, pp. 156-9; Hodgson to Trelawny, 
April 2, I 740, quoted ah0v€l, and The First Account of the State of that Part of America 
called the Mosquito Shore in the year 1757, by Robert Hodgson (tn€ son, I think), C.O. 
123/1. 
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wrong) that the Moskitomen were descended of the race of 
Montezuma, and therefore looked for a deliverer from the 'grey-­
eyed people'; Hodgson had the modesty to doubt whether he 
could play the part. 1 

The Moskitomen were valuable allies. They lived mostly by 
desultory hunting, fishing, and turtling, and left the care of 
their plantain-walks to their wives; a high proportion of their 
men was, therefore, always available for expeditions against the 
Spaniards. A useful by-product of this military activity was 
their need for arms; Hodgson saw a good opening for trade 
here, and lamented that before he and Trelawny could make 
any use of it, the privateers would probably have supplied the 
want. 

On the other hand they had their limitations. They were 
ungovernable, and needed disciplined troops to keep them in 
ofder; and they were a diplomatic liability. They had difficulty 
in accepting Hodgson's opinion, ·that the King of England was 
the best judge of the proper ti_me for peace or war with the 
Spaniards; this gave little trouble during the war, but it was to 
cost Hodgson some anxiety and e:ff ort after the peace. They 
used their Spanish prisoners cruelly, which Trelawny instructed 
Hodgson to prevent so far as he could; for though. it might be 
very convenient to browbeat the Spaniards into trading with 
us by threatening to set the Moskito Indians on them if they 
refused, the barbarity of these uncontrollable allies was a 
nuisance when it was not exercised according to plan. It could 
not, in any case, commend itself to a man like Trelawny, who 
hoped to work for an Anglophile Creole Revolution within the 
Spanish Empire. The behaviour of the Moskitomen to the othet 
Indians was even more embarrassing. They had two dependent 
tribes called Piacos and Puttocks, but they were at perpetual 
enmity with certain other Indians, generally called 'wild', or 
Bravo Indians. Whenever they went warfaring, they insisted on 
treating their prisoners with great cruelty or enslaving them. In 
fact, they made a business of slave-raiding; it was deposed in 
I 762, before the Council of Jamaica, that they had reduced a 
small tribe of their neighbours from 300 people to 4 7 by this 
practice. 2 This gave a handle to all the critics of Trelawny's 

1 Hodgson to Trelawny; April 8, 1740, Vernon-Wager MSS.; Trelawny to 
Wager, July 26, ibid. 

2 Deposition of Richard Jones, in Council Minutes, Nov:. 17, 1762, C.O. 140/42. 
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River, for it could only be attadked to any purpose by sea, 
which the English warships and the smaU cra:ft of the f@w 
settlers prevented or rendered much more difficult. 1 

Trelawny had another interest in that part of the world-the 
promotion of an illicit trade with the Spaniards. He belie\Tied 
their country could be penetrated up rivers and Indian paths 
which their authorities could not watch, and that in return 
for English manufactures we could extract great quantities of 
Spanish produce, especially the fine Guatemala indigo, the best 
of its kind in the world. There was hardly any cultivation of 
indigo in the British colonies, that of Jamaica: having languished 
into unimportance and that of Carolina being barely started; 
this was therefore a tropical product that would be the more 
welcome because it did not compete with any of our own, and 
furnished a dye which was useful to the English textile indus­
tries. Besides this, a way might be found to the Pacific sooner o:r 
later, and thus a South Sea trade established by an alternative 
to the Panama route. 2 

The~e were also some English settlers on the Moskito shore, 
living dispersed up and down the coast by fives and tens. 3 Some 
of them were mere mis:fits who chose to vegetate am@nf the 
swamps surrounded by half-caste families. Others were traders 
of exceptionally low morals; so Hodgson said, but as he and 
Trelawny intended to combine a little private trade with poli­
tics he may have been prejudiced against them by their <;:om­
petition. Others again were rich 'masters of barcadiers' from 
the logwood settlements who thought their property saf e:r be­
hind the shoals and bars at Black River than at Belize.4 

The most important of these was William Pitt, or Pitts, a man 
of great fortune and influence among the settlers, to whom the 
first establishment of the English at Black River was generally 

1 Spanish paper ofjan. 19, 1746, Add. MSS. li566, ff. 17<F-'7. 
2 Trelawny to Stone, Oct. 1742, C.0. 13i/57; to Newcastle, Dec. rn, 1743, with 

paper enclosed, ibid.; 'Account of what has been clone at Black River', ibid. ; 
Vernon to Newcastle, Dec. 30, 1742, S.P. 42/92, f. 31~; fotter to V:ernon, enclos@d 
in his letter to Newcastle, Feb. 4, 1743/4, f. 328. See also a lett~r ofWillliam Lea, 
late South Sea Company's factor in Guatemala, March 3, q40/1, Add. MSS. 
32698, f. 145. This letter and Lea himself were sen,t out to Vernon at the end 0f I 741. 

3 In 1753 there were rn6 whites and 240 coloured British sufujects (G.O. I3i fi25, 
X 1 36). The character of the settlement is pretty dearly shown by the fact that 
the white men vastly outm1:1mbered the white women, while the coloured women 
outnumbered the coloured men. 

4 A barcadier is the West Indian term for a wharf of any sort. 
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ascribed. He seems to have been the chief capitalist of the 
colony and to have bought a great part of its produce. He and 
some others continued to live on the Shore for safety while 
their partners cut logwood in the Bay of Honduras. 1 Whenever 
there was real danger from the Spaniards, the entire population 
removed from Honduras to Black River. Some said that this 
happened every year during the rainy season, but another 
witness denied that, for he said there was no time of the year 
when the cutters were not profitably employed on the spot; in 
the dry season they cut the logwood, and in the wet season, 
when the floods made cutting impossible, they floated it down 
the creeks to the shipping. However that might be-and the 
Board of Trade did not believe that this witness gave a fair 
account of the matter-there was some connexion between 
Belize and Black River. 2 

The 'Baymen', or logwood-cutters, had quite left their first 
and greatest head-quarters at Campeachy, and were now esta­
blished round Belize in the Bay of Honduras. There were 
said to be about 500 of them. They were reputed to be more 
industrious and. regular people than the squatters of Black 
River; they lived in comparative peace under a government 
of their own setting up, and some writers celebrated the probity 
and punctuality of their dealings. But their way of life troubled 
the imperial authorities, because, although they were mainly 
English subjects, they sold most of their wood-some said as 
much as three-quarters-to the Dutch. A great deal of the 
shipping which took off their produce was from New England; 
but that too carried it directly to Holland. This was an anomaly 
of long standing, but none the better for that. Since their settle­
ment could hardly be called a British colony-in spite of the 
claims made on their behalf against the Court of Spain-. this 
trade with foreigners could not technically be a breach of the 
Acts of Navigation; but could not this difficulty be overcome by 
giving them an established government and making them a 
regular colony ?3 Once or twice they had demanded such a 

1 Cusack to Vernon, Sept. 25, 1742, C.O. 137/57; G€rrard's comments, Feb. 23, 
1742/3, ibid.; Cunningham to Trelawny, Dec. 1743, ibid. 

2 Gerrard's comments, Feb. 23, 1742/3, ibid. 
3 Cunningham to Trelawny, Dec. 1743; undated paper on Honduras, Vernon­

Wager MSS.; Trelawny to Vernon, July 27, 1741, S.P. 42/90, f. 318; Vernon to 
Newcastle, Nov. 3, 1741, f. 389; Hodgson to Board of Trade, April 3, 1744, C.O. 
323/11, N. 65. The same proposal had been made in Queen Anne's war (C.S.P. Col. 
1704-5, 164, ii). 
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government for themselves, provided it were accompanied by 
a proper clef ence, such as the building of forts or stationing a 
ship of war in their river. The Dutch, they said, had offered 
them protection, if they would contract to sell them all their 
1ogwood; but they had declined it, preferring if possible to live 
under the dominion of His Majesty. 1 Now, plainly, was the 
time for a measure of this kind. Belize could not very well be 
annexed in time of peace, for fear of off ending Spain; but since 
we were already at war, this was an opportunity to do it openly 
and then maintain it at a peace.2 

This, however, was not Trelawny's scheme or Vernon"s. 
They were more impressed by the possibilities of the little island 
of Ruatan, or Rattan as they called it, not very deep in the 
Gulf of Honduras. 3 It had one of the best harbours that were 
to be found in that part of Central America-though the cham­
pions of Belize said theirs was good enough-and a port so far to 
leeward might sometimes be useful to the men-o:f-war of the 
Jamaica station. As an island, it would be a suitable refuge for 
Baymen, Moskitomen, and settlers from Black River; but this 
merit was really less than it looked, since the Spaniar,ds were 
unlikely to attack except by sea, and would find h harder to 
advance up a creek than to land on an island. Rattan was to be 
a sort of genetal head-quarters, or base-camp, for all the Eng­
lishmen and English shipping on both sides of Cape Gracias 
a Dios, a starting-point for illicit trade with Spaniards, and 
perhaps a post from which men-of-war or customs authorities 
could enforce the laws of Navigation and drive the Dutch out 
of the logwood trade. 4 

Some critics complained that Rattan was out of the way; that 
the logwood ships never came near it, so that it could be no 
protection to them; that the Baymen never had time or occasion. 
to go so far afield; that :Belize offered the same opportunities for 

1 Gerrard's paper of Feb. 23, 1743; Inhabitants @f the Bay to Tretawmy, April 
28, 1743, C.O. 323/u, N. 67; Inhabitants to Parke Pepper, May 22, 1746, ibid., 
N. 84; Inhabitants to Caulfield, June 8, I 745, C.O. 137 /57. 

2 Petitions of Parke Pepper,July 24 and 27, 1747, C.O. 323/u, N. 84 and 85. 
3 Hodgson afterwards claimed the merit of suggesting the settlement of Rattan 

(Hodgson to Knowles, Dec. 19, 1752, C.O. 137/60). 
4 Trelawny to Vernon, July 27, 1741, S.P. 42/90, f. 318; Vernon to Newcastle, 

Nov. 3, 1741, f. 389; Trelawny to Stone, Oct. I 742; Hodgson, 'Reasons for settling 
Rattan'; Trelawny to Newcastle, Dec. 10, 1743, C.O. 137 /57; Original Papers relating 
to the Expedition to Panama (London, 1744), pp. 12, lJI, 140. 
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illicit trade with the Spaniards as Rattan or Black River, and 
that to consolidate the settlement there would cost the Govern­
ment nothing, while Rattan would-and did-cost a great deal. 1 

There was probably truth in all this; for in spite of fortincations 
and a garrison of American soldiers, a ship of war generally 
stationed there, the influence of one of the chief logwood mag­
nates, the liberal grants of land which Trelawny allowed him 
to make, the elaborate proclamation offering a free port, lands 
free from quit-rents for twenty years, a year's subsistence for 
every immigrant and his slaves-· in spite of all this, the colony 
did not prosper. 2 After an auspicious beginning, the illicit trade 
with the Spanish dominions was not developed. The soil of the 
island was bad. Few inhabitants were attracted to it. Perhaps, 
as Trelawny said, they were afraid the Government would 
restore it at a peace; this was no uncommon reason for the shy­
ness of settlers in new colonies. Trelawny lost most of his inter­
est in it; his greater anxiety for the safety of Jamaica caused 
him to neglect that of Rattan. 3 It served some of the purposes 
for which it was intended, for in I 7 4 7, when almost all the Bay­
men were driven out of their settlements byfear of the Spaniards, 
they came to Rattan; but as they were afraid to venture back 
into the Bay from thence, they might just as well have been any­
where else. 4 When Rattan was restored to Spain according to 
the treaty of 1748, nobody seems to have much regretted it 
except Hodgson and the orators of the Opposition who wanted 
an opportunity of declaiming against the peace. The Spaniards 
themselves, when they tried to settle the island, found it im­
possible to attract inhabitants. The two more important settle­
ments· of Belize and the Moskito shore were saved by the want of 
formal annexation from the necessity of formal restitution. 5 

§ v. Anson in the Pacific 
There was only one performance in America, during this 

war, that added anything remarkable to the history of the 
1 Gerrard's paper of Feb. 23, 1743, C.O. 137/5'7. 
2 Armstrong to Wentworth, Oct. 16, 1742, C.O. 137 /57; Order in Council, Feb. 

2, 1743/4, C.O.323/11, N. 58; A.P.C. Col. iii. 761-9. 
3 Trcdawny to Board of Trade, Dec. 19, 1743; C.O. 137/24 W. 64; Jamaica 

Council Minutes,July 20, 1747, C.O. 140/32. 
4 "frelawny to Newcastle, Aug. g, 1747, C.O. 137 /57. 
5 The English Goverrunent had some shadow of authority over Rattan in the 

nineteenth century; it was not formally ceded to the Republic of Honduras until 
1860 (Archives of British Honduras, ed. Burdon, iii. 52-231,passim). 
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navy; that was Anson's campaign in the Pacific. 1 Anson 
received a general commission to do what he could where he 
could, and to take and fortify, if possible, some port or island 
as a permanent base for refitting the English squadrons. Only 
one definite enterprise could be recommended to him which 
would have any bearing upon the general course of the war; 
he was to try to communicate overland with Vernon, when he 
arrived off the Isthmus of Panama, and to concert a joint attack 
npon Panama city. This was no doubt a fruit of Bladen's 
original suggestion, out of which the plan of Anson's expedition 
grew: it had been represented that a settlement at Darien could 
:not expect to maintain itself unless we held some posts on both 
sides of the isthmus-at Darien and Choco, or St. Mary's, or 
Panama itself. 2 For this purpose a strong naval force would be 
very useful. When, however, Anson at last approached Panama, 
he learnt that Vernon had already failed, so that no attempt at 
joint operations was ever made. 

Anson's was not the :first English force to penetrate the South 
Seas. Besides Sir John N arborough, who performed very little 
more than a voyage of exploration, there was a long list of 
privateering expeditions: Drake, Cavendish, the buccaneers 
who entered the Pacific over the Isthmus of Panama; Dampier, 
Woodes Rogers, and Shelvocke. Anson had, therefore, the light 
of some experience, some general principles were laid down; 
and his squadron, though a larger and more respectable force 
than its predecessors, only confirms their truth by its history. 

The voyage out was a long one, the preparations must be 
exceptional and could hardly be concealed; Anson's voyage, 
like those of Dampier and W oodes Rogers before ihim, was no 
secret. In fact, the news was half round the world before he 
started. The delay was the fault of the Government, which was 
preoccupied by larger undertakings and unstable in its resolu­
tions. It was indeed so long, that Anson had to get round Cape 
Horn in the very worst season of the year ( from which his 
historian Waher deduces all his misfortunes and disappoint­
ments, especially the separation and shattering of hisl:ffeet and 
the enfeeblement of his crews by scurvy). The Viceroy of Lima 

1 See above, p. 76, for the connexion of this voyage with the propos~d liberation. 
of Spanish America. . 

2 Tassell to Walpole, Sept. I I, 1739, Add. MSS. 32694, ff. 41-5; Anson's instruc­
tions, S.P. 42/88; Wager to Vernon, Aug. 6, 1740, Original Letters to an Honest 
Sailor, p. I 9. 
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had not only heat'd of his coming but had waited for him until 
he concluded the news could not be true, and accoFdingly 
revoked his precautions. If any secrecy could have been ob­
served in England, it would have been broken on the way; for 
a squadron on so immense a voyage must call at some place 
for refreshments before attempting Cape Horn, and the custom 
was to take them in at St. Catherine's island off Brazil. From 
this place, by the perfidy of the Portuguese Governors or the 
ordinary trading intercourse of the River Plate, the news could 
not fail to reach :Buenos Aires, whence it would be carried over­
land to Lima. Walter may have imagined that he was the first 
to point out this clanger; but Shelvocke, in his advice to com­
manders intending for the South Seas, had earnestly recom­
mended. them to avoid the coasts of Brazil, for this very reason. 1 

Walter, however, made a suggestion which had an important 
sequel; he asked whether we could not use the Falkland Islands 
as a stepping-stone to the Pacific ?2 This suggestion he pre­
sumably had from. Anson himself, under whose influence the 
Board of Admiralty projected in 1750 a voyage to explore them, 
which was countermanded out of delicacy for the Court of 
Spain. The scheme survived Anson, was executed after the 
Peace of Paris, and. produced the very acute Anglo-Spanish 
crisis of 1 770. 

Once in the Pacific, various questions arose. Where to go for 
wood and water? Where to cruise for the trade? What to do 
with the prizes? They nearly al a s answered themselves in 
the same way. For refre 
the two favourite plac 
Island; later · a , 1 was 
Gorgona: or t . As · enturers 
repeated themse ves, e pan1ar s, w provide 
against the obvious though quite the un-
expected, got the habit of w · · . A small 
squ.adron was sent at once t · e news of 
Anson's appro andl left it 
when he arrive . he islan was muc va ue y he English 
for the wi1d goats who ~ad mu ere. The Spaniards, 
therefore, resolved to extermina by importing a race of 
dogs, who, if they did not succeed in killing them, nevertheless 

1 Shcdvocb, A Voyage Round the World (n~print of .1928), p. ~30. 
2 Waiter, A Voyage Round the World (4th @d.), pp. 12~. 
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deprived the English of them by rendering the survivors so 
agile that nobody could take them. In other known resorts of 
privateers the Spaniards took pr;ecautions to the same effect. 

All the trade of the Pacific coast proceeded in an almost 
straight line north and south. The adventurers, therefore, need 
only stand in the track and take. They must not let anything 
that saw them escape them, or the alarm was raised. A general 
embargo would then be declared, and the game would be up. 
When their presence was known, as it must soon be, they might 
as well be hanged for a sheep as for a lamb, and attempt to 
seize one of the towns in which some treasure might happen to 
lie. The greatest possible dispatch and surprise were necessary, 
or whatever was valuable, including the Governor, would be 
removed into the mountains, even a :ransom would be denied, 
and bands of horsemen would appear on the heights behind the 
town, ready to fight. Anson could hardly have acted with mor,e 
secrecy and speed than he did at the taking of Payta, yet he got 
little enough for his pains. 

Suppose a great number of prizes or a rich plunder taken, it 
was often valueless. If it was money or provisions, very well. 
Never were portability and durability, those commonplace 
virtues of the precious metals, more highly appreciated than by 
captors in the South Seas; for they seldom had very much room 
in their own ships for what they took, and had an immense 
voyage over the Pacific before them, for which they must stow 
all the water and provisions they could car.ry. They might 
indeed man some of their prizes; but that could not go very far, 
for their crews could not suffice for many, even if they had aH 
come round Cape Horn in perfect health, which was very un­
likely. One captain at least ( Clippe1ton) had suffer;ed for 
weakening his forces ·by dividing them among too many prize 
ships. Therefore, -unless the prizes contained provisions or goods 
of great value a:nd small bulk, they were nearly useless. The 
captors might ransom them, or seU them to the Spaniards on the 
coast; but though this might be very well for privateers, it was 
beneath the dignity of a gentlemanly commander like Anson. 
Moreover the Spaniards often beguiled the ccaptoris in such 
bargains with a view to overcoming them by a surprise atttaek, 
or bullied them over the price, knowing they could not take the 
stuff away and could make nothing of it if they did not sell. 

These expeditions to the Pacific always ended whh an 
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attempt upon the Manila ga1Ieon off the coast of California. 
Tlis was reported to carry the richest single cargo in the world, 
and was, therefore, a magnet · . ers. It con the 
silveF from Acapulco in Mexico a, and retu 
with East India and China goods. oute an 
aniival and departure were fairly r and as i 
such a distance, the . r · - . M 
hardly be forewarned : . er. im-
possible, however, for the no o ynow of 
it; and if there was any rumour o · the coast, the 
sailing @f the outward galleon from exico was common! 
put off, as Anson :found to his cost. The outward galleo 
ing only money could disengage her lowest tier of guns; the 
returning galleon could not, for she was nearly alw 
loaded with bulkier goods. For all these reasons, it was genera y 
the ship from Manila that was taken, not the galleon with the 
Mexican silver. Anson missed the first, and the second was not 
allowed to start while he was in the waters of Mexico. His 
originality, and the source of his ijTeat fortune, consisted in 
returning from Canton, where he went to refit, and taking the 
galleon which had sailed at last from Mexico, as it approached. 
the Philippines. -

After the attempt on the galleon, there was a long and dan­
gerous voyage to be undertaken across the Pacific. The pro­
visions and water were likely to give out, especially as the 
opportunities for procuring them on the Californian coast were 
not very good. The first islands in the route were Spanish; and 
to those that went farther, the · eal '. · . · 
cold comfort. Never was anybo 
than ·Anson, in this part of his voyage. . n ies e 
way was easy and frequented; but a ever long, 
had to end in a new danger at them Channel. Anson 
in fact found his way pr@ · ' 
which might very well have put an 
sight of home, as the Fr · uth Se . ouzs- rasme an 
Marquise d' Antin, after r Cape ice, were taken 
in fight off the AzoFes. 1 

1 Forth@ so New Voyage 
Round the Worl . , Navigantium 
atque Itinerantium 13ibliotheca ( I · ing Voyage Round the 
World ( I: i I 2) · · - Voyage to. the South Sea ion, I 71 7) ; accounts 
of B@tagh's a ton's voyag@s in Harris; , A Voyage Round the 
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§ vi. The Interception of Spanish Trade 

So much for expeditions. They were not the whole war. 
Some people, like Vernon, thought it could very well be fought 
without them, and that Spain would be most effectively :re­
duced to terms by the destruction of her trade and shipping. 
At first sight this doctrine was absurd, for Spain had not a 
large merchant marine, and England stood to lose a great deal 
more, absolutely if not relatively, by a war of trade destruction. 
That indeed was one of the chief arguments of Walpole and his 
supporters against entering into one; but the Opposition turned 
it into a reason for directing aU our efforts to the conquest of 
the West Indies. 1 

But if the whole maritime commerce of Spain in Spanish 
ships was small, some parts of it were v€ry rich and very 
necessary. These were the jlotas and galleons, the azogues and 
Register-ships, the Manila Galleon and the Armadilla of the 
South Sea. It had been a commonplace since Queen Eliza­
beth's reign that the way to fight Spain was to intercept the 
galleons; and considering the many times it was attempted and 
the few times it succeeded, the legend may be said to have 
lived a hard life and died a hard death. Piet Hein had taken a 
treasure-fleet in Matanzas Bay in I 628; Blake had taken some 
of the galleons and burnt thejlota; the allied expedition to Vigo 
in I 702 had surprised them after their arrival in Spain; and 
Wager and Littleton had caught and destroyed some of them 
in I 708 and I 7 I I. These successes were just enough to keep 
up hope; the more so as the value of the prize was so great in 

World (1726); R. Walter, A Voyage Round the World (1748). See also the chapter on 
Anson's Voyage in Sir Herbert Richmond's history. 

1 Part. Hist. x. 1193 (Hervey), xii. 253 (Talbot); Britain's Mi-stakes in the Com­
mencement and Conduct of the Present War (London, 1740), p. 46. ] do not know of any 
reliable statistics which show how far this expectation was fulfilled. Those of the 
Gentleman's Magazine, which give a comparison of English and Spanish losses down 
to Jan. 1, 1742, are very vague. They give 332 English losses against 231 ships 
taken by the Spaniards; bl,lt the valuation, by which they make the two figurns 
almost balance each other, is obvio\,lsly arbitrary; besid@s, like almost all English 
statistics on this point, they include neutral ships on the profit side. It appears 
fairly certain that Spanish trade was, on the whole, a lean prny, in spite of one or 
two extraordinarily rich captur@s, and that our gains did not balance our losses 
before the last years of the French war (vol. xi, pp. 689-98}. Two interesting 
pamphlets were written on this subject: Hireling Artifice Detected (London, 1742) is 
hostile to the Ministry, and therefore makes the most of the loss€ls and the least of the 
gains; it is controverted by The Profit and Loss of Great Britain and Spain .•. impartially 
Stated (London, I 7 42) • 
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proportion to that of any other Spanish shipping that could 
be attacked. 1 

The last galleons had gone in I 73 7, and were still in Carta­
gena. A flota was to have sailed in I 739, but when the war 
broke out the voyage was cancelled. At that moment it hap­
pened that some azogues were at sea in their return to Spain, and 
the eyes of all England-all Europe, indeed-were fixed upon 
them. Haddock lay in wait for them off Cadiz; Vernon was 
ordered to halt in his voyage to Jamaica and cruise for them; 
but all preparations were vain, for instead of making for Cadiz 
or Galicia, they appeared unexpectedly at Santander in the 
Bay of Biscay. 

After this, one of Vernon's chief objects was to deal with the 
galleons already at Cartagena. The treasure was still on the way 
from Lima, and the great fair of Portobello had not yet been 
held. The first thing Vernon did, after he arrived on his station, 
was to take Portobello and pull down the fortifications; and to 
make sure of his purpose, he destroyed, a few months later, the 
castle of Chagre, where the overland route for bulky goods 
from Panama came down to the sea. By doing so, he adjourned 
the fair sine die, or caused it to be held with great inconvenience 
elsewhere, for the galleons could never have ventured into an 
undefended harbour. Indeed they would probably not have 
dared, even if Vernon had left Portobello untouched, so long 
as he remained in superior force at Jamaica; for Portobello was 
well known to be much less defensible than Cartagena ( and this 
was one of the reasons why the galleons never stayed longer 
there than they could help). Perhaps, therefore, Vernon's 
action did not make so much difference as he expected; more­
over Portobello was not the only place where the fair could be 
held. All the trade of Santa Fe and Quito was usual~y done at 
the 'little fair' of Cartagena. The route from Cartagena to 
the :Pacific was not easy, because of the Andes beyond Quito, 
but it was just practicable, as the :precautions show which the 
Spanish Government had lately taken, in the interest of the 
regular fair of Portobello, to prevent it from being used.2 In 

1 The Danes, of aU people, thought of seizing the.flota without any declaration of 
war, in order to revenge themselves upon Spain for some injuries and unpaid debts. 
Th€ Court of Francrn was V€ry angry with th.em for this silly notion (Rouille to Ogier, 
July 21, 1755, A.E. Danemark, 129; Ogier to Rol!liUe,July 22 and Aug. 12, ibid.). 

2 Jaan and Ulloa, Relacion Hist6rica del Viage d la .America Meridional (Madrid, 
1768), i. rn2,..10. 
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fact the galleons, which could do nothing at Portohello after 
Vernon had dismantled the forts, did hold a sort of a fair at 
Monpox, near Cartagena. 1 However, the trade had been 
fatally disorganized. The cargoes had to be sold on long credit, 
the assortments had been broken up and could not be replaced 
from Europe. Thus the seizure of Po:rtobello and the long deten­
tion at Cartagena made a fine harvest for the illicit trade of 
Jamaica and Cura<;ao. · 

There was nothing more that Vernon could do against the 
galleons, unless he could destroy them in port or take them 
in their voyage. The first of these he tried to do at Cartagena 
by the useless bombardment of 1740, which his enemies de­
scribed as 'using guineas to break windows'; next year he tried 
to effect the purpose by conquering the town. Neither he nor his 
successors could prevent the homeward fleet from collecting at 
Havana and returning to Spain with Torres i:n 1744;2 but that 
was the only time, in the nine years' war, that a regular treasure 
fleet returned to Spain from the West Indies. 3 Reggio was pre­
paring for a second attempt in 1748 when he met Knowles 
between Vera Cruz and Havana, fought an indecisive battle, 
and escaped into Havana; he did not come home, therefore, 
till after the peace was declared. 

The interruption of the Spanish trade in general continued 
throughout the war to be a very important part of the navy's 
business, especially in the West Indies. Some very rich prizes 
were taken. The effect of these losses and delays upon the 
Spanish Government was not so great as it was expected to be; 

1 Vernon to Eslava, Oct. 13, 1741, S.P. 42/90, f. 396; Eslava to Larnage, Sept. 
13, 1741, A.N. Colonies C9 A. 55; Larnage to Maurepas, Oct. 13, ibid. 

2 Ogle seems to have made no attempt to intercept Torres, although he had 
kept back at Jamaica some almost unseaworthy ships in order to make himself 
equal to it. The reason for this may have been his natural lethargy, or the be­
wildering reports of his cruisers as to Torres's motions (but he seems to have got 
news before May 8 that Torres meant to sail home at the end of the month, which 
might have been almost time enough to try to find him, especially as he had a great 
part of his force together ready for an emergency). Or the real reasom may have 
been that he was expecting a declaration of war against France aRd watching the 
motions of the French at St. Domingue. All he did was to send home an express to 
the Lords of the Admiralty, in order that they might, if they pleased, order the 
interception of the Spanish fleet in European waters; he had in fact already pre­
paF€d them for the possibiliity of its departure ( Ogle to Corbett, April 2 1 and May 
8, 1744, Adm. 1 /233). 

3 One Fournier complained in February 1747 that the owners of some French 
cargoes whic.h had been sent out in 1 730 and I 735 had not yet got their effects 
returned (A.E. Mem. et Doc. France, 2007, f. I 24). 
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but they made a great difference to the regular lawful trade 
of the Spanish Empire. Only one treasure-fleet came back to 
Spain, and no galleons or flotas set out during the war. The 
form of the trade was entirely altered; instead of fleets, single 
'Register-ships' sailed by special permission. The system was 
not entirely new, for it had long been used in the trade of minor 
or distant markets, such as Buenos Aires, Havana, and Cam­
peachy, which could not conveniently supply themselves from 
the galleons and flotas. The 'register' was a list of the cargo, 
outwards and inwards, upon which duties or indultos were 
charged. All unregistered goods were subject to confiscation. 
Needless to say, there was a great deal of them, for the tempta­
tion to avoid the duties was very strong. In this respect the 
Register-ships did not differ from the galleons and flotas; what 
was new in the War of I 739 was permitting them to sail to the 
ports usNally served by the galleons and .ftotas, and the greater 
latitude allowed them in choosing the port of their return. The 
Spanish Government drew the line, however, at Spanish ports; 
a Register-ship which returned, for example, to France on the 
pretext of necessity (but for the real reason that unregistered 
goods and moneys could more conveniently be unloaded there), 
got its owners, and especially those of the registered goods, 
into infinite trouble.1 Another novelty-though it had pre­
cedents-was granting some permissions for Register-ships to 
foreigners, especially to Frenchmen. 2 Even Englishmen seem to 
have received them. Indeed, if they could settle matters with 
their own Court and their own privateers, they were more 
eligible candidates for such a favour than anybody else could 
be. That was not so easy. Messrs. Linwood and Clarmont peti­
tioned the English Government for a pass for such a Register­
ship, but although they pleaded the advantageous market for 
English manufactures, their proposal was rejected. However 
they might belittle them, the advantages which the Court of 
Spain was to receive by duties and the safe transport of its 
treasure would have been very great. It would indeed have 

1 A.E. M€m. et Doc. Espagne, 80, ff. 105 et s@qq. 
2 Many of the R@gister-ships were French, and other vessels were sent out from 

France straight to the Spanish domiruons, without any warramt from the Court of 
Spain. La Rochelle had fourteen ships out on the coasts of Spain in r 743, and the 
safoty 0£ these investments gave the Chambe,r of Commerc€ much anxiety; it tried 
in vain to persuade Maurepas to take measures for protecting this tradg (E. Gar­
nault, Le Commerce rochelais au XVIIJe siecle, vol. iii (Paris, 1891), pp. jg-82). 
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been a complete stultification of the war to break our own 
blockade in this way, and even Newcastle hardly wavered.1 

These ref arms of the galleon system were not unlike those 
which the French had desired in the War of the Spanish Suc­
cession. Neither the French nor other licensees of Register­
ships had cause to be wholly satisfied with the new regulations. 
The Spanish Minister Campillo revenged himself for the smug­
gling of the English in America, which he could no longer 
prevent, by throwing every possible difficulty in the way of 
the French smuggling in Spain, which he could still in some 
measure control. In fact, the critics of his policy complained 
that his increased precautions against abuses by Spaniards or 
neutrals played into the hands of the English.2 Registers were 
only granted at a great price, jeaiously, and for small quanti­
ties of money. In order to detect the unregistered, seals were 
broken, private correspondence read, and decrees of confisca­
tion founded upon the evidence so obtained. These terrors fell 
equally upon the innocent and the guilty; for as the goods had 
still to be shipped in the name of a Spaniard, and the same 
Spaniard acted this part for a great number of foreigne~s, any­
thing unlawful done by any of their correspondents, with which 
he was found to be connected, forfeited the goods of all his 
clients. 3 

Besides these official vexations, the trade was disorganized by 
the unusual method into which.it was now thrown. The buyers 
of America, accustomed to ~eckon with galleons of more or less 
regular period and calculable value, could never tell in advance 
how many Register-ships would be granted or for what ports; 
so for fear of being undersold, or in hopes of a better bargain 
from later comers, they bought from hand to mouth. The 
'strong purses' were shut, and the prices, after exceptional 
fluctuations, fell below the usual level. At the same time the 
exports from Spain to the West Indies were smal1er than they 
would have been for the same period in the normal regime of 

! galleons and .flotas. For as the great middlemen discontinued 
or reduced their operations, their customers might as well buy 
from the English and Dutch smugglers. The first Register-

1 A.E. Mem. et Doc. Espagae, 80, f. 66; A.P.C. Col. Hi. 770,-2; Newcastle to 
Hardwicke, Oct. 6, 1743, Add. MSS. 35407, f. 28il; Har.dwicke to Newcastle, Oct. 
7, 1743, Add. MSS. 32701, f. 151. 

2 A.E. Mem. et Doc. Espagne, 82, ff. 44, 65-6. 
3 Ibid., vol. 80, ff. 105, 109; vol. 82, ff. 38 et seqq. 
~u I 
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ships of the war made good profits becaus€ they came after a 
long suspension of trade; but those which frequented the Terra­
Firma provinces J:1ot1nd Cartagena were hardly able to sell 
their cargoes at all; and to mak€ the matter worse, the mer­
chants of Peru ordered back their treasures from Panama in the 
hope that Register-ships would come clirecdy int 
to deal with them.I Besides, the Register-ships were o en a en, 
even though their- tracks were more scattered and less · 
able than those of the galleons and flotas. The aut 
memoire in the French Foreign Office calculated that ou o I I 

Register-ships which sailed from Cadiz between May 20, I 740, 
and June 27, 1745, 69 had been lost. 2 

These aherations had p results, for though the 
Mexican flotas were restored after the peace, the Fortobello 
galleons never were. The economist Ulloa had · 
whether the trade-fleets ought to be kept up after the war, and 
decided for it. He believed that single · · s would 
overstock the markets. However, he r certain 
reforms, such as a larger tonnage, _ reater re ~ ularit of sailing, 
and direct voyages to the Pacifi stablish-
ment of permanent wareho o su lement 
the annual fairs. The smugglers would have be · 
and the prices kept steady by these means. @s @ oa s 
advice was disregarded, and the effect of the chan 
siderable. It - · · · · · · · · gllng-, 
the Isthmus o anama, or . e . ac1 · c colonies 
supplied by the ships w · Cape orn. e 

ndant at St. D · · in I 733 that the 
as almost . ea , · · ery-

thing as cheap in the Spanish . He 
wished for the galleons again; what better testimony to the 
Register;;;/ships could there be ?3 

§ vii. The Protection of Trade with the Spanish Enemy 

At the · that navy interrupted the law-
ful trade e Spain an ~' er colonies, the Government 

i t ,ff. 115,180 . . 
2 t . 
3 Ul ., Machault, April 1 I, 1155, A.N. 

CGl. C9 A. '1)1• €€ , _ clawmy, in his 'State' of Jamaica, 
175,2, c.o. 137/25, X IOI. 
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ordered it to defend the English smugglers. This was nothing 
new. The interlopers had been countenanced and protected in 
the War of the Spanish Succession, and the pretence that rthe 
Spanish colonies favoured or might be induced to favour the 
English candidate for the crown, was so thin that nobody can 
have thought of it as the rea[ reason for this intercourse. The 
allies had made a self-denying ordinance against trade with 
the enemy; the Dutch were the first to break it, and the 
English in America could not long be restrained :from following 
their example. The Governors of colonies were ordered to 
encourage the trade, except in provisions and contraband 
stores, and to restrain the privateers from interrupting it. The 
traders of Jamaica were convoyed to the Spanish coast and 
protected there, and the Board of Trade condescended to 
inform the London me:rchants whether English goods were 
wanted there according to its last advices. Finally, in 1707 
Parliament passed an Act which forbade any molestation of the 
Spaniards in the important region of the isthmus, between Rio 
de la Hacha and Chagre. The Government approved of Gil­
ligan' s attempt to settle a slave-trade between Barbados and 
the Spanish colonies, and only drew the line at breaking the 
Navigation Acts by aBowing Spaaish ships to import goods into 
the English colonies. JJ 

Vernon had been employed on the West India station in that 
war, and its precedents were not lost on him, as he showed by 
his first measures in 1739. 'I have a particular pleasure', he 
wrote to Newcastle, 'in the pleasing hopes of a revival of a trade 
so beneficial to his Majesty's subjects, that I have formerly seen 
flourishing here in great prosperity.'2 One of his strong,est 
reasons, though not the most ostensible, for dem@lishing the 
forts at PortobeMo and Chagre, was the help such a measure 
would give to the interlopers. They could only gain by the 
destruction of the strong places within which their enemies 
the Guarda-Costas we1e used to retreat. If those places should 
become open roads, at the command of any English ship of 
war, the trade of a Guarda-Costawould be a .difficultone1to follow. 
The neutral smugglers benefited from this liberation of their 

1 C.S.P. Col. z702-3, nos. 472, 487 (i), rn59, 1208 (i), 1243; z704.-.e6, nos. 50, 116 
(i), 285 (iii), 739, 871, 894, 994 (i); z70~8, nos. 350, 503, 593, rn'73, I rn8, 1250, 
1477; 1708-9, nos. 100, I 11, !HQ, 226 (i), 445, &c. See also C.S.P. Col. I7lfr-2@, nos. 
247, 341 (i), 575. 

2 Vernon to Newcastle,Jan. 18, 1739/40, S.P. 42f85, f. rnB. 
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trade as much as the English. This unexpected result annoyed 
the jealous English pamphleteers. Still, the Dutch were some 
sort of allies to us though they took the halfpence and left us the 
kicks; and their smugglers helped to make the Galleon Fair not 
only impossible but pointless, and lessened the returns to Spain. 1 

It is significant that Knowles obtained help from the Dutch 
smuggling island of Curac;ao for an expedition which should 
serve Porto Cabello as Vernon had served Portobello. The 
Dutch even imitated Vernon's example unofficially on their own 
account; the Spanish Ambassador had to complain at The 
Hague that a small force of small craft from Cura~ao had de ... 
stroyed the fortifications at Tucacas. 2 

The same desire to encourage trade evidently explains 
Vernon's surprising moderation at Portobello, where he spared 
the town and all it contained in order to make a good impres­
sion on the Spaniards. He published a proclamation offering 
them protection, and invited them to a free trade with all His 
Majesty's subjects. 3 

The Secretary of State, the Admiralty, the Opposition, and 
the merchants all applauded his prudence. At the request of the 
traders to Jamaica, the Government drafted a circular letter 
which ordered the colonial Governors to protect and favour 
the trade with Spanish America. Queen Anne's ministry had 
actually given such orders, but in 1739 the letter was not sent 
after all. 4 However, the Act of Parliament against trading with 
Spain during the war applied only to Spain in Europe, which 

1 Vernon to Newcastl@, April 21, 1740, S.P. 42/85, f. 195; Pultcmey to Vernon, 
Aug. I 7, 174:0, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor, p. 25; Hireling Artifice Detected, p. 47; 
Ogle to Newcastle, Aug. 19, 1744, S.P. 42/89, f. 146. 

2 Journal of the Expedition to La Guira and Porto Cavallos (London, 1 7 44), p. 2 g; 
St. Gil to the States-General, Dec. 28, 1741, S.P. 84/396, f. g. 

3 Vernon to Burchett, May 26=31, 1740, Adm. 1/232. Th€ value of Vernon's 
s@lf-sacrifice is unc@rtain. Mis enemies made the least of it by hinting that there was 
nothing worth taking, but th@ Governor of Panama, who ought to know, remark€d 
with astonishment in an intercepted letter that Vernon gave up 100,000 pieces of 
eight, of whieh his own share would have been an eighth (Martin@z de la Vega to 
Philip V, F@b. 12, 1140, S.F. 43/90). Of course V€rnon seized the King's treasure 
which he found in the fortress. A eertain Colonel Burrard tried to aceount for 
Vernon's obstruction of the Panama expedit~on in 1142, by attributing it to par­
tiality for the people of Portooello who had paid him W€ll for it. This is ignorant 
and vindictive military tittle-tattle, and deserves no more credit than what 
Vernon's admirers said ofWcmtworth. Vernon was not that kind of knav€ (Add. 
MS.S. 34097, f. (!)7; see also Silhouette to Amelot, March 28, 1740, A.E. Anglet@rre, 
407, :f. 231). 

4 C.O. 5/5; Cabin€t Minute, Nov. 12, 1739, Add. MSS. 33004, f. 23. 
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wa~ as plain a hint as could be given without words, that 
intercourse with the Spanish colonies would be aUowed. 1 The 
Government ordered Vernon to do all he could to protect and 
convoy it. The Act :for encouraging privateers contained. a 
clause which safeguarded the right of His Majesty's subjects 
to carry it on. The Opposition leadel'.s and pamphleteers 
expatiated with pleasure on the useful trade which Vernon 
had opened with the Spanish settlements. Wager was loud in 
denouncing an English privatee:r who violated, a few months 
later, this neutrality of PortobeUo. 2 Merchants congratulated 
each other on the new markets for negroes and! manufactuFes, 
and the orders that came into London for supplying them. 3 

Indeed, it would not be too much to say that in the eyes of some 
people, the increase of our trade with the Spanish colonies was 
in itsdf a sufficient justification and moth~e of the wa'.F with 
Spain.4 

Only the Spaniards and their friends deplored the success 
of these measures; not me11dy because it spoih the market for 
the Cadiz trade, in which they were interested, but also because 
they believed that England, fortified by this new source of in­
come against the severest taxation, would be able to continue the 
war for ever. Besides, it would accustom the merchants of the 
Spanish colonies to dealing with the English smugglers, and 
the habit might prove to be a permanent one when the war was 
over. English writers preferred to s.tate the matte:r another way: 
we suffered great injury by our exclusion from tlle markets of old 
Spain, and it was only right that we should :recover our losses in 
those of the new. 5 

In this war, as in the last, convoys were granted to the 
traders, even to the prejudice of services more important iacti-

1 Byng to Eoard ofTFade, Sept. 20, 1140, C.O. 28/25, AA 98. 
2 Wager to Vernon, June 10 and july 9, 1740, Original Letters to an Honest Sai[Qr, 

pp. 13 and 16. The people of Jamaica wanted Treiawny to put into the privatecus' 
instructions a special clause forbidding th@m to molest anyl:><J>dy in Portobello, lr>ut 
Treiawny was not sure ifhe had the power to do it (Manning to Wager, March, 25, 
1740,C.O. 137/56,f.331). -

3 Henry 1Las€e1les and son to Richard Morecroft, March 28, 1740, W. & G. i; 
'Paper procured by Mr. Stone's fri@nd',July 3/14, 1:740, S.P. 43f92. 

4 Considerations on the War (l.ondon, 1742), p. 34; The Present Ruinous Land-War 
Proved to be a H---r War (London, 1745J, p. 24. 

5 Harris, Navigantium atque ltinerantium Bibliotheca, i. 254; Van M0ey to States­
General, Sept. 20, 1740, copy in A.E. Mollande, 436, f. 2~t>; Silhouette to Am~lot, 
Nov. 26, 1739, A.E. Angleterre, 405, ff. 28g=90; Larnage to Maiu,repas, S@pt. 1, 

1740, A.N. Col. C9 A. 52. 
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cally. 1 Vernon was by no means indiscriminate in allowing all 
kinds of goods to be exported to the enemy; he exacted from 
the merchants an undertaking to load no contraband on their 
ships. 2 This given, he was ready to have them convoyed to the 
Bastimientos near Cartagena or the South Keys of Cuba. At 
the Bastimientos or at Baru, the ship of war lay at anchor, 
while the traders went off, or sent their boats, to neighbouring 
bays. Ker commander had an opportunity, which he sometimes 
exercised, of taking into custody any ship which he suspected of 
carrying contraband. He seems to have accorded an equal pro­
tection to privateers and traders so long as they did not molest 
each other. Sometimes they even played into each others' 
hands, for the privateer would bring in prisoners whom the 
traders or the men-of-war could send with a flag of truce to the 
neighbouring Spanish towns, and create thereby a further 
opportunity for communication and trade. In the absence of 
a man-of-war, the traders were apparently protected by a 
fascine battery on shore. They sometimes made expeditions 
of their own against the Spanish forces gathering for the pur­
pose of interrupting their business.3 At the South Keys the 
warship had to stand a long way off the land; the traders or 
their boats went inshore every day to trade, and came out under 
her guns every evening. Sometimes she would send her boats 
with them, heavily manned and armed, to protect their trade. 
Whether this was a precaution against the Spanish officials or 
the mules who were an important item in this commerce, does 
not very clearly appear. _The men-of-war would sometimes 
hunt out the galleys or xebecs which guarded this coast against 
illicit trade, and. burn them or drive them into the swamps so 
far that the bushes hid them.4 

1 Ogle @xcused himself for making no attack on the French colonies at th@ out­
break of war in 1744, by the dispersion of his fleet in convoys (Ogle to Corbett,June 
3, I 744, Adm. I /233). 

2 Vernon to Newc-astle,Jan. 18-31, 1739/40, S.P. 42/85, f. 107; Orders to May­
nard, Oct. 1, 1740, ibid.,f. 358. 

3 Then~ is an account of an expedition ofthis kind, fitted out in September 1142 
by two English vessels, fol!lr Dutch, and two French, against some Spanish piraguas 
preparing to surprise them (IDeposition of the second mate of the Fortune, de 
Kaudran, M.C.A. 42/28). 

4 Captains' Logs,H.M.S.Montague,Adm. 51/615; SeaHorse,Adm. 51/903; Fowey, 
Adm. 51 / 340; Enterpri;::,e, 5 I / 3 1 g; Biddeford, Adm. 5 I / II o. A corn parison of the 
trade of Jamaica and Barbados shows the importance of the convoys. The trade of 
Jamaica with the Spanish coloni@s increased during the war; that of Barbados 
declint~d, so that the slave-deal@rs had to look out for new markets. The difference 
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The convoys saved the traders great expenses in the manning 
and arming of their ships. The commanders-in-chief on the 
station charged a fee for these services-five per cent. was said 
to be the rule. It was contrary to orders and tradition to de­
mand convoy-money; hut the payment was masked under a 
more respectable charge for freight of the bullion which the 
men-of-war would, for greater safety, bring home to Jamaica 
for the traders. The Lords of the Admiralty thought this 
allowable, though five per cent. seemed, as they said, an extra­
ordinarily high rate of freight. It was not complained of in this 
war until the great quarrel between the merchant Edward 
Manning and Admiral Davers in 17 45, in which it appears that 
Manning was angry with Davers because he would only grant 
a general convoy, not a private one for Manning's sloops alone. 1 

The Spaniards were not the only enemies against whom the 
traders had to be protected. The old Jamaica antagonism 
between traders and privateers reappears in this war. Some of 
the privateers declared, what was probably true in law, that 
they had the right to take His Majesty's subjects found in trade 
with His Majesty's enemies. One John Ford put this detestable 
doctrine in practice by shadowing, and attempting to seize, a 
Jamaica ship trading at the South Keys. Christopher Edzery, 
or Edsbury, revived a still more injurious custom from the last 
war. He appeared off the South Keys, where he had beem 
known as a trader, and sent in to the merchants the list of an 
imaginary cargo; when they came out to deal with him, he 
seized them and the money they had brought with them. The 
trading interest of Jamaica exclaimed with virtuous horror to 
Vernon, who sent a special convoy under Captain Boscawen, to 
protect the trade against such spoil-sports, and to restore the 
shaken confidence of the Spaniards on the south side of Cuba. 2 

can only be explained by the lack of convoy from Barbados (Robinson to Newcastle, 
Nov. 27, 1742, C.O. 28/46). 

1 Deposition of Manning, Nov. 10, 1745, Adm. 1/233; Counter-address ofm~r­
chants to Davers, Nov. 23, 1745, ibid.; Lords of the Admiralty to N@wcastle, S@pt. 
29, 1746, S.P. 42/31, f. 245. Commodore Kerr had give:m great offence by demand­
ing money for convoying the traders of Jamaica in 1707 (H.M.C., H. of L. MSS., 
N.S., vii. gg-1 1 1 ; Lords Journals, xviii. 449-50. According to an anonymous 
memorial of 1724, a percentage of th@ value of cargoes was usually paid to the 
men-of-war captains for this purpose (C.O. 388/28 R 155). 

2 Petition of the Merchants to Trelawny, ?Sept. 1740, S.1?. 42/85, f. 355; Affi.­
davit of Richard Lee, f. 356; Boscawen to Vernon, Nov. 27, 1740, f. 420; Vern.on 
to Newcastle, Jan. 5, 1740/1, S.P. 42/90, f. 4. Perhaps the excesses of th@ English 
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This official ;protection from our own privateers was only en­
joyed by the ships in the Spanish trade; on the contrary, in the 
trade with the French West Indies it was sometimes the priva­
teers w:ho protected the contrabandists against the men-of-war. 1 

The trade was so well protected during the war, that it 
probably increased. This is not guite certain, because the ship­
ping registers of Jamaica hardly exist :for the 173o's; but the 
vessels returning from the Spanish West Indies were more, 
absolutely and in relation to the total shipping of Jamaica, 
during the years 1743-6 than in any period for which deductions 
can be drawn after the peace.2 Too much, however, must not 
be built upon these figures. In the first place, the smuggling 
trade of Jamaica was only one way of sending goods to the 
Spanish colonies during the peace; in war it was almost the 
only one, and might reasonably be expected to carry more 
goods. Besid~s, many of the ships returned to Jamaica in bal­
last or with unsold goods during the war. Ballast might be the 
sign of a good voyage, for when vessels brought home the 
returns in money ( which is never declared in these statistics), 
they had to come in ballast. Returned. goods, however, can 
only signify some kind of failure; but the statistics do n@t reveal 
the quantities, still less the cause, whether obstruction of the 
trade by Spanish officials OF merely overstocked markets. 
Nevertheless, it was generally agreed that the trade of J amaiea 
to the Spanish colonies flourished best in war, and there were 
many complaints of dull markets in Jamaica after the peace, 
which were attributed to th~ cessation of trade with the Spanish 
colonies.3 

The same statistics show a decline after I 743. In that year 

( 
i). -ssicm s@@ 
Part. Hist. x nos. 139,871. 

1 F@r afi 
2 

, ~ n@arly 
p ~~ 
t ~b q~ 
t 

' . ' 1ca, 1752, 
C. , Nov. 20, 

115 . . H.S. Col-
leoti , : . d ace . MSS. 38313, 
ff. 130-1, a o . 
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84 ships returned to Jamaica from the Spanish colonies, in 
I 7 44 there were 44, in I 7 45 there were 38, and 4 7 in I 7 46. Com­
plaints of loss and dullness of trade had already been made 
in I 742 ;1 they may have been caused by the number of Registe:r­
ships granted by the Court of Spain, or by the admittance into 
Spain of English goods in Dutch bottoms. 

However, there were great schemes on hand. Some ships with 
quicksilver and Papal Bulls bound for Vera Cruz had been 
carrie~ into Jamaica. If ever there was a cargo which the 
Spaniards would wish to ransom, it was quicksilver and Papal 
Bulls; without the former, the silver of Mexico could not be 
refined, and the latter were among the commonest necessaries 
of life all over Spanish America. A treaty was set on foot be­
tween Edward Manning and the Viceroy of Mexico, through 
the mediation of the French Governor's secretary at St. 
Domingue. 2 It came to nothing because the Viceroy would not 
admit English ships into Vera Cruz, and the Navigation Acts 
and Anglo-French Treaty of 1686 forbade not only Spanish 
but French ships from coming to Jamaica.3 

Later in I 7 44, one Pedro de Estrada appeared in Jamaica 
with a recommendation from Governor Tinker of the Bahamas, 
in order to buy and carry away the Spanish prize goods.4 It 
often happened that the ransom or repurchase of prize cargoes 
served as a pretext or introduction to a more extensive trade 
between enemies. Ji t was so in this instance. The Bulls and 
quicksilver seem to have been an unprofitable venture, but next 
year Estrada was back again with a licence to the Governor of 
Havana to propose a trade for '2,000 Negroes, flour, rice, pulse, 
hams, sheet-lead, tin, pictures, linseed-oil, window-glasses, sail­
cloth, several sorts of merchandise, and other effects as house­
hold furniture, diamonds set, looking-glasses and other small 
things'. 5 Some of these articles, such as sail-cloth and cordage, 
both Trelawny and Davers thought improper to be exported; 
but for the rest, they were willing to let the scheme go forward. 

1 Gentleman's Magazine, xii. 218, 601. 
2 Edward Manning had been an agent of the South Sea Company, and had 

some of its effects in his hands at the outbreak of war-most of which he succeeded 
in detaining for ever. At first an enemy, then an ally and perhaps a partn@r, of 
Governor Trelawny, he was later a leader of the mercantile or Kingston party in 
the Assembly, of which he became Speaker. 

3 Larnage to Maurepas, March 11, 1744, A.N. Col. C9 A 64. 
4 Trelawny to Newcastle, Aug. 16, 1744, C.O. 137 /57. 
5 Paper enclosed by Trelawny to Newcastle, Nov. 15, I 745, C.O. 137 /57. 
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Trelawny seems to have doubted whether he did right to allow 
it, but in view of what had been practised throughout the 
war, his :nervousness is hardly comprehensible unless he was 
interested in Manning's scheme or it was one of unusual size. 
Though there might be a distinction between a loose, un­
authorized smuggling and a formal contract with a Viceroy, 
this was not the first instance of the latter kind. Trelawny con­
soled himself with the authority of Governor Tinker, and with 
the reflection that if we had not accepted this trade it would 
have fallen into the hands of the Dutch. The Council of Jamaica 
supported him; it expressed the opinion that the trade to the 
Spanish colonies was a beneficial one, especially because it 
promoted the exportation of prize goods. It desired that this 
trade might be put under some definite regulation in order that 
the merchants engaged in it might be emancipated from the 
caprices of the naval commanders-in-chie£ 1 

Estrada was the cause of one of those elaborate and noisy 
quarrels into which Governors and Admirals often got them­
selves in the West Indies. Davers seems to have repented of his 
consent, and to have set up his friends in the Assembly to make 
difficulties. They denounced Estrada as a spy, and accused 
him of causing the Jamaica shipping to be captured by report­
ing its movements to the Spaniards. No doubt he saw what he 
could; nobody who went about that kind of errand in the West 
Indies omitted doing so. He was embarrassed by his connexion 
with the Havana Company; it had introduced into the Carib­
bean the xebecs which preyed with such unexampled success 
upon the illicit traders in the South Keys. This was not the 
only way in which he injured the South Keys traders. They 
would probably be superseded (though some denied it) by an 
authorized trade to Havana; nobody will smuggle through the 
back door when the front door is open to him. Perhaps this is 
why the body of small merchants were on Davers's side against 
Manning in this dispute as in that of the convoys. The other 
aspects of the quarrel are unimportant. Very likely, as Estrada 
said, the clamour was raised by those merchants who had not 
succeeded in coming to terms with him, against the pernicious 
projects of those who had. Other sources of bitterness became 
mixed with the controversy; nothing definite can be extracted 

1 Trelawny to Newcastle, Nov. 15, 1745, C.O. 137/57; Jamaica Council 
Minutes, Nov. II, 1745, C.O. 14<:>/31. 
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from it, but I have the impression that on this issue, as on others, 
Davers supported the small traders against Trdawny who was 
in sympathy-his enemies said in partnership-with the big 
business firm of Manning and Ord. 1 

This venture seems to have come to no good in spite of the 
countenance with which it was started. Messrs. Lascelles and 
Maxwell, who did not think very well of the Havana Company 
or its credit, later advised a correspondent to have nothing to do 
with it. 

'We know, that people of Jamaica have had contracts with the 
same Company, to supply it with Negroes and a proportion of flour, 
that Messrs. Manning and Ord have introduced many negFoes into 
the Havannah, where we are informed, a huge balance is due to 
them, and although Manning has often gone there since the peace, 
he has not been able to recover payment.'2 

They referred later to another misadventure. 

'We remember an instance of the Governor of the Havannah 
executing a passport for the introduction of NegFoes who died soon 
after, and some people from that island under the sanction thereof, 
sent down a cargo of slaves in the last war to the Havannah, where 
they were actually seized and condemned under pretence of an 
illicit trade. The owners of the cargo it's true appealed from the 
sentence to the Court of Spain, and after many years' trouble and 
a vast expence, obtained a reversal of the sentence, and a:n. order 
for restitution from the Treasury, at the Havannah. of the money 
arising from the sale of the cargo. There was some restitution made 
of money, but it fell short one third of the original cost and cargo of 
the charges. We have heard of other instances of the kind, and we 
think that no people of common :prudence wo-uld ever be drawn into 
such a precarious trade however alluring the prospect may be made 
to them of great gain.'3 

Although the English Government protected and encouraged 
the trade with the Spanish colonies, it forbade all intercourse 
with Spain in Europe. Philip V decreed the exclusion of English 
manufactures from all the Spanish dominions, no matteF by 

1 Trelawny to Newcastle, Nov. 15, 1745, C.O. 137/57; Coundl Minutes of 
Jamaica, Nov. I I and Dec. 2, 1745, May 14, 1746, C.O. 140/31; Journals ef the 
Assembly of Jamaica, iv.21-37. 

2 Lascelles and Maxwell to Dominick Lyneh,Jan. 10, 1753, W. & G. vi. 
3 Same to Thomas Stevenson and Sons, May 6, 1758, W. & G. viii; see also 

Manning to Drake and Long, Feb. 21, 1753, S.P. 94/145; Estrada to Drake and 
Long, April 18, 1755, S.P. 94/148. 
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whom imported, and the English Parliament retaliated by an 
Act which contained some remarkable omissions; it only applied 
to Europe and only restrained imports. Even this limited pro­
hibition was not universally held to be wise. Some pamphleteers 
defended it as a necessary reprisal for that of Spain, and argued 
that it would hurt Spain more than ourselves; most of our im­
ports from Spain were luxuries, or they could be replaced from 
other countries, and if there was any article like dyestuffs which 
we must have from Spain, it should be excepted from the pro­
hibition. 1 The commerce between Englishmen and Spaniards 
in Europe was thought to be equally advantageous to both; 
indeed, some maintained that we were Spain's best customer, 
and took off most of her wine, oil, and fruit. The smuggling 
trade which was carried on in America was advantageous to us 
alone. Therefore we should do Spain as much injury as possible 
by cutting off the former, and developing the latter in spite of 
her. 2 The author of the Essay on the Causes of the Decline of the 
Foreign Trade withered these calculations with a breath of 
reason. He showed that by prohibiting the use of Spanish goods 
we were only giving other nations an unnecessary monopoly 
against ourselves. For example, the price of Gallipoli oil had 
almost doubled since the prohibition. 3 If Spain had taken the 
lead in this absurd policy, she only hurt herself and there was 
no reason for us to follow her. Why tax ourselves unnecessarily 
in order to hurt the Spaniards, just at the time when we needed 
all our resources for carryin~ on the war ?4 

In spite of these arguments the Act stood, though it was not 
entirely in force. Both imports and exports to Spain sank to less 
than a fifth of their ordinary volume, but they did not cease 
altogether. 5 Moreover the King of Spain succeeded. better in 
blocking our exports than the Parliament of England in re­
straining our imports. In I 7 40 and 1745 the latter exceeded 
the former-the only times that this happened for half a century. 
This appears to disprove the assumption that our trade was 
more necessary to Spain than hers was to us. It is not certain 

1 There w~s a special Act of Parliamtmt in I 708 for allowing cochineal to be 
imported from Spain (H.M.C., H. of L. MSS., N.S., viii. 557,562,592). 

2 The Advantages and Disadvantages which will attend the Prohibition of the Merchandizes 
of Spain, impartially examin' d (London, 1 7 40). 

3 . See th@ petitions in C.J., Feb. 2, 8, ancl g, 1742/3, xxiv. 401,410,413. 
4 In Lord Overstone's Select Tracts, pp. 263-5. 
5 S@e Sir Charles Whitworth's tabfos, State of the Trade of Great Britain ( 1776). 
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how much ought to he allowed fOir exp@rts through neutrals. The 
Dutch and the French were the most likely to do this business for 
us. In fact our exports to France were considerably higher than 
usual between the outbreak of the Spanish and French wars; 
those to Holland rose little before 1743. Although the Spanish 
Government at first forbade the impoFtation of English manu­
factures in any kind of ships, there are evidences that the 
neutrals, especially the French, broke this rule quite ecil;rly in the 
war. The Dutch shipping entered at Cadiz did not increase 
at all between 1738 and 1742, but the French almost doub1ed. 1 

In 1742 the Spanish Ambassador announced verbally at The 
Hague that his Court would admit English goods in Dutch 
bottoms. 2 From that time the Dutch may have carried more 
English goods to Spain. Before the end of the war the pro,.. 
hibition of English goods in. Spain was described as a dead 
letter. 3 However, it caused enough inconvenience to make the 
trading interest of England very anxious to remove it. Horace 
Walpole, who had introduced the Bill of I 739 for prohibiting 
the trade with Spain, moved in 1747 for its repeal; and though 
the proposal was not passed into law, the House of Commons 
Fequested the King to take off the prohibition as soon as Ferdi­
nand VI removed it on his side. 4 The King of Spain declined 
to remove it, perhaps believing that the English were now more 
desirous than his own subjects for a renewal of com~elicial 
relations, and that the suspension would put moire pressure on 

1 A.E. Mem. et Doc. Espagne, 82, f. 46. 
2 Trevor to Carteret, May 1, q42, S.P. 84/397, f. 38. 
3 A.E. Mem. et Doc. Espagne, 82, f. 16. 
~ Walpole to George 11,Jan. 19, 1746/7, in Coxe's Horatio Walpole (1802), p. 317; 

C.J., Feb. 24, 1746/7, xxv. 299. According to a note in the Gentleman's Magazine 
(xvii. 76), the reason for the repeal was the smuggling 0£ Spanish wines. The chief 
objection to it was the breaeh of the NavigatiG>n Acts which it must involve, by 
letting neutral ships carry on a tra:de which England did not allow in time of peace. 
It was hardly to be expected that Spain would let English ships enter her ports in 
time of war, even for the pl!lrpose of carrying ofF Spanish procdu.ce. Im fact we 
learn that she did not, from the intercepted letteF of Squillace to Moreno, Feb. i:w, 
1762 (Adm. 1/,4125, no . .57). Squillace announced that the King of Spain wmild 
grant the people of the Canaries the samefavol!lrs as in 1741 and 1743, namely the 
right to admit prnvisions ancl. othe,r necessaries of English manu:factuure im the ship­
ping and for the account of neu.tra!ls bl!lt not of English subjects. At the end (l)f 1140 
the Canary merchants of London tried to obtain from the Eng,ish and Spanish 
Courts permission to carry on this trade in English ships, but [ do not thiro.k they 
succeeded (Add. MSS. 32709, f. 2[5). 1'he New Englanders contim1ed, however, to 
import Teneriffe wines disguised i:n Madeira pipes (see the case of the Orotavo (jis• 
cussed by Weeden in his Economic and Social History of New England, p. 604). 
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England than on Spain.1 The trade was not reop@ned until 
the preliminary treaty had been signed. 

There was nearly an important exception in the last year of 
the war. Although there had been no great conquests or cam­
paigns on the West African coast, the French slave-trade had 
been almost completely destroyed. 2 Perhaps the Spaniards 
could have relied on the Dutch or Portuguese, but these must 
have been insufficient, for in I 74 7 the Ministers of Ferdinand VI 
allowed DonJ oseph Ruiz de Noriega to come to England in order 
to make a contract with the merchants for furnishing, 3,000 

slaves at Cartagena. The English Government seems to have 
permitted one George FFyer to deal with him. Fryer, having 
made his bargain, petitioned for English passports to cover his 
ships. The South Sea Company suddenly intervened, urging 
that to relieve the Spanish colonies' need of slaves was to 
relieve the Spanish Government's need of peace. It complained 
also that if the markets were overstocked with slaves during the 
war, the renewal of its Assiento at the peace would be valueless. 
Plainly the Company hoped to make enormous profits by sup­
plying the Spanish dominions with an article of which they had 
been more or less starved for nine years. It is not very clear 
what happened. Newcastle seems to have been impressed by 
the Company's arguments, and to have refused the passports. 
Fryer appears, however, to have begun to carry out the con­
tract so far as it lay in him to do so; and it was the Spanish 
officers at Cartagena who put an end to the business by ordering 
his negroes back to Jamaica. He failed to get satisfaction out of 
Noriega, who died insolvent, so he petitioned the King of 
Spain after the peace and got permission to introduce the 3,000 

negroes in his own name. 3 

The war of I 739 was unmistakably a war for trade. Its eff~ct 
was to protect and increase certain branches of illicit commerce 
with the Spanish dominions. It may only have done this at the 
expense of other branches; moreover it would perhaps be too 
much to say that this was the only object for which the war was 

1 Le Man to Huescar, Feb. 16, 1148, Add. MSS. 32811, f. 169. 
2 Gaston Martin, L'Ere des negriers (Paris, 1931), pp. 225----g. The figures given 

for Nantes, the ohief slave-trading port of France, are probably representative. 
3 Memorial of Noriega, Add. MSS. 32809, f. 55; Tabuerniga to Newcastle,July 

15, 1747, f. 53; South Sea Company to Newcastle, May 21, vol. 25561, f. 101; 
Fryer to Stone, Ma11ch 24, 1'74'7/8, vol. 32'714, f. 373; Bedford to Keene, April 10, 

1749, S.P. 94/135; Keene to Bedford, Oct. 13, 1749, S.F. 94/136. 
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begun. However, it was certainly one of the objects; amd the 
neutrals, who saw the result quite clearly, could hardly Joe 
expected, in that age of imperialist competition, to sit quiet and 
see the English merchants, supported by the English navy, run 
away with the most envied prize of America. 
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treated the shipping of Cura~ao in the same way as that of 
Jamaica, and its grievances were the same. The Guarda-Costas 
took Dutch vessels not only between Cura~ao and the Spanish 
coasts, but on the way home to Europe. Vandermeer, the 
representative of the States-General at Madrid, had the same 
complaints to make as Keene, and they made a practice of 
supporting each other. 1 

A dispute had arisen between Spain and the States-General 
at the same time as that of England and Spain which ended in 
the War of Jenkins' Ear. Keene intended that both these nego­
tiations should run the same course to th~ same result, and that 
Spain should be f arced to yield to the simultaneous pressure of 
the two nations, whose unanimous firmness might compel what 
neither could obtain alone. With that view he stiffened Vander­
meer's memorials, ~nd drew attention, in their joint interview 
with La Quadra, to the menaces which he had himself inserted. 
He hoped the States-General would enforce their requests and 
commit themselves to acting with England, by arming some 
ships of war. He was disappointed. La Quadra, though firm, 
was not outrageous, and the wrath of the Dutch petered out in 
indecision, as it so often did. 2 

Keene was displeased; a few months later he was furious, for 
he believed that the States-General were about to give away 
England's case as well as their own, by offering to forbitj. their 
subjects to trade with the Spanish West Indies.. He wrote on 
this subject a letter which is a remarkable example of national 
selfishness. 

'The Republic, by going such lengths barely for beginning a 
negotiation, would throw away and deprive itself of one of the best 
and most essential means of carrying on and concluding a negotia­
tion, that may have been successfully begun; and 2d1Y, by this 
previous step they would forestall and underseH, what His Majesty 
may possibly think proper to offer, according to the course and 
exigency of onr negotiation; it being ceFtain, that as F1:ance has 
made some tacite agreement on this head, and that if the States 
should be now so hastily coming into it, the Court of Spain would 
attempt to draw us into the same measures, merely out of the force 
of example, and not by an equivalent allowed us for a new pre­
caution we have never, as yet, formally taken in favour of the 

1 Newcastle to Keene, Sept. 26, 1737, S.P. 94/129. 
2 Keene to Newcastle, June 23 and 30, July 7, Aug. 18, Dec. 15, 1,38, S.P. 

94/ 131. 
4274 K 
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exclusive tomme:rce of Spain, and in terror of such of the King's 
subjects as should intrude upon it, in contravention to the treaties. 
I do not pretend, My Lord, to insinuate, that such measures may 
be agreeable to our constitutiem, or the present temper of our 
people. For let me suppose they an~ not, or ever will be so, yet it 
seems highly important to His Majesty's service, that the Dutch 
should not be so generous, at our expence, since no art will be able 
to convince these people of the sincerity of our intentions, if we do 
not consent to the same methods of prohibiting illicite commerce, 
that the popular Government of Holland would so hastily and 
roundly agree to. But if on the other hand, it should both be thought 
feasible and necessary ... in that case, it will be impossible for llS 

to get as much, or indeed any advantage from such a concession 
on our parts, as if we had the sole management of it, both as to the 
substance, the time, and the manner of making and agreeing to it.' 1 

In other words, the Dutch were to stand out when we stood 
out, and climb down when we climbed down. When we both 
stood out, they were to have at least half the danier and re­
proach; when we both climbed down, they were to have less than 
half the merit. That was the usual English conception of Anglo­
Dutch co-operation, and it is no wonder that the States-General 
were beginning to shrink from such a leonine partnership. 

Their controversy with Spain drifted gently to and fro with­
out much definite direction-all Dutch negotiations of the time 
had a natural tendency to do that; and when the war broke out 
between England. and Spain, the States-General were by no 
means implicated in it. Possibly there was a good reason why 
the question was a less pressing one for them. The Governors 
ofCura<;ao seem to have granted reprisals against the Spaniards; 
some of the smuggling vessels of that island went heavily armed, 
and in their encounters with the Guarda-Costas they gave as good 
as they got. 2 Perhaps this made the dispute harder to settle in 
the end, for it was complicated by counter-complaints of . 
counter-depredations; but it was a reason why the States­
General should be in no hurry to take the initiative of settling 
it, for their subjects could in some degree defend themselves. 

1 Ketme to Newcastle, March 16, 1739, S.'P. 94/133. The question is dealt with 
in an interesting letter from Trevor to Ke<me, of which there is a copy in the 
Waldegrave MSS. (April 9, N.s., 1739). Trevor thought the Dutch quite undet@r­
mined wh@ther to throw in their lot with us or to mak@ a better bargain for them­
selves; and if the latter, wh@ther Toy complaisant or vigorous measures . 
• 

2 See the Resolution of the States-General, Oct. 14, 1739, translated in S.P. 
84/382, fif. 50-8; Trevor to :Warrington, Nov. 6, 1739, ff. 16-7. 
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The situation of France was very different. There were, in­
deed, French colonies whose lawful navigation was exposed to 
the same dangers as the English. In particular, the French half 
of Hispaniola was very much in the same position as Jamaica. 
All its outward trade was forced to pass near the coasts of 
Spanish S. Domingo, and the shipping of the southern and 
western quarters might also :find it convenient to go home 
round Cuba and through the Gulf of Florida. 1 Some French­
men admitted the existence of this difficulty, and their Govern­
ment openly, though perfunc_torily, recognized it, in order to 
claim the merit of impartiality by insisting that France was 
no advocate of the right of search.2 The argument was even 
turned ingeniously against the English: France, it was said, 
being herself interested in the freedom of navigation, had a 
right to prevent the English smugglers from provoking the 
Guarda-Costas to a:n excessive severity; it was not fair that all 
trading and colonial powers should suffer for the abuses of one. 3 

The French colonies had also their smugglers to the Spanish 
West Indies. In the routine instructions to Governors and 
Intendants, the Minister of the Marine said that this trade was 
thought advantageous upon the whole, though it was liable to 
abuses. If it was properly carried on, it provided a market for 
rum and molasses, the by-products of sugar, which could not be 
used in France because they would compete with the brandy 
of the country; it might also be a means to dispose of some 
French manufactures. The return cargoes consisted of mules, 
which were indispensable to the production of sugar, and 
money, which alleviated the apparently incurable shortage of 
currency in the colonies. It was true that the colonists used the 
licences for this trade in very improper ways, by carrying sugar 
to the English and Dutch colonies and smuggling home slaves, 
but that could be prevented with care, and the trade was in 
itself worthy of encouragement. 4 

In spite, however, of this official benevolence, the trade did 
1 Most of the instances of this are in the French wars with England; they seem 

to be accounted for by the presence of English warships off Cape Nicola, rather 
than wind or weather. 

2 Fenelon to Amelot, Sept. 15, 1739·, A.E. M:ollande, 433; Silhou@tte to Amelot, 
Dec. 24, 1 739, A.E. Angletene, 405, ff. 360 et seqq.; A.E. Mem. et Doc. Angle­
terre, 9, f. 104. 

3 Conversation of Fleury, reported by Van Hoey to States-General, Sept. 10, 
1 740, copy in A.E. HoUande, 436. 

-4 Instructions to Ranche, .Intendant of ·the· Windward Islands, Jan. 22,. I 744, 
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not flourish like that of Curac;ao and Jamaica. It is difficult 
to see why. No French colony was so admirably situated fbr 
smuggling as Jamaica or even Curac;ao; but St. Louis, on the 
south side of French St. Domingue, ought to have been well 
enough placed, and Martinique was not too far to windward. 
There was no lack of merchants with capital and ability; for the 
commissionnaires of Martinique were at least as active and powerful 
as those of any English island except Jamaica. Martinique 
had plenty of seamen and shipping, and what trade was done 
between the French and Spanish colonies, mostly centred there. 
In St. Domingue the men and capital were probably all em­
ployed in the immense task of developing the plantations. 

Perhaps the comparative failure of the French in the smuggling 
trade is best accounted for by supposing that they were under­
sold by the Dutch and English; they seem to have preferred the 
Cadiz trade, which was all based on calculations for keeping up 
prices, to the freer competition of the speculative smugglers, 
who were often in clanger of overdoing their markets or suffer­
ing by the arrivals of galleons and jlotas. One or two French 
writers, drawing, as it would seem, a bow at a venture, suggested 
that the French traders demanded higher profits than the 
English, who would not only take less, but spared out of their 
gains enough to bribe the Spanish Governors more handsomely 
than theirriv~ls. 1 This was probablythewrongwayofputtingthe 
facts; it was not so much a love of excessive profit as the high 
overhead charges which hindered the French competitor. French 
shipping seems to have been less cheaply navigated than English, 
and if, as the French ambassador told Keene, it was heavier 
armed and manned in this trade, the difference in favour of 
the English must have been accentuated, especially as the English 
were sometimes saved by convoys from the counterbalancing 
risks of the Guarda-Costas. Perhaps the French traders and 
manufacturers at home had smalier resources than the English; 
but the returns through Cadiz were so slow that at least the same 
capital must have been necessary to procure the same profits 
as in the smuggling trade, and on a smaller volume of business. 

Whatever the reasons, the French traders and the French 

A.N. Coloni@s B. 78; to Conflans, Governor of St. Domingue,July 16, 1747, B 85; 
Machault to Vaudreuil and Laport@-Lalanne, Jan. 31, 1755, B H>I. 

1 .A.E. M@m.et Doc. Fran€e, 2009, 'Annotations', ff. 171 et seqq.; 'Memoire sur 
l' Amerique', A.E. Mem. et Doc. France, 2008, f. 82. 
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Government identified themselves with the trade of the galleons 
and flotas rather than that of the American colonies; their 
interest in the controversy with Spain was therefore not the 
same as that of England and Holland. They were certainly not 
eager to yield to the Spanish right of search; but they considered 
the prevention of the English and Dutch smuggling to be more 
important, and as they thought the entire abolition of the right 
of search would make that impossible, they must either find a 
middle way or give up the smaller interest for the greater. 1 The 
French ambassador at Madrid seldom complained of seizures 
in American waters-partly, as he said, because the French 
ships, like the Dutch, were better armed than ours and could 
look after themselves; partly because the French Government 
could easier afford to ignore complaints which would have 
made an intolerable noise in England. 2 His business consisted 
rather in getting grievances redressed in the Cadiz trade. 

The two unchanging objects of French commercial diplomacy 
were to have the indulto fixed and to get permission to export 
coin from Spain. One of the things that most oppressed the 
shippers on the galleons and flotas was the arbitrary indulto, a 
duty which was levied at whatever rate the King of Spain chose 
to name. Like most Spanish taxes which were not tied down 
by law or treaty, it showed a certain alacrity in rising. The 
more it rose, the more it added to the already insupportable 
burden which the Cadiz trader had to bear, and offered, in 
effect, a premium to the smugglers in America. 3 The King of 
Spain could not afford to see this; even at the beginning of the 
war with England, when he could not conceal his need of a 
French alliance, he said he would rather go without it than give 
up the privilege of raising the indulto upon an emergency.4 The 
other grievance-the prohibition of exporting bullion-was one 
which interested not only the nations engaged directly or 

1 As one anonymous memorialist puts it, 'we must take care not to sacrifice our 
own rights while sacrificing those of the English' (A.E. Mem. et Doc. Angleterre, 
9, f. 104) ; see also Silhouette to Ameiot, March 12 and 31, I 740, A.E. Angletene, 
407, ff. 187-8, 252. 

2 Keene to Newcastle, Dec. 13, 1737, S.P. 94/128; Vaulgrenant may have been 
speaking truth in his time, but during the wa,r his successor Vaureal mad~ several 
demands for restitution of ships seized in America. 

3 The Deputies of the French Conseil de Commerce said, in a memoire which 
shouW be dated, I think, about I 744, that the duties amounted to about 70 p~r 
cent. of the value of the goods (A.E. Mem. et Doc. France, 2009, f. 9·1). 

4 Baudrillart, Philippe Vet la Gour de France, iv. 538, 547. 
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the point, France could hardly be expected to stand by and see 
Spain the victim of a serious and successful attack by England; 
which might compel her to make undesirable concessions. 
There was also a slight and almost negligible danger that the 
Queen of Spain, disappointed in her expectation of help from 
France, would be glad to make peace with her open enemies 
at the expense of French commerce. This was hardly possible, 
and need not have been considered at all if she had not been 
notoriously vindictive and reckless when she was crossed, and 
rebounded already into one or two curious alliances. 1 

Lastly, there were influences which might drive Fleury into a 
war with England, quite apart from the merits or importance 
of the Spanish dispute. Maurepas, the Secretary for the Marine 
and Colonies, was a lifelong enemy of England.; and as he was 
almost the only French Minister who was credited with a will 
of his own not entirely subservient to Fleury's, his animosity 
was the more to be feared. 

§ ii. English Opinion orn the Prospect of French Intervention 

The question before Walpole and Newcastle was, therefore, 
whether France would support Spain outright or try to find a 
middle way between the English and Spanish pretensions; 
presumably a profitable one for herself and inclining to the 
advantage rather of Spain than of England. 
. Lord Waidegrave, our representative at the French Court, 

did not quite know what to make of Fleury's attitude. He knew 
from May 1738 that the Spanish ambassador, La Mina, was 
moving heaven and earth to bring about an alliance between 
the two Bourbon courts; but Fleury often protested that he was 
bound by no engagements to Spain and had given no assurances 
or encouragement to La Mina, whom he disliked exceedingly. 
Waldegrave was never quite sure whether he believed Fleury's 
word. He thought on the whole that France would maintain 
her neutrality as long as Fleury lived; but how long would that 
be? Fleury was a very old man, and subject to fainting-fits; 
nobody would have prophesied that he would keep his hold on 
life and power until the beginning of 1743. By August 1738 
Waldegrave had convinced himself that 'France will he against 
us, especially if the Card 1 dies, and his life grows worse and 

1 Cambis to Amelot, Sept. 14, 1739, A.E. Angleterre, 405, f. 148; Sillhow~tte to 
Amelot, Dec. 24, 1 739, f. 366. 
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worse every hour'. For some months longer, in spite of La 
Mina's triumphant boasting, Waldegrave, Keene, and their 
masters continued to pray for the Cardinal's health. Walde­
grave would not 'insinuate as if he tho~ght we were likely to 
receive any advantage from the real friendship of this Court 
towards us\ and 'should be sorry to try how far they might be 
pushed to the contrary', but hoped that so long as the Cardinal 
lived, we should see no experiments of that nature. But at the 
beginning of February 1739 there were rumours of a double 
marriage between the royal houses of France and Spain. 
Waldegrave had. to acknowledge that 'things were going into 
their old channel', that is to say, that the Bourbon alliance was 
being revived, and that 'tho' the Card 1 dos not love the Queen 
of Spain better than heretofore, the name of Bourbon makes 
him overlook all private grudges'. 1 

The English Ministers soon made up their minds to expect 
no good from Fleury. Their suspicions were justified., but not 
exactly as they conceived them; for though negotiations for a 
treaty of alliance were carried on between Spain and F:rance 
from the summer of 1738, and with some prospect of success, 
they do not seem t@ have had any direct influence on the course 
of the dispute with England.. So far from it, that the Court of 
Spain seems t@ have taken all its decisive steps towards war at 
moments when the hope of concluding the alliance at once 
were dimmest, and to have shown the greatest disposition to 
accommodate matters with England when her negotiation with 
France seemed most forward. The Convention of January 
1739, which might have led to a settlement of the controversy 
over the right ofseareh, was made at a time wh€n Fleury seemed 
likely to come to terms quickly; it was actually concealed from 
him in the hope that before it was known, the treaty of alliance 
between Spain and France might proceed to a conclusion. On 
the other hand, Vi1larias's serious words to Keene in April I 739, 
and his determination not to pay the £95,000, coincided with 
stoppages in the discussions between Spain and Franee. 

There were reasons for these syncopations in the rhythm of 
Spanish diplomacy. Elisabeth Farnese was bargaining twice 
as hard with her friends as with her enemies. She hoped to 

1 to Keene, May 13, June 6, July il, 14, 21, and 28, Al:lg. 11 and 
2.8; 13., Oct. 27, Nov. 28, N.s., 1738; Feb. 3,Jun@ 22 and 27, N.s., 1739, 
Wal -S. 
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carry the day by a mere appeal to the sentimental cant of kin­
ship which the rulers of the House of Bourbon employed when 
they wanted each other's help for nothing. She presumed, too, 
that when France saw Spain in difficulties, she must come to 
her help without being paid for it; with this view, she naturally 
hastened to get into the difficulties as soon as she could. Fleury 
seems to have acknowledged in his heart the force of this reason­
ing; he therefore tried to hold her back until he could make 
his market of her. He shrank from giving her carte blanche, 
knowing that her eyes were really set on Italy and that she 
could hardly obtain all she wanted without a general European 
war, which he was determined to avoid; and even against 
England she formed such designs as the recovery of Georgia, 
Gibraltar, and Minorca, for which he was unwilling to promise 
the help of France in a11 cases. Besides, he meant to be paid for 
the treaty of alliance by a treaty of commerce, and insisted on 
having them concluded to his satisfaction on the same day. 1 If 
there was to be a war between Spain and England, which 
would annul the commercial treaties between them, France 
would find an excellent occasion for transferring some of the 
English privileges to herself and obtaining other new ones with­
out having to let Spain impart them to her rivals. Fleury did 
not mean to lose this opportunity; Spain, however, intended to 
have the alliance at once and postpone the commercial con­
cessions to the Greek Kalends. Whenever she condescended to 
discuss them, she made so many difficulties as to justify her con­
tention that the alliance could not wait for their settlement. 2 

The English Ministers could not see all this; with a common­
place judgement of his character, they soon gave Fleury credit 
for too much villainy and determination, and too little com­
plication. Afte:r their eyes were opened to his dealings with 
Spain, they suspected him. of having engineered the crisis, when 
he had really done little more than profit by it. They did not 
understand that he could hardly be said to desire an English 
war, or even a Spanish alliance, as an end in itself. Besides, 
they only knew the more alarming facts, without any of the 
reassuring difficulties. It happened that most of the letters 

1 Instructions to La Marek, French ambassador in Spain, Sept. r 4, 1 738, Recueil 
des Instructions, Espagne, iii. 201-3. 

2 This summary of the relations between Spain and France is drawn from the 
admirable account given by Mgr Baudrillart, op. cit. iv. 453-562. 
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which they intercepted were those of the over-confident La 
Mina, all hopes and no doubts. 1 Even Keene, who might have 
judged better, supposed that the double marriage treaty would 
give France a hold over Spain (whereas Elisabeth Farnese meant 
it to give Spain a hold over France), and that Fleury would 
use that hold to stiffen Spain's resistance to England. In fact 
Fleury did nothing of the kind for the next few months. 2 

The news of the double marriage reached England in time 
for the debates on the Convention, and may have been one of 
the things which determined Newcastle to leave Haddock's 
force on the Spanish coasts after all. A little while later, New­
castle got hold of some papers which purported to be drafts of 
the new treaty of alliance. He jumped to the conclusion that 
thos€ treaties would very soon be signed, and that they explained 
the unusual obstinacy which La Quadra had lately shown, and 
his delay in paying the £95,000. 3 

England had therefore to make up her mind whether she 
would fight France as well as Spain, or yield to the combination. 
This choice had been discussed in public ever since the Spanish 
crisis had begun. Sir Robert Walpole and his supporters -in the 
Cabinet had made no secret of their opinion that the strongest 
reason against precipitate measures with Spain was the un­
favourable situation of England in European diplomacy. Some 
powers were likely to intervene against us, and none could cer­
tainly be expected to support us. This was a delicate and dis­
agreeable argument for Walpole to urge, for the lack of allies 
was attributed to his own and his brother's policy. Their 

1 The most alarming of these intercepts were one of June 2, 1138, forward@d by 
Keene to Newcastle, Aug. 2, and one of Sept. 8, forwarded Oct. 13, S.P. 94/131. 
La Mina was the Spanish ambassador in Paris. 

2 Keene to N@wcastle, April 24, 1739 (most private), S'.P. 94/133. Fleury had 
other enemies at home who mad@ criticisms equally ill informed. The Marquis 
d' Argenson taxed him with having got himself into Elisabeth Farm:s@'s pocket by 
the Eourbon maFriages, and attributed all the uppishness of Spain since their 
announcement, to assurance of French support. The Court of Spain may have folt 
such certainty, but not through any fault of Fleliry. D'Arg<mson was a disciple .of 
Chauvdin, Fleury's disgraced rival; he exaggerated the fatal results of th@ intimacy 
with Spain, in order to point the moral that Fleury ought not to have allowed her 
t© be France's only ally; and the attitude towards Spain which he recommended 
was one which Fleury was trying hard to keep up ( d' Argenson, Journal et Memoires, 
ed. Rathery, 1859, ii. 294, 303-4). 

3 Newcastle te> Keene (private and particular), May 8, 1139, S.P. 94/134; Hard­
wick@ to Newcastle, April 26, 1139, Add. MSS. 32692, f. 53; Horace Walpole to 
Trevor, March 16, April 17,June 1, 1739, H.M.C. XIVth Report, App. IX, pp. 27, 
28, 32. 
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neutrality in the War of the Polish Succession was especially 
criticized; it had off ended our traditional friend, Austria, and 
earned no real gratitude from our traditional enemy, France. 
Walpole might urge that whatever our recent relations with 
Austria had been, we could hardly expect much support from 
her at present, for she was engaged by a disastrous war with the 
Turk; but that was small comfort, though it might be some 
justification, and did not affect the question whether France 
would take part in the war. 1 . 

The Government did not push its argument so far ·as to 
recommend· submitting to Spain; it only pleaded for delay and 
caution. Since hardly any powers in Europe were prejudiced 
in our favour, we must be caretul to conduct our case so as to 
convince the world that we only wanted to secure our lawful 
rights, not to make new conquests in Spanish America or force 
Spain to grant us a free trade to her colonies. If once the other 
trading nations should begin to fear for the equilibrium estab­
lished by the peace of Utrecht, they would visit heavy dis­
pleasure on the first power to disturb it. These arguments were 
never better put than in a speech attributed to Newcastle. 

'This, my Lords, has always been looked upon as a necessary step 
towards preventing any one nation in Europe from becoming too 
rich and too powerful for the rest; and the preserving the sole right 
of navigation and commerce to and from the Spanish settlements in 
America, to the Spaniards themselves, was not the effect so much 
of the Spanish policy, as of the jealousy which the powers of Europe 
entertained among themselves, lest any other should acquire too 
great a property in that valuable branch of commerce. They knew 
that while the treasures of the Indies were the property of the 
Spaniards, or at least while they centred in Spain, that sooner or 
later their subjects must have a proportionable share; because that 
monarchy is destitute of many of the advantages, which the othe!F 
nations of Europe enjoy, from their manufactures and the industry 
of their inhabitants; and that, consequently, it was not in the power 
of the Spaniards, let them have never such an aspiring and politic 
prince at their head, to monopolize these treasures. Whereas, 
should too large a share of them come into the hands of any other 
nation in Europe, whose situation, power or trade, render them 
perhaps already formidable to their neighbours, they might b@ 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 693 (Walpole), 670 (Pulteney), 708 (Henry Pelham), 722 
(Wyndham), 1~54--5 (H. Walpole), 1268 (Sanderson); xi. 635 (Carteret), 645 
(Newcastle), 1067 (Carteret), -1095 (Newcastle), 1270 (Pulteney). 
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employed to purposes inconsistent with the peace of Europe, and 
which might one day prove fatal to the balance of power, that 
ought to subsist amongst her several princes. In such a case there 
is no doubt but that a formidable alliance would be made against 
the power thus aspiring; and should the differences at last come to 
be made up by a treaty, it would be found that the most probable 
way to secure the general peace, is to suffer the Spaniards to remain 
in the same situation, as to their American settlements, they are 
now in.' 1 

The Opposition took two lines of argument which led to one 
conclusion. Some of them asserted that we could impose on 
France by bold action against Spain, and intimidate her into 
putting pressure upon Spain to yield. They also pointed out 
that France was concerned, like ourselves, -to resist the right of 
search, and that she would have a strong inducement to keep 
quiet, from the profits which neutral traders would naturally 
make out of a war. In fact whatever we did, France would not 
interfere, therefore we ought to do what was right in our own 
eyes. 2 Her intervention was said to be a bugbear of Walpole's; 
he was compared to a spider, frightening his fellow spiders with 
the dreadful threat of an invasion of flies. 3 This was unjust at 
least to his sincerity; he really feared a French invasion, because 
he really feared a restoration of the Pretend.er. Most of his con­
temporaries thought one bogy as unreal as the other, and could 
not imagine that he believed in either; but it appears more 
likely that he earnestly believed in both. 

Others treated French intervention as probable, but indiffer­
ent. Argyll announced that we could. fight all the fleets of the 
world and should therefore dictate to all the trading coun­
tries; Pitt, with the oratory of theatrical jingoism, played upon 
the perennial hatred against the whole House of Bourbon. If 
F:rance defended Spain against a cause so righteous as the 
liberty of navigation, then she declared that we could not have 
justice; and against such a denial of justice there was no remedy 
but war, let the success be what it might. If we abstained from 
pressing Spain out of deference to France, we allowed her to 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 772. The same arguments are in Walpole's second speech on the 
Convention, p. 1313. Perhaps I may here excuse my frequent references to the 
Parliamentary debates. The attributions of the speeches are not much to be relied 
upon, but whoever wrote· or spoke them, they an~ for the most part far better 
argued ~haa the average pamphlet er newspap@r article. 

2 Ibid. 780 (Chesterfi@ld), 849 (Pultcney); xi. 252 (Wyndham). 
3 'Extrait d'une. l€ttre de Londrcs', A.E. Angleterre, 409, f. 16. 
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prescribe our conduct and keep us in vassalage. 1 Nor did the.s~ 
orators profess to believe that a French war would add much 
to the difficulties of the Government; for the trade and there­
fore the taxes of France as well as Spain would be diminished 
by the inte:rception of the treasure from Mexico and Peru. 
Wyndham appeared to think that the boldest way with France 
was the best; let her declare herself, even if it be against us, for 
we had nothing to gain from her false friendship and little to 
lose by her enmity. This is only one of many examples of the 
doctrine that neutrals are worse than open enemies. 2 

Of course this was extravagant rhetoric, but it helps to 
explain why those who had made up their minds ·to fight Spain 
were quite ready to fight France also. So successful was the 
campaign, and so much did the ccountry believe that a war with 
France was unavoidable, that as soon as the first orders were 
gone out for hostilities against Spain, the· provinces were filled 
with rumours that the Pretender had already landed with a 
French force. 3 Even the Government had come to believe what 
the Opposition declared. Whatever arguments Walpole and 
Newcastle may have used a year ago, they too were convinced 
by the Bourbon marriage and the discovery of the Franco­
Spanish treaties, that if they were to enforce the nation's claim 
agains( Spain they must reckon with the very likely risk of 
French intervention. That risk they determined to take; for 
which reason it had very little deter~ent effect upon them after 
the war was begun. 4 

§ iii. Neutral Rights)· the 'Azogues' 

The conduct of the war was almost certain to raise a more 
definite question. How could England put pressure upon Spain 
without injury to the real or supposed interests of France? The 
two easiest and most obvious ways of reducing Spain to sub­
mission were to conquer her colonies and intercept her treasure­
fleets. But the colonies could not be conquered, or at any rate 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 848 (Pulteney), 985 (Wyndham), 1136 (Argyll), 1185 (Chester­
field), 1281 (Pitt); French Counsels Destructive to Great Britain (London, 1740); Freneh 
Influence upon English Counsels Demonstrated (London, 1740). 

2 Parl. Hist. x. 986. 
3 De Vismes to Amelot, June 25, N.s., Jl '739, A.E. Amgleterre, 404, f. 386. 
4 Newcastle to Waldegrave, June 8, o.s., 1739, S.P. 78,/220, ff. 233-7. But the 

only thing that made Newcastle somewhat afraid of declaring war in October was 
the fear that France might prove to be formafly engaged to defend Spain im such a 
case. (Stone to Waldegrave, Oct. 4, 1739, Add. MSS. 32801, f. 290.) 



FRENCH INTERVENTION 

annexed, without -upsetting the equilibrium of 17·13, and the 
treasure-fleets could not be seized without involving the Govern~ 
ment in disputes over neutral property. Very little of ·the 
cargoes on board the galleons and..jlotas belonged to Spaniards, 
and most of it was thought to be French property; the exact 
proportion cannot be known, but it was estimated as high as 
seven-ninths and as low as three-fifths. There was much debate 
in Parliament, before the war broke out, whether this ·time­
honoured method of attack could prudently be employed. The 
difficulty was heightened by Pulteney's Bill of 1738 for giving 
the whole property of prizes to the captors. It would have pre­
vented the Government from restoring at discretion neutral 
cargoes found in enemy ships. 

The international law of the time, and our treaties with 
France in particular, unquestionably recognized the principle 
that neutral property in enemy ships was lawful prize. Besid@s, 
the trade of foreigners to the Spanish colonies was all carried 
on and registered in the ·name of Spaniards, so that even the 
cargoes, as well as the vessels, were technically Spanish. More­
over, this trade might be said to be contrary to the Treaty of 
Utrecht, by which the King of Spain bound himself not to let 
foreigners trade directly or indirectly to his colonies. If France 
complained of the Jamaica smugglers, England might retort 
that the trade through Cadiz was no more lawful, and demand 
an inquiry into its abuses, which would show that the French 
had contravened the Treaty of Utrecht quite as much as the 
English. 1 Opposition orators made t~e most of this point; but, 
as Bladen replied, it might be very undiplomatic to insist on 
the law in a case of this kind. French merchants and Dutch 
insurers would complain, and our attitude, however righteous, 
would prejudice their governments against us. 2 The difficulty 
might take another form; the French fleet might be sent to 
escort the jlota out from Cadiz, and bring back the galleons as 
well. Here again France might be in the wrong, for the right 
of neutral warships to convoy enemy trade was far from estab­
lished. That would not be the point, since the matter was one 
of politics rather than law, and the question to be decided was 

1 Parl. Hist. x. 855 (Pult@ney), 985"""6 (Wyndham), 1193 (Hervey), 1213 (Bat­
hurst), 1409 {Cart@ret}; xi. 840 (Cart@ret). 

2 Ibid. x. 838 (Cost€r), 839 (Blad€n); Bladen to Harrington, June 12, 1739, 
Add. MSS. 32694, f. 21. · . · · · · · · · ·. . . 
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not whether France would intervene justly, but whether she 
would intervene at all. 

The debates of I 738 were academic, for Pulteney's BiU did 
not pass. Next year, as soon as the Government gave 011de:rs :for 
reprisals, the issue became an immediate one. The az,ogues were 
at sea on their way home from Vera Cruz. They carried rich 
cargoes of silver, for the account of the French merchants and 
the King of Spain, and their seizul'1e would be a small triumph 
which the hard-pressed Ministry of Walpole could not afford to 
lose. Without hesitation it took all possible :measures to intercept 
them. Walpole declared publicly that he hoped to see them 
brought into the Thames, thus announcing that he did not intend 
to be frustrated in his warlike designs by the fear of France. 

Fleury took the question of the azogues very seriously. 1 Me 
expostulated strongly to Waldegrave, the English ambassador, 
upon the privileged or international character of the Spanish 
treasure-ships; all nations were interested in them, and the 
Court of Spain itself regarded their cargoes as a depositum, not 
subject to retaliation for national wrongs.2 This was special 
pleading for a trade which had no higher title than that of 
collusion; Fleury would have done better to insist m@re on the 
argument that neutral property could not be seized without any 
declaration of war. 3 Waldegrave asked him how we could. do 
ourselves justice upon Spain if we were not to attack the only 
kind of shipping whose loss would affect he:r seriously. If we 
must keep our hands off it, we must endure whatever injuries 
Spain pleased to put upon us. Walpole and Newcastle approved 
and adopted this argument, which had until lately been the 
undisputed property of the Opposition. 

1 The chief English spy in France-an unreliable twadctler to be sure, though 
he was a high official in the Foreign Office-even reported on August 8 that Flemry 
had sent word to the Court of Spain that the seizure of the azogues would be a casus 
belli between France and England (intelligence £orwaircl.ed by Waldegrave to New­
castle, Aug. 8, N.s., 1739, Add. MSS. 328oli, f. 172). Arnel@t hacl in fact written 
to La Marek that Fleury would tel1 Waldegrave that such seizure would amount 
to a war (Baudrillart, op. cit., iv. 531), but one cannot gather anytliling of the ki:rnd 
from the much m,ilcl.er language reported Tuy Waldegra:ve. Perhaps this is @ne of 
the cases in which his lazy confidence in Fleury's friendship 1ed him t@ misunder­
stand or misrepresent his words. 

2 Waldegrave to Newcastle, July 22, Aug. il5, 1739, S.P. 78/221, ff. 9, 80. 
3 He did use it a few weeks later. iit was chiefly b©eause the E:rngiish Government 

recognized this difficulty that it converted the reprisals into a declared war in 
October: 1739 (Horace Walpole to Trevor, Oct. 26, 1739, H.M.C. XIVth Report, 
App. IX, p. 35). 
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Walpole expressed no surprise at Fleury's language, and 
hoped to gain time by general promises of justice and favour 
to French subjects; but he would not allow the naval operations 
of the Government to be hindered by sacrifices to a precarious 
neutrality. Newcastle adopted a more definite suggestion which 
had lately been made by his colleague Harrington, and in Parlia­
ment by Carteret. Waldegrave was empowered to promise that 
the King should restore any proved French property that might 
be taken on the a.zogues, if the owners would pay him the indulto 
which they would have paid to the King of Spain, and if the 
French Government would undertake to remain entirely neutral 
(which Newcastle did not believe it would do). He was only 
to make this offer if he was sure that the a.zogues were the most 
important consideration in Fleury's eyes. Newcastle believed 
that they were not; but it appears from a letter of Amelot~ the 
French Foreign Minister, to La Marek that this might have been 
an acceptable suggestion, and that France might on these terms 
have declined to take up arms on behalf of Philip V. 1 Walde­
grave withheld the suggestion, contenting himself with vague 
and banal promises, and Fleury continued to ask him to pro­
mise that we should not take the a.zogues at all. 2 The danger of 
a serious dispute on this subject was soon afterwards removed 
by the unexpected appearance of the a_zogues in the port of 
Santander, where no English cruisers were waiting for them. 
The incident therefore ended ridiculously for England, but it 
shows the Government unwilling to give itself very much 
trouble to avoid a rupture with France. 

The English Government believed at the beginning of I 7 40 
that a French squadron would accompany the flota from Cadiz 
to America, and ordered Haddock to attack it, convoy and all, 
if he should find himself strong enough, or to send word to 
Vernon in order that he might do so in America.3 However, 

1 Baudrillart, op. cit., iv. 531. 
2 Wald@grave to Newcastle, July 22 and Aug. 15, 1739; Newcastle to Walde­

grave (most secret),July 2'7, S.P. '78/221, ff. 9, 49, 80; Part. Hist. x. 1409 (Cartei;et); 
Newcastle to Hardwicke, Aug. 12, I 739, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 138. 

3 Norris's diary, Feb. 4, 1739/4<:,, Add. MSS. 28132, f. 145. There must, how­
ever, have been some doubts of the prnpriety of intercepting the Spanish fleets 
under French convoy, for Wager made a note, on November 6, 1739, from which 
it appea11s that he or some of his colleagues thought it might be imprudent to attack 
the galleons if F11enoh warships should escort them out of Cartagena (V @rnon• 
Wager MSS., Library of Congress. See als<:, Waldegrave to Newcastle (most secret), 
Aug. 15, Io/39, Waldegrave MSS.). 
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the neutrality of the tFeasure-fleets did not give any more 
troubJe in this war, for the fleets themselves were almost com­
pletely para]ysed by 'tthe danger of moving. Some French war­
ships actually convoyed a sort of .flota from VeFa C:ruz in 1745, 
but France was by that time as much a belligerent as Spain. 
In fact all the other disputes of international law, to which 
this war and the next gave rise, turned ratheF on enemy goods 
in neutral ships. 

§ iv. Proposals of Mediation, and .Negotiations in Holland 

France and England still had to face the other and more 
important question-that o:f the equilibrium of U tre€ht and 
the conquests in Spanish America. But for s01me time before it 
came to an issue, the possibilities of French mediation toolk up 
the foreground of the picture. 

Fleury did not make much attempt at offering ])ftediatio11 by 
himself. He knew very well that he was suspected of partiaJity 
to Spain, and that his proposa]s would be received with caution. [ 
However, he plucked up his courage to suggest im August I 739 
an expedient which would have gained a little time for dis­
cussion. Spain should pay over the £95,000 into the hands of 
a third party, and Haddock should withdraw fr@,m the Medi­
terranean. This idea seems to have come to him from Count 
Lynd en, a Dutch pol~tician; . he made a curious use of it. He,. 
sent word to The Hague that these te:rms could not possibly 
satisfy Spain, and that the English m.ust withdraw not only 
Haddock but the reinforcements from Jamaica and Georgia 
as well; yet at the same time he entirely adopted the original 
suggestion behind the backs of the Dutch. 2 N ewcasde, how­
ever, wou1d not hear of this compromise; inrleed it would only 
have served for a breathing-spao<e, and offered no basis of final 
settlement. 3 If Fleury had now made up his mind to the 
Spanish alliance, a breath:irn1g-space was all he wanted, in orde:rr 
to make himself indispensable to Spain and to baFgain for the 
services he shoiYild otherwise have to give ;perforce. 

1 Amelot to Fenelon, Aug. 3, 173g, A.E. :W:oHande, 433; Si.U1m1ette to Amelot, 
Nov. 26, I 739, A.E. Angleterre, 405, f. 287. 

2 Fenelon to Amdot, July 28, 1739, A.E. H0lland€, 433; Amelot to Fen€ilon, 
Aug. 3, I 739, ifuid. 

3 It had also the disadvantage that it gave the ])utch. an ex€use for doing n(])thing 
to help us or defend themselves. (:Horace Walpole to, Waldegrave, Sept. 8 and 
Oct. 1, 1739, Waldegrave MSS.) 

4274 L 
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Fleury never openly proposed a definite plan for accommo­
dating the disputes of England and Spain; it is not certain what 
terms he would have suggested. I He did not wish to mediate 
alone; he would rather act jointly with the States-General, in 
order to render his suggestions acceptable to the English Mini­
stry, and to prevent it from leading the Dutch into something 
more dangerous than mediation, namely a war with Spain. 

Holland was the great battle~round of English and French 
diplomacy in these years. England might appeal to the memory 
of William III and Marlborough, in whose days the Dutch 
Republic had been unequivocally her ally and the enemy of 
France; but those expensive glories could not be revived. 
Lesser men now steered an uneasy course, not exactly mid­
way between the two great powers, but so as to incline on 
the whole to England without incurring the anger of France. 
The Stadhouder party, strongest in the smaller provinces, in the 
country districts of the greater ones, and in the mob of the 
towns, was still devoted to England. It received some of its 
little influence-for the Stadhouderate was in abeyance-from 
the marriage of the Prince of Orange with George II's eldest 
daughter. There was another party, apparently much smaller, 
which was definitely pro-French, because it fi~ared a reinstate­
ment of the Stadhouder. This party was particularly afraid of 
every kind of war, because it reasoned rightly that military 
danger was the likeliest thing to restore the Stadhouder to his 
powers. Most Dutchmen seem to have been moderate Republi­
cans, drifting between the two parties and hoping that Europe 
would never fall into such troubles as would make it necessary 
for them to choose one side or the other. 

Fear played a great part in the determination of Dutch policy; 
fear of an invasion by land from France, and of a suspen­
sion of Dutch navigation by England. · These threats antago­
nized as much as they intimidated the interests to which they 
were addressed. It was the landed classes and the provinces 

1 There are many memoranda on this subject in the archives of the Fnmch 
F@reign Office: Silhou@tt@ to Amelot, Dec. 24, 1739, A.E. Anglet@rrn, 405, ff. 360 
€t seqq.; March 12, 1740, vol. 407, ff. 180 et s@qq.; 'Reffoxions sur les diff€rens d@ 
l'Angleterre et l'Espagne', A.E. Mem. et Doc. Angleterre, 9, ff. 104 €t seqq.; 
'Plan de Negotiation', ff. 111 et s€qq.; 'Observations sur la liberte de la Naviga­
tion', ff. 122 et seqq.; 'M€moir€ sur la libert~ de la navigation dans fos mers des 
Indes occidentales', A.E. Mem. et Doc. Espagne, 82, ff. II6 et seqC;J_.; Memoire 
ann@x€d to Mirepoix's Instructions, 1749, A.E. Mem. et Doc. Angl€terr€, 41, ff. 188 
et seqq. 
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most exposed to a land war which were most anti-French, while 
the merchants were at least very jealous of .England, though. 
their hostility was somewhat mollified by their heavy invest- · 
ments in English funds. Besides, the shipping and trading inter­
ests were open to the highest bidder. England had little of her 
own to offer them, for the Navigation Acts excluded them from 
some important branches of her carrying trade. The most she 
could do was to help them to conquer some valuable privilege 
from France and Spain, as she had done in the War of the 
Spanish Succession. Spain was so intractably obstinate that 
nothing was to be expected of 'her, but France could prevent 
England from earning gratitude at her expense, and procure it 
for herself, by concessions to the long-standing ambitions of 
Dutch traders, especially in the fishery. She did so more than 
once when she found herse1fbad1y in need of Dutch favour; and 
it happened that, at the very moment when the war between 
England and Spain began, she was dangling before the noses 
of the States-General a nearly completed treaty of commerce. 
Fleury and his representative at The Hague proposed. to m.ak~ 
the fullest use of it, in order to keep them in a respectful suspense. 1 

Horace Walpole, the Prime Minister's brother, was titula:r 
Ambassador at The Hague and had obtained a considerable 
influence in Dutch politics. He had been on the point of retir­
ing, but was now hurried off for a last visit, to procure a 
declaration of war against Spain, or at least a large increase of 
land and sea forces which might lead the States-General to that 
conclusion down the path of embarrassing inquiries and yet 
more disagreeable explanations. It became the English policy, 
in the later years of the struggle with France, to encourage the 
Dutch to increase their army but not their navy, because the 
former was calculated to annoy France· and could be used 
against her, while the latter was even more likely to be directed 
against England. At present, however, this distinction was not 
perceived, and as the Dutch could only attack Spain by sea, 
England regarded an increase of their fleet as a favourable 
symptom. In fact, Horace Walpole was a little put out by the 
project of increasing the land forces at this moment, because 
though excellent in itself it would clog and retard the more 
important proposal of new warships. 2 

1 Fenelon to Amelot, July 2, 1 ?39, A.E. Hollande, 433. 
2 Horace Walpole to Harrington, Aug. 12, 1739, S.P. 84/381, f. 68. 
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He took with him a somewhat threadbare outfit of ready­
made arguments. He pointed out the parallel between the 
interests of the two nations, and their grievances against Spain. 
Nothing but f@rce, he saicl, could make Spain listen to reason; 
the Dutch would find it out when they had exhausted in vain 
all the recourses of diplomacy. 1 He used some documents from 
the controversy of Keene and La Quadra, which illustrated 
Spain's extravagant claims to sovereignty in the American seas. 
He received a little help here from the imprudent Marquis of 
St. Gil, the Spanish Ambassador, who would not be restrained by 
his French colleague from publishing a justification which asserted 
those claims. Yet though Walpole's arguments made a certain 
impression, and the augmentation which he set in motion was 
afterwards resolved upon, he had to return home, leaving Robert 
Trevor in charge of the negotiation, without bringing about any 
decisive step which would commit the States-General to war. 2 

The identity of interests upon which he insisted was not so 
great as English Ministers liked to believe. It was a piece of 
cant, a survival from the past, rather than a :reality. The trade 
of Cura<;ao and Jamaica was the same, but they took somewhat 
different measures to defend themselves. Some people, more­
over, believed that Cura<;ao depended on the monopoly which 
it existed t@ break. 3 Besides, so far as the Dutch and English 
interlopers carried on the same trade, their very identity was 
a cause of competition. This applies to the commerce of both 
nations in general. Moreover, when one great trading and mari­
time power goes to war, its chief rival is overpoweringly tempted 
by the profits @f neutrality, however obviously common their 
cause. The English knew this very well, and did not conc~al the 
irritation with which they saw the 'damt Dutch' run away with 
the carrying trade; no doubt this was one mo:re reason why they 
strained so hard .to drag their dear frlends into their war. 4 

1 MoraG@ Walpole to Harrington, Sept. 15, 1139, S.P. 84/381, ff. 135-40; 
Hendrick lfop to Ce>melis Mop, April 5, 1140, S.P. 107/41. , 

2 Morac@Walp@le's pawer to the Pensicmary, Sept. 16, 1139, N.s., ibid.; St. Gil's 
'Raisons justificatives', in Rousset's Recueil, vol. xiii, part ii, pp. 17g.,,,90; Walpole's 
reply, pp. 191-234; Amelot to Fenelon, Sept. 3, 1139, A.E. Holland€, 433; Fenelon 
to Amel0t, Aug. 29, Sept. 8 and 22, 1739, ibid.; Newcastle to Mardwicke, Oct. 7, 
l 739, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 160. 

3 Fag~l to Hop; Nov. [7, 1739, S.P. 101/34; Hendrick Hop to Corntdis Hop, 
April 5, May 3 and 9, 114,0; CoFnelis H@p to Hendrick ! fop, April 12 and 27, 
S.P. 107/41-3. 

4 Hop t0 Fagel, Oct. 30, 1739, S.P. 101/32. Under-Secretary Couraud thought 
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The Dutch had yet another reason for neutrality. Unlike the 
English, they did not live upon an island; they had very nearly 
been subdued by a French invasion within the last hundred 
years. There was a chain of barrier fortresses between th€m and 
the French armies, but its efficacy was doubted, with only too 
good reason as the French marshals were soon to show. England 
could cheerfully face a Spanish war which might turn into a 
French war; Holland could not. For England, but not for 
Holland, it would still be a naval war. 1 

The Dutch could have only one strong motive for taking part 
in the war between England and Spain. If England should 
fight and win, before they had settled their own dispute with 
Spain, they might be in a disagreeable situation. England 
could extort some important concessions, which she would be 
under no obligation of gratitude to impart to the Dutch. Spain, 
defeated and humbled, would have every inducement to satisfy 
her anger at the expense of a less powerful and less respectable 
claimant for redress. 2 No doubt it was this possibility which 
caused the Dutch to regard with such attention the opening 
moves in the naval campaign. If the English squadrons had 
taken the azogues, the States-General would have been encou­
raged to enter the war; but the failure made them think twice 
of it. 3 

This at least was the opinion of the Marquis de Fenelon, the 
clever, perhaps too clever, diplomat who represented France 
at The Hague. It was his business to bring Horace Walpole's 
efforts to nothing. What exactly was the point of those efforts? 
Here Fenelon probably made a mistake through too much 
subtlety. He recognized in time that Walpole meant to induce 
the States-General to declare war, but his first thought, which 
he did not entirely abandon, was that the object of the farewell 

it was unfair to exempt foreign ships from the embargo in our ports, 'for the 
moment they knew our own ships were embargoed, many of them flocked hither 
to carry the goods which our own people should have been the bearers of, who 
consequently lost the freight' (Couraud to Waldegrave, July 27, 1739, Walde­
grave MSS.). 

1 Horace Walpole often encountered this argument (see his letters to Harrington, 
July 7 and 17, 1739, ·s.P. 84/380, ff. I 19-21, 162-3; Aug. 18, N.S., S.P. 84/381, 
ff. 67-8). 

2 Hop to Fagel,July 14, 1739, S.P. rn7/29; Vrai patriote hollandois, Aug. 1740. 
Horace Walpole hinted at this (see his letter to Harrington, July 3, I 739, S.P. 
84/380, f. 107). 

3 Fenelon to Amelot, Sept. 1, 1739, A.E. Hollande, 433. 
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visit was a more recondite one. He saw tha~ although the war 
was nominally begun because Spain had not paid the sum 
appointed by the Convention, the English immediately started 
to justify it as a crusade against the right of search. Of course 
this was necessary in Holland, because the Dutch were no 
parties to the Convention and were interested in the right of 
search. But Fenelon, putting the cart before the horse, supposed 
that the real aim of the English Ministry was to divert attention 
from the discredited Convention which had conceded the refer­
ence of questions of search. and navigation to plenipotentiaries 
-a concession which he thought the English Ministers wanted 
to take back. So long as the war was waged by England alone 
it was a war about the Convention, and if Spain were to offer 
to execute the Convention, England could not -reasonably refuse. 
If the Dutch joined in it as well, it could not be a war for the 
execution of the Convention, and must be a war against the 
right of search; the Convention could be conveniently forgotten, 
and an offer to fulfil it would be no excuse for stopping the war. 

Fenelon might well believe this because he thought, like other 
Frenchmen, that it was not Spain that had broken the Con­
vention by refusing to pay the money, but England by refusing 
to continue the plenipotentiaries' sittings. 1 As that opinion was 
not shared by the English Ministers, they did not feel they had 
any reason to be ashamed of their conduct in this respect, and 
the motive postulated by Fenelon did not exist. In Horace 
Walpole's instructions of June 1739 there is no sign of the plan 
which Fenelon attributed to him. True, the English Ministers 
did not mean to go back, now that they had made up their 
minds to a war, and they would have been embarrassed by a 
belated execution of the Convention. No doubt that was why 
Horace Walpole sternly rebuffed Count Lynden's attempt to 
propose a temporary appeasement; he said the state of the 
controversy was not what it had been before the Convention 
was broken. 2 He had also to shift the discussion from the Con­
vention to the common grievances of English and Dutch traders 

1 Fenelon to Arn.dot, July 23, Aug. 18, Sept. 15, 1 739, A.E. Hollande, 433; 
Fenelon's @rror was evicfontly shared by Am@lot, the Fremeh Foreign Secretary, 
who was angry with St. Gil for talking publicly about the right of search and 
free :navigation, inst@ad of putting England in the wrong by sticking to the Con­
vention (Am.dot to Fenelon, ·sept. 3, 1739, A.E. Hollande, 433). 

2 Fenelon to Amelot, Aug. II, 1739, A.E. Hollande, 433; Horace Walpole to 
Harrington, Sept. 15, N.s., S.P. 84/31!h, ff. 134-41. 
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against Spain; but that was because the breach of the Con­
vention was no argument for war in Holland. 1 Fenelon's error 
was not as important as it was ingenious, but perhaps it accounts 
for the embarrassing proposal which was suggested by Lynden, 
possibly under Fenelon's tuition, and put forward by Fleury 
in August. 2 

Fenelon was soon engaged on a business no less. complicated 
and more material. Fleury and the States-General became 
involved in an elaborate contest about mediation. The object 
of each party was to make the other propose something definite 
without doing so itself. There is always, in all bargains, an 
advantage in making the other side speak first; the principle 
is as well known to Levantine peddlers as to Cardinals and 
Grand Pensionaries. In this instance there was a more solid and 
particular reason. Each party pretended to be impartial; the 
pretence was equally false on both sides, though there was a 
great difference in their desire to see the dispute settled and 
their intention of intervening in it themselves. The States­
General pref erred the interests of England almost as much as 
France pref erred those of Spain, though they had less wish to 
fight for their allies, and had, unlike France, a strong interest 
of their own in the controversy. 3 They were not willing to 
annoy England by proposing something unacceptable. Fleury 
had even stronger reason against indisposing the Court of 
Spain, from which he was still trying to extort a commercial 

1 Instructions to Horace Walpole,June I 2, o.s., 1739, S.P. 84/380, ff. 87-9; Horace 
Walpole to Harrington, July 17, N.s., ff. 162-3. 2 V. supra, p. 145. 

3 French diplomats do not seem to have entirely understood the interest of the 
Dutch; they seem to have thought they could appeal to them, as a nation using the 
Cadiz trade, by dwelling on the excesses of the English smugglers. Some even had 
a faint hope of drawing the States-General into a war against England (Silhouette 
to Amelot, Dec. 24, 1 739, A.E. Angleterre, 405, f. 368). lt must have been a mis­
conception of this kind that led Fenelon to declaim to the Dutch Ministers against 
Vernon's throwing open the trade to interlopers by destroying the forts at Porto­
hello and Chagre. He should have understood that the Dutch were themselves an 
interloping nation, and that Vernon's action had made a great harvest for the 
traders of Curac;ao (Fenelon to Amelot, Sept. 15, 1740, A.E. Hollancle, 436). He 
had a better card to play when he excited the jealousy ofth.e Dutch against the size 
of Cathcart's expedition and the vast schemes which it seemed to portend. Some 
Dutchmen were afraid that if England made conquests on the mainland, she would 
put a stop to the interloping trade of other nations in the provinces which came 
under her control (Trevor to Harrington,June 6, I 741, S.P. 84/393, f. 10). Others, 
such as Van Hoey, the celebrated ambassador in Paris, professed to believe that 
England would want to annex the French and Dutch colonies as soon as she hacd 
conquered the Spanish (Waldegrave to Trevor, April I I and 22, I 740, Waldegrave 
MSS.; Trevor to Waldegrave, April 14, ibid.). 
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5 Arnelot to Fen@lem, Aug. 23, 1739, A.E. Hollande, 433; N@v. 12, 1739, vol. 
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The Dutch had, moreover, an interest of their own in the 
matter, and saw a very good opportunity of killing two birds 
with one stone. They had not yet settled their own dispute 
with Spain about the rights of navigation. If they could now 
procure from Spain, directly or through France, a satisfactory 
adjustment, it would serve as a model for a reconciliation 
between England and Spain, and a bridge over which the 
English Ministry could crawl to peace and safety without dis­
honour. Fenelon saw through this design, but seems to have 
made the mistake of thinking that it was much more welcome 
to the English than it really was. 1 If, on the other hand, the 
Dutch should not succeed in bringing England into a peaceful 
settlement of this kind, at least it would be something to have 
got their own grievances redressed, for they would never have 
a better opportunity than a time of war between Spain and 
England, when they could threaten to join England if they 
were not satisfied. 

As it was France's object as well as Spain's, or even more than 
Spain's, to prevent them from taking part in the war, the Dutch 
could make France pull this chestnut out o:f the fire for them 
by her diplomatic influence at Madrid. Fleury actually lent 
himself to their scheme; for he did not need to be told how 
important it was that Spain should satisfy the Dutch. If he 
was destined to enter the war on behalf of Spain, he certainly 
had the right to demand that he should not have the Dutch as 
well as the English on his hands; that would be coming near 
to the general war which he dreaded. Horace Walpole and his 
successor Trevor insisted chiefly on the argument that only 
force cou1d extort any satisfaction from Spain; Fleury would 
therefore play a trump card if he could prove that the Dutch 
had more to gain by peaceful discussions and the influence of 
France, than by adhering to England and her wadike measures. 2 

He never ceased to preach to Spain the necessity of detaching 
the Dutch by a slight concession, but he had little enough 
434; Sept. g, 1740, vol. 436; Horace Walpole to Waidegrave, Sept. 8, q ,39, 
Waldegrave MSS.; Trevor to Harrington, Sept. 24, 1740, S.P. 84/387, f. 42. 

1 Trevor to Harrington, Dec. 15, 1739, S.P. 84/382, ff. 162-4; Harrington to 
Trevor, Dec. 11, ff. 180-1; Fenelon to Amelot, Aug. 25, 1739, A.E. Hollande, 
43i; Amelot to Fenelon, Aug. 30, ibid.; Fenelon to Amelot, Oet. 8, 1739, vol. 434. 

2 Amelot to Fenelon, July 12 and Aug. 30, 1 739, A.E. Hollarnde, 433; Fenelon 
to Ameiot, Oct. 8, 1739, vol. 434; Sept. 23, 1740, vol. 437; Resolution of the States­
General, Sept. 'l.7 and Oct. 29, I 740, ibid.; Amel0t to Finelon, Oct. g, ibid.; 
Trevor to Harrington, Sept. 24, 1740, S.P. 84/387, ff. 42-7. 
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Thus the whole complicated discussion ended with a dead­
lock. Fleury had no more need to continue it, for he actively 
interposed between England and Spain at this point. It was 
no longer very likely that the States-General would take 
equally strong measures on the other side. Very soon after­
wards they forgot the whole matter in their preoccupation with 
the outbreak of a· new European war. The Dutch, with their 
weak land frontier, were more sensitive to that than England, 
and at last became really anxious that she should name the 
terms. on which she would make her peace with Spain, and 
end the maritime war in order to devote all her strength to the 
continental troubles. 1 But the conversion of England to conti­
nental measures was neither so sudden nor so complete; and 
when it was made, it did not take the form of courting media­
tion, whether French or Dutch. 

§ v. Fleury threatens to intervene 

During the course of these elaborate machinations, the rela­
tions of England and France had come to a crisis. Fleury 
naturally wanted to intimidate the English Government and 
keep it in suspense. Until he had come to terms with Spain, he 
could hardly do anything else. For this reason he had made a 
great fuss over the search of some French ships by Admiral 
Haddock off Cadiz. In their hearts he and Amelot did not take 
this incident very seriously, saying it was only the ordinary 
usage of war. 2 But they complained to Waldegrave and sent 
back their Ambassador Cambis from his furlough to London 
with an almost violent memorial upon the subject. 

'The delay of satisfaction', it concluded, 'for grievances so well 
founded and of such importance to the honour of his Crown, would 
give His Majesty so much the more concern, as it would be looked 
upon throughout all Europe as a mark of the little regard Your 
Majesty would appear to have to his just complaints, if you should 
any longer refuse to cause a stop to be put to them, and to redress 
them.' 3 

Cambis presumably did not soften the rigour of his com­
munication, for he prided himself on his fiery manner of exe­
cuting his office, which had caused George II to cut him dead 

1 Trevor to Harrington,June 6 and 27, 1741, S.P. 84/393, ff. 10, 65. 
2 Baudrillart, op. cit. iv. 352. 
3 Cambis to George II, Aug. 30, o.s., 1739, S.P. 100/7. 
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in the Drawing-room. 1 Indeed, he hardly seems to have been 
the man to smooth over differences between the two Courts. 
His secretary justified him after his death against the charge 
of being too pro-English: in his last illness his attendants had 
been obliged to divert the conversation from the grievances of 
Spain against England, as it was a subject on which he felt so 
vehemently that he might do himself harm by discussing it. 
'He never varied for a moment from these sentiments, and I 
have never seen him desire anything with more passion than 
to see a war well kindled between France and England' 2-a 
curious qualification for a French ambassador at the Court of 
St. James. He nearly made matters worse on this occasion by 
threatening to reject Newcastle's reply. It was certainly very 
inadequate and tried to intimidate France from pursuing these 
controversies any farther. 3 All this was ado about nothing. 
Fleury only meant to create a vague uneasiness. 

'You will notice', Amelot had written to Cambis, 'that the 
memoire is drawn up in such a way as to inspire fear of definite action 
on our part, without representing it as taken or ready to be taken. 
You must speak in exactly the same sense, so that neither the English 
Ministry, nor that of Spain (from what it may hear of the matter) 
may be free from the uncertainty in which we must at present, on 
account of the state of our affairs, appear to be.'4 

So long as Fleury lived, disputes over neutral rights had very 
little effect on the relations of the two Courts. Maurepas was 
credited, now and later, with a desire to make the most of them 
in order to bring on a war with England; but he never had his 
way. 5 Bussy was sometimes ordered to make complaints, which 
the English Ministers neglected with impunity-at one time he 
said he had given in over sixty to which no sort of reply had 
been returned. 6 When France refused to expel the Pretender 
and declared war in the spring of 1744, one of the chief reasons 
given was the breach of treaties and the violation of the rights 
of neutrals. 7 This was only a justification which Amelot had 

1 Cam bis to F6nelon, Sept. 22, 1139, S.P. 107 /32. 
2 De Vismes to Amelot, March 3, N.s., 1140, A.E. Angleterre, 401, f. 152. 
3 Couraud to Waldegrave, Sept. 6, 1139, Add. MSS. 32801, f. 252; Newcastle 

to Hardwicke, Sept. 9, vol. 35406, f. 144; to Cambis, Sept. 7/18, A.E. Angleterre, 
405, f. 162; Cambis to Amelot, Sept. 14 and 21, ff. 158, 173. 

4 Amelot to Cambis, Aug. 30, 1739, A.E. Angleterre, 4c5, f. 86. 
5 Waldegrave te> Newcastle, Jan. 9, 174.0, Add. MSS. 321301, f. 361; Jan. 15, 

vol. 32802, f. 3. 6 Bussy, memorial of Dec. 4, 1742, S.P. 100/8. 
7 Thompson to Stolile, June 26, 1743, S.P. 78/228, f. 222; to Newcastle, Feb. 25, 

Ij44, S.P. 78/229, f. 188. 
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held patiently up his sleeve for four years; it was not a real 
motive. The diplomacy of France was governed by grander 
and subtler considerations than mercanti~e complaints. The 
security of her overseas trade was not a matter @f life and death 
to her, as it was to the Dutch, and she did not condescend to the 
desperate nagging with which the States-General urged their 
similar complaints against England. 

This little storm was therefore allowed to blow over like that 
of the azogues, and the two Governments lived for some months 
in apparent cordiality. Fleury pursued his bargain with Spain, 
without ever reaching a conclusion. The English Ministers 
followed with alarm what they could learn of these negotia­
tions. Waldegrave had told them that it was not consideration 
for England, but inability to make his terms with Spain, that 
made Fleury so passive in the first months of the war. They 
always expected that the signature of the treaty of alliance 
would be followed by a declaration on the part of France, 
and were almost prepared-so at least Bussy reported-to 
make that of the treaty of commerce a casus belli on their own 
account. 1 

Another very difficult problem began to arise out of the con ... 
duct of the war. What would be the attitude of France to the 
great expedition going out under Lord Cathcart to the West 
Indies, and to the glorious and profitable conquests which it 
would doubtless make? It is hard to comprehend the uncer­
tainty of the English Ministers on this subject. Before the war 
or even the reprisals were begun, Fleury had told Waldegrave 
that France could not stand by and see England annex any 
important part of the Spanish dominions in America. 2 Re 
repeated it again and again, after the war was declared, and 
further pointed his moral by applauding Vernon's behaviour 
at Portobello and Chag:re, where the conquered tow~s had not 
been annexed or garrisoned, but had been virtually thrown 
open to the trade of all nations. 3 He had also shown great 

1 Bussy to Amelot, Oct. 3, 1740, A.E. Angleterre, 409, f. 122. 
2 Sir R. Walpole to Newcastle,July 17, 1739, Add. MSS. 32692, f. 152; Morace 

Walpole to Trevor, Oct. 24, 1738, H.M.C. XIVth Report, App. IX, p. 24·. I cannot 
find the letter from WaldegFave to which Watpole refers in his letter of July 17. 
By the dates it ought to be that of July 22, N.s., bl!lt none of the dispatches which 
Waldegrave wrote on that day quite fits the description. On June 26, N.s., Walde­
grave had sent Newcastle a long description of Fleury's state of mind, from which 
he concluded that Fleury would probably take no part at present. 

3 Waldegrave to Newcastle (most private), Nov. 23, 1739, Jan. 4, 1740, S.P. 
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interest in the prodamation by which the English Government 
offered to guarantee to private adventurers the possession of 
whatever territories they should take from the Spaniards in 
America. This proclamation (which was founded on Pulteney's 
Act of Parliament for that purpose) was hardly compatible 
with an intention to preserve the equilibrium established by 
the Peace of Utrecht; but the chances of private conquests 
were small, and the Government was not restrained from 
restoring places which might be taken by its own armies. 1 

Even if Fleury had never uttered a word of his intention, 
Newcastle might very well have guessed it, for it was easily 
deduced from the doctrine of the American balance of power, 
which Fleury and most of his diplomats held and proclaimed. 2 

What makes Newcastle's uncertainty yet more curious is that 
he had made up his mind, before the war broke out, that 
France meant to enter it sooner or later in support of Spain; 
until the spring of 1740 he believed, in spite of Waldegrave's 
denials, that she would intervene that year. He then allowed 
himself to be converted. to the view that Fleury would not 
meddle with Cathcart's expeditionj he was not only surprised, 
but comically aggrieved, when Fleury did so. 3 

There are three possible explanations of this puzzle. The first 
is that Fleury meant to have the credit of giving fair warning, 
and the advantage of not being believed. He was so old and 
feeble, that he could easily deceive by an affectation of senility. 
He could appear not to mean what he said, and to say what he 
had meant to leave unsaid. Waldegrave, good easy man, was 
very much under his influence, and would believe anything that 

78/221, ff. 272, 353; March 12, April 3, vol. 222, ff. 157, 233; July 22, vol. 223, 
f. 207;Jan. 15, 1740, Add. MSS. 32802, f. 3;July 8, 1740, S.P. 43/91. 

1 Waldegrave to Newcastle, May 4, 1740, S.P. 78/222, f. 321. V. supra, p. 67. 
2 Fenelon was already saying inJuly 1740, a month beforn the Frnm;h fleet sailed, 

that 'an invasion of the Spanish possessions in America by us, is as much a casus 
foederis for France, as one of England by the Spaniards would be for the Republic' 
(Trevor to Waldegrave, July 28, 740, Waldegrave MSS.). 

3 N@wcastle to Waldegrave (most secrnt), Aug. 3, 1739, S.P. 78/221; Jan. 22, 
Feb. 27, 173c,/40, S.F. 78/222, ff. 78, 129. See also his private letter of Feb. 27, 
in which he says: 'I dare say all their bravadoes am oru.y to intimidate us, and 
prnvent our American expedition, but that shan't do, it shall go on, with all possible 
vigour and expedition. Tho' this is the most probable conjecture, the consequence 
is too great to depend upon it, and therefore we must look out, and act, as if their 
intentions were as bad as possible, and if the Cardinal should drop, nobody can 
tell how soon, they might make us a visit here, and th~refore we must always have 
an eye to that' (Walclegrave MSS.). 
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Fleury cou[d pass off as the involuntary confidence of a dotard. 
So great in fact was Fleu:ry's skill in handiing; Walclegf'ave, that 
it is almost an injustice to him as an artist to suppos~ that the 
curious effect which he produced in this instance was unin­
tended. But it will not do. Fleury was an artfttl and tortuous 
old man, but he was not a devil. He was not the man to go out 
of his way to engineer an unnecessary war. StiH less w@uld he 
do so, before he was sure of his aHiance with Spain. 

It must therefore be supposed that Fleury intended the hint 
to be taken, and that it was not his fault if it was neglected. The 
blame then rests on Waldegrave, for it was he who persuaded 
Newcastle that Fleury would stay quiet and contimue to watch 
events. He reported Fleury's threats, but either explained them 
away as meaningless, or prophesied that they would neveF be 
carried out because Fleury was too much afraid of a general 
war. Poor Waldegrave was lethargic, for he was dying of 
dropsy; he was unduly sure of his ability to penetrate Fleury's 
intentions. He was for these reasons a had ambassador, and 
Horace Walpole (who as his predecessor would be m.ore likely 
than anybody else to criticize him) had already found reason to 
complain of him on these accounts. 1 

Newcastle himself was as much to blame as anybody. If he 
had not wanted to be convinced by Waldegrave, he would have 
stuck to his first opinion. When he wanted to carry a point, he 
did not scruple to play fast and loose with the facts. In April 
1740, when he was trying to dissuade George II from one of his 
unpopular visits to Hanover, he argued that France was likely· 
to interfere with our expeditions or even to invade us. He 
the ref ore concealed from the King the strong assurances of · 
Waldegrave that Fleury would take no part that year.2 A few 
weeks later he turned round, and used Waldegrave's wrong 
information in his controversy with Walpole over the disposition 
of the forces. He had always wanted to press forward with the 
preparations for,Cathcart's expedition, regard]ess of any danger, 
and to send as many ships as could be spared to the West 
Indies. Sir Robert Walpole began to argue that because the 
French were likely to intervene, the fleet must be conceniftrat~d 

1 Horace Walpole to Trevor, March 16/27, 1739, H.M.C. XIVth Report, App. IX, 
P· 27. 

2 See the two interesting letters of Newcastle to Waldegrave, April I I and 18, 
I j40, in the WaJldegrave MSS. 
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for defence in the home waters; for he believed that the hostility 
of France would take the form of an invasion. of Great Britain 
or ]reland. This was not a very easy argument to answer--=­
indeed, nobody was more fearfully aware of its force than New­
castle, sixteen years later. The best way of dealing with it was 
to deny that Fleury would interfere at all. Some reassuring 
letters had lately come from W aldegrave, and Newcastle used 
them in the Cabinet. Ogle and his ten ships could not possibly 
be sent to the West Indies if France was likely to strike some 
unpredictable stroke in the next few months; but Newcastle 
was determined that Ogle should go, therefore he believed that 
France would do nothing. 1 For the time Walpole and his 
supporters triumphed. Ogle was kept at home; but Newcastle 
was now quite converted to his new opinion; he announced to 
Vernon, and to Waldegrave himself, that he no longer thought 
France would take any part in the war that year. 2 

Not everybody agreed with him. Wager wrote in August that 
France must enter the war sooner or later. George II had 
already predicted that she would send her squadrons to the 
West Indies, in order to avoid giving a casus Joederis to the 
States-General, who were bound by treaty to defend us a~ainst 
an invasion of our European, but not of our American, domi­
nions. Harrington, the Secretary of State who accompanied the 
King to Hanover, thought that, a few days before Cathcart's 
expedition was ready to go, Fleury would put an embarrassing 
question as to its destination, or announce that he could not 
allow it to sail at all. 3 Newcastle persisted in believing that 

1 Newcastle to Wald@grave,June 12, 1740, S.P. j8/221, f. 111. But at the same 
time that he argued in this way, he prepared a private instruction for Sir John 
Norris, who was to eommand the Channel fl@et, empowering him to g@t between 
the French and Spanish fleets if they should tFy to join in F@rrol harbour, and 
prevent it by fore€ (Norris's diary, June 22, q40, Add. MSS. 28133, f. 15). Fleury 
was very much afraid at tliiis time that the English fleets would c@mmit a suclden 
attack on French warships. This appears not only from Am@lot's letter to Bussy of 
July 21 (whioh may have been meant to be inttm;:epted, as in fact it was), but also 
from Maurepas's instructions to the commanders of ships in the Channel (Maurepas 
to cl'.Ahtin, July 26, 1740, A.N. Marine B2 311, f. 25). See also the accounts of 
proceedimgs in Cabinet, May 6 and 22, 1140, Hervey, Memoirs, @d. Sedgwick, 
~ii. 931-40. 

2 Newcastle to Walclegrave, June 12, I 740, S.P. j8/223, f. 111; Newcastle to 
Vernon, July 23, 1740, Adcl. MSS. 32694, f. 239. 

3 Wager to Vernon, Aug. 6, 114.0, Original Letters to an Honest Sailor, p. 18; 
Harrington to Newcastle, June 6/17, July 11/22, 1740, S.P. 43/25; Newcastle to 
Hairrrngton (private and particular), June~ 24, o.s., S.P. 43/90; July 4, $.P. 43/91; 
July 22, S.P. 43/9i. 
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nothing of the sort would happen. He had lately had a letter 
from Waldegrave, saying that Fleury had spoken 'as strongly 
as he could, to satisfy me he actually meant to declare against 
us, if the case happened. But for all that', the Ambassador con­
tinued light-heartedly, 'I wish to God, we took something from 
the Spaniards that would make it worth our while to stand a 
chance of his resentment.' Newcastle sent this off with satis­
faction to Harrington, adding that the Cabinet was 'humbly 
of opinion, that what was thus said by the Cardinal does not 
import a resolution to make any declaration or demand relating 
to my Lord Cathcart's expedition, previously to his going 
hence. But however that may be, their Lo:rdships continue 
firmly of opinion, that no alteration in the measures determined 
to be taken by His Majesty, can anyways be made, or the 
measures delayed by it.' 1 

Soon afterwards, however, a rumouF reached Newcastle: 
Fleury had told Waldegrave outFight that France could not let 
us make any conquests in America. This indeed was exactly 
what Fleury had always said, but Waldegrave had not reported 
it so. Newcastle now wrote to him for further light, and received 
a reassuring reply. Waldegrave thought that whatev€r Fleury 
had let fall to him was said 'in order that, without his appearing 
to menace, we may see what he would have us think he would 
resent, as well as what would be agreeable to him by keeping 
him out of the cases, in which, perhaps, he may have promised 
to assist Spain' ; and that 'the Cardinal never had the least 
notion that any thing he ever said to me on these subjects, could 
be looked upon as a declaration or demand upon any intention 
of His Majesty for pursuing the war against his enemies'. 2 

At first sight this does not quite explain why Newcastle was 
so outraged when Fleury sent off d' Antin's fleet to the West 
Indies; for if Waldegrave's explanation of Fleury's wo:rds was 
comforting, the words themselves were dangerous. Yet the~e is 
really no puzzle at all. Newcastle was only sure that Fleury 
would say nothing about Cathcart's expedition 'previously to 
his going hence'. He knew perfectly well, for even Walde­
grave's good-natured blundering could not conceal it, that 

1 Waldegrave to Newcastle,July 8, 1740, S.P. 43/91; Newcastle to Harrington, 
July 4/15, 1740, Add. MSS. 32693, f. 443. 

2 Newcastle to Waldegrave,July 15, 1740, Add. MSS. 32802, f. 158; Waldegrave 
to Newcastle, Aug. 10, 1740, S.P. 78/223, f. 268. 

4274 M, 
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Fleury would interfere whea he heard of victories in Spanish 
America. But he was prepared, like Waldegrave, to take his 
chance of that. He imagined that when Fleury said he could 
not suffer us to make conquests in America, he meant literally 
that he should do nothing until we had made them. He never 
thought that Fleury might try to prevent us from making them 
at all. He tried to steal a march on Fleury, and was surprised 
and grieved when he found that Fleury had stolen one on him. 
He complained that he had been cheated, because he had not 
been allowed to-I will not say, cheat Fleury, but it was some­
thing very like it. For while Waldegrave had purposely eluded 
giving Fleury a promise that we would keep none of our con­
quests, Harrington had allowed Trevor to deny that acquisitions 
were the object of the war. 1 

There was also an equivocation on Fleury's part. If Walde-
grave may be trusted-which is admittedly doubtful-Fleury 
had never told him in so many words that it was Cathcart's 
sailing to make the conquests, and not the conquests themselves, 
which was to be the signal for his intervention.-- Probably he did 
not even give him to understand it. Certainly Waldegrave did 
not understand it. Nobody can blame Fleury for not announc­
ing his movements in advance; but why did he order Fenelon 
and Bussy to imply that he had made it clear Cathcart must 
not sail ?2 His ubiquitous reiterations that the English Ministers 
could not be surprised at the step he had taken, indicate that 
he knew he had in fact surprised them. 

He had surprised them indeed. Maurepas had sent out four 
ships to the West Indies earlier in the summer, but that had 
only reassured the English Ministers, who presumed he would 
send no more, or would at the worst reinforce them by inoffen­
sive ones and twos until he had collected a respectable force 
there. 3 They had known very well that preparations were 
making at Brest and Toulon, but hardly a rumour, let alone 
any authentic news, had escaped as to the real destination of 
the squadrons. It was one of the few naval movements of the 
eighteenth century which were kept a complete secret from the. 

1 Harrington to Trevor, April 15, 1740, S.P. 84/384, f. 174· 
2 Bussy's declaration, Sept. 18, 1740, S.P. 100/7; Amelot to Bussy, Sept. II, 

I 740, A.E. Anglderre, 409, f. 64; Amelot to Fenelon, Sept. 9, I 740, A.E. Hollande, 
436. . 

3 Bussy to Amelot, Sept. 2 I, I 7 40, A.E. Angleterre, 409, f. 88; Waldegrave to 
Newcastle, May 4, N.s., 1740, Add. MS$. 32802, f. 131. 
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enemy; and this is the more remarkable because the two countries 
were not at war. 

I do not know when Fleury first too~ his resolution to send 
d' An tin to the West Indies. Maurepas and the Spanish party 
were urging him to do so in May; 1 but the first written evidence 
of his intention is in d'Antin's instructions of August 14, N.s. 2 

Perhaps he was determined by a letter which Bussy, the French 
Minister in London, wrote him on July 30, N.s. Amelot had 
written to ask whether it was true that Cathcart's expedi­
tion was bound to the Canaries. Bussy replied positively that 
he was sure its real objective was Havana, as he had announced 
for some months past.3 He added a copy of Cathcart's draft 
proclamation to the Spanish colonists, which might in itself 
have been decisive in the eyes of the French Government, if they 
had not already had one in May from Silhouette.4 It may have 
been Bussy's report of the Government's fixed intention to 
attack the strongest point in all Spanish America, which deter­
mined Fleury to go to the rescue at once. 5 Or it may have been 
Bussy's singularly ill-judged remark in the same letter, that 
'it seems to me, from all I can hear, that the Ministers here 
were expecting that we should have explained 9urselves more 
openly about the limits which we wish them to put to the 
progress of the war, and the expedients which we think proper 
for restoring peace'. There was nothing which they were more 
anxious to avoid. 

Whatever else may have prompted Fleury's action, it was not 
Spanish influence. The measure was in no way concerted with 
the Spanish Court, which was not informed of it until d' Antin 
was already on the point of sailing, and had no time to order 
its naval commanders to co-operate with him until he was gone. 

1 Waldegrave to Newcastle, May 4, N.s., I 740, S.P. 78/222, f. 32 I. 
2 Between Mavch I 700 and September I 752, the English calendar was eleven 

days behind that of the rest of western Europe. August 14, New Style, was 
August 3, Old Style, in England. 

3 Amelot to Bussy, July 2 I, I 7 40, A.E. Angleterre, 407, f. 443; Bussy to Amelot, 
July 30, ibid., f. 465; Amelot to Bussy, Aug. 3 and 16, vol. 409, ff. 2, 23. Bussy 
was not quite right; most of the Ministers hoped Cathcart would attack Havana, 
but it was not absolutely prescribed to him, and the final decision was to be taken 
by a Council of War. See also Newcastle to Harrington (private and particular), 
June 24, o.s., 1740, S.P. 43/90. 4 V. supra, p. 75. 

s Although both Bussy and Cambis had veported that Cathcart's force would 
probably go to Havana, they had n.ot announced it as certain; and Maurepas does 
not seem to have known its destination on June 30 (Maurepas to Larnage,June 30, 
1740, A.N. Colonies B 78). 
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In fact, at the same time as Fleury rendered it this remarkable 
assistance, he suddenly suspended the negotiation of the treaties 
of commerce and alliance. This curious scruple is hard to 
understand. It was quixotic to take such an abrupt and decisive 
way of proving to the world the disinterestedness which he 
claimed in his public manifestoes. He can hardly have hoped 
to avoid a war, for cl' Antin's orders were almost sure to provoke 
one. Fleury did not mean to be the first to declare it, but he 
had little doubt of England's doing so, and had a memoire drawn 
up about the naval and diplomatic steps necessary to be taken 
in that case. 1 The abandonment of the Spanish treaty of com­
merce was too high a price to pay for putting England in the 
wrong, even assuming that Fleury could do so, which was more 
than doubtful after the instructions he had given to d' Antin. 
The two chief reasons which he gave-fear of offending the 
Dutch by provoking their commercial jealousy, and of being 
dragged by Spain into a general war-might have justified him 
if he had never entered into the commercial negotiations at all, 
but do not seem to explain his withdrawing from them at this 
point. Perhaps he feh that they could never come to any good 
end, and chose a moment for suspending them when the Court 
of Spain would have other grounds of gratitude to him. 2 

§ vi. D' Antin' s Expedition to the West Indies 

Laroche-Alart sailed from Toulon on August 26, N.s., and 
d' Antin from Brest on the 3rd of September. For some days 
the news was kept secret; but Fleury soon admitted, without 
embarrassment, that d' Antin at least was on his way to the West 
Indies. He did not mean, he said, to go to war with England, 
to attack or molest any of her ships, or to deprive her of any of 
her poss,essions; but he must prevent her from becoming too 
powerful in America, and above all from engrossing the whole 
trade of the Spanish West Indies. He had reason to believe that 
the immense -preparations for Cathcart's expedition portended 
something more than the seizure and dismantling of fortresses 
as at Portobello and Chagre. Amelot wrote to Bussy in very 
much the same strain. Fenelon was ordered to make a declara-

1 Memoire of Aug. 20, 174-0, A.E. Anglet0rre, 409, f. 30. Yet Fleury declared to 
Van Hoey that though he did not suppose the first reaction of the English public 
would be towards peace, he hoped they might come round to it (Van lfo€y to 
States-Gen0ral, Sept. 13, 1140, A.E. Hollande, 436). 

2 Baudrillart, op. cit. iv. 56CF1. 
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tion to the States-General, which should serve as Fleury's mani­
festo to neutral powers; d' Antin was furnished with another, 
which he should publish as soon as he had struck the first blow 
in America. All these documents haFped upon the pacific inten­
tions of France, and her disappointed hope that England would 
have pursued her controversy against Spain by peaceful argu­
ments, or would at least have confined her ambitions in the 
war to obtaining redress of her grievances and. securing a free 
navigation for her lawful trade. France was acting not only in 
her own interests but in those of Europe, and without any 
collusion with Spain; she would do no more than was necessary 
to preserve the equilibrium set up by the Treaty of Utrecht, 
and to defend the Spanish colonies against aggression. 1 

The world in general might in£er from this pompous display 
of innocence that d' An tin was only instructed to prevent the 
attack which Vernon and. Cathcart were to make against 
Havana or Cartagena. This was what the English Government 
believed. How far it was from the truth, will appear from 
d' Antin's instructions. 

Torres, with the Ferrol squadron of fourteen ships, had sailed 
a few weeks before d' Antin, and there were six Spanish war­
ships already in the West Indies. Against these, Vernon at 
Jamaica had only ten of the line, but he was to be :reinforced 
by a fleet of whose size the French were not certain, which 
might have sailed, or be setting out, or on the point of setting 
out, when d' An tin took his departure. When d' An tin had sent 
back the escort which had strengthened his squadron in the 
Channel, and picked up three ships waiting for him at Marti­
nique, he would have twelve or fourteen ships of the line, of 
which he was to leave one at Martinique. 2 Eight more under 
Laroche-Alart were to join him in the West Indies. At his first 
setting out, he had no orders to co-operate with Torres, so that 
he had to rely on a fo~ce of twenty ships, against Vernon's ten 
at Jamaica, and an uncertain number-his instructions said six 
-which would probably not yet have reinforced Vernon. 

He was to stop at Martinique and take on board some regular 
1 Waldegrave to Newcastle, Sept. 11 and 16, 1740, S.P. '78/223, f. 385, 78/224, 

f. 10; Fenelon to States-General,, Sept. 14, 1740, copy in Add. MSS. 35406, f. 233, 
with copy of declaration to be made by d'Antin; Note of Bussy's declaration, 
Sept. 18, I 740, S.P. 100/7. 

2 He was given the option of sending home four or six ships when he was cfoiar 
of the Channel. 
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troops and volunteers whom the Governor was to raise. He 
was to seek and fight the English, in one way or another. If he 
reached the West Indies before the English reinforcement, he 
was to waylay it in the Windward Islands without even waiting 
for Laroche-Alart to join him. If he could not do this he was 
to attack Vernon, whose squadron was said to be in a very bad 
condition. If he should not be able to meet either Vernon or 
the reinforcement before they joined, he must naturally wait 
until Laroche-Alart came up, when he would again be equal 
or superior to the combined English fleet. He was then to 
attack and destroy it, or blockade it in Port Royal, and if it 
escaped he was to follow and fight it at sea. Having defeated 
it he was to concert an invasion of J amaiea with the Governor 
of St. Domingue, who would have troops and volunteers ready 
for the purpose. He need not conquer and annex the whole 
island, but should confine himself to destroying the principal 
towns and forts, and carrying off the greatest possible number 
ofnegroes from the plantations. If, however, he took possession 
of it, he was to do so in the name of the King of Spain. He 
might find, on his arrival, that Vernon, already reinforced, had 
gone to the siege of Havana. If so, he was to follow him and 
drive him away. If the English should have divided their 
forces, he might do the same, provided each detachment could 
be superior to the English squadron to which it was opposed; 
otherwise, he was to keep his fleet together and deal first with 
any English division .which might be attacking the Spanish 
possessions. As soon as he had struck any definite blow, he was 
to publish the manifesto with which he hacl been provided, and 
to send word to the Marquis de Champigny, Governor of the 
Windwavd Islands, in order that he might forestall the English 
in taking possession of the neutral island of St. Lucia. 1 

Two months later the situation was much changed. The 
French Government had come to some understanding with that 
of Spain about co-operation between their fleets, and the rein­
forcement which Ogle was taking to Vernon had been consider­
ably strengthened as a result of d' Antin's departure. Maurepas 
wrote to d' Antin at first that Ogle was still waiting to set out, 
aQ.d that the increased size of the English fleet need make no 
difference to the · execution of his instructions. But on October 
23, when Maurepas knew that Ogle was to have between 

1 Instructions to d'Antin, A.N. Marine B2 311, Brest, ff. 58 et seqq~ 
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twenty-one and twenty-four ships, he saw that even the united 
fleet of d' Antin and Laroche-Alart would be too small to deal 
with them, and dispensed d' An tin from that part of his instruc­
tions which enjoined him to intercept the reinforcement on its 
way to Vernon. The rest of his orders could still be executed, 
especially as Torres had been told to join him if it should seem 
advisable. He was to take all possible measures for the security 
of the French and Spanish colonies-particularly, of course, the 
formeF-against any attack the English might make. TorFes 
also had been allowed a considerable latitude of acting as he 
should think best after informing himself of the position and 
number of the English ships. He was to fight Vernon, if he 
could find him alone and unreinforced, or to get between him 
and Ogle; and he might join with d'Antin for an expedition 
against Jamaica. 1 

This was Fleury's disinterestedness and moderation; this is 
how he interpreted his promise to respect the lawful commerce 
of the English in America, and to abstain from annexing a foot 
of English soil. It was a long time before he was found out; the 
English Government believed that the French fleets would try 
to hinder its operations against the Spanish colonies, but it had 
not an inkling of these elaborate plans of aggression. It only 
intercepted one of Maurepas's later letters to d' Antin, in which 
the full extent of the French schemes was not clear.'2 

Newcastle was shocked by what he r~garded as Fleury's 
duplicity, though he did not know the half of it. Yet though 
he was staggered, he was not for a moment intimidated. 3 The 
first step of the Government was naturally to increase Ogle's 
strength so that the force he was taking out should make Vernon 
more or less equal to the combined French and Spaniards. The 
exact adjustment of this matter required a great deal of argu­
ment. It was not certain at :first whether the Toulon squadron 
had gone, like that of Brest, to the West Indies; then each of 
them sent back to France a detachment which had strengthened 
it in the dangerous wate:rn off the coasts of Europe. Something 

1 Maurepas to d'Antin, Oct. 7 and 23, 1740, ibid., Brest, ff. 172, 208; C0py of 
Torres's instructions, f. 173. 

2 The letter of Oct. 7, 1740, C.O. 137/57. It appears from Newccastle's private 
letter to Vernon, Oct. 15, 174'1 (Add. MSS. 32698, f. 157),. that they had. found out 
by that time what d'Antin had really been instructed to do. 

3 Newcastle to Harrington, Sept. 6, 1740, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 6; Newcastle to 
Waldegrave, Sept. 5 and 20, S.P. 78/224, ff. 6, 68. 
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also depended on the movements which Vernon was going to 
make after he received this reinforcement. Admiral Norris 
thought Vernon would have to make for Cartagena, because 
the season of Ogle's arrival would be the wrong one for attack­
ing Havana; he believed that Vernon would almost certainly 
have to deal with the French, and must therefore be as strong 
as possible. 1 

Another difficulty arose from Walpole's reluctance to strip the 
British Islands of all their naval defence. He continued longer 
than most of his colleagues to belitwe that the Toulon squadron 
had not really gone to the West Indies, but would prove to be 
employed in an invasion of Great Britain or Ireland; and when 
that was disproved beyond reasonable doubt, he still held out 
against Newcastle's plan for sending almost the whole available 
force of the navy to the West Indies.2 For at one moment it was 
Norris's Grand Fleet of thirty-three of the line which was to go. 3 

This proved to be unnecessary when it became dear that not 
all the ships which had left Brest and Toulon had gone to the 
West Indies. Finally Ogle took with him twenty-five ships, 
which would give Vernon thirty-five of the line against thirty­
nine ( or forty-one) if all the French and Spanish ships in the 
West Indies should join together. 

This was the first time that so great a proportion of die fight­
ing strength of three nations had been concentrated in the West 
Indies.4 The Fn~nch had orders to fall upon the English if they 
could do so with advantage. The English Ministers did not 
know this, so they presumably thought they were taking a very 
daring step when they instructed Ogle and Vernon to attack 

1 Norris's diary, Oct. 21, 1140, Add. MSS. 28133, f. 66. 
2 Newcastle to Hardwicke, Oct. 1, 1740, Add. MSS. 35406, f. 237; Newcastle 

to Vernon, Sept. 12, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 41· 
3 Newcastle to Harrington, Sept. 9, o.s., 1740, S.P. 43/94; Stom~ to Cathcart, 

Sept. 9, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 30. 
4 On Feb. 4, 1740/1, Vernon commanded thirtecm third-rates, sevcmteenfourth­

rates, twenty-two frigates, fire-ships, &c. He had so many small and middl€-sized 
slri.ips that there wern not enough left for convoy and cruising in the Channel; this 
is probably the reason why the Spanish privateers were morn successful there 
between March and December 1741 than at any other time (A Short Account of the 
late Application to Parliament, made by the Merchants of London upon the Neglect of their 
Trade (London, 1742), p. 13). The Government was criticized for fitting out so 
many capital ships in Europe, which were not wanted so long as France remained 
n@utral; but wha,t else was it to do when so many third- and fourth-rates were in 
the West Indies? (Wager to Verntm, Jun@ 21, 1141, Original Letters to an Honest 
Sailor, p. 47; Hireling Artifice Detected (London, 1742), pp. 53, 56.) 
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the French. Though they anticipated that the French fleets in 
the West Indies would only hamper us and defend the Spaniards, 
they had no intention of submitting even to so much. 'For if 
the French and Spaniards get the better of us in the West Indies, 
which they do, if they hinder our expeditions, or the success of 
them against the Spaniards, we must for ever after be at the 
mercy of France.' 1 Vernon was therefore ordered not only to 
proceed with his plans against the Spanish colonies, regardless 
of any obstruction which the French might interpose, but to 
attack the French themselves if he should have sufficient force 
for the purpose. Even Ogle, with his lumbering convoy of 
transports, was told that if he should meet d' Antin on the way 
out and find himself in a condition to fight him, he need not 
scruple to do so. 2 

Here then was a strange situation. Each Government had 
sent out its fleet to the West Indies with orders to commit an 
unprovoked aggression against an enemy who was expected to 
remain on the defensive. Each Government must therefore 
have spent the winter waiting to hear of an explosion in the 
West Indies, for which it believed itself to be entirely respon­
sible. 3 Each side reckoned on attacking, and reckoned without 
being attacked. Maurepas at least seems to have thought it 
possible that d' Antin would have to defend the French colonies, 
when he saw the huge additions made to Ogle's squadron; he 
had not provided for this in his original instructions to d' An tin, 
but gave him orders for it in his later dispatches. 4 Wager, how­
ever, his counterpart in England, entertained no such doubts. 
He wrote cheerfully to Vernon that he thought it no bad thing 
if d' Antin and Laroche-Alart should arrive in the West Indies 
a couple of months before Ogle; they would have time to fall 
ill before the fresh English crews could come upon them. 
Wager had been Commodore on the Jamaica station in Queen 
Anne's reign, when France had sent squadrons to convoy th@ 
Spanish galleons home. He was under the impression that this 

1 Newcastle to Harrington, Sept. 6, I 740, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 7. 
2 Orders to Ogle and Ver.non, Sept. 25, 1740, Add. MSS. 32695, ff. 138, 147; 

Newcastle to Vernon, Feb. 28, 1740/1, vol. 32696, f. 140. This suggestion seems 
to have come first from Harrington~ Sept. 14/25, I 740, S.P. 43/26. 

3 Norris told the Cabinet that 'if I did not believe, thair wol!lld be an (mgage­
ment, I should not be of opinion to send any ships to west indias.; considering the 
grate stres that was layed on our week situation at home' (Diary, Oct. 21, 1740, 
Add. MSS. 28133, f. 66). 

4 Letters of Oct. 7 and 23, already quoted. 
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was the chief purpose of d' Antin's expedition, and that it was 
meant' to do very little more. As he believed that the treasure 
could not be ready for some months after d' Antin's arrival, he 
was quite content to let him stew for a while in St. Louis. 
Besides, he saw better than anybody else how hard it would be 
for d' Antin and Torres to victual and repair such huge squad­
rons in the tropical colonies. 1 Yet he could not have been so 
light-hearted had he known the terrible danger to which Ogle's 
delay would have exposed the inferior force of Vernon for two 
months, if d' Antin had done his duty. Nobody in the Ministry 
seems to have seen that but Lord Chancellor Hardwicke (who 
often noticed points of strategy which were not revealed to pro-­
fessional soldiers and sailors). The Jamaica interest in London 
also saw this point; it invariably scented a danger to that rich 
and defenceless island at least as soon as one existed. Neither 
Hardwicke nor the absentee planters could make any use of 
their forebodings; for if d' An tin was between Ogle and Y ernon, 
with intention to cut them off in detail, there was nothing 
for it but to hope they would join without meeting him, and 
to order Vernon to keep his squadron safe in Port Royal 
harbour.2 

The English Ministers were of half a mind to go farther, 
and declare war. Fleury fully expected they would do it, and 
deliberated accordingly upon his preparations for fastening a 
neutrality or mediation upon the States-General, fitting out 
privateers, and attacking the credit of the English funds (this 
was a stock article of French plans of campaign against England, 
but I have never seen any convincing details of the way it was 
to be done). 3 Newcastle ransacked a similar store of well-tried 
expedients. He thought of obliging the States-General to 
declare war against France, either by appealing to the defensive 
alliance of 1678, which did not apply to the defence of possess­
ions outside Europe, or by making the most of the new French 
fortifications at Dunkirk; these were certainly a technical viola­
tion. of the Treaty of Utrecht, and the Dutch might well be 
induced to resent them. He threw out suggestions of a grand 

1 Wager to Vernon, Oct. I 1, 1740, and Feb. 24, 1740/1, Original Letters to an 
Honest Sailor, pp. 26, 32; May 3, 1741, Vernon-Wager MSS., Library of Congress. 

2 Hardwicke t© Newcastle, Sept. 12, 1740, Add. MSS. 32'1>95, f. 56; Knight to 
Sharpe, Oct. 2, f. 178; Newcastle to Vernen, Sept. 12, 1'740, f. 47. 

3 Memoire ef Aug. 20, 1740, A.E. Angleterre, 4:09, f. 30; Atnelot to Bussy, Oct. 
16, 1740, f. 156; see also Bussy to Choiseul,July -17, 1761, vol. 444. 
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anti-Eour:bon a]liance, although the difficulty of engineering it 
had been one of the chief arguments against going to waF with 
Spain in 1738. He even gave a moment's consideration to the 
curious project of maintaining a neutrality in Europe while the 
two nations attacked each other's possessions in America-a 
sort of recurrence to the seventeenth-century doctrine of 'no 
peace beyond the line'. The historian would have a hard task 
who attempted a serious account of every fantastic idea that 
flashtd across Newcastle's mind and found its way into his 
memoranda. This one was peculiarly impracticable, as New­
castle himself admitted. in the same breath that suggested it. 
There would have been no trusting to such a precarious neutra­
lity, which might expose the British: Isles to a sudden danger of 
invasion; moreover we should lose the use of one of our chief 
weapons against France, namely the destruction of her European. 
trade. 1 

In the end the Ministers decided to do nothing, and wait @n 
events. For a few days they thought war unavoidable, and 
drew up declarations against France, but after a little reflection 
they decided to give Bussy no answer until the King returned 
from HanoveF; in the event they did not answer him in writing 
at all. 2 Newcastle merely complained by word of mouth that 
France was making war upon England without declaring it. 
The King's Speech at the opening of the session announced 
vaguely the intention to pursue the war against Spain, what­
ever obstacles should present themselves; but it made no open 
reference to the dispatch of d' An:tin to the West Indies. The 
French representatives in London judged that th~ Er1glish 
Ministers would he content to make war without declaFing it, 
reserving the right to come into the open if news of a dash 
should arriv~ from Vernon or if the Opposition should insist 
on it. 3 

t Newcastk~ to Har.rington, Sept. 6, 1740, quoted above; 'Considerations', Oct. 
7, I 7 40, Add. MSS,. 35406, f. 266. 

2 Newcastle to Harrington (private), Sept. 19, 1'740, S.'f. 43/94. There are tnr@e 
drafts of an answer to Bl!lssy in Add. MSS. 35406, ff. 243-7. They aU denounce 
the conduct of France, but none of them dedar@s war. The Duke of R.ichmo:nd, 
who was in the confidence @f some of the Ministers, told Lord Waildegrave that 
'The French sending these squadrons to the West lndias is I think as wiain a 
declaration of war as can be made, and you w.in hear that it is looked 1i1pom as such 
here-' (Richmond to Waldegrave, Sept. 1 1, 1740, Waldegrave M$S.). 

3 Bussy to Amelot, Sept. 21, Oct. 3 and 13, Nov. 28, Dec. 5, 174@, A.E. Angle .. 
terre, 409, ff. 88, 122, 148, 263, 303. 
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The Opposition leaders announced to Bussy, of all ill-chosen 
confidants, that they might be obliged to roar loudly against 
the Ministry for suffering d' An tin to set out and Dunkirk to 
be rebuilt; they might even have to demand a war with France. 
They gracefully palliated this intention by explaining that they 
should do so -Out of no animosity ag;ainst France, but only a 
desire to get rid of their own Prime Minister. They suggested 
that when he had been ruined, and they had conquered political 
power for themselves, they would be in a much better position 
than he had ever been, to make a peace on terms which would 
satisfy Fleury. This was not to be l)elieved, for they numbered 
among themselves not only many of the loudest shouters against 
France, but some of her worst enemies. 1 

The winter passed, but no echo of the awaited explosion 
reached Europe from the West Indies. Both the elaborate 
trains of powder, which the two Governments had laid, had 
missed fire altogether. 

It would be a depressing business to relate in detail the 
series of misfortunes which so easily overcame d' Antin's will to 
execute his instructions. At Martinique the soldiers were un­
read.y and the volunteers non-existent. Governor de Champigny 
had failed to collect the first or to inspire the second. 2 D' An tin 
found the same state of affairs at St. Louis, on the south coast 
of St. Domingue, which he reached on November 7, N.S. Here 
the reason was a more respectable one. The Fee, sent out with 
instructions to Governor de Larnage, had been seized by 
H.M.S. Norwich, on pretext of a difference of opinion about a 
salute, and carried into Jamaica. After she had been very 
improperly searched for her dispatches, which had been thrown 
overboard., she was released, but she met with an accident on 
her way to St. Domingue, and never arrived at all. Larnage 
therefore did not hear of the great expedition which he was to 

1 Bussy to Am@lot, Nov. 28, 1 740, A.E. Anglderre, 409, f. 263. When Bussy 
came back to England in 1761 he lamented that 'there were no longer any Opposi­
tion leaders to enlighten foreign Ministers as to the Government's difficulties' 
(Bussy to Choiseul,June 26, 1761, vol. 443). The Opposition of 1739 tried to 
depreciate Walpole by expressing an exaggerated admiration for Fleury's tal,mts 
(Silhouette to Amelot, Nov. 26, 1139, vol. 405, f. 280; to Fleury, Dec. 31, f. 394). 
This compliment took a less courtly form in the popular caricatures of the time, in 
whose tasteless and overcrowded allegories Fleury always appeared as the successful 
villain-Fleury rocking the English lion to sleep, Fleury winning the European 
race astride a fox, Fleury receiving the crown of three continents. 

2 D'Antin to Maurepas, Oct. 1740, A.N. Marine B4 50, f. 77. 
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organize against Jamaica, until d' Antin arrived and demanded 
the troops. 1 

D' An tin had been expressJy ordered to keep his ships in. 
harbour as little as possible, in order to avoid sickness among 
the crews. But he had only ten ships on his arrival; two more 
joined him on November 22. He would not risk his ten ships 
against Vernon's ten, especially as the latter was not so badly 
provided as he had been led to expect; and he was further 
intimidated by a short-lived rumour that Norris had arrived 
at Cape Donna Maria with the whole English fleet. This was 
only Vernon himself with some transports from North America; 
but those very transports· diminished the already faint ho;pe of 
a successful attack on Jamaica, because d' An tin had in various 
ways been disappointed of the land fo11ce that was to accompany 
him. D' An tin therefore stayed in St. Louis and waited for 
Laroche-Alart; as he expected him to arrive soon, it would 
perhaps have been a mistake to delay the junction of their 
forces by a very problematical expedition against Vernon. 
Laroche-Alart had an exceptionally bad passage, and did not 
come in until December 15. By that time d' An tin's crews were 
very sickly, and he was himself laid low by a f eve:1r which 
probably weakened his resolution. 2 

In the meantime a fresh cause for delay had arisen. Maure­
pas's dispatches of October 7 had arrived, and announced to 
d' Antin the project of co-operation between him and Torres. 
It was plainly d' Antin's duty to get into touch with Torres, and 
(less plainly) to stay where he was until he had clone so. He sent 
off a messenger who was intercepted; another had to he sent 
after him, and Torres's reply did not come back until December 
30. The difficulty of concerting action between commanders 
of two different nations mow began to make itself felt. Their 
first duty was to defend two different sets of colonies, and their 
junction only optional. Torres had met a hurricane off Porto 
Rico; Ogle would have met it too if his Government had not 
decided, with a flash of common sense, not to send him off so 
as to arrive in the season.3 Torres had put in to port, badly 
disma'sted. Since then he had got to Cartagena and joined the 

1 D'Antin to Maurepas, Nov. 13, 1740, ibid., f. 79; Larnage to Maurewas, N@v. !i) 

and 13, 1740, A.N. C@lonies C9 A 53. 
2 Larnage to Maurepas, Nov. 20 and 26, Dec. 5, 1'740, ibid.; d'Antin to Maun~­

pas, Dec. 22, 1740, A.N. Iv!arine B4 50,f. 81. 
3 Newcastle afterwards claimed that this d€cision had been taken, out I ean find 
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galleons. D' Antin had suggested that they should unite forces, 
but Torres replied by making difficulties as to the place. He could 
not get so far to windward as Santa Marta, or even, perhaps, to 
St. Louis. He therefore proposed that d' An tin should pick him 
up off Cartagena, or at Cape Corientes, at the west end of Cuba, 
and they should then proceed to attack Jamaica or relieve 
Havana. 1 

D' Antin was now beginning to be affected by two motives 
which only too often deterred French commanders in the West 
Indies from bold enterprises. In the first place, he had not 
unlimited time for action. This was because his victuals were 
running short. He and Laroche-Alart had been provided. with 
six months' rations, and told to execute the whole campaign 
on them if possible. Maurepas had sent after him enough for 
another month, and empowered him to procure further sup­
plies in the colony if he could, and if it seemed important that 
he should stay longer. The Governor and Intendant were able 
to furnish him with a month's victuals, but it was doubtful 
how much farther they could go. The southern quarter of St. 
Domingue, where his fleet lay, was thinly settled and produced 
little; the communication with the other quarters was difficult. 
It would have been just as easy to bring provisions from the 
Windward Islands as from Cape Fran~ois or Leogane; but they 
had been stricken by the hurricane a few months earlier, and 
most of their ground-crops had been destroyed. There remained 
the Fecourse of Jamaica, from whence, strange as it may seem, 
Larnage and Maillart had already drawn supplies of flour 
which they resold for the use of the galleons; but that was 
stopped at present by an embargo. It began therefore to look 
as if d' An tin must make sure of being home by the end of April. 
That would still have given him two months for his campaign 
in the West Indies. To Vernon this would have been an un­
questionable argument for doing something at once; in d' An tin 
it seems to have inspired doubts whether he should be able to 
do anything at all, and reco.Q.ciled him to the thought of doing 
nothing. 

He had, besides, another reason against accepting Torres's 

do trace of it; perhaps it was Newcastle's ex post facto justification of an unintended 
nelay (Newcastle to Vernon, Feb. 28, 1740/1, Add. MSS. 32696, f. 142). The hurri­
cane season was g<merally reputed t<:> end in the middle of October. 

1 Larnage to Torres, ,Dec: 6, 1740, A.N. Colonies C9 A 53; Larnage to Maurepas, 
Jan. 2, 1741, vol. 55; d Antm to Maurepas,Jan. 5, 1741, A.N. Marine B4 5o. 
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offer. Since he had received Maurepas's dispatches of October, 
he had been charged with the additional duty of protecting St. 
Domingue against a possible invasion by a large English force. 
If Torres could not be sure of coming up from Cartagena to 
St. Louis, it could not be safe or justifiable for d' Antin to go 
down from St. Louis to Cartagena. What if the English should 
attack the colony behind his back? Could he be sure of return­
ing to the rescue? Still greater was the danger of going down 
to Cape Corientes and Havana. D' Antin consulted Larnage, 
who presumably did not fail, as Governor of the colony, to put 
forward this point of view, though he afterwards denied that he 
had said anything to deter d' Antin from decisive action. For 
these reasons d' Antin determined to stay where he was, holding 
himself ready to succour Torres at Cartagena or Havana if he 
needed it. 

Torres accepted the offer; but in the meantime two events 
took place which made it less likely than ever that d' An tin 
would join him. Ogle joined Vernon at Jamaica; the arrival 
of four more French ships under Roquefeuille was very little to 
set off against this colossal English reinforcement. On their 
way, some of Ogle's ships met some French men-of-war coming 
round from Petit-Goave to St. Louis. They fell into an engage­
ment, in which each side showed great gallantry and some 
stupidity, and parted without being sure whether their action 
had provoked a war between the two nations. All this put an 
end to d' Antin's prospects of action. He deliberated with 
Larnage and Laroche-Alart whether to procure another month's 
victuals in the colony, and cruise against Vernon and Ogle or 
blockade them in Port Royal. They decided against it. They 
were not sure of persuading Torres to come up to windward 
and join them in time, without whom they would be inferior to 
Vernon's fleet. Moreover, they thought Ogle's fleet could not 
leave port for a month, because it would be employed in water­
ing its ships and refreshing its crews, so that there would be 
little point in blockading a force which did not mean to come 
out in the period for which they could afford to keep it shut up. 
They little knew Vernon; and Maillart, the Intendant, seems 
to have believed they could have found victuals for more than 
a month, though Larnage denied it. If anything more had 
been needed to keep d' Antin at St. Domingue, it was the fight 
of the four ships with the English. The English captains did 
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not appear to have had orders to attack French warships 
and possessions (Ogle having presumably kept his instructions 
to himself, for Yse by the whole squadron if an opportunity 
occurred); but it was not certain such orders would not be 
giv€n after the incident had taken place. 

The only other service d' An tin could have performed was to 
prot~ct the General of the galleons in holcling the fair, and carry 
the treasure back to Europe. There seems to be no word of this 
in his original instructions, but Maurepas afterwards signified 
that he thought it very important. But even if d' An tin had tried 
to set about it from the first moment of his arrival, he could 
hardly have had time for it. The fair could only be set in 
motion by a long train of comings and goings. Messages had 
to be sent to Panama and thence to Lima, and the treasure had to 
come back along the same route. Some of the merchants had 
their money at Panama, but most of them had sent it back to 
Peru. There was also a difficulty which was held to be almost 
invincible: Portobello was destroyed, and the fair must there­
fore be held, if at all, at some place whose communications 
with Peru were even longer and worse. For all these reasons 
d' Antin had little hope of doing this part of his duty, or even 
leaving Roquefeuille behind to do it. 1 

Me therefore returned ignominiously home. He was con­
scious of his failure, and wished he had given orders for hostili­
ties against English ships as soon as he heard of the seizure of 
the Fee. It was Larnage who dissuaded him from it, by the very 
sensible argument that it would be doing too much or too little. 
Hostilities ought to be signalized by a decisive act or not at all. 
That was certainly the spirit of d' Antin's instructions, and 
Larnage rightly added that cl' Antin would do the French 
colonies a great disservice if he provoked Vernon against them 
without destroying his power to hurt them, and then went home 
at the end of the season, leaving them exposed to Vernon's 
vengeance. 2 D' An tin had, in fact, done the Spaniards an ill turn 

I • • F b A . m, @ • • · • e B4 50, f. 223; 
1741 aurepas, Jan. 10 

4- orres to Larnage, 
, epas to Maillart, 
; ov. 14 and 15, Dec. 
t, . 

'7, i74 - loni@s C9 A 53; Feb. 6, Sept. 22, 
17 ' 
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of this kind. His expedition had · attracted to the West Indies 
a much larger English force than had first been intended for 
them. Without doing anything to weaken or frustrate it, he 
sailed back to France at the end of six months and left Tor:res 
to face it. Torres might be to blame for the difficulty he made 
of joining the French squadron; but for all he knew, it was come 
to help him and not to be helped by him, and he had a legiti­
mate grievance when he was forced to leave Cartagena defence­
less on his departure to Havana. This injury was long and 
bitterly remembered at the Court of Spain. 

D' Antin left Roquefeuille behind him for a few weeks with 
six ships, to offer in vain a junction with Torres off Cape 
Tiburon, which was not on his route to Havana. The main 
French squadron sailed sadly back to France, and d'Antin, 
received with obvious coldness by Maurepas, died · at Brest a 
few days after his arrival. 1 

The French squib had petered out; would the English squib 
explode? Fate was somewhat unkind to Vernon as well as to 
d' Antin; but he met her with a manlier resistance. He had 
meant to meet Ogle off Cape Donna Maria ( the south-west end 
of St. Domingue) instead of letting him come into Port Royal. 
Unfortunately, the letter he wrote to Cathcart for this purpose 
did not reach him, and Vernon, waiting at Jamaica for news 
that the reinforcement was ready to join him at the :rendez­
vous, was surprised to see the who]e fleet preparing to come into 
harbour. There was no help for it. The ships must have wood 
and water, and might as well take it in at Kingston. Meanwhile 
the Council of War could be held, to determine the first objec­
tive. The commanders took a brave and wise resolution. They 
had orders to attack the French fleet if they thought fit; and 
they saw the danger to which they would expose Jamaica if 
they went off to any other destination and left a large French 
force ready to strike from the windward. They decided t!hat no 
expedition could safely be undertaken against the Spaniards 
until the French had been cleared away; it was therefore the 
French whom they went out to seek. 2 

It was time wasted, for d' An tin had already got round Cape 
1 Instructions to Roquefeuille, Nov. 12, 1740, A.N. Marine B4 50, f. 91; 

Roquefeuille to Maurepas, Feb. 1, 1741, ihid., f. 277; Bcgon to Maurepas, April 
20, 1741, ibid., f. 279; Maurepas to d'Antin, April 26, 1741, A.N. Marjn<~ B2 313, 
Brest, f. 123; to Roquefeuil.fo, April 26, 1741, f. 127. 

2 Wentworth to Newcastle, Jan. 20, 1740/1, C.O. 5/42. 
4n4 N 
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Tiburon, unnoticed by the English cruisers, and was now slip­
ping away from Petit-Goave. The delay was aggravat~d by the 
wr,ong information of Vernon's scouts, who mistook some 
merchant ships for the French fleet, and kept him off the coast 
of St. Domingue for more than a week longer than he should 
have needed, to find. that the bird was :flown. All these accidents 
made him lose nearly six weeks of his time, and arrive at Carta­
gena nearer the beginning of the sickly season. He might also 
have found and destroyed Torres's ships in the harbour if he 
had come sooner. This was all the service that cl' Antin had 
clone to the Spaniards by his presence; but perhaps it was 
enough, for the expedition miscarried at Cartagena, and the 
English squib went out as foolishly as the French. 1 

Ther~ were moments in 1741 when the history of 1740 nearly 
repeated itsel£ The French repr,esentative in London was 
almost imploring his Government to make war upon England 
while so large a part of her naval force was away in the West 
Indies and the Mediterranean. 2 In the late summer Maurepas 
thought of sending out Roquefeuille to intercept the reinforce­
ments which the English were s€mding to Vernon. He was not 
to go so far as the West Indies this time, but he was to interfere 
quite as effectively with the great West India expedition. This 
design was given up, but perhaps the English Ministry had some 
inkling of it, for Newcastle told Vernon in October that a 
squadron was reported to be destined from Toulon to the West 
Indies, and instructed him to serve it, if he met it, in the same 
way as he was to have served d' An tin. 3 The necessity for this 
did not arise, and the two nations kept the peace at sea till the 
spring of [ 7 44. 

1 Vernon to N@wcastle, Feb. 24, 1740/1, S.P. 42/90, f. 20; Council of War, 
minutes of Feb. 8, 16, and 23, ff. 25, 28, and 39. 

2 Silhouette to Am.elot,July 10, 1741, A.E. Artgleterre, 412, f. 191. The prospect 
0f this made Wager very uncomfortable. (Wager to Vernon, Aug. 18, 1741, 
Or.iginal Letters to an Honest Sailor, p. 48.) 

3 Maurepas to Roquefouille,July 19, Oct. 2, 1741, A.N. Marine B2 314, Brest, 
ff. 26, 121; Newcastle to Vernon, @et. 15, ii7,1p, Add. MS5. 32698, f. 157. 



V 

THE WARS AGAINST FRANCE IN THE 

WEST INDIES 

§ i. The Objects of West Indian Campaigns, 1739-59 

p the West Indies the war with France was a very different 
.l kind of struggle from the war with Spain. The former was 
dictated by the rivalry between one set of sugar colonies and 
another, the latter by an impulse to acquire new establishments, 
or at least new trades, complementary to those which already 
existed within the Empire. The French war was what the 
Spanish war was not, a matter of life and death. 

The English and French had already been at war many 
times in the West Indies. Only one small territory-the French 
half of St. Christopher's-had changed masters in those con­
flicts. Even for this meagre acquisition there was a special 
cause. The Whigs had not stipulated for it at the negotiations 
of Gertruydenburg in 171 o, but the English planters pointed 
out to the Tory Government soon afterwards that the division 
of the island between the two nations was an opportunity for 
illicit trade and a source of insecurity which discouraged settlers 
and investors. 1 So French St. Kitts was kept at the Peace of 
Utrecht. Perhaps if England had conquered more in the West 
Indies that war, she would have kept more; yet that is by no 
means certain, for the instructions proposed by the Admiralty 
for the expedition of I 703 seem to indicate that if either Marti­
nique or Guadeloupe had been taken, it was to have been 
depopulated of Frenchmen and the plantations destroyed, but 
not colonized by the English. 2 On that occasion Sir Hovenden 
Walker-certainly no favourable critic of colonists-alleged that 
the Creoles did not want to keep possession of Guadeloupe, 
because it would reduce the price of sugar ;3 this was not the last 
time such a charge was made. The Government afterwards 
intended some revenge for the French devastation of Nevis and 
St. Kitts; but there is no proof that it meant to annex any of 
the French sugar colonies. At the same time the Secretary of 
State told Governor Parke that he was on no account to 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1710-u, nos. 336, 520, 810 (i). 
2 C.S.P. Col. 1702-3, nos. 170, 192. . 3 Ibid., no. 737. 
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favour an attempt on Porto Rico, because it would lead to 
a further depopulation of the strategically important Leeward 
Islands. 1 

The spokesmen of the West India interest were not so foolish 
as to proclaim aloud their aversion to new sugar colonies, or to 
veto annexations; but there was a remarkable silence on this 
head in the plans of operations which they put forward. James 
Knight, for example, in the suggestions which he made to the 
Ministry, offered. many reasons for destroying the French West 
Indies but none for their permanent conquest. He argued that 
the French of St. Domingue were dangerous competitors to 
Jamaica in peace and still more dangerous neighbours in war, 
when they could threaten the shipping bound for England in 
the Windward Passage, or run down suddenly before the wind 
and sack the east end of Jamaica. We ought to prevent this by 
weakening them; it would diminish the trade and navigation 
of France, enable the .English sugar colonies to recover their 
foreign markets, and encourage them to improve their settle­
ments and re-establish the cultivation of indigo. 2 Governor 
Trelawny suggested more bluntly that 'unless French Hispa­
niola is ruined during the war, they will, upon a peace, ruin 
our sugar colonies by the quantity they will make and the low 
price they afford to sell it at'. 3 Instances could be multiplied, in 
which the same point was implied or stated with more decent 
vagueness. The French Government knew it very well. In the 
Seven Years War the French Ministers of Marine, Machault 
and Moras, were sure that England would attack St. Domingue 
l?efore any other French colony in the West Indies, because it 
most excited their envy and rivalry; Moras only had a slight 
doubt how much of his forces Pitt would think it worth while 
to apply to a purely destructive conquest. 4 -

1 C.S.P. Col. 1706=-8, no. 591. 
2 Knight to Newcastle, Oct. 21, 1740, Add. MSS. 32695, f. 309;July 22, 1744, 

vol. 22677, ff. 53- '7. 
3 Trelawny to Newcastle, March 12, q4:7/8, C.O. 137/58. But Trelawny wrote 

with apparent enthusiasm, a few weeks later, that the planters of St. Domingue 
might be induced to submit by guaranteeing them a free enjoyment of their religion 
and property (Trelawny to Newcastle, April 5, 1748, ibid.). 

4 Office minut~ of Aug. 31, 1755, A.N. Colonies C9 A 97; Machault to Vau­
dreuil, May 20, 1756, B 103; Moras to Bart and Laporte-Lalanne, Oct. 7, 1757, 
B 105. They proved to be mistaken, for St. Doming1,1e was almost the only impor­
tant French colony which the English did not try to conquer in this war. That was 
because even Pitt was afraid of offending Spain by exciting her fears for Cuba and 
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These are the ambitions of the respectable tradesman who 
hopes to increase his custom by hiring the racketeer to destroy 
his neighbour's shop1

• They weFe not peculiar to the English 
planters. The French colonists seem to have disliked the pro­
spect of expansion quite as much, in spite of their greater pro­
gress in sugar cultivation and the more flourishing air of their 
establishments. Those of St. Domingue were very much alarmed 
by the rumours that Corsica was to be exchanged for the Spa­
nish half of their island, because they were afraid of the effect 
of expansion on the price of sugar ;2 at Martinique, Governor 
de Champigny did not want to allow sugar cultivation in the 
Neutral Islands. Nor did the Government's projects or instruc­
tions for attempts against the English colonies usually aim at 
annexation. D' Antin, for example, was to blow up the fottifica­
tions of Jamaica, destroy the towns, and carry off as many 
negroes as possible, but not to keep the island-or if he did so; 
it was to be in the name of the King of Spain. There might be 
a special reason for this ia Fleury's desire to uphold his tattered 
reputation for disinterestedness; but that could not account for 
Maurepas's instruction to Caylus to take Barbados, 'not so 
much, however, in order to keep it as to destroy it and take 
away all the negroes'. 3 The need of slaves often inspired French 
strategy in this way. Always under-supplied, especially in time 
of war, the planters were only too willing to help themselves at 
the expense of the English. · In fact, they had often done it 
during Queen Anne's reign, when they had matters very much 
their own way in the West Indies. The expeditions to St. Kitts 
and Nevis in 1 706, and to Montserrat in I 7 I 2, seem -to have 
been made for little other reason.: 3,200 slaves were taken from 
Nevis, and the inhabitants obliged to sign a capitulation-· not 
to surrender the island, but to hand over 1,400 more who could 

S. Domingo. When Spain threw off her neutrality, the French €olonists and 
Govemment recognized that the danger of St. Domingue was increased. (Bart .to 
Berryer, May 25, 1761, A.N. Colonies C9 A 108; Louis XV to Eo:ry, Oct. 13, 1761 , 
B I I 1.) 

1 'By a well-managed descent upon their sugar islands, of which they are as 
tender as the apple of their eye, we should at once ruin them, and promote the 
welfare of our own for many years. This might be done by only destroying theiF 
ingenios or suga:r-works, and carrying off their slaves.' (The Present Ruinous Land­
War proved to be a H-r War (London, 1745), p. 24.) 

2 . Larnage to Maurepas, Sept. 12.7, 1740, A.N. Colonies C9 A 52 . 
. 3 Instructions to d'Antin, Aug. 14, 1740, A.N. Marine :82 31 I, f. 59; ins-tructions 
to Caylus, Oct. 6, 1744, A.N. Colonies B it 
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not at present be delivered, because they had regained their 
liberty during the invasion and taken to the mountain. 1 

Both Governments showed themselves indifferent to the 
acquisition of sugar islands during the war of 1744; the French 
only projected expeditions which would destroy without acquir­
ing, and the English left expeditions alone altogether, except 
for the attempt which Admiral Townsend was empowered to 
make against Porto Rico or St. Lucia in 1745. This enterprise 
does not really p~ove any great interest in the conquests pro­
posed. Townsend's mission was to save the Leeward Islands 
from invasion by Caylus, and he was only recommended to 
attack the French and Spanish colonies if he should find-as he 
did-that no such invasion had taken place and he had there­
fore nothing, else to do. He did nothing, because he met with 
no support from the planters and little from the Governors in 
this u:ncdertaking. Neither Barbados nor the Leeward Islands 
would give any help to an expedition against St. Lucia; 
Governor Mathew talked. of attacking Porto Rico, but would 
rather send Townsend to sweep the roads of Martinique and 
Guadeloupe, in order to distress the French sugar colonies and 
to destroy their privateers which did so much damage to the 
trade of Antigua. 2 So far as the English Ministry had any desire 
for conquests at the expense of France in America, it looked to 
Canada and Cape Breton. This was very natural, for theFe the 
colonists were as eager for new territory as those of the West 
Indies were indifferent to it; they not only made the expulsion 
of the French from Canada a popular object in England, but 
proved their zeal by the expedition against Louisbourg in which 
they took the greatest part. It was therefore the colonies of 
settlement, not the tropical colonies of exploitation, that chiefly 
inspired the fervour of annexationists in this war. 

There was, however, one interesting action in the West 
Indies. Admiral Knowles and Governor Trelawny wound up 
the war in. I 748 by taking St. Louis, the strongest fort in St. 
Domingue. They do not seem to have set very much store by 
it, for they meant to attack Santiago de Cuba first and St. 
Louis only second, and it was the winds that compelled them 

1 C . 35i, ii"'Vii; 1712-14, no. 38. 
2 

June 18, 1745, Adin. 2/04, p. 285; Townsend to Corb@tt, 
Oct. §; Robinson to Tow11send, S@pt. 14, ibid.; Mathew to 
Tow S@pt. 23, i . 
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to change the order. The motives of this enterprise are not very 
clear from the English records. Both Knowles and Tre1awny 
spoke of battering down all the forts of St. Domingue and put­
ting the inhabitants at His Majesty's mercy. It might be sup­
posed that they conquered for the mere sake of conquering; but 
the French offieers took a different view, and so did Knowles's 
enemies in Jamaica, whom he called the 'Scotch party'. They 
thought he meant to engross the trade of the southern quarter 
of St. Domingue. 

This was very likely true. The English had always had their 
eye on this quarter. It was the nearest part of the colony to 
Jamaica, and the best field fo:r an illicit trade because it was the 
most neglected by the French merchants, and being the latest 
to develop, had more need of labour than any other. The 
merchants of J arnaica had diligently smuggled negroes there 
for some years before the war. The captains of His Majesty's 
ships of war did not disdain to protect this traffic and to dip 
into it for themselves, and Knowles had given particular cause 
of complaint to the French Governor. It would not be surprising 
if one of his first schemes, when he came back to the station as 
Admiral, was to take steps for starting the trade again. His 
friend Trelawny had had his finger in several big dealings with 
the Spanish enemy during this war, and might not share the 
common prejudice that while it was all very well to trade with 
the Spaniards who were not rival producers of sugar, there was 
something wrong in trading with the French, who were. Their 
actions gave colour to this view. The capitulation which 
Knowles imposed upon St. Louis provided expressly that 
English warships should enter the harbour unmolested. It did 
not add that English merchant vessels might do the same, per­
haps because Knowles and Trelawny meant to keep the trade 
to themselves. Knowles and his officers repeated several times to 
the inhabitants of the quarter, that they meant no harm hut 
to the French King's ships and forts, and were ready to 'favour' 
the planters. They particularly insisted that they mus-t not be 
disturbed or opposed in wooding and watering their ships; con­
sidering the abuses to which wooding and watering had given 
rise on that coast, it is not unreasonable to suspect that it was 
meant to cover some kind of trade in this instance. Lastly, how 
else did Knowles come to receive, endorse, and remit to Europe 
in this year a bill drawn by merchants of St. Louis? No ransom 
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was payable according to the capitulatiorr, therefore this bill 
must be accounted for by some· commercial dealings. 1 

Naval orlicers may be shocked by a suggestion which reflects 
so much upon the honour of their service, but the records prove 
that this kind of practice was very far from uncommon at that 
time. The officers of the navy seem to have traded again with 
the French islands after the war. Commodore Holburne and 
Captain Falkingham of the Leeward Islands station were com­
plained of; and the commanders of French frigates who were 
sent out there to suppress smuggling were instructed to circum­
vent the English men-of-war so far as they could politely do so, 
and even to use or threaten force if they thought it safe. 2 

Both Governments changed their attitude to West India con­
quests in the Seven Years War. Great expeditions were sent out 
on both sides. France designed four for the West Indies, whereas 
she had only sent one in the last war. No doubt one reason why 
she could afford to do so was the unimportance of Mediterra­
nean operations after the capture ofMinorca. The Toulon fleet 
was released for service elsewhere; it was to have sent squadrons 
to the West Indies in 1757 and 1759.3 In 1758 and 1761 detach-

1 Knowles to Newcastle, March 13, 1747/8, C.O. 137/58; Knowles to Anson, 
Nov. 6, 1748, Add. MSS. 15956, f. 163; Chastenoye to Maurepas, March 26 and 
April 8, A.N. Colonies C9 A 72; Rane@ to Maurepas, April 9, v0l. 73; Lascelles 
and Maxwell to Know le~, Aug. 6, W. & G. iii. Knowles's smuggling of slaves had 
been the subject of a diplomatic rnpresentation by Amelot to Waldegrave, June 2, 

1739, S.P. 44/225, p. 3; Larnage and Maillart to Maurepas,July 2, 1739, A.N. 
Colonies C9 A 50. The capitulations of the town and fortress are in Adm. 1/234. 

2 Bompar to Grenville, May 21, 1751, C.O. 28/29, CC 128; minute of Nov. 
1749, A.N. Marine B4 62, f. 217; Puysieulx t0 Albemarle, May 23, o.s., 1750, 
S.P. 78/236, f. 72. Of course H0lburne denied the e;:harge (Holburne to Clevland, 
Sept. 28, 1750, Adm. 1/306). 

3 The squadron of La Clue, which Osborn intercepted at Cartagena in the 
winter of 1757-8, was on its way to St. Domingue. I cannot find any evidence for 
Sir Julian Corbett's statement that La Clue was to have gone on to Louisbourg. 
Both Machault and Moras believed St. Domingue to be particularly threatened 
with an English invasion; La Clmi was certainly to stay there until August or 
September I 758, when St. Aignan was to join him. He was then to receive further 
orders, but whatever they could have been, they could hardly have been to go to 
Louisbmirg at that time of th@ year (Moras to La Clue, Sept. 19, 1757, A.N. 
Marine B2 35 7; to St. Aignan, S@pt. 1 g, ibid.). La Clue's fleet which Boscawen 
caught at Lagos ilil 1 '759 is supposed to have been sailing round to Brest in order to 
join C0nflans for an invasion of England; but th@re is some @vid@nce that it too 
was at one time designed by Berryer for the defence of the West Indies. Berryer 
told Beauharnois on July 26 that he must expect no help before the tmd of the year, 
because th@ Government needed all its strength for the invasion 0f England; but 
in another dispatch of July 29, he distinctly implied that La Clu@ was t0 go to 
Martinique (A.N. Colonies B 109). La Clue was under orders to go to Cadiz, for 
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ments were made from the Atlantic fleet itself-so highly did 
the French Government value the preservation of Martinique. 
Bompar and Blenac, their commanders, had orders to recover 
any French islands that had been taken by the English, OF to 
retaliate by seizing some English colonies; and whereas d' An tin 
had been o:rdered not to annex Jamaica at all in I 7 40, or to 
do so in the name of the King of Spain, Blenac was to take it, 
if he could, for the King of France. 1 This, however, does not 
prove that the French Government was converted to a policy 
of annexation, for whatever France had conquered after I 758 
could only have served to redeem her losses. 

The English subdued all the Windward! Islands in this war, 
and annexed the Neutral Islands too. 2 This is the more sur­
prising, since the avowed object of the war was not the West 
Indies but North America. Yet there was logic in Pitt's 
strategy. He attempted no conquest in the West Indies until he 
was sure of Cape Breton and the entrance to the St. Lawrence. 
His friend Beckford, the West India millionaire, said he had 
never been for any West India expedition until Cape Breton 
was ours, but now pressed warmly for an attack on Martinique. 
Such a demand for West India conquests by the leader of the 
sugar interest may seem to give the lie to aU I have said about 
its dislike of expansion; but notice Beckford's arguments. He 
did not propose to keep Martinique; we were to take it in order 
to exchange it for Minorca, and so avoid paying for that lost 
island by restoring Cape Breton a second time. 3 In fact the war 
had entered the stage of collecting counters to be used as 
currency in peace negotiations, in order to keep the conquests 
which we really cherished. It may be asked, why then did Pitt 
not wait a little longer, until he had conquered Canada, before 
he diverted his strength to eccentric operations of this kind? 
which he was making when Boscawen came up with him. Berryer told Aubeterre, 
at Madrid, that La Clue was to go on to the West Indies (A.N. Marine B2 363). 
Berryer might have changed his mind, or concealed it from Aubeterre; but after 
La Clue's disaster, when there was no reason for pretence, he told Beauharnois 
that the squadron had been designed for Martinique (Berryer to Beauharnois, 
Nov. 9, 1759, A.N. Colonies B 109; memoire of March 3, 1760, C8 B 10). This is 
not surprising, for Berry er was very anxious for the safety of Martinique, and 
believed the English would have attempted it the next s~ason after the conqu~st 
of Guadeloupe, instead of waiting till 1762. 

1 Private instruction to Bompar, Nov. 15, 1758, A.N. Marine B2 359; to Blinac, 
Oct. 12, 1761, vol. 368. 

2 For the history of the Neutral Islands, v. infra, pp. 195-216. 
3 Beckford to Pitt, Aug. 26, 1758, G.D. 8/19. 
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Several answers suggest themselves. To attack the French 
colonies in two places at once would be to disorganize the 
defensive combinations by which Machault and Moras had 
kept up the war. If Pitt wanted Canada he had the key of it 
already, for we had taken Louisbourg. Moreover, Pitt did not 
yet think the annexation of all Canada a necessary condition 
of the peace; he only insisted on establishing a satisfactory 
military frontier, and the rest of the province was no more a 
sine qua non than Louisbourg with its fisheries, Goree with its 
command of the slave trade, or even Guadeloupe itself. 1 There­
fore I 7 58, rather than I 7 59, was the year when the prize was 
in our power, and the war became a general contest of endur­
ance in which all ways of damaging the enemy and reducing 
him to submission were equally good, no matter whether they 
resulted in conquests which we had a mind to keep permanently. 

§ ii. The Conquest of Guadeloupe 

Pitt's first success in the West Indies was the conquest of 
Guadeloupe by Commodore Moore and Generals Hopson and 
Barrington in the spring of I 7 59. It was an open question 
whether the island would be permanently annexed to the Crown 
at the peace, but there were some questions which must be 
decided. at once. What was to become of the French planters? 
Were they to stay on the island, and what rights were they to 
enjoy? Many English colonists expected that if we were to keep 
Guadeloupe, we should clear the French inhabitants off it and 
settle Englishmen in their room. Nothing of the sort took place, 
because it was uncertain at first whether the conquest would be 
permanent or provisional, and still more because the English 
commanders signed a capitulation which was very favourable 
to the French; indeed it was far better than the islanders had 
any reason to expect, for their own Governors had tried to fire 
their patriotism by foretelling that the English would drive 
them off the island. 2 

Moore and Barrington even allowed the capitulants to be 
neutral between England and France. They were to have com­
plete religious freedom, and security for church as well as lay 

ll Newcastle to Hardwick@, Oct. 31, 1759, Add. MSS. 32897, f. 520; v. infra, 
pp. 216-26. 

2 Nadau du Treil to Massiac, Dec. 25, 1j58, A.N. Colonies C7 A 17; Beau­
harnois to Nadau, Feb. 8, 1759, C:8 A 62. This was an allusion to the unhappy fate 
of the Acadians. 
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property. They were to enjoy their old laws, which were to be 
administered by their own officers. For the present, they were 
to pay no more duties than they had paid to the King of France; 
if the island was kept at the peace, they were to pay the same 
duties as the most favoured of the English Leeward Islands­
that presumably means the 4½ per cent. on exports. They were 
to have the same freedom of trade within the Empire as any 
of His Majesty's subjects, saving the Navigation Acts and the 
privileges of companies. They should not be obliged to furnish 
barracks for troops or corvees for fortifications; neg1;-oes should 
only be employed on that work with the consent of their masters, 
and their hire should be paid. This was a remarkable conces­
sion, for it put the Guadeloupe capitulants in a better position 
than any other slave-owners in the West Indies, whether 
English or French. Owners of property in Guadeloupe might 
leave it for Martinique or Dominica after they had paid their 
debts in full. Absentees, and those in the service of the King of 
France, might keep their estates in Guadeloupe and manage 
them by attorney. Planters might send their children to be 
educated in France and remit there for their support. Perhaps 
the most remarkable of all the articles was the eleventh, which 
promised that British subjects should not be allowed to acquire 
any lands in Guadeloupe before the peace was signed; only 
then, if Guadeloupe remained an English possession, might the 
planters sell their lands to Englishmen. 1 

The planters of Guadeloupe cannot have looked upon them­
selves as losers by these terms. On the contrary, their sub­
mission to English rule was followed by a sudden transition 
from misery to plenty. Few ships had come fimm France to 
Guadeloupe in time of peace, and none at all in war. Its trade 
was in the hands of the commissionnaires, or factors of St. Pierre, 
Martinique, who took their toll of the feckless planters and had 
many of them in their debt. In war-time, the coasting trade 
from one island to another was at least as much interrupted as 
the voyages across the Atlantic. Therefore Guadeloupe obtained 
victuals and plantation stores with even greater difficulty than 
Martinique, and had large stocks of perishable sugar decaying 
on the plantations for want of transport. The English con­
quest made a great difference to all this. At first indeed it was 

1 Capitulation of Guadeloupe, Adm. 1 /307. The English and French texts of 
the eleventh article do nott quite agree, but this appears to be the sense. 
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a difference for the worse, because the island had been reduced 
to submission slowly and a great deal of valuable property had 
been destroyed; also some slaves were seized as plunder before 
the capitulation, and sold off the island. 1 But the English and 
American merchants soon rushed in to supply Guadeloupe with 
everything for which it had starved, and thus the planters had 
the direct trade with Europe, of which they had been deprived 
so long. 

The capitulation was not quite perfect. There seems to have 
beep. a difficulty about importing coffee into England, or else 
it was less advantageous than sending it to the rest of Europe; 
the planters accordingly smuggled it out to St. Eustatius, and 
smuggled in French wine, which they could not very well 
obtain · from England or any of its dominions. The English 
Governors tried hard to suppress this trade; the colonists, on 
the other hand, sent a certain Deshayes to London to get the 
capitulation modified and the inconveniences remedied. Never­
theless, these were only small grievances to set off against the 
immense advantage of a free and safe export of sugars to one 
of the best closed markets in the world. 2 

Barbados soon complained that the price of victuals was 
raised by the vast shipments for Guadeloupe. North American 
traders hurried their ships for the first market, hoping to arrive 
while the famine prices for lumber and provisions continued 
and produce, especially molasses, could be picked up dirt-cheap. 
Hasten as they might,. most of them were too late, for a normal 
equilibrium of prices was soon restored. The slave-merchants 
made the best harvest of all. Although the captors had carried 
off a number of negroes at the conquest, there were 7,500 more 
in February 1762 than there had been in 1759; at the peace, 
the Liverpool merchants alone claimed to have imported 12,437 

1 Dalrymple to Egremont, Feb. 10, 1762, C.O. 110/2. William Mathew Burt, 
the commissary for the sale of captured goods, complained that the plunder of 
negroes was very small because the capitulation was too favourable and the army 
co-operated with the plant@rs in keeping as much as possible out of his hands. We 
cannot rely much on the evidence of an official cheated out of commissions and a 
planter of a neighbouring island who disliked the leni@ncy shown to Guadeloupe 
(Burt to Pitt, May 2, 1759, and March 7, 1761, G.D. 8/24). 

2 Memoire on Deshayes's business, June 1760, C.O. 152/29, CC 52; Crump to 
Pitt, Oct. 4, 1759, Kimball, Cor-respondence of William Pitt with Colonial Governors, 
ii. 176; Dalrymple to Pitt, July 15, 1161, ii. 450. Choiseul said in 1762 that the 
fall of Martinique would bring relief to the abstmtee sugar-proprietors, who would 
at .last be able to get some <t>f their crops rtmutted to Europe (Choiseul to Ossun, 
April 5, 1762, A.E. Espagne, 530; Paris news of April 12, 1762, S.P. 84/499). 
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slaves into Guadeloupe. 1 As if the unprompted alacrity of the 
English merchants were not enough, the planters instructed 
Deshayes to stimulate them to send out goods on credit. This 
was very necessary because the island had lately been devas­
tated, and because otherwise the commissionnaires of Antigua 
would get the planters as much into their hands as those of 
Martinique had done. 2 

The planters were presumably delivered for a time from the 
need of settling their accounts with the commissionnaires of St. 
Pierre, but they fell quickly into debt with their new purveyors. 
The laws of the French colonies were notoriously insufficient 
to enforce the payment of debts ( though perhaps they were not 
so very much worse than those of the English islands, and the 
horror with which they inspired Governor Dalrymple was 
partly due to his inexperience of the West Indies). The pro­
tection of most forms of property from distraint for debt made 
it easy for the planters to avoid_ paying anything at all, unless 
the decisions of the law were enforced by the military officers, 
who were the real rulers of the French islands. The French 
Governors had not always been inclined to use this sanction. 
Punctuality in the payment of debts was not one of the points 
of honour upon which the accepted code of behaviour most 
insisted. 

Dalrymple set himself to protect the interests of the English 
me:rchant creditors, by measures which may have existed on 
paper under the French rule but had · seldom been executed. 
He introduced a summary jurisdiction for debt, with the 
penalty of imprisonment. This was the mo;r,e necessary, and the 
more unpopular, when it became obvious that the Government 

1 Barbados Assembly Minutes, Oct. 2, 1759, C.O. 31/29; Caleb Cowpland to 
ThomasClifford,June 14, 1759, Clifford Correspondence, ii,no. 185,H.S.P.; Tho­
mas Tipping to Clifford, July 7, no. 195; Thomas Wharton, jr., St. Kitts, to 
Thomas Wharton, Jan. 2, June 18, and July 28, 1759, Wharton Papers, Box II, 
H.S.P.; DalrympletoEgremont,Feb. 16, 1762, C.O.110/2; Considerations on the Present 
Peace as far as it is relative to the Colonies, pp. 11-13. Already on June 27 George 
Dodge reported to his owners that molasses was very scarce and dear at Fort Louis; 
vessels were arriving daily-there were already twenty in the island-and they were 
raising the price so fast by their demand that it would soon be as clear as in the 
English islands (Dodge to Timothy Orne and Co.,June 27, 1759, Timothy Orne 
MSS., xi. 77, Essex Institute). The market continued to disappoint the captains 
of Orne's vessels (John Hodgson to Orne, Feb. 4, 1761, xi. !IOI). Molasses rose 
in a year from 6½ pieces of eight to I I at Guadeloupe, and touched 14 in 1761 ; by 
I 763 it had fallen back to I I. 

2 Memoire on Deshayes's business, quoted above. 
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was going to give Guadeloupe back at the peace; for unless 
exceptional measures were taken, during the remainder of the 
English occupation, to collect the debts or at least to have them 
ascertained beyond the possibility of evasion, there was little 
hope that any real payment would be made within the period 
allotted! for withdrawing English effects. 1 The French, on the 
other hamd, became more determined than ever to avoid paying. 
By the transference from France to England, they had escaped 
from the old creditors to the new, and had obtained access to 
good markets for their produce. They now proposed to make 
the same advantage from their restitution to France: to escape 
back again from the new creditors to the old, and to send their 
produce as soon as they could to the French market, which had 
been very short of sugar since the loss of Martinique and would 
offer high prices to the earliest comers. For both these reasons 
they tried in the last months of the English occupation to with­
hold their effects from their creditors, and Dalrymple did all 
he could to prevent them from doing so. 2 

No doubt his popularity suffered for it; but in the main, 
the English rule was mild and well received in Guadeloupe. 
One or two of the articles of the capitulation were broken. 
Fo:r instance, Dalrymple threatened in 1761 to sequestrate the 
estates of such capitulants as still seiived in the French army at 
Martinique; this he did in order to sow dissension there on the 
eve of the English invasion, but he did not carry out his threat 
after the siege was over. 3 His predecessor General Crump seems 
to have int11oduced justices of the peace, which were not pro­
vided for by the capitulation, but were a necessary substitute 
for the rule of the military officers. They were ineffective 
according to the former commissaire-ordonnateur Marin, who 

1 Thes@ provisions opened a cloor to abl!lses my which Guadeloupe molasses 
em1tinued t l im h · . d it of a lawful importa to the English colonies 
s . Su the effects of English 

he i d period; but it would 
e 'er ubtfui (Israel Lovitt to 

. ne MSS. xii. 63, Essex Insti-
tute). 

1, 1761, C. pt. 1,,h Nov. 16, l'761, C.O. 
16'7, 483) ; about weights 

1 ; , Oct. 2 I, I 762, 
, the merchants 

0 
3 

, 1761, C.O. uo/2; to Egremont, April g, 
ii 162, ibi ' - ug. 7, I 162, ibid. 
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thought they allowed too much licence to the lower orders of 
the people. Other departures from tradition were more welcome 
to the politicians of the island. The Conseil Superieur, which had 
led a repressed and meagre existence under the French Govern­
ment, was allowed more influence and consideration by Crump 
and Dalrymple, and some kind of representative assembly was 
called together upon several occasions.1 The political leaders 
-of the island seem to have used this freedom saucily, but 
Dalrymple overlooked it, as he was convinced that they only 
wanted to make a merit in case the island should be restored 
to its former master, by showing themselves good Frenchmen 
at small risk and expense. The Governors appear to have 
exercised a kind of patronizing tact and common sense, and 
though they doubtless flattered themselves with too high an 
estimate of their own popularity, it is certain that they were not 
hated. 2 

In fact the French authorities at Martinique soon began to 
hint that their subjects envied. a little too openly the prosperity 
to which Guadeloupe had been admitted by the conquest­
cheap slaves and necessaries, good prices, rapidly increasing 
cultivation, new creditors with clean slates. Whether this con­
sideration was in any sense a cause of the speedy surrender of 
Martinique in I 762, is a matter open to doubt. The planters were 
happier and brisker under Governor Le Vassar de la Touehe 
than they had been for some time past, and their spirits had 
been revived by a plenty of provisions, arising from a great 
number of English prizes. La Touche does not seem to have 
suggested this reason for the haste with which the inhabitants 
capitulated without the consent of their leaders.3 

1 Crump to Pitt, Oct. 4, 1759, C.O. IIo/1 (primted by Kimball, ii. 176); 
Dalrymple to Pitt, Feb. 21, 1761, ibid.; Dalrymple to Egremont, Feb. 16, 1762, 
Feb. 26, 1763, C.O. 110/2; Marin to Berryer, July 10, 1759, A.N. Colonies C8 

A 62; Le Mercier de la Riviere, memoire on the siege of Martinique, Aug. 5, 1162, 
C8 A 64. Martinique seems to have had a similar assembiy under English rule; 
its original purpose was the raising of funds (see its petition to Rufane in C.O. 
166/2); Rufane to Egremont,July 19 and Dec. 1, 1762, ibid. 

2 Dalrymple's letters on the questions of language, laws, and religion show a 
very fair degree of enlightenment and understanding, and form an interesting 
appendix to the better-known history of the beginnings of English rule in Canada. 
The harshest thing he did was to dock the negroes of their too frequent Church 
holidays. 

3 Beauharnois to Berryer, May 17 and Oct. 2, 1759, A.N. Colonies C8 A 62; 
Le Mercier de la Riviere's memoire already quoted. Berryer took the view that if 
there was any discontent or disposition to envy the lot of Guadeloupe, it was due 
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In the meantime the Governors of Guadeloupe had at least 
as much trouble to endure from their fellow countrymen as 
from the French. The capitulation had not introduced English 
law; in fact it expressly excluded it. Governor Crump was 
therefore forced to treat all English merchants as camp-followers 
of the army, and to govern them by the Articles of War. The 
Board of Trade half-heartedly suggested the establishment of an 
English judicial system for English subjects, but its hint does 
not seem to have been taken. The merchants remained subject 
either to the French law, or in their dealings with each other to the 
jurisdiction of the Governor as Chancellor. Some of them gave 
vent to a few cant expressions about the liberties of Englishmen, 
but Dalrymple made short work of them. As there were no 
English courts, though he had pressed for their establishment, 
and no English laws in force except the Acts of Trade and the 
Articles of War, he told the merchants that if they did not wish 
to live under such a government they must leave in three weeks. 
They stayed. Dalrymple was a good friend to them, as he 
showed by the zeal with which he helped them to collect their 
debts before the English occupation should terminate. 1 

When the terms of the capitulation were known in London, 
some West India planters were very angry. Newcastle wrote to 
Hardwicke, with a shade of alarm, 

'Lord Anson told me there were letters in Town from some 
American proprietors, who are not satisfied with the capitulation; 
as the island, upon their total submission, is left as it was with regard 
to the inhabitants and their effects, whereas they wished to have 
had it destroyed, their negroes taken, and the whole demolished. 
But it is always a good thing to have in hand.' 

(This last sentence shows that Newcastle thought of Guade­
loupe rather as an asset to bargain with than as a permanent 
acquisition.) Hardwicke made light of the planters' selfish 
objection. 

to recent misgovernment; see his letter to Beauharnois, July 26, 1759, and to 
Beauharnois and La Riviere, Aug. 27, A.N. Colonies B 109; see also May, Histoire 
iconomique de la Martinique (Paris, 1930), p. 288. 

1 Crump to Pitt, Oct. 4, 1759, C.O. 110/1, printed by Kimball, ii. 176; Dal­
rYII1ple to Pitt, Feb. 21, April 15, 1761, C.O. 110/1; Oct. 20, 1761, C.O. IIo/2; 
to Egremont,Jan. 27, 1762, ibid.; Board of Trade to George II, Aug. 31, 1759, 
C.O. 153/18, pp. 155-64; John Harper to Thomas Clifford, Dec. 24, 1761, 
Clifford Correspondence, iii, no. 264, H.S.P.; Rufane to Egremont,July 19, 1762, 
c.o. 166/2. 
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'They have but one point in view, which is how it may affect their 
particular interest; and they wish all colonies destroyed but that 
wherein they are particularly interested, in order to raise the market 
for their own commodities.' 

Orators and journalists continued to deplore the capitulation, 
which had turned what might have been a great advantage 
into a positive injury. 1 

The terms made it certain that Guadeloupe would remain 
a wholly French island under the English flag, at any rate until 
the end of the war. English merchants might reap the advan­
tages of its trade, but planters could not establish themselves 
there. 2 Everything moreover was offered to the French that 
might persuade them to stay, even after the peace. This was 
exactly the kind of acquisition that did the old sugar colonies 
as much harm and as little good as possible. There was no 
opportunity for English planters, and the London market was 
flooded with Guadeloupe suga:rs. There were other reasons for 
the great fall of sugar prices in I 760, but the conquest of 
Guadeloupe was certainly one of the most important. 3 

How differently some West Indians would have treated the 
French colonies, may be seen from the 'Reflections on the true 
Interest of Great Britain with respect to the Cari bee Islands', 
written by a planter of Barbados and sent home in manuscript 
by Governor Pinfold. 4 This author assumes that we must keep 
Martinique, Guadeloupe, and all the NeMtral Islands. The 
Neutral Islands will never be settled, and the older English 
colonies will never be safe, so long as Martinique remains in 
French hands. If necessary, all the Frenchmen must be evicted 
from Martinique; force will not be needed, if the Government 
will edge them out by over-taxation, by exacting the oath of 
allegiance, and by setting up a representative form of govern­
ment to be enjoyed by Englishmen alone. The French planters 
may also be encouraged to leave Martinique by the offer of 
land on extraordinary terms in the other conquered islands, 
where the military governors may administer French laws. The 
production of sugar must be forbidden in the other islands, 
and only allowed to the English population in Martinique, on 

1 Newcastle to Hardwicke, June 14, 1759, Add. MSS. 32892, f. 59; Hardwicke 
to Newcastle,June 15, f. 88; see also the complaint ofW. M. Burt, already refern~d 
to, March 7, 1761, G.D. 8/24. 

2 It seems that Englishmen could rent plantations of the French. 
3 V. infra, pp. 481-2. 4 C.O. 28/50. 
4274 0 
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account of its strategic importance. Cocoa and coffee are not 
so objectionable, as they are complementary to the crops which 
are already grown within the Empire. A conquest in this style 
would not hurt the older English colonies like that of Guade­
loupe. 

A great deal of this argument was very weak, though Rodney 
agreed with the author on the strategic importance of Marti­
nique and the difficulty of settling the Neutral Islands while it 
remained in French hands. This pamphlet illustrates the readi­
ness of some West Indians to consent to new acquisitions on 
condition that they were not permitted to hurt the interests of 
the older colonies. · 

Since the Government would not impose such harsh terms 
upon the conquered islands, the planters could only make 
the best of a bad business. They tried hard to persuade the 
Treasury that the capitulation was not to be interpreted as 
admitting the produce of Guadeloupe to the English market 
on the same terms as their own. They argued that the island 
could not be deemed an English colony until it was annexed 
to the Crown by Act of Parliament, and that the importation 
of its sugars would be a breach of the Acts of Trade; but they 
were baulked by an opinion of the Law Officers and dared not 
bring the question to a trial. I After this they could only declaim, 
and hope that future conquests would not be spoilt by such 
disastrous capitulations. Some of them must have been dis­
appointed with that of Martinique, which did not vary much 
from the terms given to Guadeloupe. 2 It did not contain the 
obnoxious clause against alienating lands to Englishmen­
perhaps that would have been beside the point, for nobody 
expected the island to be kept at the peace. The privileges of 
neutrality between England and France, and the confirmation 
of the religious orders in their rights and properties, were imi­
tated from the Guadeloupe model. The existing laws and taxes, 
however, were only to continue until the King's pleasure should 
be known. In this and in some smaller points, Monckton was 
a harder bargainer than Barrington. Even so, his work did not 
satisfy everybody. The Barbados planter who has already been 
quoted, was particularly displeased with the clauses which 

1 Lascelles and Maxw€ll to Gedney Clarke, June 19, Aug. 3 and 31, 1759, 
W. & G. viii. 

2 Adm. 1/307, and C.O. 166/2. 
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·allowed religious freedom and ecclesiastical landholding; the 
speculators of the neighbouring English colonies appreciated 
the value of a dissolution of the monasteries as well as specu­
lators always do, and besides, the deprivation of these privileges 
might have driven the French inhabitants off the island. 1 

It would have been impossible to avoid giving Martinique a 
capitulation; but the English com.manders did not want to grant 
any terms at all to the weaker French communities on the 
Neutral Islands. Rollo made Dominica surrender at discretion, 
and Rodney meant to force St. Lucia and St. Vincent to do so 
too, though he was ready to allow the small French colony at 
Grenada the same terms as Martinique. He probably differen­
tiated thus between his conquests because he knew that the 
Government would very likely keep the Neutral Islands after 
the war; he meant therefore to leave it a clean slate for what­
ever policy it should think fit to pursue on the subjects of 
colonization, landholding, and political rights. 2 

iii. The Neutral Islands 

Ali the greater West India islands and most of the smaller 
had been occupied by Europeans in the seventeenth century. 
Only one group had been left open for future development and 
conquest. These Neutral Islands, as they were called, were 
some of the smaller members of the chain which lines the 
Caribbean Sea to windward. Their pretensions to neutrality 
were various. St. Vincent and Dominica were supposed to 
belong to their Carib inhabitants; but Governor Caylus re­
ported that the French had bought nearly half the lands of 
Dominica from the savages-he seemed to think that this gave 
the King of France a claim to the whole island. 3 St. Vincent 
was the head-quarters of the Caribs; the original stock o:f 
Yellow Caribs numbered about 400, and the Black Caribs, 
descended from the union of shipwr,ecked negroes with Indian 
women, about 1,100. St. Lucia and Tobago were only neutral 

1 Postscript to the 'Reflections on the true Interest of Great Britain', C.O. 28/50. 
2 Rollo to Pitt, Jurn: 8, 1761, C.O. 110/1; Rodney, ord€rs to Hervey, F€'b. 24, 

1762, G.D. 20/2, p. 137 (in spite of these orders some provisional terms were 
granted to St. Lt1cia); orders to Swanton, Feb. 17 and April 17, 1762, pp. 131, 
203; Rodmily seems to have had h.is eye on some land in St. Vincent, and appli€a 
to the Ministry for a grant ofit (Egmont to Rodrnily, Aug. 19, 1163, G.D. 20/20). 

3 Caylus's memoire on his government,? 1749, A.N. Coloni€s C8 A 58; instmctions 
to Bompar, Aug. 25, I 750, B 91. 
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in the sense that their title, disputed between England and 
France, had never been clearly established one way or the other, 
and neither nation openly occupied them. 

Whether they were neutral or merely without a recognized 
sovereign, all four islands were inhabited or frequented by 
English and French. The latter far outnumbered the former as 
settlers, but did less than half the trade. In fact there were 
seldom found more than a handful of British families, most 
of them Irish. The number of Frenchmen was often over­
estimated; probably there were never more than 400 men fit 
to bear arms on St. Lucia, ~nd rather less at St. Vincent and 
Dominica. There were only a few dozen French families and 
no English at Tobago, but the turtlers of both nations often 
went there and sometimes set up huts for the season. 

Some of the French families on Dominica were said to have 
lived there from father to son since I 660. 1 How and why they 
went there, is no mystery. All the West India colonies were 
largely peopled at first by the restless, the unsuccessful, and the 
misfits. In their early days they had wars, rapes, and disorders 
enough to content them; but when the hand of discipline 
tightened its grip about I 660, and the cultivation of sugar 
introduced or revived the difference of rich and poor, there 
were still some colonists whose original hatred of government, 
and of a stratified social system, was strong enough to make 
them prefer a slovenly hole-and-corner existence elsewhere. 
Buccaneering, and the newer settlements of Jamaica and St. 
Domingue, had carried away many adventurers from the 
Windward Islands for one more round -of riot and disorder. 
::But even Jamaica and St. Domingue, even the buccaneers 
themselves finally turned respectable for the most part. Piracy 
was suppressed. Those ways of escape were closed, and there 
only remained such distant backwaters as the Moskito Shore, 
the French establishments at Darien, and the Neutral Islands. 
People were still going to those islands in I 740 to get away, as 
they said, from laws, taxes, and governments. 

Not all were good-for-nothings; no doubt there was a great 
deal of sober enterprise. The population of Martinique was 
abundant and almost all the cultivable soil occupied; the system 

1 Bompar to Grenvill€, May 21, N.s., 1751, C.O. 28/29, CC 128. Bompar's 
statement may not be worth very much, for he was making the most of the argu­
ments against expelling the inhabitants. 
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of inheFit~nce promoted large families, whose younger members 
could find little place as independent producers in a heavily 
capitalized agriculture. So long as there was undeared bush in 
Martinique, they struck out into it for themselves; but when 
they had filled it up, their successo:rs had no recourse but to 
emigrate to Guadeloupe or the Neutral Islands. These had 
no authorities which the Government recognized in time of 
peace, but seem to kave elected their own commandants. 
Intendant La Croix appointed notaries, who sometimes acted 
as judges. 1 

These small communities were scattered up and down the 
islands; how widely, may be judged from the report of Com­
mandant de Longu.eville, who complained that it took a week 
for I 50 men to assemble in St. Lucia upon an alarm. 2 There 
were a few fai:r-sized estates in Dominica, but even the largest 
were understocked with slaves. 3 The people raised provisions 
and the minor West India crops-cotton, coffee, cocoa; they 
cut dyewoods and hardwood timber.4 This last artide was 
important, for the sugar mills of the settled islands needed a 
great deal of it; the lumber of North America was unsuitable, 
and the Dutch settlements on the mainland were the only other 
places where supplies were to be had. The sugar-planters of 
each nation were therefore interested in the sovereignty of the 
disputed islands, and pressed their Governments to claim it as 
the only way to avoid depending on foreigners for this kind of 
timher. 5 They also valued highly the ground provisions which 
they imported from these islands. The French seem to have 
needed these more than the English. They were worse supplied 

1 Poinsable to Maurepas, Jan. 8 and Feb. 8, 1744, A.N. Colonies C8 A 56. 
May, in his Histoire economique de la Martinique (p. 101), gives another reason for 
the emigration to St. Lucia: the cocoa-trees of Martinique were destroyed in 1727 
by a hurricane, and some of the ruined planters had to leav:e the island. 

2 Longueville to Maurepas, Jan. 12, 1745, A.N. Colonies C8 A 56. 
3 R.P. Camille de Rochemonteix, Le Pere Antoine Lavalette a la Martinique (Paris, 

19°7), p. 71. 
4 They do not seem to have produced any sugair, perhaps because nobody would 

dare to invest so large a capital as a sugar-plantation required, without a vaticl 
title to the soil and an assurance of the political future of the islands. Faither 
Lavalette, who bought and cultivated a large estate on Dominica after 1748, would 
not begin a sugar-work, though he made preparations for doing so when the title 
to the island should be cleared up (Rochemonteix, op. cit., p. 74). 

5 Barbados Committee of Correspondence to Agent Sharpe, Oct. 31, 1 753, 
C.O. 28/42; petition of John Maynard, 1754, ibid.; Lascelles and Maxwell to 
Philip Gibbes, Jan. 10, 1750/1, W. & G. v. 
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from North America, and perhaps they took less care to culti­
vate negro provisions. 1 

The French sugar-planters had yet other interests in these 
islands. They depended in part upon the negroes which were 
smuggled by that channel. Always under-supplied by their 
own traders, they were glad to receive the surplus of the 
Barbados slave-market. Both Governments objected to this 
commerce; it contravened. the Treaty of I 686, by which they 
had agreed to restrain all intercourse between their West India 
possessions. The French Ministers of Marine never tired of 
repeating fruitless edicts, regulations, and penalties. The Eng­
lish Government took less trouble. That energetic martinet 
Sir Thomas Robinson, Governor of Barbados, complained of 
this trade in I 742; he thought it had increased since the out­
break of the Spanish war, which had forced the slave-dealers 
of Barbados to look for new customers. He feared it would 
result in the smuggling of French luxuries into the English 
colonies. 2 Be that as it might, the trade did not rest in war or 
peace. It was carried on briskly between Barbados and St. 
Vincent in I 759, when Commodore Moore's efforts to detect it 
cost him his popularity.3 

The military value of the Neutral Islands was even greater. 
Tobago was to windward of Barbados; in French hands it 
would be a very dangerous base for interrupting the trade from 
England and North America as it arrived in the West Indies. 
The harbour was believed to be good and free from hurricanes. 4 

St. Vincent and Dominica were chiefly valuable to France 
because they assured the communication of Martinique with 
Grenada and Guadeloupe.5 St. Lucia was the most necessary 

1 This is only an inferenc€ from the morn frequent objurgations of the French 
Governmel'lt upon this subject; the English Government interfernd much less with 
things of this kind, so that an equally serious evil might be less noticed in its 
correspondence. 

2 Instructions to Caylus, Oct. 6, 1144, A.N. Celonies B 18; to Bompar and 
Hurson,July 6, 1751, B 93; Rouill€ to Bompar and Hurson, Feb. 26, 1752, B 95; 
Robins@n t@ Newcastle, Nov. 27, 1742, C.O. 28/46; instructions to Richard Derby, 
Dec. 29, 1141, Deroy family MSS., x. 2, Essex Institute. The French Government 
had complained of this trade to Newcastle in 1728 (Memoire ofBrnglie, 1728, C.O. 
28/21, Y 20). 

3 Moore to Cleveland, Oct. 3 and Dec. 13, 1159, Feb. 8 and 26, 1760, Adm. 
I /307. 

4 Caylus's memoire of 1749, A.N. Colonies C8 A 58. 
5 Maurepas to Caylus, Nov. 23, 1145, A.N. Colonies B 81; Caylus to Maurepas, 

Dec. 24, 1746, C8 A 57; Beauharnois to Nadau, April g, 1759, C8 A 62. 



WARS AGAINST FRANCE 199 

of all to the security of the French Windward Islands. The soil 
was not so good as that of the other three islands, but its military 
importance made the French Government take more inteifest 
in it. It was just to windward of Martinique, and had one of 
the finest small harbours in the West Indies. The English knew 
this, but their views were purely defensive. They did not want 
to own the island themselves, so much as to prevent the French 
from doing so. St. Lucia in French hands would be an advanced 
post for French privateers, would interrupt the trade from 
Barbados to the Leeward Islands, and disorganize the squadron 
on the station. 

There was only one purpose for which the Governments and 
colonists did not want the Neutral Islands. They had little or no 
wish to conquer them and plant them as sugar colonies. On 
the other hand, so far as they still hoped to compete in the 
world market, they would hardly be better pleased to see their 
foreign rivals settle the Neutral Islands. Thus Governor Gren­
ville of Barbados said of the French colony on Tobago, 'The 
vicinity of this island is such that in times of war it will cut off 
the trade here by hostilities, its fertility is such that in times of 
peace it will undo this island by its crops.' 1 

The opposition of the sugar interest to expansion is very well 
illustrated by the history of these four islands. Already in I 664 
the people of Barbados had shown themselves somewhat averse 
to an expedition to St. Lucia. Later in the seventeenth century, 
two English companies were formed to colonize Tobago under 
the authority of the Duke of Courland, one of the claimants to 
its sovereignty; but the first, under Pointz, was frustrated by 
the opposition of the Barbados sugar-planters, and the Courland 
agent who made the second agreement had to allow a clause 
forbidding the cultivation of sugar in the new colony. 2 For a 

1 Grenville to Sharpe, Jan. 26, 1!748/9, C.O. 28/29, CC 23. The author of 
,The Alarm Bell, or Considerations on the Present Dangerous State of the Sugar Colonies 
(London, 1749) calculates the rate of increase of sugar cultivation in the French 
and English islands; one of the measures he proposes for redressing the dispropor­
tion is to insist that the Neutral Islands shall remain unoccupied. 

2- He is reported to have said: 'This is an important article, and I do not believe 
the island will ever be settled unless this prohibition is inserted in the treaty; for 
the Barbados merchants are so far from being willing to join the Company that 
they rather begin to put difficulties in the way. I know very well how and why 
the wretched Pointz was ruined in the time of C:harles II. Although the King 
himself gave him underhand encouragement, so that he got several ships ready 
in the Thames to carry the colony out, he ( the King) changed his mind as soon 
as the Governor of Barbados whispered in his ear that if he allowed the settlement 
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long time the routine instructions of the Governors of Barbados 
contained a clause forbidding them to grant lands in any of the 
Neutral Islands, which were supposed to be within their juris­
diction; but in 1721, when drawing up the instructions for 
Lord '.Belhaven, the Board of Trade decided to make a change. 
They proposed. that he should be allowed to make grants of not 
more than 300 acres in Tobago. He was not to grant any land 
to planters who already had estates in the older colonies, and 
it was to be an express condition of every patent that no sugar 
was to be grown. The first of those provisos was evidently 
designed to preserve Barbados from being weakened by emigra­
tion; the second, whose tendency is even more obvious, was 
disallowed by the Privy Council. 1 

About the same time two attempts were made to settle 
St. Lucia and St. Vincent-by Marshal d'Estrees on behalf 
of France, and the Duke of Montagu on behalf of England. 
Neither of these enterprises succeeded. That of Montagu was 
directly frustrated. by the hostile intervention of the Governor 
of Martinique. 2 

The result of these attempts upon the Neutral Islands was to 
bring the matter under the eye of diplomacy. After some argu­
ment, the English and French Governments agreed to evacuate 
the islands pending a determination of the title. The proposal 
seems to have come from France, but was almost equally con­
genial to England. Since neither Government wanted positively 
to colonize these islands and each aimed only at preventing 
the other from colonizing them, there was little reason why the 
islands should not remain unoccupied for ever. However, 
there was a great difference in the zeal of the two nations to 
make the evacuation a reality. So long as the islands were left 
alone they were virtually French, and capable of becoming 
openly so at the first opportunity. The French Government 
would certainly suffer from the continuance of the illicit trade, 
which it took very seriously ;3 but that was a slight thing corn­
of Tobago, the English sugar plantations, and esp€cially those of Barbados, which 
paid such grnat taxes every year, must b@ ruined' (J.C. P., Tobago Insulae Caraibicae 
in America Sitae Fatum, Groningen, 1727, pp. 105=6). 

1 C.S.P. Col. r720=r, nos. 6 (i), 148, 659 (i), 666, 693 (i); r722-3, no. 36 (i). 
2 C.S.P. Col. r722-3, nos. 10, 36 (i), 126, 266, 419, 483, 820, 821. 
3 No doubt this explains why it was the French Gov«miiment which added to 

the draft order for @vacuation the claus@ forbidding all trade and navigation at 
th@ islands €xcept for ships' wood and water. The English Board of Trade did not 
want to have breaches of this prohibition punish€d by confiscation; it would go 
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pared with the possibility of acquiring St. Lucia, the inconveni­
ence of injuring a vested interest, and the injustice of depriving 
French subjects of an established means of livelihood. 

It was therefore the English Governors who were always press­
ing for a real evacuation, and Governor de Champigny who 
showed himself uncommonly fertile in pretexts for delay. The 
proclamation for the removal of all inhabitants was published 
at St. Lucia in I 735, and that was all. If the settleFs ever with­
drew, they came back in a week or two. The six months which 
they were allowed for taking off their crops lengthened into five 
years; and in 1740 Governor Byng was still pFessing Champigny, 
and Lord Waldegrave was still pressing Cardinal Fleury, to 
evacuate the islands in good faith. Champigny later said that 
he detei"mined in I 7 40 not to comply with any order for removal 
he might receive, but to preserve St. Lucia for France. He 
seems to me to post-date this good resolution by at least five 
years. As for Fleury, he was assuring Walclegrave, a month 
before d' Antin sailed, that effective instructions should be sent 
at once; 1 but a few days afterwards Maurepas told Champigny 
that as soon as he heard of d' Antin's first blow in the West 
Indies, he was to forestall the English in seizing St. Lucia.2 No 
blow was struck, so that the 'neutrality' of St. Lucia was allowed 
to continue four years longer, until the war broke out at last. 
Byng and the legislature of Barbados became so impatient 
that they asked the Admiralty to have the French settlements 
destroyed outright. 3 

The English made little attempt, all this time, to colonize 
St. Lucia. The Duke of Montagu's title to it was one great 
obstruction; nobody liked to have the fatigue and danger @fa 
settlement, only to find, if the English claim to the island should 

no farther than invoking His Majesty's displeasure, whioh, as experience had 
proved and was to prove again, was not enough to kill a fly in the W €St Indies 
(Poyntz to N€wcastle, March 4, N.s., 1730, copy in C:.O. 28/21, Y 18; Mimoire of 
Broglie, 1728, Y 20; Plenipote:ntiaries to Newcastle, Sept. 17, 1730, Y 25 (i); 
Newcastle to Board 0£ Trad€, Y 43 (i); Board of Trade to Neweastl€, Nov. 26, 
1730, c.o. 29/15, £. 218). 

1 Byng to Newcastle, Feb. 23, 1739/40, C.O. 28/45, f. 43Q; Wald@grave tQ N@w­
eastle, July 28, 1740, S.P. 78/223, f. 208; Champigny to Maurepas,June 7, 1745, 
A.N. Col©nies C8 A 56; Champigny to Byng, Mareh 13 and May 2, N.s., 1740; 
Byng to Cbampigny, March 27, o.s., all in Barbados Council Minutes of April !.29, 
1740, c.o. 31/21. 

2 InstructiollS to d'Antin, Aug. 14, 1740, A.N. Marine B2 311, Brest, f. 60. 
3 Barbados Assembly Minutes,Jan. 10, 1739/40, C.O. 31/22; Warren to Corbett, 

Feb. 6, 1142/3, Adm. 1/2653. 
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be made good, that he was an unauthorized squatter without 
rights against the noble Proprietor. Montagu was several times 
asked for some general permission to grant and take up lands; 
but he never gave it until the first year of the war. 1 

The French Government had not the same designs on St. 
Vincent and Dominica. It considered that the French popula­
tion in the Windward Islands was enough to fill and clefend 
two or th~ee colonies, but not nve. Besides, the settlements on 
St. Vincent and Dominica offered opportunities and excuses 
for illicit trade. Maurepas therefore ordered Champigny to 
recover the Frenchmen from those two islands, and keep them 
in Martinique and Guadeloupe-especially the latter-to streng­
then the militia. Later, when the war broke out, he told him 
to send them to St. Lucia instead. Champigny was either 
very lazy or very obstinate, and did nothing of the kind. The 
French Government wanted the islands reserved for the Ca_ribs, 
according to a treaty of :E 660. That was the most convenient 
way of blocking the English claim without insisting on an incon­
venient acquisition; but the settlers continued to buy out the 
Caribs in Dominica, and to obtain a hold over those of both 
islands by the two most powerful agents of imperialism, rum 
and missionaries. 

There was nothing that could be called a French colony in 
Tobago before Caylus's expedition of 1749. The Indians were 
supposed to be subject to the Governor of Barbados, but some 
injuries done them by English privateers disgusted them, so 
that they fell under French influence and accepted presents and 
a 'General' from the French Governor as they had formerly 
had them from the English; later, however, they returned to 
their earlier affection. for England. 2 

As soon as the war broke out in 1744, Champigny made ready 
to throw some soldiers into St. Lucia. The chief difficulty arose 
from the superiority of the English at sea; their warships might 
have intercepted the little expedition, or bombarded the 

1 Jo t t0 M n agu, S~pt. 17, 1126, C.O. 28/19, X 20; Robinson to 
Newc .0. 28/46. 

_ny, March 1 15, Oct. 30, 1144, A.N. Colonies 
B as, Jan. 8 a 8, 1144, vol. C:8 A 56; Champigny 

_, ibid.; ins to Caylus, Oct. 6, 1744, vol. B j8; 
ov. 2'7, 17 28/46; 'Tyrrell to Moore, Oct. 19, 

; BaFbad0s ncil Minutes, March 6 and April 10, 
1 759, 
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batteries before they were set up, or landed a force and cut 
off all communication between St. Lucia and Martinique. If 
they took any of these measures, the new colony could not sur­
vive. Champigny was inclined at first to wait for a naval rein­
forcement which Maurepas had promised him for this purpose; 
but later he decided to take the risk. He succeeded, so far as 
any English opposition was concerned; a detachment of 400 

Martinique militia and 50 regulars was landed, the cannon were 
safely sent, and the batteries raised without any interference by 
Commodore Knowles. 1 

The inaction of the English forces was criticized, and is a 
little hard to understand. Everybody on both sides knew that 
the longer the defences of St. Lucia were allowed to grow, the 
harder they would be to destroy; and Knowles had several 
months in which to use his superior force. The omission is the 
more remarkable in Knowles, for he was enterprising to a fault, 
and very much interested in the conquest of St. Lucia. (Later 
in the war, he asked leave to come southwards from Cape 
Breton and attempt St. Lucia; and while he was in the Leeward 
Islands for a few days on his way to Jamaica, in January I 7 48, 
he proposed to Pocock an attack on one of the French islands.) 
We can discount the suspicion that, having married a Barbadian 
wife, he was infected with the dislike of expansion which pre­
vailed in that island. According to his own account, he now 
thought of destroying the new batteries, but preferred to go up 
to Barbados and get an expeditionary force to possess St. Lucia. 
There he found that nobody would volunteer. The ostensible 
reason, which was given to Knowles, was the Duke ofMontagu's 
patent; so long as it was unextinguished, adventurers were 
afraid to undertake a settlement. 2 No doubt there were oth@r 
reasons in the planters' minds, as the events of the next year 
plainly showed. 

In the autumn of 1745 Vice-Admiral Isaac Townsend 
appeared on the Leeward Islands station with a large force. 
He proposed an expedition against St. Lucia; Governor Robin­
son passed on the suggestion to a select meeting of Barbados 

1 Champigny to Maurepas, May 26, Aug. 6 and 8, Sept. 7, 1744, A.N. Colonies 
C8 A 56. 

2 Robinson to Newcastle, March 24, 1744/5,July 7, 1745, C.O. 28/46; Knowl~s 
to Corbett, Oct. 15, l 744, Adm. 1 /2007; Lords of the Admiralty to Newcastle, 
Jan. 12, 1744/5, S.P. 42/28, p. 10; Knowles to Anson, April 30, 1747, Add. MSS. 
15956, f. 136. 
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politicians. The deliberations were traversed by the violent 
faction whicih raged in the island on account of the Governor's 
refusal to call the Assembly, which meant to inquire into the 
peculations of his stepson-in-law; but even if the project had 
not been so unfortunate as to be patronized by Robinson, there 
were genuine reasons why it should have failed of acceptance. 
The Speaker and the Attorney-General, the two most artful 
leaders of the Opposition, played upon the strongest passions 
of the planters. It was impossible, they said, for Barbados to 
spare a man without great danger; indeed, the colony was itself 
in need of further support and an increased garrison of regular 
troops. :Besides, it was not to the interest of Barbados that St. 
Lucia should be settled; rather it should be left neutral. 1 

That was almost the end of English ambitions in the Neutral 
Islands during this war, but it was not the end of the troubles 
of St. Lucia, which came rather from within. 2 The Martinique 
militia had departed. for that island unwillingly; Champigny 
had meant to raise six hundred men, but could only get together 
four hundred. 3 The colonial militia were always reluctant to 
leave their plantations exposed; how much greater must be 
their distaste for an expedition to another island, in which their 
communications with tJ:ieir home might, indeed must, be cut 
off. Champigny was to encourage them by a promise of land 
in St. Lucia, but he did not want to do so. He argued that it 
would be better to wait until a regular scheme could be adopted, 
St'.> as to avoid abuses; but his real motive was the fear of new 
sugar colonies which might thrive at the expense of the old. 
Champigny was a planter as well as a Governor, and he did not 
want to bring down the price of sugar. Longueville, the new 
Commandant of St. Lucia, built more upon his hopes of making 
a fortune in the new island than on any property he may have 
possessed in the old; he was for allowing and encouraging sugar 
plantation in St. Lucia. He insisted that the colony would never 
be set on its feet without it; that the settlers already in the island 

1 Robinson to Townsend, Sept. 14, 1745, Adm. 1/305; Robinson's answer to 
charges, n0. 15, Feb. 2'7, 1745/6, C.O. 28/47; Lascelles and Maxwell to Thomas 
Applewhaite, Jan. 15, 1745/6, W. & G. ii: 'We are intirely of your opinion that 
you did right not to send any of your people to make conquests of the French 
islands, as it would diminish your strength on which you are to depend when it 
may happen to be your turn to be attacked.' 

2 The Admiralty r€commended Legge to take St. Lucia if possible (Instructions, 
Nov. 7, 1746, Adm. 2f68, f. 395). 

3 Longueville to Maur€was, June 20, I '744, A.N. Colonies C8 A 56. 
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had willingly furnished their negroes for the public works in the 
expectation that they would be rewarded by liberty to grow 
sugar; finally, he said, Champigny ought to know that the more 
sugar was made, the more was consumed. The Government 
ordered Champigny and Intendant Ranche to grant lands to 
people with capital and negroes, but Champigny continued to 
obstruct. He brought himself to issue I 50 licences for small 
settlers to line and strengthen the sea-shore; but these were not 
the stuff of which sugar-planters were made, and hardly any­
body applied for the licences. 1 In fact, nothing had been done 
before the summer of I 745, when Champigny was superseded 
by Caylus. Even then there was little progress for some time. 
The Government's surveyors proceeded with their business very 
slowly, and it was nearly the end of the war before any lands 
were actually granted. 2 

Besides land, the settlers wanted negroes. Martinique had 
never had quite enough for her own plantations, and could 
spare few to St. Lucia, especially as the French slave-trade was 
almost completely paralysed by the war. 3 Nor had owners of 
negroes much inducement to send them to the new settlement, 
where the corvees for work on the fortifications were exceptionally 
heavy.4 Besides, there was a serious doubt whether the Govern­
ment would see fit or be able to keep St. Lucia at the peace; 
this was increased by the delay .to set up any :regular authorities. 
Longueville said of the inhabitants in I 7 46 that 'until they see 
a regular Government established, clergy in the parishes, a 
judge, grants of land and troops to preserve the whole, they will 
never he reassured, whatever one may say to them'. He fre­
quently repeated that the colony would never make much 
progress while the actual and possible planters remained uncer­
tain of its political future. 5 

For all these reasons the forced enthusiasm of Martinique for 
its daughter-colony very soon cooled away. The detachment of 

1 Longueville to Maurepas, June 20, 1744, Jan. 12, 1745, A.N. Colonies C8 

A 56; Champigny to Maurepas,June 7, 1745, ibid.; Maurepas to Champigny and 
Ranche, Oct. 30, I 744, B 78. 

2 Ranche to Maurepas, Sept. 20, 1746, C8 A 57; Longueville to Maurepas, 
Nov. 9, 1746, ibid. 

3 Caylus to Maurepas,July 19, 1745, C8 A 56; Longueville to Maurepas, March 
15, 1747, vol. 57• 

4 Twelve days' corvee in the year for each negro was a good deal for a colony that 
had not been used to regular taxes. 

s Longueville to Maurepas, Feb. 3 and Nov. g, 1746, C8 A 57. 
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militia could not be relieved, for the gallant ·planters hid in the 
woods to escape envolment. The first four hundred trickled 
home, so that in January 1745 there were only a hundred left, 
and when Caylus arrived there were no more than nineteen. 1 

The fifty or a hundred regulars were not enough to defend the 
colony: Longueville asked for :five hundred. Thus St. Lucia 
was in immediate danger of conquest by the English, if only 
they should show a little spirit-a fact which naturally discour­
aged any but adventurers from embarking their fortunes in it, 
and may well hav€ given the old-established squatters some 
cause for anxiety. 

These squatters could muster, if they chose, four hundred 
armed men; but besides that it took them a long time to collect 
in sufficient numbers, not all of them had enough goodwill 
to appear at an alarm. As Longueville said in the next war, 
at least a third of them would stay behind in an emergency to 
mind their women and their slaves. Most of them were ready 
at first to contribute their negroes to the corvees (though some 
concealed or understated the number of their slaves), but they 
were soon discouraged. Longueville had to deal with a con­
certed opposition to corvees; but he put it down by banishing the 
ringleader off the island. 2 As for the land, the Government had 
to deal with a somewhat awkward state of affairs. Many of these 
squatters, who were expected to be the mainstay of the colony, 
had arbitrarily taken up and now claimed far more land than 
they were cultivating. Maurepas ordered Champigny to cancel 
those titles and all sales based upon them, and to regrant such 
lands as the squatters should require and deserve by the capital 
and labour at their command. 3 

It is not surprising that the population of St. Lucia increased 
little. Champigny and Caylus were ordered to transfer to it the 
French of Dominica and St. Vincent; but it was no easy matter 
to induce them to leave their habitations where they had been 
prosperous and happy in a higgledy-piggledy way, especially 
as they could not ( at any rate before lands began to be granted 
in St. Lucia) be assured of any better title in their new homes. 
Both Champigny and Caylus therefore neglected this duty. 

1 Champigny to Maurepas, Nov. 17, 1144, A.N. Colonies C8 A 56; Longueville 
t0 Maurepas, May 12, 1746, vol. 57. 

2 Longtttwille to Maurnpas, Jan. 12, 174-5, C8 A 56. 
3 Maurepas to Champigny and Ranche, Feb. 10, 1745, B 81. 
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Champigny simply did not try to perform it; Caylus excused 
himself from doing so, because Dominica at least assured the 
communications between Martinique and Guadeloupe. Maure­
pas approved of Caylus's departure from his orders. In fact the 
people of St. Vincent and Dominica were so far from emigrating 
to St. Lucia that there was some movement the other way. No 
doubt some of the squatters of St. Lucia were true frontiersmen, 
ready to retreat a step for every one that regular government 
and orderly society advanced. Their repugnance to authority 
might perhaps be increased by the severity of Longueville. 
Both Champigny and Caylus complained of it; Caylus, who 
hardly ought to have cast the first stone, accused Longueville 
of behaving as if he thought he was 0-od the Father. 1 

Longueville's fears for St. Lucia were well justified. The 
French Government hardly tried to keep it at the Peace of Aix­
la-Chapelle. It instructed St. Severin to ask for it, and to argue 
that the English did not need. it because they had more land 
than they cultivated in the West Indies, while it would suit 
France very well to possess it on account of its neighbour­
hood to Martinique. As Sandwich, the English plenipotentiary, 
belonged to the same family as the Duke of Montagu, St. 
Severin was told to bribe him with an offer to compensate his 
relative for the extinction of his title. Sandwich, however, had 
no love for Montagu, and thought it very important not to 
sacrifice the Neutral Islands. He prophesied that if the matter 
was neglected, 'under the general description of renewal of 
former treaties, the French will remain in possession and t:he 
thing neglected until some time after the peace; and then we must 
come to the fatal result of either leaving them there, or beginning 
a fresh war to drive them out'. He therefore asked :for orders 
to insist on the evacuation of the Neutral Islands. He received 
such orders, but could not execute them, and the islands were 
left to be covered by the ambiguous clause of the status quo. 2 

Sandwich could not have prophesied more truly the troubles 
which aFose from this uncertainty; but even he can hardly have 
expected them to develop as quickly as they did. 

1 ? Ranche to Maurepas, July 18, 1744, S.P. 42/27, p. 455; instructions to 
Caylus, Oct. 6, 1744, A.N. _Colonies B 78; Maurepas to Caylus, Nov. 23, 1745, 
B 81; Caylus to Maurepas, Dec. 24, 1746, C8 A 57. 

2 Instructions to St. Severin, Feb. 29, 1748, Recueil des Instructions au~ Ambassa­
deurs de France, Hollande, iii. 131; Sandwich to Bedford, Aug. 29, 1747, Bedford 
Correspondence, i. 243. 
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A few weeks after the peace was signed, Maurepas wrote 
to Caylus and Ranche that he presumed the English would 
demand the evacuation of St. Lucia by virtue of the Treaty. 
If they did so, the King would reply ( and Caylus was to do 
the same if any demand was addressed to him) that St. Lucia 
was a French island long before Champigny placed any troops 
there; but if the English insisted, the King was ready to have 
St. Lucia evacuated by both nations, and St. Vincent and 
Dominica left to the Caribs. In fact, if the Governor of Bar­
bados should already be empowered to do his part, Caylus was 
to co-operate by ordering the settlers to leave at thirty days' 
notice. Maurepas added for Caylus's benefit that the King had 
no intention of giving up St. Lucia, but hoped the English 
would recognize his right to it upon a fair examination. 1 

Before this letter was received or even written, Caylus had 
acted for himself. He had already projected some lucrative 
scheme in St. Lucia, in partnership with the notorious Father 
Lavalette, the Procureur and afterwards Superior of the Jesuits. 2 

He was therefore very unwilling to carry out the orders for 
evacuation. He now planned a new colony on Tobago. The 
excuse was, to find an occupation for ex-privateers which would 
prevent them from becoming pirates, as they had done at the 
end of the last war. This was in itself prudent enough, though 
founded on what proved to be a false analogy, for the privateers 
did not take to freebooting this time. Very likely, however, 
Cay I us had some concern of his own in the enterprise, for there 
never was a Governor, English or French, who devised so many 
methods of enriching himself-and that is saying a great deal. 
He had lately asked for the grant of a whole island, to let or sell 
the land for his own profit; a mere estate would not suffice him, 
as he had no negroes to work it. In November 1748 he wrote to 
Maurepas that his measures for a colony on Tobago were in 
good forwardness, and he hoped to be able to send a command­
ant and some troops; he had not granted any lands yet, but had 
licensed a squatter who was already upon the island to con­
tinue his cultivation. 3 Governor Grenville of Barbados got 
wind of this, and took the empty precaution of sending a war-

1 Maurepas to Caylus and R.anche, Nov. 25, I 748, A.N. Colonies B 87; to 
Gaylus, Nov. is, ibid. 

2 Caylus to Maur@pas, March 19, 1747, A.N. Coloni@s C8 A 57; Maurepas to 
Caylus, Sept. 1,1,, 1747, B ~5; see also Rochemonteix, op. cit., p. 70, note 2. 

3 Caylus to Maurepas, Nov. II, 1748, A.N. Colonies C8 A 58. 



WARS AGA]]NS'Ji' FRANCE 209 

ship to assert King George's right to the island and to warn 
foreigners off. This gave Caylus the excuse he wanted. It 
became necessary to uphold at once the affronted dignity of his 
master; he therefore sent some troops to build a fort, and some 
warships to protect them. 1 There followed an awkward inteF­
view between their commander and an English captain, in 
which each represented himself as having stood his ground and 
the other as having gone off a:nd left the field clear. Luckily 
they were content with high wo:rds; no shots were fired, but 
Grenville wrote home indignantly, and within a short time 
diplomacy was once more busy on this subject. 2 

The matter fell in the province of Bedford, still an ~nthusiast 
for colonies, and he took it up warmly. fie ordered Colonel 
Yorke to declare in Paris that the King would on no account 
give up his right to Tobago, but would even repel foreign 
usurpations by force, if need be. Puysieulx and Rouille over­
looked this vivacity, and the affair was soom accommodated lby 
agreeing that the island should be evacuated by both sides, and 
the title to it determined by commissaries.3 

This treatment was extended to the other three islands a little 
later in the same year, and in good time the English com­
missaries came to Paris to exchange enormous memoranda on 
this and several other subjects, and to bicker over the order of 
priority of business until they produced a perfect deadlock. 

1 There never was a set of negotiators who had less chance of 
negotiating anything; even the Anglo-Spanish plenipotentiaries 
of r 739 had more. On the French side (if we may judge by the 
letters of Maurepas and Rouille to the Governors of Marti­
nique), there was no intention of giving up anything in dispute. 
The French Foreign Office seems to have thought, and perhaps 
with very good reason, that its case was overwhelming and. that 
the English commissaries could not fail to accept it.4 The 

1 Grenville to Board of Trade, Oct. 27, Dec. 12, 1748, C.O. 28/29, CC 15, 18. 
Both English and French foreign offices seem to have assumed that Caylus's 
expedition to Tobago was provoked by Grenville's proclamation; but the dates 0£ 
his letters convict him of having intended it before, and it was actually the rumour 
of his intention which induced Grenviille to send the proclamation. 

2 Captain Wheeler, H.M.S. Boston, to Grenville, Jan. 5, 1748/9, ibid., CC 24. 
3 Bedford to Yorke, Man:h 23, 1748/9, S.P. 78/232; Yorke to Bedford, April g 

and 16, 1749, ibid.; Bedford to Albemade, Sept. 21, o.s., J749, S.P. 18/233. 
Puysieulx was at this time Frem:h Foreign Seoretary, and Rouille succeeded 
Maurepas in the spring of 1749. 

4 Rouille to Caylus, May 2, 1749, A.N. Colonies B 89; Louis XV to Caylus, 
Dec. 19, I 749, ibid. 

4274 p 
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English Board of Trade, relying upon a different set of facts, 
did not see the matter in the same light; but it was not very 
much interested in St. Lucia. The controverted boundary of 
Nova Scotia was what it had most at heart; and much of the 
commissaries' time was taken up in arguing whether ( as we 
wished) Nova Scotia should be discussed before anything else 
or ( as the French insisted) it should be considered concurrently 
and at alternate sittings with St. Lucia. Newcastle at first 
resisted any such connexion of the two subjects, but later 
yielded. In the equation of these two disputes there might have 
been some hope of a compromise: that we should yield St. 
Lucia if the French would give us satisfaction on Nova Scotia_. 
Perhaps this was what Puysieulx and Rouille meant by joining 
the two things together, and the same idea seems to have 
occurred to Shirley, one of the British commissaries, and later 
to Holdernesse, who succeeded Bedford as Secretary of State. 
Since, however, the Nova Scotia business proved quite as in­
tractable as that of the Neutral Islands, there was little hope 
there. 1 

It would not be worth while to follow the fortunes of the 
commissaries, or of the direct negotiation between the two 
Courts, which followed their obvious failure. Meanwhile suc­
cessive Governors of Martinique were playing a tedious comedy 
over the evacuation. 

Caylus had paid no attention to Maurepas's warning of I 748. 
So far from advising the settlers to make ready to withdraw 
from St. Lucia, he still allowed them to extend their cultivation. 
He told Longueville that he hoped no evacuation would be 
necessary; for which reason the people of St. Lucia were-or 
professed to be-very surprised when they first heard the 
rumour of what was to befall them. Caylus seems also to have 
been organizing a regular French Government on St. Vincent 
in I 7 49, taking advantage of the good relations of the settlers 
with the Carib chiefs. 2 The first order for evacuating the four 

1 Instructions to English commissaries, July 30, 1750, S.P. 78/238, ff. 96-103; 
commissaries to Bedford, Aug. 22 and 28, 1750, ff. 128, 134; Shirley to Bedford, 
Sept. 5/16, 1750, S.P. 78/237, f. 35; Bedford to Albemarle, Oct. 4, 1750, f. 82; 
Newcastle to Albemarle, Aug. 31 and Oct. 1, 1750, ff. 7, 78; Halifax to Newcastle, 
July 20, 1750, Add. MSS. 32721, f. 406; Newcastle to Bedford, Sept. 23, 1750, vol. 
32824, f. 135; Holdernesse to Newcastle, May 15, 1752, vol. 32836, f. 301. 

2 Caylus to Maurepas, Dec. 22, 1748, A.N. Colonies C8 A 58; Caylus, memoire 
of 1749 (?), ibid.; Longueville to Rouille,June 5, 1750, ibid. 
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islands · must have reached Martinique in the spring of I 750. 
Grenville -sent down Commodore Holburne with, his duplicate 
of the French order, to supervise the evacuation in detail. 
Caylus chicaned, lied, and picked an irrelevant quarrel ih 
order to delay the evacuation; finally he died, and the interim 
Governor died too a fortnight later. The next successor refused 
to take the responsibility of executing the King of France's 
order, because he said he had not the legal power to do so. 1 

Nothing therefore could be done before the arrival of the 
new Governor-General, Maximin de Bompar. He was ordelied 
to have the islands evacuated, if it had not been done already, 
and if it had, to see that the English loyally complied with the 
order, for which purpose he might use force. 2 Two months later 
he was given an instruction of a very different tendency. The 
King of France had only consented to the evacuation on the 
condition that the title to the islands should be decided as soon 
as possible; but Rouille had now m~de up his mind that the 
English did not mean business. He thought their object was to 
avoid acknowledging the French claim until a suitable oppor­
tunity occurred for seizing the island, which he imagined they 
might do by surprise, without declaring war. Therefore, though 
Bompar was to proceed with the evacuation, he was to prepare 
for the reoccupation of St. Lucia, and was in fact to forestall the 
English if he should seriously suspect them of any designs upon it. 3 

Probably Rouille had no direct justification for his guess. 
The English commissaries had excited his suspicion by refusing 
at first to discuss St. Lucia at the same time as Tobago, and by 
insisting that St. Lucia could not possibly be considered until 
the evacuation was complete. The French Government had 
pointed out that the evacuation had not been made a condition 
of the appointment of commissaries, and argued that it was hard 
to expel the settlers so relentlessly when their right might so 
soon be acknowledged. This reasoning exposed France in her 
turn to the suspicion of bad faith; it looked as if she meant to 
delay the evacuation until a favourable verdict, at least as much 
as England meant to delay the verdict for the evacuation. As 
for Rouille's conjecture that the English Government would 

1 Grenville to Board of Trade, March 13, 1749/50, ApFil 2 and 30, 1750, C.O. 
28/29, CC 52, 74, and 81; Albemarle to Bedford, Sept. 2, 1750, S.P. 78/236, 
f. 383; Rouille to Caylus, May 23, 1750, A.N. Colonies B 91. 

2 Instructions to Bompar, Aug. 25, 1750, A.N. Colonies B 91; Rouille to Bompar, 
Sept. 2,, 1750, ibid. · 3 Rouille to Bompar, Oct. 29, 1 j50, ibid. 
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give orders in full peace for the seizure of St. Lucia, that too was 
probably groundless, in spite of a few vapouring threats which 
Newcastle flung out from time to time. Yet though the English 
Government did not mean to do such a thing at present, it 
might have meant it one day, as it showed a few years later by 
its precipitate conduct in North America. 1 

These instructions of Rouille, however founded, were not of a 
kind to make Bompar very earnest or thorough in performing 
the evacuation. He made as many difficulties as he could, and 
in particular he tried, upon various pretexts, to confine the · 
evacuation to St. Lucia. The proclamation, ordering all settlers 
to withdraw, was finally published in all the four islands; the 
troops and cannon were withdrawn, and the fortifications 
pulled down. 2 

As in 1735, this was only the first step, not the last. What if 
the settlers would not go? Bompar said that would be very bad 
behaviour, and he should have to write home for further orders. 
He would not drive them out by force, nor let anybody else do 
so. This was the point on which the controversy turned for the 
next five years. Bompar's humanity to the settlers might not 
be unreasonable; but the fact remained that nothing short of 
force would drive them away, and as he had been instructed 
to use force to keep the English out of the islands, he ought 
hardly to have complained of Holburne for claiming the same 
right against the French. 

Grenville continued to pester Bompar with nagging letters, 
demanding the expulsion of the inhabitants and offering to join 
his forces to those of Bompar for the purpose. Lord Albemarle 
continued to urge the French Ministers to do something effec­
tive, and to tax them with never having intended the evacuation 
at all. Puysieulx and his successor St. Contest warmly denied 
this. Puysieulx argued that Bompar had done enough, because 
the Governments had only agreed upon a military evacuation 
like that of 1 720; but as Commissary Mildmay pointed out, that 
of 1735 had been meant to be complete.3 Rouille took an inde­
cisive and ambiguous line in his dispatches to Bompar. He 

1 Newcastl€ t0 Albemarfo, Aug. 31, Oct. 1, o.s., 1750, S.P. 78/237, ff. 7, 79; 
Alb€marle to :Bedford, Nov. 14/25, 1150, f. 161; March 6/17, 1751, S.P. 78/240, 
ff. 237-8. 

2 Holburne to Corbett, Jan. 21, 1750/1, Aclm. 1/306; Bompar to Rouille, 
Jaa. g, 1751, A.N. Coloni€s C8 A 58. 

3 Grenville to Bompar, May 3, Sept. 2 and 30, Nov. 2, 1751; Bompar to Gren-
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thought Bornpar had done right to refuse to drive the settlers 
out, and to decline Grenville's offer of joint operations against 
them; and once or twice he ordered him afresh to take care that 
the English should not seize St. Lucia. At the same time, how­
ever, he declared that the King of France meant to fulfil his 
engagements in good faith, and that the islands must be evacu­
ated. Bompar was to confiscate the property in the other 
French islands of those who would not go. He was even to give 
them the impression that he was about to use foree; but he was 
not to use it. If there were any English among the inhabitants, 
Bompar would be in an unfortunate position. As he would not 
drive out the F:Dench by violence, he could hardly do so to the 
English; · he must therefore confine himself to complaining of 
them to Grenville. If they came for the purpose of illicit trade, 
he could easily disgust them of it by applying the penalties very 
heavily; if they were planters, 'could he not find some French 
settlers who, without compromising him, might give the English 
to understand that they would not allow them to make estab­
lishments at a time when he was pressing all the King's subjects 
to abandon theirs' ?1 

By 1751 J?uysieulx had gone so far as to argue that no more 
could be done until the commissaries gave their decision. 
Rouille was still willing to suggest that both sides should bring 
the unrepentant settlers to heel by forbidding all trade with 
them-a proposal which would suit him remarkably well, as it 
would stop up the channels of the illicit trade which he took 
such pains to prevent. 2 A year later he too had reached the 
same position as Puysieulx. 

Meanwhile the English were losing patience. They did not 
break out into any violent projects, but they ceased to consider 
the evacuation as binding on themselves. Sir Thomas Robin­
son, the new Secretary of State, hinted to Albemade that this 
would be the consequence of the French delays; but it had 

ville, May 21, Sept. 17, Oct. 17, Nov. 17, 1751, C.O. 28/29, CC 127-8, 130-2, 
and 28/30, DD 2, 3, 5; Bedford to Albemarle, April 11, 1751, S.P. 78/240, ff. 313-
19; Albemarle to Bedford, April 29 and May 5, 1751, ff. 330, 345. 

1 Rouille to Bompar, May 19, 1751 (two letters), Nov. g, 1751, A.N. Colonies 
B 93; Feb. 16 and 18, 1752, B 95. 

2 Yorke to Newcastle, 'Separate', July 16/27, 1751, S.P. 78/241; Bompar and 
Hurson thought that Rouille went too far in this r~spect, and that nis strictness 
would destroy the harmless trade in provisions, timber, &c., between Martiniqu~ 
and the Neutral Islands (Rouille to Bompar and Hurson, Feb. 26, 17,52, A.N. 
Colonies B 95; Instructions to Bompar and Hurson, July 6, 1751, B 93). 
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afoeady resulted before he wrote. · The people of Barbados had 
wanted for some time to cut hardwood timber once more in the 
Neutral Islands. At first they respected Grenville's proclama­
tion against resorting to the Neutral Islands, but in I 753 a 
brigantine went to Tobago with a large crew to cut fustic. 
Grenville sent a warship to dissuade them, but in vain. On the 
brigantine's return, he tried to prevent her cargo from being 
entered at the Custom House, but Attorney-General Blenman, 
always ready to put a spoke in the wheels of government, told 
him he had no right to do it. This, as Grenville pointed out, 
showed how hard it was to enforce a royal proclamation in the 
colonies without an Act of Parliament. The owner, Maynard, 
and the master, Cranston, were prosecuted for high mis­
demeanours. When Bompar complained that English warships 
prevented Frenchmen from loading- timber at the Neutral 
Islands while they allowed Englishmen to do so, the President 
of Barbados pointed with pride to this prosecution. But a pro­
secution without a conviction or penalty is nothing to boast 
of; and a few months later the President was obliged to have 
it discontinued, because no Barbadian jury would have con­
victed on a criminal charge of this kind. The public opinion of 
the island felt deeply the injustice of a prohibition which it 
considered to be one-sided. The legislature instructed its agent 
in London to represent the hardship of making the English 
observe the neutrality of the islands when the French did not, 
and to ask that until the French should act in good faith, the 
Barbadians might have leave to cqntinue their valuable trade 
of cutting hardwood timber, which they must else buy at 
enhanced rates from the Dutch or the French themselves. 1 

On both sides, therefore, the evacuation was a complete sham .. 
In the autumn of ;r 7 55 Bompar suddenly seized St. Lucia again. 
His pretext was the capture of the Alcide and the Lys, which 
had virtually started the war in North American waters; but 
obviously he had been on the alert for a long time. Machault 
approved his action warmly; it was the signal for the beginning 
of the war in the West Indies. 2 

1 Robinson to Albemarle, Oct. 3, lo/54, Add. MSS. 32851, f. 14; Grenville to 
Board of Trade, April 21, 1753, C.O. 28/30, DD 26; Boinpar to Weekes, Jan. 28, 
1154:, ibid., DD 43; Weekes to Moldernesse, April g, 1.754, C.O. 152/46; Memorial 
of John Maynard, C.O. 28/42; Barbados Committee of Correspondcmce to Sharpe, 
Oct. 31, 1753, ibid. 

2 Bompar to Weekes, Sept. 15, 1155, C.Q. 28/42. Machault had ordered· 
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The history of the Neutral Islands in this war very much 
resembles that of the last. Longueville returned with so,me 
regular soldiers to St. Lucia, and hastily put together some 
fortifications which already had a tumble-down air within a few 
months. Once more he required more corvees than the inhabi­
tants could or would support, especially as it was harder than 
ever to feed the negroes. In 1759 he had to suspend all further 
building. The inhabitants were no more and no fewer than they 
had been in 1744. The obstacles to the settlement of the island 
were the same as before-the danger of conquest, the oppressive 
·negro corvees, the uncertain future of the colony. These draw-
backs seem to have frightened prospective settlers even more 
than in the last war, for they were pointed out by that recent 
experience. Communications do not seem to have been im­
proved, for Longueville still complained of the difficulty of 
getting his militia together in case of an attack. If he collected 
them beforehand, the victuals would run out, and if he did not, 
he would be overpowered before they could assemble. 1 In St. 
Vincent and Dominica, the Governors of Martinique continued 
their diplomacy among the Caribs. Le Vassor de la Touche 
instructed the chiefs of St. Vincent that the promises of the 
English were deceitful and their real pnrpose to enslave the 
natives. He obtained from them valueless promises of help 
in case Martinique should be invaded. Commodore Moore 
repeated Knowles's attempt to oblige the inhabitants of Domi­
nica to a neutrality. Unlike Knowles he succeeded, but the 
neutrality seems only to have lasted until his back was turned, 
and then the French willingly returned to their natural 
allegiance. 2 

At the end of the war these islands were all conquered by the 
English. The conquest could not have been secure, even if it 
was possible, before Guadeloupe and Martinique ihad fallen 
into our hands. A force from North America descended upon 
Dominica inJ une 1761, and obliged the inhabitants to surrender 
at discretion; Rodney had no difficulty in reducing St. Lucia 

Born par on Feb. 1 7, 1755, to seize St. Lucia on the first information of a ruptur~ 
between the two nations (A.N. Colonies B 101). 

1 Bompar to Machault, -Aug. 1, 1756, A.N. Marine B4 13; Longueville t© 
Machault, July 14, 1756, A.N. Colonies C8 A 01; to Moras, Oct. u, 1757, ibid.; 
to Berryer, Aug. 5, 1759, and Feb. 22, 1760, C8 A 62. 

2 Beauharnois to Nadau du Treil, April. 9, 1759, C8 A 62; Croissier d~ la 
Berthodiere to Beauharnois, ApFil 22, 1759, ibid. 
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and St. Vincent to submission after the fall of Martinique. 
Tobago needed no conquest, for it was already to all intents and 
purposes 1n our power. 

§ iv. The Terms of Peace in the West Indies, 1761-2 

By these successes we won more than enough counters to set 
off against our losses and those of our allies. Indeed the game 
was so much too easy and successful that it began to embarrass 
the Ministers. They could not afford to throw aU their gains 
away, and must keep something besides the original objects of 
the war. What was it to be? 

This question was thrashed out in the celebrated controversy 
of Canada against Guadeloupe. Grant and Alvord have given 
such excellent summaries of the argument that very little need 
be said of it here. 1 The chief reason for keeping Canada was 
the necessity of preventing for ever such another dispute in 
North America as had caused the present war, and securing 
the frontier of settlement against the French and their Indian 
allies. The advocates of Guadeloupe answered that the annexa­
tion of Canada was too much or too little for the purpose. Too 
much, because a smaller adjustment of the boundaries would 
create a sufficient 'barrier'; too little, because if we wanted to 
prevent the French from making any more trouble for us in 
North America, we must expel them from Louisiana too. (Some 
Ministers thought of doing so, and the public expected that 
Amherst would be sent on that · service in I 76 I or I 762.) 
Besides, if French Canada could destroy the peace of mind of 
our Northern colonists, French Martinique was just as fatal to 
that of our sugar-planters. The cost of defence must also be 
considered. If the French were to be evicted from Canada, 
where should we find colonists to fill it? If the French were to 
:remain, what sort of subjects would they be? We should have 
to keep an immense army in Canada, whereas the West Indies 
could easily be defended by a naval force. (This last argument 
might seem satisfactory at that time, because nobody guessed 
that England's enemies would ever again be a match for her at 
sea; it would not have appeared so convincing, if anybody had 
forese@n · the misfortunes which the West Indies suffered in the 

1 W. L. Grant, in American Historical Review, xvii. 735-43; C. W. Alvord, The 
Mississippi Valley in British Politics ( Cleveland, I g I j), i. 49-j 4. 
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next war for want of the naval superiority which was so glibly 
postulated.) 

The shadow of the American Revolution had begun to 
appear dimly. It was a capital argument against driving the 
French out of Canada and increasing our own holdings on the 
continent. We should thereby destroy the bugbear that kept 
the colonists loyal, and prepare for the growth of a Dominion 
so vast, so populous, and so powerful that it could not long 
continue subject to England. The West Indies, on the other 
hand, would always be weak; they must depend on the imperial 
Government for naval defence against foreign enemies and for 
the internal force which kept the slaves in awe. In reply to 
this, the advocates of North America could only hope that the 
colonies would pay for their own defence, and argue that the 
territory could be cut up into a number of new governments 
too weak in themselves and too independent of each other 1lo 
resist the authority of England. 

The balance between the northern and tropical colonies had 
to be considered. Here the argument was clearly in favour of 
keeping Guadeloupe. One side declared that we could not have 
too many West India possessions because they alone gave value 
to our northern colonies; the other replied that we could not 
have too many colonists in North America because they enabled 
our sugar-planters to subsist by selling them the necessaries of 
life. But in fact, though they did not admit it, the sugar­
planters already had quite as much northern produce as they 
could consume; the exporters of North America were even 
forced to sell their goods in the French islands as well as Ol!lr 

own. The immediate value of the trade of Canada was small­
the fishery excepted, which was not in question. That of Guade­
loupe was much greater, and would at once produce a revenue 
which would help the Government to pay at least the interest 
on the cost of the war. Both :Pitt and Bute thought that the nego­
tiators of a victorious nation should keep this in mind. 1 

It was argued that Canada, like the New England colonies, 
would be independent of Great Britain for many of the neces­
saries of life. Guadeloupe could never be so. This, however, 
was only true up to a certain point. As a market for English 
manufactures, the northern colonies were already far more 

1 Bute to Bedford, July 12, 1761, Bedford Correspondence, iii. 32; Parl. Hist. xv. 
I 265. 
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important than the West Indies. Colonies of settlement whose 
people, however poor, were nearly all free and white, naturally 
consumed more than islands full of slaves who bought few 
manufactures for themselves and had not much more bought 
for them by their masters. It was true that the northern colonies 
might one day manufacture for themselves, which the West 
Indies could never do; but this fear was beginning to be super­
annuated, and economic writers wei:e beginning to think that 
an Industrial Revolution was not very likely to happen in 
America soon. As for victuals, lumber, and other country pro­
duce, the West Indies bought very little of these goods from 
England, so long as the northern colonies existed to supply 
them. It was only in the American Revolution that England 
became once more an exporter of agricultural produce to her 
own sugar islands; therefore manufactures were the only 
kind of necessaries for which the West Indies depended on 
England. 

Of course the slave-traders were for keeping Guadeloupe; 
but that only inflamed the irritation of the English planters; 
who had long thought themselves under-supplied with slaves 
of the right sort. The traders had committed the unpardon­
able sin of pouring negroes into Guadeloupe before they knew 
whether it would be kept or restored at the peace. Thus they 
did all they could to set a dangerous rival of the English sugar 
colonies upon its feet. If they were to devo t€ themselves in 
future to supplying that and other new conquests with negroes, 
they would presumably neglect the older settlements, and the 
prices would continue to rise unless the extension of our trade 
and territories in Africa should keep pace with our acquisitions 
in America. The planters' advocates argued that expansion in 
the West Indies was injurious without expansion in Africa 
which furnished the prime motors of tropical inclus try. This 
set the Ministers a new problem, because we had conquered 
Goree and Senegal in the Seven Years War, and did not know 
whether to keep both. 

Lastly the argument turned on the question where the profits 
of agFiculture in the different colonies would 'centre'. Profits 
were small in North America, and were spent or invested upon 
the spot, though a few merchants in the colonies laid out their 
~oney in the English funds, and many more speculated in 
English lotteries. Very few of the continental Americans had 
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any animus revertendi; but most West Indians of tolerable fortune 
or expectations were sustained in what they considered as a sort 
of exile by the hope of going 'home' to England-a fact which 
accounted for the surprisingly provisional character of their 
domestic arrangements. Not only did they return, but they 
brought some of their wealth with them, and English industry 
had the benefit of their often profuse expenditure, and of such 
capital investments as they were prudent enough to make. 
However they might be represented by the pamphleteers, these 
investments were probably rare, since the planters were for the 
most part borrowers rather than lenders, and at best subsisted 
upon remittances from the plantations they so cheerfully left 
behind them. It is therefore doubtful if they contributed much 
to the accumulation of capital-which must be the thing chiefly 
meant by the 'centring of profits'. Yet the accepted theory was 
that they did contribute to it, so this argument, for what it was 
worth, told in favour of West Indian acquisitions. 

Although the weight of the argument was probably on the 
side of keeping the West Indian islands, yet it was Canada, not 
Guadeloupe, that was kept. As long as the choice was between 
those two conquests, there was hardly any doubt. Although it 
might not be the strongest, the most popular point in the whole 
controversy was the necessity of driving the French out of Canada 
in order to cut off the root of all future wars. The statesmen 
and the mob alike believed this to be the real object of the 
struggle and the most necessary. 

It is sometimes suggested that the West Indian planters used 
their influence to the same end. Nobody advised the Ministers 
to keep Canada more strongly than Rose Fuller and William 
Beckford, the two most important West India absentees in 
English politics. 1 Rose Fuller was not an entirely typical 
sugar-planter in his views, but Beckford was class-conscious and 
proud of it. Yet it is doubtful if the West India interest as a 
whole resisted the annexation of new sugar colonies as it had 

1 Fuller to Newcastle,June 28, 1760, Add. MSS. 32907, f. 423; Beckford to Pitt, 
Aug. 26, 1758, G.D. 8/19. See Hardwicke's letter to Newcastle, April 2, 1762 
(Add. MSS. 32934, f. 310): 'As to the retention of conquests, Mr Pitt made Nor-th 
America entirely his object. Some of his enemies objected to him that he did thi~ 
<;mt of partiality to his friend Beckford, amd out of condescension to the particular 
iriterests of our sugar colonies; but in that I suppose they did him wrong.' See also 
the very interesting manuscript note of Israel Mauduit, quoted by W. L. Grant, 
in the American Historical Review, xvii. 742. 
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done in 1740.1 In fact it had gradually been converted to 
certain conquests, though not to all. 

What brought this about? The fortunes of the sugar-planters 
were somewhat better than they had been in the late thirties, 
although the effect of Guadeloupe produce upon the London 
market had not been pleasant. Prices had taken a turn for the 
better, and perhaps the plante:rs colllld better afford to meet 
new rivals, or hoped to make a profit for themselves in the virgin 
soil of the conquered islands. 2 Professor N amier suggests, on 
the strength of a letter of Lord Morton, that there was a division 
between 'saturated' planters ~nd 'planters on the make'. 3 I am 
not sure that this is quite right. Certainly a number of people 
from the older islands started sugar plantations on a large scale 
in the new. The Bourryaus, Youngs, Olivers, and Morrises of 
the Leeward Islands, the Blenmans, Husbands, and Clarkes 
of Barbados are to be f ouncl among the earliest proprietors in 
Grenada and Tobago.4 But what was the precise difference 
between a saturated and an unsaturated planter? Had the 
latter more capital to invest than the former? Many of the new 
plantations were largely financed by borrowed capital. Were 
they readier to expose themselves to the dangerous climate of 
an uncleared island? Many new proprietors of the conquered 
islands were absentees. 5 Still, though it may not be easy to 
point out the distinction, there were two ways of thinking upon 
this subject among the planters.6 

I think it was another consideration that converted the West 
India interest to annexation.· Although no invader set foot on 
any English sugar colony during these wars, all were exposed 

1 This was not Bedford's opinion. In 1102 he prophesied that the sugar-planters 
would no more desire we should keep Martinique 'than they did in relation to 
G1,1adeloupe' (Bedford to Bute, July g, 1101, Bedford Correspondence, iii. 25). How­
ever, Bedford never scrupled to exaggerate when he want€d to prove a point. 

2 See the very able letters Gf Paterson to William Wood,July 5, 1751, and Dec. 
18, 1758, Bodleian Library, North MSS. a 6, ff. 174-83. Paterson, like Wood 
himself, was an expansionist and an officer of th@ Customs. He reported that tht 
value of estates in Barbados had risen very high in recent years, as a result of the 
high val1,1ation of sugar there. 

3 England in the Age of the American Revolution, i (London, 1930), p. 322. 
4 Daniel Paterson, A Topographical Description of the Island of Grenada (London, 

1180). 
5 Lasc@lles, Clarke, and Daling to Samuel Husbands, May 2, 1j63, and Feb. 10, 

1766, W. & G., vols. ix and x; Lascelles and Daling to Richard Green, Sept. 19, 
I 767, vol. x; to 'Time>thy Blenman, Aug. 4 and Oct. 7, 1 768, vols. x and xi. 

6 So there were among the Frel'lch; vide supra, p. 204-. 
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to some very serious alarms; and above all, their trade was 
much molested by the pFivateers of Martinique and Guade­
loupe. It is doubtful if the losses were greater in proportion to 
the shipping of the colonies than they had been in Queen Anne's 
reign; they may even have been less. But afte:r discounting for 
the factious exaggeration of the complaints against Commo­
dores Lee, Frankland, and Moore, it appears that, at two or 
three periods of these wars, Barbados and the Leeward Islands 
were brought near to scarcity by the interruption of their trade. 
These losses had an effect upon the colonists' attitude to the 
war. It can be seen in the increasing readiness of the legislatures 
to assist the expeditions against the French colonies. In I 745, 
Barbados had positively refused to have anything to do with 
the conquest of St. Lucia, and Governor Mathew had not been 
able to stir up any enthusiasm in the Leeward Islands for an 
attempt upon Porto Rico. In I 759 and I 762 there was no such 
obstruction. 

Certainly there were misunderstandings which led to a good 
deal of controversy. The people of Barbados were deeply 
offended because General Hopson did not eagerly welcome 
some untrained volunteers under a political colonel in r i59· 
He did not think it worth while to transport them to the field 
of action; in consequence they had to be disbanded, and when 
Barrington sent for reinfo:rcements a few weeks later, only two 
militiamen offered themselves. This gave a colour to the view 
that Barbados was still hanging back in order to discourage 
conquests; but it was probably due to the unfortunate effect 
which the professional snobbery of the regular soldier neady 
always had on the easily outraged dignity of the colonists. 1 In 
Antigua at the same time the Governor and Council were 
afraid that the defences of the island would be weakened by the 
enlistment of volunteers for Hopson's expedition. They declared 
theiF satisfaction when the company which went to Guadeloupe 
was seen to consist chiefly of strangers, presumably privateers. 
This was only the selfish timidity of the planters, who could not 
believe themselves safe unless a large force was concentrated at 
their own island, nor content themselves with knowing that it 
was next door. The volunteers went, andl were accompanied 

1 Barbados Council Minutes, Jan. 4, Feb. 13, March 13, 1759, C.O. 31/30; 
Pinfold to Pitt, July 10, 1759, C.O. 152/46; A Defence of the Conduct of Barbados, 
published in a Letter to General Barrington, by John Gay Alleyne. 
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by a large detachment of the regular troops who were stationed 
at Antigua. 1 

The Assemblies of the islands were more ready to furnish 
Hopson with negroes as pioneers and general drudges. It is true 
that they did not all compel the planters to furnish slaves, 
though they took other steps which conduced more slowly to 
the same result; nor were they forcing great sacrifices upon the 
owners, for Hopson had power to promise that the Government 
would make good any losses or damages which might happen 
to the negroes during their service. In I 761-2 all these prepara.:. 
tions were repeated more thoroughly. This time Barbados 
furnished six hundred white volunteers for the reduction of 
Martinique; some of the island Assemblies which had formerly 
left the recruitment of negroes to the freewill of the planters, 
now made it obligatory. 

Taken in the whole, these are evidences of goodwill and of 
a real desire to see Martinique and Guadeloupe conquered. 
Stronger proof is afforded by the congratulatory addresses 
which were presented to the King on these occasions. George 
Thomas, who was a member of an Antigua planting family as 
well as Governor of the Leeward Islands, was willing in I 7 59 
to see Guadeloupe and some of the Neutral Islands annexed. 
The legislatures of Montserrat and Antigua ordered their agents 
to second Commodore Moore's request for forces which would 
enable him to hold Guadeloupe; that of St. Christophers went 
farther, and empowered its agent to press for the annexation 
of that and all other French Windward Islands at the peace.2 

The Grand Jury of Barbados petitioned George III that Marti­
nique might ever remain annexed to the Crown of Great 
Britain. The legislature of Antigua congratulated him on the 
entire reduction of the French Windward Islands-
'and more especially of Martinico and the rich and fertile island of 
Guadeloupe, islands of the utmost importance to the preservation 
of your Majesty's sugar colonies, and to the security of the extensive 
trade and navigation depending upon them, as they have received 
more injury and interruption from those two islands while in the 
hands of the enemy than from any other of the French dominions'. 

After a characteristic hint that these newly conquered islands 

1 Antigua Council Minutes, March I and 21, 1759, C.O. 9/23. 
2 Antigua Council Minutes, Feb. 7, 1759, ibid.; St. Kitts Council Minutes, Feb. 

20, 1759, c.o. 241/7. 
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ought to pay some compensation for the expense of the war, 
which would prevent them from competing on too equal a 
foot with the older colonies, the address concludes thus: 
'Permit us _to hope for a lasting extension of your southern in 
proportion to your majesty's northern colonies without which we 
fear that the enlargement of the latter may redound more to the 
benefit and advantage of the French thart to the Eritish sugar islands, 
whose future existence seems to depend in a great measure upon 
an effectual extinction of that superiority which the French have 
always maintained in these islands, until the glorious era of Your 
Majesty's most auspicious reign.' 1 

I believe the legislatures meant what they said; their language 
is not a mere disguise for the victory of the unsaturated over the 
saturated. The planters had at last convinced themselves that 
Martinique and Guadeloupe were too dangerous neighbours, 
and that rival producers within the Empire were less damaging 
than the Martinique privateers. In other words, just as the 
North American colonists had always demanded the expulsion 
of the French from Canada in order to secure themselves against 
future American wars, some elements in the West India inter­
est were beginning to look on the acquisition of Martinique in 
the same light. This was not only a military precaution; it had 
its economic side, for many of the West India planters had 
borrowed great sums in England, and had already begun to 
insure their West India p:roperty. The rate of interest and 
premiums would depend in part on the public as well as the 
private security of their property. 2 A letter from Admiral 
Rodney to Lord Lyttelton puts the whole point very clearly. 

'The planters are divided between avarice and fear, they think if 
Martinique is retained, they will be obliged to lower the price or 
their sugars. On the other hand, if it is given up, they fear the loss 
of their own plantations in case of another war, and that the 
French will ovenun them before they can receive succours from 
Europe, which as I said before, they may easily do, and the example 
of this war has taught them a lesson, which I fancy they will never 
forget.' 3 

The Canada-Guadeloupe controversy does not seem to have 
had much influence on the decisions of the Ministry or its deal,:. 

I Antigua Council Minutes, April 15, 1762, c.o. 9/26. 
2 'Reflections on the true Interest of Great Britain with respect to the Caribbee 

Islands; ... by a Planter of Barbados', C.O. 28/50. 
3 Rodney to Lyttelton, June 29, I 762, J?hilli~ore's Lyttelton, ii. 634. 



224 THE WEST INDIES 

ings with France. In fact the discussion had not much practical 
importance, though it was long, noisy, and interesting for the 
sake of the principles which it involved. Pitt once asked in the 
House of Commons, which of these two colonies he should be 
hanged for giving back to France? He seems to have been 
undecided or indifferent in r 7 59, and again at the end of r 760, 
whether he ought to demand all Canada or part of it with 
Guadeloupe. 1· Yet when the negotiation began in earnest, he 
seems to have made up his mind without difficulty that Canada 
and the fisheries were indispensable. (Fortunately, though 
Choiseul hinted to Stanley that he was in the same dilemma, 
he seems to have been as clearly determined to keep the sugar 
colonies as Pitt was to acquire Canada.) 2 Jn fact, so long as the 
choice was only between Canada and Guadeloupe, it seems to 
have been an easy one to make, and nearly everybody who had 
anything to do with the conq.uct of affairs came to the same con­
clusion as Pitt. 

Hardwicke and Newcastle can scarcely have thought the 
question a very important one, nor disagreed seriously with 
Pitt, for there is little proof that they debated it, though they 
received some probably unsolicited advice. Neither of them 
appears to have felt much doubt about it until the spring of 
r 762, when the capture of Martinique shook their convictions. 
When that event was known, with Rodney's exaggerated eulogy 
of Martinique as the key of the West Indies-when, moreover, 
it was plain that all the Windward Islands would fall into our 
hands within a few weeks-Hardwicke wanted to reconsider the 
question, for the first time as it would seem. It was no longer 
a choice between Canada and Guadeloupe, but between 
Canada and all the French West Indies except St. Domingue. 
Newcastle replied, 'I own, it startles me, who never was startled 
as to the sugar islands before.' The whole tone of this corre­
spondence gives the impression that the question now raised was 
one which he and Mardwicke had hitherto regarded as closed, 

1 Newcastle to Hardwicke, Oct. 31, 1759, Add. MSS. 32897, f. 520; Dec. 3, 
1760, vol. 32915, f. 270. As late as March 1761 Pitt told Hardwick€ he was not 
sure if we should be able to keep all Canada (Hardwicke to Newcastle, March 1 7, 
ty61, vol. 32920, f. 271). Howev~r, them is no proof that this was because he was 
um.certain whether to prefer Guadeloupe. He had decided by April that Canada 
and the monopoly of the fishery were to be a sine qua non (Newcastle's memo­
randum of April 10, vol. 32921, f. 381). 

2 Stan:1€:y to Pitt,June 12, 1761, Thackeray, op. oit. i. 528; Choiseul to Ossun, 
April 5, I j62, A.E. Espagne, 536. 
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or not worth discussion. While Newcastle is usually the worst 
possible authority for the history of his own opinions, he seems 
to have spoken truth this time. 1 

At this moment, when the question asked itself seriously for 
the first time, Newcastle and Ha:rdwicke were on the point of 
leaving the Ministry, and it was Bute who was left to make tthe 
decision. The conquest of Martinique compromised a negotia­
tion which seemed to be leading to an agreement. Choiseul and 
Pitt had squabbled about the Neutral Islands in 1761, but 
Egremont was ready in March 1 762 to propose a division which 
would probably have satisfied France-we were to take Domi­
nica and Tobago while France was to have the other two. 2 

According to the ideas of that time, the restoration of a conquest 
must be paid for. The conditions of peace had therefore to be 
altered after the capture of Martinique, for Bute and Egremont 
were the last people in the world to expose themselves to the 
charge of giving anything up to France. It was a little difficult 
to decide what we should make her pay for Martinique. We 
could not go back to Pitt's terms and claim the monopoly of the 
fishery; we could never have a peace that way. Some were for 
demanding Louisiana, others for Guadeloupe, others again for 
Senegal and Goree. Newcastle was against making any of thes€ 
claims, because he believed they would prevent an agreement. 
Egremont proposed to fo:rce Choiseul to choose between Louis­
iana and Guadeloupe. 3 

Bute was in a dilemma. He probably believed, like New­
castle, that we should get no peace if we asked France to yield 
us a setded colony; yet he knew he must ask for something. He 

1 Hardwicke to Newcastle, Apri12, 1762, Add. MSS. 32936, f. 310; Newcastle's 
reply, April 2, f. 312. Newcastle had received advice, for the most part uninvited, 
from Alderman Baker, from Chesterfield, and from LC>rd Morton, a friend ofHard­
wicke. I can find no expression. of his own opiniop, and little proof that he dis­
cussed the matter, beyond his letter to Hardwicke of Dec. 3, 1760, in which h.e 
gives Pitt's opinion, or lack of opinion, rather than his own. Frofoss@r Namier 
(op. cit., pp. 323-5) seems to me to have underrated the effect of the capturn of 
Martinique upon Hardwicke and New<s:astle; natural1y it made a difFerenc€ to the 
perspective in which they viewed the question. 

2 Bussy's instructions, May !.23, 1761, A.E. Angleterre, 443; Bussy to Chois€ul, 
June II and 26, ibid.; Choiseul to Bussy,July 15, ibid.; Stanhiy's minute of Sept. 
2, 1761, Add. MSS. 32927, f. 340; Egremont's draft l€tt@r to Viry, March 2r, 17(52, 
vol. 32936, f. 4. 

3 Newcastle to Devonshire, Apri~ 23, 1762, Add. MSS. 32937, f. 324; Egre­
mont's draft answer to Choiseul, April 25, 1762, f. 343; compare this with his 
letters to Viry of May I, vol. 32938, f. 3, and A.E. Angleterre, 446; 

4274 Q 
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hit upon a happy compromise; we should content ourselves 
with Grenada and all the Neutral Islands, and the whole conti­
nent o:fNo:rth America as far as the left bank ofthe-Mississippi. 1 

This was a very clever proposal; it combined the greatest 
possible gain for England with the smallest loss for France. · It 
was a way of assuring still further the original object of the war 
- -the security of our North American colonists. If it saddled 
us in the West Indies with a chain of islands all exposed to attack 
from the French strongholds, it gave us the best and most 
defensible frontier in North America. Pitt had never asked so 
much. The territories which Bute proposed to demand, both 
on the continent and in the islands, were open fields for English 
capital and enterprise. They contained few Frenchmen to make 
political trout>le for the Government, or to compete with 
English producers in the home market. 'ihey made an impos­
ing show on the map without costing France many subjects or 
much pride. The only condition which they did not satisfy was 
one which Bute had once held to be necessary; they were not 
likely to pay for the war by bringing in an immediate revenue. 
Pitt made the most of this defect in his speech on the prelimi­
naries-a factious performance in which he revived the con­
troversy of Canada and Guadeloupe, and attacked decisions in 
which he had been the first to acquiesce. 2 

The treaty of peace followed · the lines which Bute had 
chalked out. There was a hitch over St. Lucia. Choiseul would 
not give it up because it w_as necessary to the security of Marti­
nique. That, as Pitt said, was the best reason for us to insist upon 
it; and Pitt's imitators in the Ministry tried to do so.3 Bute 
made his colleagues yield St. Lucia in order to buy concessions 
from Choiseul on the other points in dispute.4 One of these 
was the Mississippi navigation; and in this sense it may be said 
that Bute, like Pitt, showed a steady indination to sacrifice the 
West Indies to North America. Like Pitt, he conquered in the 
islands in order to annex on the continent. 

to astle, May 1, I 762, Add. MSS. 32938, f. 11 ; Bute to Bed-
fi 62, rd Correspondence, iii. '75; v. infra, pp. 597=6cn for the com-
p @e ranee, and Spain over this cession. 

v. · · m de to s been. for demanding 
Guadeloupe in Ii I, be a lie. 

3 lbicl.; Comte de . gleterre, 446. 
4 Cabirn~t minutes , Add. MSS. 34713, ff. 106,110; 

Bute to Bedfora, Sept. 2~, , f. 12. 



VI 

THE DIFFICULTIES OF WARFARE IN THE 
WEST INDIES 

§ i. The Militia and its Duties 

IN describing the warfare of the West Indies, it is not enough 
to deal with projects of conquest. These were exceptional, 

and were carried out for the most part by regular forces at the 
will of the English Government. The merchants and planters 
were more concerned for the safety of their own property and 
trade; so far as they made any efforts themselves or exercised 
any influence over the GoveFnment, they directed its attention 
and their own to the routine of defence. In fact, West India 
strategy was mainly defensive. 

This pre-eminence of weakness over strength is excusable, 
in view of the past history of West Indian warfare and the extra­
ordinary vulnerability of sugar colonies. The events of 1664-6 
and those of Queen Anne's reign had proved beyond doubt the 
great damage which a small armed force could do in a very 
short time, given a momentary command of the sea. Nevis, 
once the 'Garden of the Caribbees', had been reduced to desola­
tion in a few weeks; St. Kitts and Montserrat had suffered the 
same fate. In the two last, the French were able to destroy most 
of the property on the islands without obtaining command of 
the principal fortresses. It was so easy to carry away the 
negroes, to fire the canes and sugar-works, and to depart within 
a fortnight, having caused more loss and damage than could be 
done in the same time anywhere else in the Empire, outside 
London and the home counties. 1 Neither Nevis nor Mont­
serrat quite recovered from the eclipse into which the disasters 
of 1 706 and 1712 had thrown them. St. Kitts succeeded better, 
by the help of its extraordinary fertility. 
. These facts are enough to account for the moans of terror 
which the West India interest so freely uttered upon the slightest 
apprehension of a French naval superiority in the Caribbean, 
and the extraordinary credulity with which it magnified the 
size of every French force which went that way. It was not 
enough to know that the enemy had no army in the West Indies 

1 C.S.P. Cot. 1706-8, nos. 168, 195 (i), 282, 338, 357; 1712-14, 33 (ii), 38, 57. 
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which was capable of subduing a colony; the planters were 
equally afraid of a few ships which could only snatch a moment­
ary opportunity of devastation. 'I think as you do', wrote 
Knight during the alarm of 1745, 'that the conquest of the 
island [Jamaica] is out of the question; but if you and I are 
ruined it is the same thing to us.' 1 

' Had they habitually insured their estates, the planters might 
have been less nervous. Messrs. Lascelles and Maxwell gave an 
amusing account of the scenes which attended the sharpest of 
these alarms, when Caylus and Conflans arrived at Martinique 
with a fair-sized force in the_ spring of I 745. 

'The private insurance offices were seen crowded with planters 
endeavouring to insure their plantations for 6 months, but some, 
that had policies to insure £10000 could not get above £800 under­
wrote at £10. 10 pr Ct. premio. It's said by an insurance broker 
of our acquaintance, who had several of those policies to get dorle, 
that the insurers would have wrote much more than they did but 
for the dismal countenances of the planters, which made them afraid 
to write, & had they stayed at home their policies would have been 
filled.' 2 

As this is almost the only mention of that kind of insurance in 
their correspondence before 1763, the practice must still have 
been rare. 

Why could not the West India c@lonies defend themselves 
without a superior naval force? The chief reason was the small­
ness of the white population. From the time when sugar culture 
and large estates worked by slaves had taken the place of the 
small plantations of tobacco and cotton, the number of white 
men fit to bear arms had been sinking. Governor Parke had 
attributed the weakness of the militia to latifundia as early 
as Queen Anne's reign. The militia of Antigua had been 
depleted by great planters buying out the estates of the small, 
and elbowing them off the island. This evil was complicated 
by the planters' love of rank and position, which caused the 
·available force to be divided into a large number of small units 
with a great many officers and very few men. Parke reported 
that the company of his enemy Colonel Codrington contained 
only three officers and one man; the militia of one parish in 
St. Kitts consisted of six men, of whom four were servants of the 

1 L€tter of Knight, Aug. 15, 1745, Add. MSS. 22677, f. 48. 
2 Lascelles and Maxwell to Michael Longbotham, June 18, 1745, W. & G. ii. 
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captain. Of course both these instances are exceptional. 1 

Another great evil was absenteeism, which not only deprived 
the islands of some of their military population, but may have 
contributed to the dangerous indiscipline of the negroes by 
removing the only influence and supervision which kept them 
in check. 2 

The numbers do not seem to have declined very much after 
Queen Anne's reign; in fact they began to rise again, perhaps 
as a result of the laws which were passed for the purpose in 
some of the islands.3 No legislature went so far as that of 
Jamaica in recognizing the principle that the real military 
salvation of the sugar colonies could only lie in increasing the 
white population. Some schemes for mass immigration-of 
Palatines in 1709, of Scots in 1740-came to nothing.4 Act 
upon Act went on the statute-book. Large tracts of land were 
set aside, and large sums of money spent, but the result of this 
showy and expensive legislation was depressing. In fact the only 
laws which produced any positive effect were the so-called 'defi­
ciency laws'; they imposed a fine upon the landed proprie­
tors for not keeping up a certain proportion of white servants 
on their plantations. According to Governor Trelawny, this 
fine had a slight influence upon the demand for servants, but 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1706-8, no. 519; 1708-9, no. 597 (i); 1710---11, no. 391; 1711-12, 
no. 392. 

2 Jamaica Council Minutes, Dec. 18, 1760, C.O. 140/42. 
3 In 1 703 Governor Handasyd estimated the military strength of Jamaica at 

3,500 men (C.S.P. Col. 1702-3, no. 764); in 1706, at 2,550 including free negroes 
( C.S.P. Col. 1706-8, no. 221); in I 752, Trelawny put it at 4,400 and Knowles at 
under 5,000 (Trelawny's 'State of Jamaica', 1752, C.O. 137/25, X 101; Knowles's 
'State', 1755, C.O. 137/29, Y 106). The spokesmen of the West India interest in 
London naturally gave a much lower figure when they were applying to the 
Government for help. Governor PaFke reported the militia of the Leeward Islands 
to be as follows: Antigua 700, Montserrat 600, Nevis 250, St. Kitts 450 (C.S.P. 
Col. 1706-8, no. 473). In 1742 there were 1,360 militia on Antigua, 500 on Mont­
serrat, 280 on Nevis, and 800 on St. Kitts. The numbers given by Thomas in 1755 
are not very different. I cannot account for the great increase in Antigua; that of 
St. Kitts is presumably due to the extension of cultivation in the former French 
half of the island, which was almost uninhabited at the time of the earlier statistics 
(see Mathew's 'State' of the Leeward Islands, Oct. 26, 1742, C.O. 152/24, Y 54; 
Thomas to Board of Trade, Aug. 25, 1755, C.O. 152/28, BB 65). At Barbados 
there were supposed in 1707 to be 3,062 foot and 1,050 horse (C.S.P. Col. 1706-8, 
no. 1225 (vii)); the whole militia, without officers, in 1762, was 3,827 men (Pin­
fold's Answers to Queries, June 1, 1762, C.O. 28/32, FF 25). Something under 
10 per cent. should be added to these figures for officers. 

4 Journal of the Lords Commissioners of Trade and Plantations, 1708/9 to 1714/15, pp. 58, 
63, 75, 79, 82, 83. For the Scotch soheme of 1740, see Add. MSS. 22677, ff. 40, 41; 
vol. 12431, ff. 116, 120. 
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it generally became a mere tax, and thus the laws which had 
been designed to serve a social purpose were too readily diverted 
to fiscal uses. In fact, a scheme for peopling the island was 
frustrat€d in 1743 by the Assembly, which was afraid 'of losing 
the deficiency law, which if it does not altogether answer the 
intention of peopling the island, yet it serves to raise a large sum 
of money'. 1 

The BoaFd of Trade reviewed these policies in 1753, when it 
tried to explain to the House of Commons why the population 
and sugar-production of Jamaica were so small. The families 
introduced into the island ce;rtainly could not be numbered by 
more than a few hundreds, and the cost was very high in pro­
portion to the other normal expenditure of a colony at that 
time. Knowles summed it up by saying that some 700 persons 
had cost the island about £30,000. Both he and the Board 
described most of the immigrants as perfectly unsuitable. Many 
of them were good for nothing, the others knew nothing of 
husbandry. They therefore tended to drift into the towns, or 
to leave the island, whose economic life was so organfaed that 
new-comers could find little livelihood, unless they were qu?tli­
fi.ed by patronage or education to take their places as under­
lings or skilled workmen in the management of the great sugar 
estates.2 If they succeeded at all, they succeeded too well, and 
added to the prevailing latifundia by becoming sugar-planters. 
The legislature began to despair, and to repeal its own acts. 
However, the military population of Jamaica dCi)es seem to have 
risen, according to the figures quoted above; but the increase 
is not to be attributed to the artificial encouragements offered 
by the Government, so much as to the spontaneous spread of 
cultivation on the north side of the island, which had been very 
imperfectly settled in Queen Anne's reign. 

These difficulties were by no means peculiar to the English 
sugar colonies. The French Government waged the same un­
equal struggle against economic forces by trying to impose 
white servants upon the colonies which no longer had any use 
for them. Colbert had invented the plan of obliging the master 
of every ship bound from France to the islands to take out two 
such engages. ~ut the ship-owners did not want to carry them, 

1 Beck.ford to Knight,June 18, 1743, Add. MSS. 12431, f. 125. 
2 Board of Trade, Report to House of Commons, Feb. 22, 1753, C.O. 138/19, 

pp. 405-52; Knowles to Board of Trade, Delle. 31, 1754, C.O. 137/28, Y 43, 
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nor the colonists to receive them, and a considerable recruit­
ment of population could only be effected by frequent renewal 
of the edicts and official vigilance in carrying them out. A few 
years later, the Government gave the captains the option of 
taking out two muskets instead; this duty was performed as 
seldom or as badly as the other. In France, as in England, it 
soon became impossible to recruit genuine agricultural labourers 
for the sugar plantations, and such engages as could be found 
were rejected by the colonists as useless scoundrels. From the 
dregs of the towns they came, and to the dregs of the towns they 
returned in the colonies. 1 

Although both Governments failed equally to foist population 
upon the colonies, the French islands were never so weak in 
men as the English-. Their greater size accounts in part for 
theiF more imposing numbers. St. Domingue, for example, had 
6,000 militiamen in 1739 according to Larnage,2 while nobody 
ever claimed more than 5,000 for Jamaica, and that was proba­
bly too high. But St. Domingue was a much larger colony than 
Jamaica-in fact, it was really three colonies rather than one, 
for the communication between its quarters was difficult. Like­
wise Martinique was larger than any of its English neighbours, 
and might be expected to have a larger militia. In 1746 it 
numbered 3,095 infantry and 71 o cavalry besides officers, but 
Le Vassor de la Touche estimated in 1761 that 8,000 planters 
could be called upon in an emergency; this is not the same thing 
as the number of the militia, though it should have been. 3 

According to one of its conquerors, Guadeloupe was sup­
posed to contain between 3,000 and 4,000 armed men, but not 
more than 1,600 appeared in arms.4 The privateers who made 
Martinique their head-quarters added something to its avail­
able force. Caylus thought there were 2,500 of them, but 
Le Vassar de la 'I'ouche found only 1,200 in November 1761. 

1 Louis-Philippe May, Histoire economique de la Martinique (Paris, 1930), pp. 
36-9. 

2 Larnage to Maur@pas, Dec. 28, 1739, A.N. Colonies C9 A 50. Pierre de Vais­
siere quotes some figures -of 1753-4,639 white men bearing arms, 1,853 white 
boys, 1,332 mulattos and negroes-total, 7,824 (Saint Domingue, Paris I 909, 

,p. I 16). 
3 Caylus to Maurepas, Dec. 23., 1746, A.N. Colonies C8 A 57; Le Vassor de la 

Tolilche to :Berryer, Nov. 20, 1761, vol. 63. 
4 W. M. Burt to Pitt, May 2, 1759, G.D. 8/24. In 1739 there had been 1,292 

men and I ,497 boys bearing arms (Satineau, Histoire de la Guadeloupe sous l' Ancien 
Regime, p. 384), 



DlFFICULTIES OF WARFARE 

Le Mercier de la :Riviere explained this apparent decrease; 
many of the privateers left Martinique when they were sure it 
would be invaded, for fear of being taken prisoners and sent to 
England. 1 It is impossible to say how many of these privateers 
were natives of Martinique and how many only used it as a base 
in time of war. It probably had a greater seafaring population 
of its own than any other West India island, because it had a 
greater local trade; the interruption of that navigation by the 
English blockade must have driven the crews to privateering 
even if they had no other inclination for it. 

The disparity between the French and English populations 
in the West Indies was not vast; but the English planters 
exaggerated it and were obsessed by it. It became one of their 
strongest excuses for demanding that we should always keep a 
naval superiority in the West Indies. If Martinique was swarm­
ing with armed men reacl.y to dash out and invade Antigua or 
St. Kitts at any minute, it was more important than ever to 
deny them the opportunity. The English estimated the military 
population of Martinique at ten or twelve thousand, all ready 
for an expedition at a moment's notice. How far this was from 
the truth, can be seen from the history of the meagre and reluc­
tant reinforcement which Champigny scraped up for St. Lucia.2 

Yet there was something to be said for the legend. Though it 
was not true that the French sugar-planters as a whole greatly 
outnumbered the English, they really did so in the corner of 
the West Indies where they were likeliest to attack-namely the 
Leeward Islands. Martinique or Guadeloupe had many more 
men than Antigua or St. Kitts, let alone Montserrat or Nevis. 
If precedent and geography were any guides, it was those 
islands that were in most danger. They lay to leeward of 
Martinique; the easiest course of invasion was from windward 
to leeward, and that is why Barbados was never invaded at all 
and Antigua, which is set back a little from the others, only 
once, while St. Kitts, Nevis, and Montserrat were lost or ruined 
again and again. 

The best hope of the Leeward Islands was help or a counter-

ivi€r€, memo· · of Martinique, Aug. 5, 1762, 
A. . Comrnodo noticed the departurn of the 
priva which La r it is plausible, for Douglas 
and. tcly quarrelle with La Touchc over the exchange of 
prisoners and begtln sending th€m Tuack to England. 

2 V. supr,a, pp. 204-0. 
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attack from Barbados, which was comparatively safe and well 
manned. Lieutenant-Governor Fleming suggested more than 
once that Barbados should at least pretend to be about creating 
some diversion. The Barbadians had willingly put themselves 
on shipboard and gone down to relieve Nevis and St. Kitts in 
I 666 and I 667; but the Leeward Islands were then lately 
peopled from Barbados, and every Barbadian planter might 
well have a friend or relation in the threatened colonies. In 
later years Barbados was too mu.eh preoccupied with its own 
defence to spend its military strength on behalf of other islands. 
It sent nothing more than good wishes to Nevis in 1 706. 1 When 
there was question of a regular attack on Martinique, backed 
by regular troops and a decisive naval superiority, that was 
another matter; the island then felt itself safe in sparing a few 
hundred volunteers. 2 But it could not engage in anything more 
hazardous; foF instance, one of the genuine reasons for the refusal 
to co-operate in the scheme against St. Lucia in I 745 was the 
feeling that Barbados would expose itself to danger by parting 
with any of its militia for an expedition without regular troops. 
How much the more would the colonists decline to succour the 
Leeward Islands over a sea commanded by the enemy ?-for 
without such command, the French were very unlikely to 
attempt any invasion. 

The selfishness of the Barbados planters was not exceptional, 
for the French militiamen were just as reluctant to leave their 
own islands in clef ence of others. There was a striking example 
of this in 1759, at the siege of Guadeloupe. The English attack 
was first aimed against Martinique, and the militia was em-. 
bodied to resist it, with surprising success. When Hopson and 
Moore decided to go off to attack Guadeloupe, Beauharnois, 
who had disbanded his forces, could not send more than sixty­
six volunteers to the rescue. The insufficiency of this effort is 
no doubt explained partly by Beauharnois's own inertia and by 
the danger of the passage across an uncommanded sea; this, 
however, was by no means so great as it was represented, 
especially after the arrival of a French squadron under Born­
par had obliged Moore to concentrate his fleet and to leave 
the windward side of Guadeloupe unguarded. No doubt the 

1 C.S.P. Col. 1706-8, no. 383 (ii), 496; Fleming to Stone, Oct. 12, 1745, C.O. 
152/44; intercepted lett@r of Fleming to Pinfold, June 29, 1757, A.N. Colonies 
cs A 61. 2 V. supra, p. 222. 



234 

strongest reason was the unwillingn€ss of the militia to leave 
Martinique n any account.1 

Only wi Leeward Islan s overnment did one sugar 
colony s o;rt to in time of danger. In 
Queen Anne's reign the Governors once or twice succoured 
from Antigua the islands which were attacked by the French, 
but already the forces they took with them consisted chiefly of 
regular soldiers. At the beginning of the Spanish war in 1739, 
Governor Mathew tried to induce all the colonies under his 
government to pass laws for paying volunteers from the other 
islands, in case of invasion. One or two of the legislatures com­
plied, but their laws were never put to any use. Mathew him­
self appeared in the spring of r 7 45 at St. Kitts, as the point 
chiefly threatened by Caylus; but he seems to have brought 
only regulars with him. 2 In the same way Governor Shirley 
came clown from Antigua in r 
Kitts with some part of the ga 
not impossible, even when the comman o t 
the enemy would naturally attack the main fortresses and 
towns, which were all on the leeward sides of the islands, so 
they might leave the coasts clear for the landing of a relief force 
to windward. 

If the whole militia of the · d been lar e and easy 
~o move from one island to in an er its 
quality was still~ very lo e of the tia 
laws at all, or such bad t no sort o isc1p ne cou be 
enforced. The people o vis we~e credited with the o inion 
that 'Discipline is the :first step to tyran 
were appointed for exercise in most of es 
for absence were so slight that anybo y o mo era e une 
could quite cheaply buy himself out of th ther.4 

1'759,Fe 8 A62. 
aise the 

/13; St. 

itia law of Ju.ly 12, I'756 
by the clause forbidding 

a oh y n€groes. S€e Math€w's 
Le -
ver · ilitia law of 

. It appears 
t ction to it was 

t - -SS of Ul 




